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2. . The relevant issues framed by the Hon 'ble High Court in this regard are as 

follows: 
(a) Issue No. l(b) in Suit No. 4 

"Whether the building had been constructed on the site of an alleged Hindu 
temple after demolishing the same as alleged by defendant no. 13? If so, its 
e.ffect?" [p. x, Vol 1 of the Impugned Judgment] 

"23. 1hat the books of ~istory and public records of unimpeachable authenticity · 
establish indisputably that there was an ancient Temple of Maharaja 
Vikramaditya 's time1 at Sri Rama Janma Bhumi, Ayodhya. Th'at temple was 
destroyed partly and an attempt was made to raise a mosque thereat, by the 
force of arms, by Mir Baqi, a commander of Baber 's hordes. ... In 1528 
Bahar came to Ayodhya and halted therefor a week. He destroyed the ancient 
temple and on its site built a mosque, still known as Babar's mosque .... " [p. 
245-246, Vol 72] 

1. In the present case, the Plaintiffs in 0.0.S. No. 5/ 1989 (hereinafter, "Suit No. 

S") inter alia prayed for "a declaration that the entire premises of Sri Rama 

Janma Bhumi at Ayodhya ... belong to the plaintiff Deities." [p. 258, Vol 72]. 
One of the averments made by the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5 in order to obtain the 

said relief is as folloWS! 
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6. It is this ASI Report that has been primarily relied on by two Ld. Judges of the 

High Court while arriving at a finding on the above issues. It is submitted that 

such reports are weak evidence and based on certain presumptions and cannot 

be relied on to arrive at a categorical finding on either the existence of a Janrna 

Sthan Temple at the disputed premises or its demolition. 

5. Though no application was filed nor request was made on behalf of any party in 

this re~ard, the Hon'ble High Court suo motu decided to direct a GPR Survey as 

well as an excavation by the . Archaeological Survey of India (hereinaft~r, 

"ASI") at the disputed premises. This was done at a stage when the Plaintiffs in 

0.0.S. No. 41 1989 (hereinafter, "Suit No. 4") had closed their evidence and the 

Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5 had examined several witnesses [p. 223, Vol 1 of the 
Impugned Judgment], 

4. Since the above facts are being asserted by the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5 in support 

of their claim to title, the burden of proving the same lies on the Plaintiffs in 

Suit No. 5, in accordance with Sections 101 to 103 ·of the Indian Evidence Act, 

1872 (hereinafter, the "Evidence Act"). Accordingly, the Plaintiff inter alia led 
I 

oral eviqence· of its witnesses and experts and also produced certain books/ 

travelogues and Gazetteers with a view to prove the above facts in issue, 

(a) That there was a Janma Sthan temple (Ram temple) at the disputed site 

prior to the Babri Masjid; and 

(b) That the said Janrna Sthan temple was demolished in order to build the 

Babri Masjid. 

3. To prove th~ above issues, the following facts need to be proved: 

"Whether the disputed structure claimed to be Babri Masjid was erected after 
·demolishing Janma Sthan temple at its site" [p. xv, VC>l l of the Impugned 
Judgment] 

(b) Issue No. 14 in Suit No. 5 
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3 

11. .It is an admitted position that out of the 184 anomalies detected by the GPR 

Survey, only 39 were confirmed and as many as 74· were not located despite 

"9. In conclusion, the GPR Survey reflects in general a variety Qf anomalies 
ranging from 0.5 to 5.5 metres in depth that could be associated with ancient 
and contemporaneous structures such as pillars, foundations walls slab 
flooring, extending over a large portion of the site. However, the exact 
nature of those anomalies has to be confirmed by systematic ground truthing, 
such as provided by the archeological trenching." [p. 224-225, Vol 1 of the 

Impugned Judgment] 

10. The said GPR Survey Report submitted on 17.02.2003 had found various 

anomalies at different depths but was inconclusive about their nature and 

recommended archaeological excavation at the site to determine the same. It 

inter alia concluded as follows: 

"The nature of super structure to a great extent is related to the foundations .... ff 
any foundation is existing of any construction, it may throw light as to whether 'any 
structure existed and if so what would have been the possible structure at that time . 
... "[p. 220, Vol 1 of the Impugned Judgment] 

I 

9. Despite thJ fact that the ASI was reluctant to· undertake a GPR Survey on the 
I 

ground that no agency in the country was competent to undertake the same, the 

Hon'ble High Court, on 26.11.2002, pennitt~d Mh Tojo Vikas International Pvt. 
Ltd., a Delhi based company, to submit a report. [p. 224, Vol 1 of the 

Impugned Judgment] 

8. The object of conducting the survey, as per the order dated 23.IQ.2002 was as 

follows: 

7. The Hon'ble High Court, by way of its orders dated 01.08.2002 a~d023.10.2002 

directed the ASI to get the disputed site surveyed by Ground Penetrating Radar 

or Geo-Radiology (hereinafter, "GPR"), and to submit a report. [p. 219-223, 

Voll of the Impugned Judgment] 

The GPR Survey Report 
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"Now, v~ewing in totality and taking into account the archaeological evidence of a 
massive structure just below the disputed structure and evidence of continuity in 
structural phases from the tenth century onwards· upto the construction of the 
disputed structure along with the yield of stone and decorated bricks as well as 
mutilated sculpture of divine couple and carved architectural members including 
foliage patterns, amalaka, kapotapali doorjamb with semi-circular pilaster, broken 

14. The ASI, in the extraordinarily brief period of 5 months, submitted its Final 

Report dated 22.08.2003, in which it opined as follows: 

13. After considering the OPJ;l ~urvey Report, the Hori'ble High Court, vide order 

dated Op.03.20'03 directedthe ASI to excavate the site. with a view to determine 

the following issue: "Whfher there was any temple/ structure which wos 

demolished and a mosque ~as constructed on the disputed site". [para 3673, p. 

2142, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment] 

Report of the Archaeological Society of India 

was unreliable, and hence could not have been used to arrive at any finding on 

the facts in issue. 

12. The GPR Survey does not give any finding in support of the issue of whether 

there was a temple at the disputed site which was demolished to build a mosque. 

Further, the fact that the GPR Survey Report was inaccurate and contradictory 

to the {\.Si's own findings on excavation, coupled with the fact that the ASI · 

itself did not believe that there was any competent agency to conduct a OPR 

Survey in India, leads to the irresistible conclusion that the GPR Survey Report , 
! 

diggirig to the required depth, 27 could not be located at all and it was not 

possible to verify theremaining 44. [p. 31, Vol. 83] Further, a number of items, 

such as floors and walls were not detected in the OPR Survey and the ASI itself, 

in its Brief Report dated 21.03 .2003 notes that, "Thus, the present GP R Survey 

seems to be contradictory at certain points and creates confusion also" [p. 233- 

234, Vol 1 of the Impugned Judgment]. This makes the inaccuracy of the GPR 

Survey apparent. 
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"When the Court has to form an opinion upon a point of fon;ign law Qr of science 
or. art, or as identity of handwriting or finger impressions, the opinions upon that 

17. In view of the above, typically opinions of persons are irrelevant as evidence, 

unless specifically provided for under the Evidence Act. Once such exception is 

the opinion of an expert, which has been deemed to be a "relevant fact" under 

Section 45 of the Evidence Act, which reads as follows: 

""Fact" means and includes- 
(1) any thin~, state of things, or relation of things, capable of being perceived by 

the senses; 
(2) any mental condition of which any person is conscious." 

16. A witness of "fact" is different from a witness who merely expresses his 

"opinion" as to certain facts, as the former deposes on what he has directly 

perceived, but the latter deposes on his view on certain issues/ queries based on 

his study and knowledge. An opinion, by itself, is not a fact in terms of Section 

3 of the Evidence Act; which defines the word "fact" as follows: 

The ASI Report is Merely an "Opinion" 

15. It is submitted that the ASI Report is merely an opinion of an expert body, and 

is not direct evidence of a fact. It is inherently speculative and inconclusive, 

since it is based on inferences drawn from certain objects found during the 

excavation. Therefore, by itself, the ASL Report iB a 'f ery we'lk type of ~vid~nv~, 
and hence cannot be relied upon to decide the facts in issue or the issue of title. 

Significantly, the ASI, in its report, does not render any opinion on whether 

the remains of the purported temple were indicative of it having been 

demolished. 

octagonal shaft of black schist pillar, lotus motif, circular shrine 

having pranala (waterchute) in the north, fifty pillar bases in association of the 
huge .structure, are indicative of remains which are distinctive features found · 

·associa,ted with the temples Qf north India." [p. 349, Vol 84] 
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"20. Expert evidence needs to be given a closer scrutiny and requires a different 
approach while initiating proceedings under Section 340 CrPC. After all, it is 
an opinion given by an expert and a professional and that too especially when · 

the e~pert himself has lodged a cav@at r@garding his inability to form a 
definite opinion without the required material. The duty of an expert is to 
furnish the court his opinion and the reasons for his opinion along with all the 
materials. It is for the court thereafter to see whether the basis of the opinion 
is correct and proper and then form its own conclusion . .I)ut, that is not the 
case in respect of a witness of facts. Facts are facts and they remain and have 
to remain as such forever. The witness of facts does not give his opinion on 

19. Expert evidence is therefore evidence merely of the expert's opinion, which is 

inconclusive and liable to change, rather than direct evidence of a fact, which is 

immutable. It is· for: this reason, that this Hon'ble Court, in Prem Sagar 
Manocha v. State (NCt of Delhi), (2016) 4 SCC 571, while declining to initiate 

proceedings against an expert witness for giving false evidence under Section 

340, Indian Penal Code] 1860, has observed as follows: 

may be certain issues where the Court may feel the necessity of expert opinion. 
These are outside the legal and judicial fields. A Judge is not supposed to possess 
the expert knowledge in such fields. Probably, it is for this reason that the law of 
evidence provides for expert opinion, to be adduced as evidence, subject to certain 
conditions prescribed in the Act. It is Section 45 which renders the opinion of such 
experts as relevant fact. " [para 3558, p. 2053, Vol 2 of the Impugned 
Judgment} 

"Basically, a witness is to be examined for what he has seen or directly heard in 
· relation to a fact in issue or relevant fact. Formation of opinion within the set of 
facts placed is within the exclusive domain and prerogative of the Court . Generally 

opinions and beliefs of third persons are inadmissible in· evidence. However, there 

18. Justice Agarwal, in his separate opinion; has acknowledged the above in the 

following words: 

In addition; any fact which is inconsistent with such expert opinion is also a 

"relevant fact" under Section 46. 

point of persons specially skilled in such foreign law, science or art, or in questions 
as to identity of handwriting or finger impressions are relevant facts; • 
Such persons are called experts." 
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22. An archaeological report therefore does not provide verifiable conclusions but is 

only an inference drawn from data/ objects found during excavation as well as 

historical accounts of the area and the perception and interpretation of the 

21. Archaeology is a social science, rather than a natural science, and hence is. not of 
i . 

a precise or exact nature, Natural sciences, such as physics and chemistry, 

provide verifiable hypotheses and are considered t~ be more objective and 

accurate. For instance, DNA testing, which relies on application ot the natural 

sciences, is treated as practically correct and ~xtremely reliable. On the other 

hand, social scie~~es, such as sociology and psychology, are inherently 

subjective and considered less precise. Further, an archaeologist, in order to 

arrive at his conclusions, draws from a variety of other subjects and disciplines 

such as history, sociology and anthropology, which are also. subjective social 

sciences, leading to multiple layers of subjectivity creeping into these 

conclusions .. 
I 

The ASI Report is Hypothetical and based on Inferences 

· 20. Therefore, while the ASI, as an organization, may be an "expert" in the field of · 

archaeo,ogy, its Report is merely an "opinion" as to the existence of a north 

Indian temple at the disputed site, and cannot be treated as a conclusive fact of 

the existence of a Ram temple or even any other t~mple at the disputed site. 

21. In National Justice Compania Naviera S,.A. v. Prudential Assurance C9. Ltd. 
(the Ikarian Reiefer) [National Justice Companie Naviera S.A. v, Prudential 
Assurance Co. ttd. (the Ikarian Reefer), (1995) 1 Lloyd's Rep 455 (CA)], the 
Queen's Bench (Commercial Division) even went to the extent of holding 
that the expert has the freedom in such a situation to change his views ... " 

facts, but presents the facts as such. However, the expert gives an opinion on 
what he has. tested or on what has been subjected to any process of scrutiny. 
The inference drawn thereafter is still an opinion based on his knowledge. In 
case, subsequently, he comes across some authentic material which may 
suggest a different opinion, he must address the same, lest he should be . 
branded as intellectually dishonest. Objective approach and openness to truth 
actually form the basis of any expert opinion- 
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(b) Mr. R. Nagaswami, OPW 17,. who retired as Director of Archaeology, 

Government of Tamil Nadu [p. 2607, Vol 26], and was an expert witness 

for the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5, has stated as follows: 

" ... Related evidence means what was noticed during the course of excavation 
at the disputed .site and also the evidence exhibited in the Ayodhya Shodh­ 
Sansthan, which also based on local traditions and published works on the 

\ 
same .... " [p. 11759, Vol 63] 

" ... By the word conjure, I mean conjectural picture which could be based on 
the available evidence and it is very much in the practice in archaeological 
diggings .... " [p.11716, Vol63] 

" ... Interpretation is an important aspect in excavation .... " (p. 11689, Vol 
62] 

(a) Mr: Jayanti Prasad Srivastav, D.W. 20/5, who retired as Superintending 

Archaeologist, ASI [p. 11649, Vol 62], and was an expert witness 

supporting the ASI Report, has stated as follows: 

24. The above passage is contradicted by expert witnesses of both sides, who have 

testified that inferences, interpretation and conjectures are a part of 

archaeological findings. 

"Archaeology provides scientific factual data for reconstructing ancient historical 
material culture, understanding, archaeology for the past is a multidisciplinary 
scientific subject and requires a team of workers for effective results. . .. As a 
scientific discipline it uses scientific methods in its working. ;, [para 3896, p. 
2375, Vol 2 of the l~pugned Judgment] 

23. However, Justice Agarwal, in his separate opinion, without appreciating the 

subjective nature of archaeology, has opined as follows: 

archaeologist, which are inherently subjective. Different archaeologists may 

draw different conclusions from the same set of data or, the data taken as a 

whole mat not, by itself, be sufficient to draw a concrete conclusion. 
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When archaeologists excavate andfind archaeological material which can 
include pottery. and bones inference and interpretation are made by 
archaeologists on the basis of the context in which these finds are exposed. The 

(d) Dr. Supriya Varma, PW 32, who was an Associate Professor. 

(Archaeology) in the Department of History, School of Social Sciences, 

University of Hyderabad [p. 6975 & 6977, VQI 43], and appeared as an 

expert witness on behalf of the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 4, deposed as follows: 

"Q. Whether a fact finding discipline on a particular fact by one Archaeologist 
may differ from another Archaeologist or not? 

A. What constiruies a fact itself can be disputed. However, if the fac: is 
established, there may be two opinions on the fact by two Archaeologists . 
... " [p. 6180, Vol 40] 

(c) Prof. Dr. Shereen :F. Ratnagar, PW 27, who has a Ph.D. in archaeology, 

. and retired as Professor of Archaeology, JNU, [p. 6160, VQl 40], and was 

an expert witness for the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 4, has testified as follows: 

"In historical and archaeological studies local information and memory is an 
· important source of history ... " [p. 2902, Vol 27] 

"... In archaeology data collected in excavation needs to be interpreted from 
the context and reference to related textual material from known authentic 
sour1ces. If we are to repeat what is mentioned in the excavation report, the 
pur4ose of excavation which is reconstruction of the History, is not possible . 

... "tp. 2850, Vol 27] 

.:. Ihave said that the excavator is the best judge in certain aspects of digging 
like layer, relating structure etc but certain works are taken out and examined 
~n laboratory and by experts to give their opinion which is perfectly normal in 
archaeological excavations and reporting. In the sentence of para 3 on page 
121 of the above report AS! has given the data and their opinion but it is left to 
(he experts to interpret." [p. 2842, Vol 27] 

" ... I will not say that the excavators have failed to discharge th1eir duty but 
they have given the basic data as required by the court with in the stipulated 
time and then interpretation has to be taken up in the context in which it is 
required. 
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" ... The ASI people have stated in page 55 that from the excavation it could be 

inferred that there were 17 rows of pillar bases from north to south each row 

having 5 pillar bases. It is only an inference. This is an inference of AS! people . 

they have not shown all the 85 pillar bases which have been mentioned at page 

55 as it is an inference they have not shown in figure 3A ... Jn the excavation 

they have not obviously exposed the remaining 35. pillars which have been 

inferred at page 55 ... " [p. 2732-33, Vol 26] 

(b) Mr. R. Nagaswami, OPW 17, an expert witness for the Plaintiffs in Suit . 

No. 5, has stated as follows: 

"Figure 23 on page 42A is an isometric view drawnimaginary ... An imaginary 
isometric view need n?t express the exact position at the site." [p. 3423-3424, 
Vol 29] 

" ... Figure 238 gives an isometric view of the excavated site with conjectured 
columns (pillars). 

Q. Was it possible to prepare drawing like figure 238 without having an idea 
about all the so called pillar bases said to have been found on the disputed 
site? 

A. Yes it is possible, to prepare an iso~ietric view with conjectured columns/ : 
pillars on the basis of pillar bases exposed in the excavation and some of 
the pitiw~ itself recovered on the disputed site." [p. 3318., Vol 29] 

(a) Mr. Arun Kumar Sharma, OPW 18, who retired as Superintending 

Archaeologist, ASI, and was a member of the Central Advisory Board of 

Archaoolcgy [P· 2992, Vol 27], and was an expert witness for the · 

Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5, testified as follows: 

25. Further, the depositions of the expert witnesses of both sides show that the ASI 

Report itself was based on interpretation and conjectures. 

" ... It is true that, archaeologists make inferences on the b 

context .... " [p. 7089? Vol 44] 

data does not speak for itself. Inferences are made on the basis of certain 
principles and methods that. are followed in archaeology .... " [p. 7035, Vol 44] 
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" .. .I agree with the finding of the AS! regarding existence of the structure 

underneath the disputed structure but I disagree with the interpretation . 

arrived at by AS!. ... I think, very categorically it is ve1y difficult to say that 

(a) While OPW 17 and DW 20/5 insisted that there existed a massive Hindu 

temple at the disputed site, Dr. Supriya Varma, PW 32, who appeared as 

an expert witness on behalf of the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 4, deposed· as 

follo~s: 
: 

26. Further, the differences in the views and opinions of expert witnesses on both 

sides only goes to show that different archaeologists can form different opinions 

from the same set of data as their interpretations would be different. 

Without getting any direct evidence of temple the AS! has concluded that 
possibly there existed a north Indian temple. This is a gross violation in the 
sensf that without having any ground plan of the temple no-one can conclude 

aboJt the evidence tJf a tl:!mpl~ bilOW the di~p1Jted structure." [p. 6814, Vol 43] 

"My intention to place these facts was that this isometric figure can be avoided· 

by A$! people because this picture of isometric figure presents an impression 

that as if thi~ is the outcome of the excavation ... I do not accept this view that 

. there have been. a very huge structure earlier on the basis o/ the so called pillar 
bases and the conjectured columns as shown in this figure are highly 
hypothetical in nature and do not have any ground reality .... " [p. 6774-75, Vol 

43] 

"Since this figure 23 (page 42-A) of AS! Report vol I does not contain the scale 
as well as the elevation of different floor levels, it may be considered purely 
conjectural in nature .... " [p. 6771, Vol 43] 

(c) Di. Akhok Datta, PW31, who was a Senior Lecturer in the Department of 

Archaeology, University of Calcutta [p. 6665, Vol 42], and an expert 

witness for the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 4, has stated as follows: 

" ... Definitely I cannot say that the observations of AS! are absolutely correct - 

it may be correct or it may be wrong but as I said earlier I believe it to be 

correct." [p. 2954-55, Vol 27] 
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... The evidence of 
is generally of a frali-· -.C.O.ar.aic.t@:l=-tttla 

noticed. The courts should, therefore, be wary to give too much weight to the 
evidence of handwriting expert. In Sri Sri Sri Kishore Chandra Singh 
Deo v. Babu Ganesh Prasad Bhagat [AIR 1954 SC 316 : 1954 SCR 919 : 
1954 SCJ 395] this Court observed that conclusions based upon mere 

'ble Just .. ice H.R. Khanna, in. Bhagwan Kaur v. Maharaj Krishan Sharma, . ~--· 
(197 ij sec 46, had opined as follows: ' 

? 

27. The reliability of the opinion of an expert on any question ·is contingent on the 

reliability and accuracy of the science or scientific process behind the same. The 

more imprecise the science or the scientific process, the more caution that the 

Court has to exercise as the risk of the opinion being inaccurate or erroneous is 

higher. For instance, the evidence of a handwriti.ng 'expert is considered to be 

less reliable ~ha.ft that of a fingerprin.t 9r JINA expert, because the former is 

considered to be more fallible than the latter. It is submitted that archaeology, 

much like handwriting comparison, is an imprecise and fallible science, and a 

high degree of reliance cannot be placed on an archaeological report. 

Ch~p~er III of the Report [p. 57, Vol 83]. These differences have been set 

out in detail separately. 

(b) There are a number of differences in opinion amongst the ASI team 

members themselves in the different chapters authored by them in the ASI 

Report. To illustrate, while a human figurine recovered from Layer 2 

below Floor 2 of Trench 05 has been attributed to the Mughal Period in 

Chapter VII of the ASI Report [SI. no. 50, P: 259, Vol 84], the same 

figurine has been ascribed to the Medieval Period in Chapter III of the 

Report [p. 51, Vol 84]. Similarly, an animal figurine recovered from Layer 

5 of Trench E8 has been attributed to the Medieval Period in Chapter VII 

[SI. No, 52, p. 267, Vol 84] and to Period V (post· Gupta-Rajput) in 
I. 

some of the finds of AS! relate to Hindu religious structures· because these 

finds could well have been part of palaces, Budhist structure, Jain structure 

and Islamic structure .... "[p. 7131, Vol 44] 

1~ ,· . 
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"29. . .. But since the science of identification of handwriting by comparison is not 
an infallible one, pr,udence demands that before "acting on such opinion the 
court should be fully satisfied about the authorship of the admitted writings 
which is made the kole basis for comparison and the court should also be 
fully satisfied about the competence and credibility of the handwriting 
expert .... True it is, there is no rule of law that the evidence of a handwriting 
expert cannot be acted upon unless substantially corroborated but courts have 
been slow in placing implicit reliance on such opinion evidence, without 
more, because of the imperfect nature of the science of identification of 
handwriting anp its accepted fallibility. There is no absolute rule of law or 
even of prudence which has ripened into a rule of law that in no case can the 
court base its findings solely on the opinion of a handwriting expert but the 
imperfect and frail nature of the science of identification of the author by 
comparison of his admitted handwriting with the disputed ones has placed a 
heavy responsibility on the courts to exercise extra care and caution before 
acting on such opinion. Before a court can place reliance on the opinion of an 
exf.ert, it must be shown that he has not betrayed any bias and the reasons on 
which he has based his opinion are convincing and satisfactory. It is for this 

27.3 This Hon'ble Court, in State of Maharashtra v. Sukhdev Singh, (1992) 3 SCC 

700, has observed as follows: 

"4. .. . True, it has occasionally been said on very high authority that it would be 
hazardous to b'fe a conviction solely on the opinion of a handwriting expert. 
But, the hazard' in accepting the opinion of any expert, handwriting expert qr 
any other kind of expert, is not because experts, in general, are unreliable 
witnesses - the quality of credibility or incredibility being one which an 
expert shares with all other witnesses - but because all human judgment is 
fallible and an expert may go wrong because of some defect of observation, · 
some error of premises or honest mistake of conclusion. The more developed 
and the more perfect a science, the less the chance of an incorrect opinion 
and the converse if the science is less developed and imperfect. The science 
of identification of finger-prints has attained near perfection and the risk of 
an incorrect opinion is practically non-existent. On the other hand, the 
science of identification of handwriting is not nearly so perfect and the risk 
is, rherefore, higher.;." 

27.2 In Murari Lal v. State of Madhya Pradesh, (1980) 1 SCC 704, this Hon'ble 

Court has held as follows: 

comparison of handwriting must at best be indecisive and yield to the 
positive evidence in the case." 

~ --·~. 

13 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



"21. ... Besides it is necessary to observe that expert's evidence as to handwriting 
is opinion evidence and it can rarely, if ever, take the place of substantive 
evidence. Before acting on such evidence it is usual to see if it is 
corroborated either by clear direct evidence or by circumstantial evidence ... " 

29.l In Shashi Kumar Banerjee v. Subodli Kumar Banerjee, AIR 1964 SC 529, a 

Constitution Bench of this Hon'ble Court has held as follows: 

"1:'-+U~l-l* n:~~<e--t~rteti-e:exXipif. e;Tirttrropniiinnkions to be a weak type of 

evidence, as they are not substantive· in nature, and hence proceeded .with 

caution while relying on the same if-it is not corroborated by other direct and 

substantive evidence. 

29. 

e ASI Report is Weak Evidence and Requires Corroboration 

28. In view of the above ca~e. law and witness depositions it is: clear that the· 

conclusions arrived at in the ASI Report are only an inference or interpretation 

of certain objects found during the course of excavation and cannot be taken as 

concrete proof as to the existence of any Hindu temple at the disputed site. The 

objects recovered could belong to any other religious or non-religious structure. 

Further, archaeology, in itself is not an exact science and cannot produce 

accurate o.r verifiable results, rendering the probability of an opinion based on 

archaeological excavation being erroneous to be high. As a consequence, it 
would be very risky for the Court to rely heavily on such an opinion to arrive at 

a finding on the existence of a Hindu temple below the disputed structure or of 

title to the site, as the same would be tantamount to giving a judgment based on 

assumptions and presumptions. 

reason that the courts are wary to act solely on the evidence of a handwriting 
'expert ... " 
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47. ... we are of the opinion tha.t expen evidence fu5 t9 handwriting is only 
opinion evidence and it can never be conclusive. Acting on the evidence of 
any expert, it is usually to see if that evidence is corroborated either by clear, · 
direct or circumstantial evidence. The sole evidence of a handwriting expert 
is not normally sufficient for recording a definite finding about the writing 
being of a certain person or not. ... The opinion of a handwriting expert is 
also relevant in view of Section 45 of the Evidence Act, but that too is not 
conclusive. It has also been held by this Court in a catena of cases that the 
sole evidence of a handwriting expert is not normally sufficient for recording 
a definite finding about the writing being of a certain person or not. It follows 
that it is not essential that the handwriting expert must be examined in a case 
to prove or disprove the disputed writing. It is opinion evidence and it can . 

i 
"33. In this regard; the law is very clear that a fact should be proved by the best 

available evidence, The witnesses had identified the· signatures of Ms 
Ruchika on the memorandum, therefore, the evidence of the handwriting 
expert cannot be considered to be safe and it requires corroboration from 
independent witnesses. As already stated, the signatures of Ms Ruchika have 
been proved by the witnesses who have signed the memorandum and are 
direct, primary and best available evidence in the case and, therefore, the 
same can be relied upon .. 

29.3 This Hon'ble Court, in S.P.S. Rathore v. CBI, (2017) 5 SCC 817, has observed 

as follow~~ 

15. In our considered opinion, the decisions in Murari Lal (supra) and Alamgir 
(supra) strengthen the proposition that it is the duty of the Court to approach 
opinion evidence cautiously while determining its reliability and that the 
Court may seek independent corroboration of such evidence as a general rule 
of prudence. Clearly, these observations in Murari Lal (supra) and Alamgir 
(s~pra) do not. go against the proposition stated in Sashi Kumar Banerjee 
(supra) that the evidence of a handwriting expert should. rarely. be given 
precedence over substantive evidence." 

"11. By now it is well settled that the Court m~st be cautious while evaluating 
expert evidence, which is a weak type of evidence and not substantive in 
nature. It is also settled thdt it rnny not be safe; to r~ly ypon such evidence, 
and the. Court may seek independent and reliable corroboration in the facts of 
a given case. Generally, mere expert evidence as to a fact is not regarded as 
conclusive proof ... 

29.2 In Chennadi Jalapathi Reddy v. Baddam Pratapa Reddy, 2019 SCC' Online SC 

1098, a 3 Judge Bench of this Hon'ble Court has recently held as follows: 
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"29. .. . It is indeed true that by nature and habit, over a period of time, each 
individual develops. certain traits which give a distinct character to his 

writing5 m~)<;ing it pbssible to identify the author but it must at the same time . 
I 

be realised that since handwriting experts are generally engaged by one of the 
contesting parties they, consciously or unconsciously, tend to lean in favour 
of an opinion which is helpful to the party engaging him. That is why we 
come across cases of conflicting opinions given by two handwriting experts 
eng~ged by opposite parties. It is, therefore, necessary to exercise extra care 

and: caution in evaluating their opinion before accepting the same. So courts 

have as a rule of prudence refused to place implicit faith on the opinion 

evidence of a handwriting expert. Normally courts have considered it 
dangerous to base a conviction solely on the testimony of a handwriting 
expert because such evidence is not regarded as conclusive. Since such 
opinion evidence cannot take the place of substantive evidence, courts have, 

as a rule of prudence, looked for corroboration before acting on such 

evtdence .... '' 

29.5, This Hon'ble Court, in State of Maharashtra v. Sukhdev Singh, (1992) 3 SCC 

700, has observed as follows: 

"28. . .. The evidence of an expert is a rather weak type of evidence and the courts 
do not generally consider it as offering 'conclusive' proof and therefore safe 
to rely upon the same without seeking independent and reliable 
corroboration ... " 

29.4 In S. Gopal Reddy v. State of Andhra Pradesh, (1996) 4 SCC 596, it has been · 

observed as follows: 

· 50. It is thus clear that uncorroborated evidenoe of a handwriting expert is an 
extremely weak type of evidence and the same should not be relied upon 
either for the conviction or for acquittal. The courts, should, therefore, be 
wa7 to give to:o much weight to the evidence of handwriting expert. It can 
rarely, if ever, take the place of substantive evidence. Before acting on such 
evidence, it is usual to see if it is corroborated either by clear, direct evidence 
or by circumstantial evidence." 

rarely, if ever, t~ke the place of substantive evidence. Before acting on such 
evidence, it is usua! to see if it is corroborated either by clear, direct evidence 
or by circumstantial evidence. 
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"3672. What lie underneath? This question is of extreme complication ranging in a 
period of more than 500 years' of history. No clear picture emerges from. 
various history books etc. In fact, the contemporary record did not answer 
the issues, one or the other way, with certainty, but some records authored 
about 200 .years i.e. J81h Century state about existence of a temple, its 

30.3 The historical accounts written in Gazetteers and Books also cannot be used to 

corroborate the ASI Report as these accounts are so varied that the High Court 

felt it necessary to di~ect a- scientific investigation. Justice Agarwal, in his 

separate opinion, has observed as follows: 

Therefore; all witnesses of fact led by the PlaintiffB in S\lit No '. 5 can also not 

corroborate the ASI Report. 

" ... The parties have produced lots of witnesses to prove the facts one way or the 
other way but most of such witnesses of fact, we find, their evidence inadmissible in 
view of the above provisions on the historical facts in issue." [para 3557, p. 2053, 
Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment], 

· 30.2 The oral evidence of witnesses of the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5, who are not 

experts, is also not substantive direct evidence as 
1it 

is based on hearsay, and is 
therefore inadmissible as per Sections 59 and 60 of the Evidence Act. This view 

is also endorsed by Justice Agarwal, who has held as follows: 
I 

30. l The oral depositions of the expert witnesses who support the ASI Report are 

also merely opinions under Section 45 and not substantive evidence, and are 

based on the ASI Report itself. Further, the testimonies of these witnesses are 

inconsistent and contradictory and go even beyond what the ASI has said in its 

report in terms of the size and nature of the structure as well as its demolition. 

Therefore, these expert witnesses cannot and do not corroborate the ASI Report. 

30. In the present case, the ASI Report is not corroborated by any other piece of 

direct pr substantive evidence regarding the existence of a temple at the disputed 

site, and hence could not 'have been relied· upon by the Court in arriving at a 
I, 

finding 'On the facts in issue. 
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30.6 As stated in paragraphs 11 and 12 hereinabove, the GPR Survey Report was 

inconclusive and inaccurate and was sought to be verified by excavation. Not 

only was the same clearly not confirmed by the ASI during excavation, the ASI 

itself doubted its correctness and accuracy. Therefore, the GPR Survey, which is 

itself an incorrect and unreliable report, and also not a substantive piece of 
evidence, cannot be used to corroborate the ASI Report. 

"In this case, AS! did not work on an unknown subject ~nd site but was backed by a . 
scientific investigation report of GPR Survey which is a well known scientific 
system used in such matters. The survey has pointed out a number of anomalies 
underneath. The actual excavation needed to confirm and verify those anomalies 
and their exact nature to avoid any doubt. Regarding Pillar Bases a number of 
such anomalies were already pointed out /;Jy GP R Survey and AS! simply found the 

. existence of pillar bases so .as to confirm the anomalies pointed out by GPR Survey 
at those places .... ·" [para 3899, p. 2876, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment] 

30.5 Justice Agarwal has, in his separate opinion, treated the GPR Survey Report as 

corroborating the ASI Report to the extent of pillar bases, and observed as 

follows: 

ASI Report. 

30.4 In addition, the accounts recorded in these books and Gazetteers are not 

personal experiences of the authors themselves but based on hearsay. None of 

the authors personally witnessed a Ram temple on the site or the demolition 

thereof by Muslims. Rather, their writings are, at best, based on myths and 
stories they heard from the local populace, which are completely subjective, and 

would also not constitute direct or substantive evidence so as to corroborate the 

3673. ... In the peculiar circumstances, this Court decided to appoint an Expert 
body for scientific investigation, well recognized in the field of 
archaeology/ history and ordered AS! to go for excavation at the site and 
submit report .... "[p. 2142, Vol 2 .of the Impugned Judgment] 

demolition, and the construction of the disputed /:J;filding, while some well .. 
known historians dispute it and some history books are silent .... 
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(b) Further, Dr. Supriya Varma, PW 32, has deposed that: 

"Lthink, very categorically it is very difficult to say that some of the finds of AS! 

relate. to Hindu religious structures because these finds could well have been 

part of palaces, Budhist structure, Jain structure and Islamic structure .... " [p. 

7131, Vol 44] 

" ... Amongst Jains, big temples are found but architectural pattern is the same 
i.e. North Indian Shikhar style ... "[p. 11675, Vol 62]. 

(a) The purported temple could also be a Jain temple as per the deposition of 

Mr. Jayanti P~~sad Srivastav, D.W. 2015, an exp~rt witness who supported 

the ASI Report, who has stated as follows: 
I 

I . 
33. There i~ other material and evidence on record to show that the structure below 

I ' 

the disputed structure could belong to any other religion. 

32. The first fact in issue is whether a Ram/ Janam Sthan temple existed at the 

disputed site. Nevertheless, the query put to the ASI by the Hon'ble High Court . 

was only regarding a temple or structure, and not a Ram temple. Therefore, the 

query itself was framed in such a broad manner thatthe ASI was not required to 

give its opinion on whether the temple or other structure was a Ram temple or 

even a Hindu temple. Eventually, the ASI Report only infers the presence of a 
north Indian templ~ qt th~ disputed site and does not opine on whether this 

temple was a Ram/ Janam Sthan/ Hindu temple. Therefore, the ASI Report is of 

no assistance in deciding the actual fact in issue i.e. the existence of a Ram 

temple atthe disputed site. 

31. The opinion expressed by the ASI in the Summary portion of its Report clearly 

shows that it has not given any opinion on the facts in issue or the query put to it, 

and hence is irrelevant for the purposes of arriving at any finding on the issues 

by the Hon'ble Court. 

he ASI aeport does not answer the Query Posed'<; 
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" ... in case some temple had been demolished/or constructing the mosque then 
the superstructure material of the temple would not have gone inside the 
ground. It should have been either reused or removed. No learned counsel 
app~ar ing for any of the Hindu parties has been able to explain this position . 
... Qnly in case of severe earthquake or in case of flood of very high 'magnitude 
superstructure immediately goes down inside the ground otherwise remains of 
a ruined building go inside the ground after centuries and not immediately 
after falling down of the building .... " [p. 103, -Vol 1 of the Impugned 
Judgment] 

(a) Justice Khan, in his separate opinion, has observed as follows in this 

regard: 

35. Had there been a demolition and a subsequent structure was built on the same 

site, this would have surely left certain tell tale signs. 

34. The second fact in issue is whether such temple was demolished to build the 
' . 

Babri Masjid. The issue in light of which A~I was directed to carry out an 

excavation categorically asks the question of whether a temple was demolished 

and a mosque built in its place. However, the ASI has chosen not to answer this 

part of the issue/ query at all, and its Report is categorically silent on the aspect . 

of demolition. Once again, therefore, the ASI Report is of no assistance in 
I 

deciding the actual fact in issue i.e. the demolition of a Ram temple to build a 

mosque. 

(c) Even if we assume, for the sake of argument, that the supposed temple was 

Hindu, there is no concrete material or evidence to show that it was a Ram 

temple. Rather, some of the finds during excavation which are being relied 

upon by the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5, such as the alleged circular shrine, 

supposed makar pranala and the purported. divine couple, which Mr. 

Jayanti Prasad Srivastava, D.W. 20/5 identifies as a Shiva-Parvati figurine 

[p. 11779, Vol 63], indicate that the temple, if any, was possibly dedicated 

to Lord Shiva. None of this shows the possible existence of a Ram temple 

at the disputed site, 
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37. Expert evidence is not binding on the Court but merely advisory in nature. The 

role of the expert is not to give a finding of fact. Rather, he merely provides his. 

opinion on certain queries raised, with material supporting such opinion, with a 

view to assist the Court so that it can, on the examination of all materials and · 

evidence on record, itself come to a conclusion on the facts in issue. An expert 

opinion can be rejected if the witness· is not credible or does. not inspire 

confidence or if it is not supported by data or reasons or is arrived at by 

following an improper procedure. 

The ASI Report is not binding OD the Court 

36. In view of the above, the ASI Report could not have been relied on by the High 

Court in order to decide ~he issues at hand. 

In view of the above, the silence of the ASI Report on the aspect of demolition, 

even thoug~ a query in this respect was specifically raised by the High Court, 

implies that the ASI found no signs or evidence of demolition. Therefore, rather 

than supporting the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5, the ASI Report could be taken as 

supporting the case of the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 4 that there was no demolition. 

"I don't recollect about any such excavation in which explicit evidence of 
demolishing the existing structure might have been discovered. If fire is put to 
any building while demolishing it or due to some reason fire is there at the time 
of demolition then deposit of ash and burnt clay or wood will be found at that 
place. If the building to be demolished is made of thatched roof or timber 
structure in that case burning. facilitates that demolition. If that site is 
excavated later on then there is like hood of finding above remains such as ash, 
burnt wood pieces etc." [p. 11827, Vol 63] 

(1;>) Mr. Jayanti Prasad Srivastav, D.W. 20/5, Plaintiff in Suit No. S's witness, 

has stated as follows in his deposition: · 

~·· 
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22. . .. The evidentiary value of the opinion of an expert depends on the facts 
upon which it is based and also the validity of the process by which the 
cone lusion is r~ached. Thus the idea that is proposed in its crux means that 
the importance of an opinion is decided on the basis of the credibility of the 

~~~~l't and th~ r~l~va."t facts su~~orting the o~inion M tha.t its a.~euraey ea.n 
be crosschecked. Therefore, the emphasis has been on the data on the basis of 
which opinion is formed. The same is clear from the following inference: 

"Mere assertion without mentioning the data or basis is not evidence, even 
if it comes from <in expert. 'Where the experts give no real data in support 
of their opinion, the evidence even though admissible, may be excluded 
from consideration as affording no assistance in arriving at the correct 
value." 

Z 1. 'In State of Mahara~htra v, Damu [(ZOOO) 6 SGG Z69 ; ZOOO SCC (Cri) I 088 ; . 
A.IR 2000 SC 1691], it has been laid down that without examining the expert 
ak a witness in court, no reliance can be placed on an opinion alone. In this 
regard, it has beeh 'observed in State. (Delhi Admn.) v. Pali Ram [(1979) 2 
SCC 158 : 1979 SCC (Cri) 389 : AIR 1979 SC 14] that "no expert would 
claim today that he. could be absolutely sure that his opinion was correct, 
expert depends to a great extent upon the materials put before him and the 
nature of question put to him". 

20. An expert is not a witness of fact and his evidence is really of an advisory 
character. The duty of an expert witness is to furnish the Judge with the 

necessary scientific crite:ia for testing the accuracy of the conclusions so as 
to enable the Judge to form his independent judgment by the application of 
these criteria to the facts proved by the evidence of the case. The scientific 

· opinion evidence, if intelligible, convincing and tested becomes a factor and 
often an important factor for consideration along with other evidence of the 
case. The credibility of such a witness depends on the reasons stated in 
support of his conciJsions and the data and material furnished which form the 
basis of his conclusions ... 

"19. It is not the province of the expert to act as Judge or Jury. It is stated 
in Titli v. Alfred Robert Jones [AIR 1934 All 273] that the real function of 
the expert is to put before the court all the materials, together with reasons 
which induce him to come to the conclusion, so that the court, although not 
an expert, may form its own judgment by its own observation of those 
materials. 

I 

37.1 In Ramesh Chandra A~garwal v, Regency Hospital, (2009) 9 $CC 709, this 

Hon'ble Court has held as follows: 

......... , 
-« ;: 

r' 
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38. In the present case, Justices Agarwal and Shanna, rather than treating the ASI 

Report as one of the many pieces of evidence in the matter, and forming their 

"31. . .. Ordinarily, it is not proper for the court to ask the expert to give his finding 
upon any of the issues,' whether of law or fact, because, strictly speaking, such 
issues are for the court or jury to determine ... " 

37.4 In State (Delhi Administration) v. Pali Ram, (1979) 2 SCC 158, it was observed 

that: 

"4. .. .An expert deposes and not decides. His duty "is to furnish the Judge with the· 
necessary scientific criteria for testing the accuracy of his conclusion, so as to 
enable the Judge to form his own independent judgment by the application of 
these criteria to the facts proved in evidence" [Vide Lord President Cooper 
in Davis v. Edindurgh Magistrate, 1953 SC 34 quoted by Professor Cross in 
his Evidence]." 

37 .3 In Murari Lal v. State of Madhya Pradesh, (1980) 1 SCC 704, it was held that: 

"40. We really need not reiterate various judgments which have taken the view 
that the purpose of an expert opinion is primarily to assist the court in 
arriving at a final conclusion. Such report is not binding upon the court. The 
court is expected to analyse the report, read it in conjunction with the other 
evidence on record and then form its final opinion as to whether such report 
is worthy of reliance or not. Just to illustrate this point of. view, in a given 
case, there may be two diametrically contradictory opinions of handwriting 
experts and botr the opinions may be well reasoned. In such case, the court 
has to critically examine the basis, reasoning, approach ancl experience of the 

expert to come to a conclusion as to which of the two reports can be safely 
relied upon by the court. The assistance and value of expert opinion is 
indisputable, but there can be reports which are, ex facie, incorrect or 
deliberately so distorted as to render the entire prosecution case unbelievable. 
But if such eyewitnesses and other prosecution evidence are trustworthy, 
haye credence and are consistent with the eye-version given by the 
eyewitnesses, the court will be well within its jurisdiction to discard the 
expert opinion. An expert report, duly proved, has its evidentiary value but 
such appreciation has to be within the limitations prescribed and with careful 
examination by the court." 

37.2 This I-fon'ple Court, in Dayal Singh v.Btate of Uttaranchal, (2012) 8 SCC 263, 

has observed as follows: 

~.:·~ 
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Nevertheless, he then goes on to treat the Report as scientifically accurate 

merely because it is based on some data, thereby completely ignoring .the fact 

that the conclusions reached by ASI are merely inferences drawn from such data. 

On the other hand, all other expert evidence led against the ASI Report, which is 

at par with the ASI Report under Section 45, is treated as conjectural and 

unscientific, without providing any reasons for the same. The following 

passagys of his opinion are relevant in this respect: 

41. Further, Justice Sharma, in two places, records that the archaeologists in the ASI . 

Report "record their inferences" [p. 2953, Vol 3 of the Impugned Judgment]. 
-, 

"AS! submitted report for the perusal of the (!ourt.' This report is data based. It is a 
piece of evidence which comes with;,f,z the substantive evidence. High Court has 
appointed AS! to inspect the spot and to make investigation and submit a report. 
Thus the High Courtj is entitled to accept the same and base its finding on such 

. material for want of any other evidence to contradict the same even without 
examination. of the Commissioner." [p. 2961, Vol 3 of the Impugned Judgment] 

\ 

40. Justice Sharma has proceeded on the erroneous assumption that the ASI Report 

itself is substantive evidence; which is contrary to settled law that it is an 

opinion and ought not to be relied upon without corroboration by substantive 

evidence. The relevant paragraph of Justice Shanna's opinion is as follows: 

39. While both Justices Agarwal ,[p. 2053-2063, Vol 2 of the Impugned 
Judgment] and Sharma [p. 2962- 2965, Vol 3 of the Impugned Judgment] 
have devoted some space to discussing the law on Section 45, including the 

weak and fallible nature of such evidence, there is no application of the same to 

the ASI R~port itself. Rather, the ASI Report has been considered to be 
sacrosanct Md bindin~, while the 6nU~ hM m6M6USly bMft plaMd ¢1'1 the 
Plaintiffs inSuit No. 5 to discredit or disprove the same. 

independent opinion on the facts in issue after considering all the material and 

evidence, have indiscriminately rel~ed on ASI Report, without evaluating the 

materials or reasons in support of the Report or the omissions and 

inconsistencies therein, which is contrary to the mandate of the aforementioned 

case law. 

.. ::~ 
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I 

"... This is suffice to draw an inference that there was a structure over land in 
question where disputed structure was constructed and that structure ·related to 
religious purposes and not non religious purposes. The only thing which was to be 
seen, whether it could be a temple or not. By the process of elimination since it was 

never a case of Muslim parties that there existed any Islamic religious structure at 
the place in dispute before construction of the disputed structure Of that there 
existed a religious structure other than Hindus, it leads to an inference (JS 

suggested by AS! and mere titbits and minor infirmities in it, even it exist, in our 

The report of the Commissioner appointed to make investigation together with 
the evidence enclosed therewith is an evidence in the suit. The parties having 
grievance! have two kinds of remedies. Firstly, they can file a~ objection to the 
report and secondly, they can also lead evidence to show that what has been said in 
the report is not correct." [para 3750, p. 2169, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment] 

43. However, he fails to apply, the same test to the ASI Report in light of the 

· evidench of other expert archaeologists. Rather, he presumes the ASI Report to 
be correct and places the burden on the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5 to show that it is 

incorrect, as is apparent from the following passages: 

"A perusal of the above statements and in particular that of PW 16, 20, OPW 9 and 

6, the Court finds the opinions of the Expert Historians so varying that no definite 
conclusion can be drawn therefrom," [para 3635, p. 2117, Vol 2 of the Impugned 
Judgment] 

42. Justice Agarwal, on the other hand, applies the test of Section 45 to the expert 

Historians and concludes as follows: 

The evidence adduced by the plaintiffs against AS! report is based on surmises and 

conjectures and in a non-scientific manner. Data based report cannot be 
co~tradicted by adducing oral evidence without any scientific investigation. There 

was no request from the side of the plaintiff to re-check the scientific report by 
another body of the experts. Probably, this was not done by the plaintiff for the 

reasons that it was not possible for them to contradict the data based report." [p. 

29617, Vol 3 of the Impugned Judgment] 

"Thus from all angles on flimsy grounds not based on any scientific report to 
contradict the report of A.SI. and this Court has to rely over this scientific report. 
There is nothing on record to contradict the report of A.S.I. ... 
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"Conclusions of A.SI. Report 2003, already quoted, are not of much help in this 
regard for two reasons. Firstly, the conclusion that "evidence of continuity in 
structural phases from the tenth century onwards upto the construction of the 
disputed structure' is directly in conflict with the pleadings, gazetteers and history 
books. Neither it has been pleaded by any party nor mentioned in any gazetteer or 
most of the history books that after construction of temples by Vikramadittya in first 
Century B.C. (or third or fourth century A.D., according to some) till the 
construction of the mosque in question in around 1528 A.]). any construction 
activity was carried out at the site of the premises in dispute or around that .... 

45. Justice Khan, even though he does not discuss the law on Section 45, has rightly 

refused to place reliance on the ASI Report because, on an overall conspectus, it 

is in conflict with the other pieces of evidence in the matter. He observes as 

follows: 

"Since they have supported the AS! Report, we have not mentioned =: statements 
in detail for the reason that we intended to test the objections raised against the 
AS! Report in the light of what the witnesses of plaintiffs (Suit-4) have deposed and 
only when we would have some doubt we would refer and compare the statement 
that of bPW 17 to 19 .... " [para 3958, p. 2420, Vol 2 of the Impugned · 
Judgment] 

44. Therefore, Justice Agar~al has considered only the objections to the ASI Report, 

which he rejects in a very cursory manner, rather than evaluate the ASI Report 

on its own merits. Further, the depositions of the expert archaeologists of the 

other side, some of who have also disagreed with some portions of the ASI 

Report, have not been examined by him. To the contrary, he opines as follows: 

· " ... #inor mistakes and irregularities in AS! Report, if any, do not shake the basic 
finding that the disputed structure claimed was not raised on a virgin land or 
unoccupied land but there existed a structure and using some part thereof either in 
the form of foundation or using the material thereof, the disputed structure was 
created. Whether- lime mortar or lime plaster from a particular period or not, 
whether glazed ware were. Islamic or available in Hindustan. earlier are all 
subsidiary questions .... "[para 3985, p. 2442, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment] 

vie¥J, are of no consequence, if any." [para 3977, p. 2436, Vol 2 of the Im~1,1gned . 
Judgment] 
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46.2 These notes ~nd discussions are of utmost importance to determine the validity 

of the process by which the ASI reached its conclusions from the objects/ 

artefacts discovered by it during excavation and prepared its Final Report. To 

illustrate, one of the artefacts is termed as "divine couple stone" in the Final ASI 

Report, but such nomenclature does not find mention in any of the supporting · 1 

material provided by the ASL In the absence of the notes/ discussions leading up 

to the preparation of the Final Report it is impossible to know the methods and 

reasoning by which the artefact came to be termed as a "divine couple" despite 

admittedly being heavily mutilated, and thereby precludes a proper examination 

and e~aluation of the ASI Report. This objection too was taken against the ASI 

Report, and reads as follows: 

"3. That in spite 9f clear cut directions of this Court to file all the papers-documents 

r?f<J(ing to th? ?:xrnv~ti9n1 th? A$! not' only delaved the filing 9[ certain 'relevant 

documents, but also destroyed the notes prepared by it at the time of study/ analysis 

of various finds/ architectural objects, which raises a grave doubt about the 

veracity of the report;" [para 242, p. 252, Vol 1 of the Impugned Judgment] 

46. l The notes prepared by the ASI team from their field note books/ day to day 

registers and the discussions held by the team members for the preparation of 

the Final Report as well as the draft Report were never supplied by the ASL 

When asked for the same, the ASI claimed that these materials had been 

destroyed. This is evident from one of the objections raised against the ASI 

Report, which is as follows: 

46. In addition, some crucial supporting material to the ASI Report was never even 

made available, which would have been extremely important in evaluating the· 

Report. This is also a requirement under Order 26 Rule 1 OA read with Rule 10 

of the Code ·of Civil Procedure, 1908. 

... It is also important to note that neither there is any requirement nor practice 
that eve1 in the foundations of temple, there must be such items, which may denote 
th? nature of the superstructure." [p. 1()3, V QI 1 of the Impugned Judgment] 
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49. Though a Court is not bound by the opinion of the expert, and must form its 

own conclusion based on the material on record, the Court cannot itself take 

upon the role of an expert or supplement the report of the expert with its own 

opinions, particularly on a subject with respect to which the Court itself may not 

be conversant. This Hon'ble Court, in Ajay Kumar Panwar v. State of Rajasthan, 
(2012) 12 sec 406, has opined as follows: 

48. As stated in paragraphs 31 t10 36 hereinabove, the ASI Report does not give any 

opinion on whether there was any Hindu temple at the site or answer the query 

of whether such temple was demolished to build a mosque, despite being an 

expert body. Nevertheless, the Hon'ble High Court in the present case, though 

not an expert, has gone beyond the ASI Report in giving findings on these issues. 

It is submitted that the same is impermissible in law. 

The Court. Cannot itself Become an Expert 

47. In view of the above, it is submitted that Justices Agarwal and Sharma have not 

considered the AS! Report or evaluated it properly in light of the other 

materials/ evidence on record in the matter as well as the law laid down under 

Section 45. 

46.3 Similafly, vide order d'ted 03.02.2Q05, the High Court, instead of deciding the 

objections to the Report at that stage, decided that the ASI Report shall be 

subject to the objections and evidences of the parties in the suit and all this shall 

be dealt with when the matter is finally decided [para 244, p. 253, V QI 1 of the 

Impugned Judgment]. Despite this, the above objections were not decided at 

the time of final hearing. 

"11. That AS! has, without any firm basis, characterized mutilated stone sculpture 
(plates 235 of Vol II of the report) as "divine couple' and appears to have 
invented it at some later stage, as reference to it does not find in corresponding 
Site note-book or pay to Day Register;" [p. '253, Vol 1 of the Impugned 
Judgment] 
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''The Report of the Archaeological Survey of India, which is a report of an expert in 
excavation, contains all the details including details of stratigraphy, artifacts, 
periodization as well as details of structures and walls. The pillar bases mentioned 
in the report establish beyond all doubt the existence of a huge structure. In 

52. The relevant passages of the opinion of Justice Agarwal are as follows: 

51. However, both Justices Agarwal. and Sharma, without having any specialized 

knowledge of the subject, have effectively assumed the mantle of experts in 

archaeology and architecture, in coming to the conclusion that there existed a . 

Hindu religious structure at the site which was demolished by the Muslims, even 

though the ASI stopped short of opining on the same. It is pertinent to note that 

while these Ld. Judges arrive at findings which have no basis in the ASI Report, 

they purport to place reliance on the ASI Report itself. 

"The opinion of the Court, itself untrained· in medicine and without trained 
assistance, on questions of medicine is valueless. On questions of handwriting also, 

. the practice of the Court itself acting as. an expert has been disapproved .... " [p. 

29651 Vol 3 of the Impugned Jud.gmentJ 

50. In fact, Just,~e Sharma, in his separate opinion, has reproduced an entire passage 

on the Courl acting as an expert, the relevant portion of which is as follows: 

its own eyes to. compare the disputed writing with the admitted writing and 

then from applying jts own observation to prove the said handwritings to be 

the same or different, as the case may be, but in doing SQ, the court cannot 
itself become an expert in this regard and must refrain from playing the role 
of an expert, for the simple reason that the opinion of the court may also not 
be conclusive. Therefore, when the court takes such a task upon itself, and 

findings are recorded solely oh the basis of comparison. of signatures or 
handwritings, the court must keep in mind the risk involved, as the opinion 
formed by the court may not be conclusive and is susceptible to error, 
especially when the exercise is. conducted by one, not conversant with the 
subject. Thy court, therefore, as a matter of prudence and caution should 
hesitate or be slow to base its findings solely upon the comparison made by 

it ... 11 

other witness, and rt, it cannot be brushed aside as useless. There is no legal 
ba~ to prevent the court from comparing signatures or handwriting, by using . 

"2~. The opinion of a handwriting expert is fallible/liable to error like that of any 
I 
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3990. AS!, in our view, has rig~tly refrained from recording. a categorical 
· finding whether there was any demolition or not for the reason when a 

building is f onstructed over another and that too hundreds of years back, 
it may som~times be difficult to ascertain as M i11 what ~ircumstanc;<Js 
building was raised and whether the earlier building collapsed on its 
own or due to natural forces or for the reason attributable to some 
persons interested for its damage. Sufficient indication has been given b)J 

AS! that the building in dispute did not have its own foundation but it was · 
raised on the existing walls. If a building would not have been existing 
before construction of the subsequent building, the builder might not 
have been able to use foundation of the erstwhile building without 
knowing its strength and capacity of bearing the load of new structure. 
The floor of the disputed building was just over the floor of the disputed 
building. The existence of several pillar bases all show another earlier 
existence of a sufficiently bigger structure, if not bigger than the disputed 
structure then not lessor than that also." 

[p. 2445-2446, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment] 

3989. Jn our view, the conclusion drawn by the ASiin the project accomplished 
within an extra-ordinary brief period and with such an excellence 
precision and perfection deserve commendation and appreciation instead 
of condemnation. It normally happens when an expert body tenders an 
opinion, the party, who finds such opinion adverse to his interest, feels 
otherwise and tries to rid of such opinion by taking recourse to all such 
measures a~ J)B,missibfa but in th~ pr~Jent case we hoped. a better 
response particularly when the expert· body involved is a pioneer and 
premier archaeological body of this country having international repute. 
We are satisfied that the report of AS! not only deserve to be accepted 
but it really helps this Court in forming its opinion on an important issue 
in this regand. All the objections against AS!, therefore, are rejected. 

"3988. It is contented that the AS! Report does not answer the question framed 
by this Court, inasmuch as, neither it clearly says whether there was any 
demolition of the earlier structure if existed and whether that structure 
was a temple or not. 

addition to above, existence of circular shrine, stone slabs in walls with Hindu 
·motifs and more particularly sign of Makar Pranal in wall no. S (wall of disputed 
structure), divine couple and other temple materials etc. conclusively proves the 
existence of a Hindu religious structure beneath the disputed structure .... " [para 
3979, p. 2439, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment] 
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54. It is respectfully submitted that the above findings are based on no evidence. 

Rather, the, Ld .. Judges have donned the garb of an expert and arrived at these 

conclusions on the basis of assumptions and presumptions. The ASI Report does 

not support such findings. The expert witnesses led by the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 
4 have stated that the objects/ artefacts recovered during excavation could 

belong to any other religious or non-religious structure. 
I 

"Vis-a-vis in the sequence of events, referred to above, and on the basis of the 

report, it can conclusively be held that the disputed structure was constructed on 
site of old structure after demolition of the same. There is sufficient evidence to this 

effect that the structure was a Hindu massive religious strucluP~ .... " [p. 2970, Vol 
3 of the Impugned Judgment] 

" .. Certain data based (i~dings of AS! is available to establish that there was· a 

t.emple ~nd a place of worship of Hindus .... " [p. 29~8, Vol 3 of the Impugned 
Judgment] · 

" ... The massive structure theory was not based on imagination. Evidence of bones 
found from different levels postulate that Hindus also used to perform sacrifices of 

animals to please Gods. About pillar bases there is nothing on record to suggest as 
to how the construction can be disbelieved. The main thrust of the plaintiffs that 
there was a structure which was not a Hindu religious structure is not beli~vable 
for the reasons that certain images were found on the spot were there. Hundreds of 

artefacts which flnJ mention itt the veport Wl.?rl? recovere:d (/yring the excavation 
that denote the existence of Hindu religious structure." [p. 2965, Vol 3 of the. 
Impugned Judgment] 

53. The relevant passages from the opinion of Justice Shanna are as follows: 

Justice Agarwal eventually concludes that the temple was demolished based on 

inferences drawn from the ASI Report as well ·as certain history books/ 

Gazetteers [paras 4055-4057' p. 2507, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment], 

despite having himself held earlier that no clear picture emerged from historical 

records as there was a f ot of difference between historians [paras 3672-3673, p. 

2142, Vol 2 of the Impugned Judgment]. 
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56. Hence, the findings on there being a Hindu religious structure beneath the 

disputed structure and its demolition ar~ completely untenable in law. In any 
event, the burden on the Plaintiffs in Suit No. 5 was to establish that there 

existed a Ram Janam Sthan temple at the disputed site, and not any Hindu 

temple. Therefore, even the above findings do not answer Issue No. 14 in Suit 

No. 5. 

"It is surprising that though they built large and magnificent mosques in Syria, Iraq, 
Iran, Turkey, Egypt and Spain, the Muhammedans have no written text as to the 
construction of their sacred architecture. Except the universal law that the 
congregation would face the Ka 'ba (in Mecca) in accordance with the Quranic 

· injunction aitd th~ Qiblah would mark its direction, there art; no prmri(Jed rules 
and absolutely no norms for its making .... " [para 214, p. 220, V<;>I 1 of the 
Impugned Judgment] 

55. In fact, the Hon'ble High Court's Order dated 23.10.2002 itself records a 

passage from the book 'Hirt~ry of Mughal Architecture' by Shri R. Nath, which 

states that there are no architectural norms for construction of mosques. 

Therefore, it cannot be conclusively said that the artefacts recovered with 

different motifs cannot belong to mosques. The relevant excerpt of the said book 

is as follows: 
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1' Arising out of Sl.Ps (Cr!.) Nos. 7153-54 of2013 
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STATE CNCT OF DELHI) Respondent. 
Criminal Appeals Nos. 9-10 of 20161', decided on January 6, 2016 

A. Penal Code~ 1860 - S. 193 - Perjury - Change of stand by expert · 
witness in his oral evidence from that taken in his written opinion, whether 
to help accused - If deliberate, or, based on insistence of trial court - 
Conclusive opinion not expressed by expert at any stage - Relevance - If 
change of stand in present case amounted to perjury by such expert witness 

- Where ballistic expert in his report indicated that his opinion that 
two empty cartridges were fired from same firearm was based on insufficient 
material available and that definite opinion could be given only on availability 
of crime weapon for examination, such opinion cannot be treated as conclusive 
- lfin his oral evidence, he then gave a non-specific and non-definite different 
opinion that two cartridges were fired from two different firearms, on insistence 
of trial court for him to give an opinion without examiniug the firearm, but 

d in his cross-examination (on being declared hostile witness), he reiterated that 
definite opinion could re given only on crime weapon being made available 
for examination, he canpot be alleged to have shifted his stand from that taken 
in his report with a view to help person who .cornmitted crime by using crime . 
weapon - Thus, it was' not even his voluntary, let alone deliberate deposition, 
before the court - Therefore.It is unjust, if not unfair, to attribute any motive to 
the appellant that there was a somersault from his original stand in the written 
opinion~ Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 - S. 340 - Proceedings against · 
expert for perjury-Evidence Act, 1872 ~ S. 45- Criminal Trial -Injuries, 
Wounds and Weapons - Firearm/Gunshot injuries/wounds/Ballistics/Ballistic 
expert - q::hangc in o~inion by expert - When perjurious 

B. Evidence Act, 11872 - S. 45 and Ss. 59 to 61 - Expert oplnlon 
vis-a-vis testimony of facts - Difference, explained - Being based on his 
knowledge, may be subject to change on coming across any authentic material 
subsfquently - Opinion -of expert witness is different from testimony of 
witness of fact - Duty of expert is to render his opinion along with reason and 
relevant material - It would then be for court to see correctness of opinion 
and reach its conclusion accordingly 

C. Evidence Act, 1872 ·- S. 45 - Expert - Impartial opinion - 
'Government scientific expert stands on different footing from expert called by 
a party in support of its stand 

D. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973-,- S. 340-Proceeding against expert 
witness under - Not warranted merely because of rejection of his opinion by. 
court - Evidence Act, 187~, S. 45 

Versus 

571 PREM SAGAR MANOCHA v. STATE (NCT OF DELHJ) 

(2016) 4 Supreme Court Cases 571 

(BEFORE DR T.S. THAKUR, C.J. AND KURIAN JOSEPH, J.) 
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E. Criminal Proce~t•re Code, 1973 - S. 340(1)(a) - Recording of finding 
by court- after preliminary inquiry regarding commission .of offence not 
mandatory - Court only required to record finding in respect of preliminary a 
inquiry, for forming opinion that it is expedient in the interest of justice that 
an inquiry should be made in respect of offence which appears to have been 
committed 

In connection with the investigation of FIR registered in respect of a murder 
case, the police sought a,11 expert opinion from the State Forensic Science 
Laboratory inter aliaon the question whether two empty cartridges had been fired c 
from the same firearm or otherwise. The appellant, who at the relevant time was 
working as Deputy Director of the Laboratory forwarded a report that no definite 
opinion could be given on the two empty cartridges in order to link the firearm 
unless the suspected firearm was made available for examination. The trial court 
in the appellant's examination in court insisted that for reply to the said question 
1Jw J)NJMJHJIJ DftlwjireDrm was no·r mwl!s.wry. The appellant then responded in hi~ 0 deposition that the two cartridges appeared to have been fired from two different 
firearms. On further examination, the appellant clearly stated in his deposition: "I 
have already stated these two cartridge cases appear to have been fired from two 
different firearms. Definite opinion would have been given once the weapon is 
given to me for examination." 

During the trial the Sessions Court examined several witnesses, including the cl 
appellant for the prosecution. The trial court acquitted all the accused in that case. 
But the IHigh Court conviled all of them and the conviction was uphelp by the 
Su pre. n. ie C. 01J.rt. Disturbed y the con .. duct of many of the witn.esses.turoip. g. hostile, 
the High .Court, in the ap eal against acquittal, initiated suo motu proceedings 
under Section 340 CrPC, against the appellant and some other witnesses. After 
considering the appellant's reply, he was directed to be proceeded against. The e 
High Court was of the oplnlon that the oral evklence tendered by the appellant 
reflected a shift in stand from that of the written opinion which was apparently to 
help the accused, and hence, Section 193 TPC was attracted. Therefore, what is to 
be seen is whether ~!,le High Court is justified in forming the opinion on commission 
of die offence under Section 19 3 IPC. 

Allowing the appeal, the Supreme Court 
Held: 

The appellant bas .all through been consistent that as an expert, a definite 
opinion in the case could be given only if the suspected firearm was made ·available 
for examination. It is nobody's case that scientifically an expert can give a definite 
opinion by only examining the cartridges as to whether they have been fired from 
the same firearm. It was die trial court which insisted for au opinion without the g 
presence of the firearm, and in that context only, the appellant gave the non-specific 
and indefinite opinion. The appellant's opinion that the cartridges appeared to 
have been fired from different firearms was based on die court's insistence to give 
the opinion without examining the firearm. In other words, it was not even his 
voluntary, let alone deliberate deposition, before the court. An expert, in such a 
situation, could not probably have given a different opinion. Therefore, it is unjust, h 
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if not unfair, to attribute any motive to the appellant that there was a somersault 
from his original stand in the written opinion. (Paras 15 and 23) 

Merely because an expert has tendered an opinion while also furnishing the 
basis of the opinion and that too without being conclusive and definite, it cannot be 
said that h~ has committed perjury so asto help somebody. And. mere rejection of 
the expert evidence 'by ttself may not also warrant initiation of proceedings under 
Section 340 CrPC. (P\\I~ ~m 

In Pakistan the expert is often called by a party after ascertaining that the expert 
holds a view in favour of that party. That is not the situation or scheme under the 
Evidence 1Act, 1872. And, in any case, a government scientific expert certainly 
stands on a different footing. (Para 19) 

National Justice Compania Naviera S.A. v. Prudential Assurance Co. Ltd. (the Ikarian Reefer), 
(1995) 1 Lloyd's Rep 455 (CA), relied on 

Umeed Ali Khan v. Sultana Ibrahim, LEX/SCPI\1'0483/2006, distinguished 
.Yaqoob Shah v. State, PLD 1976 SC 53 (Pak); Abdul Majeed v. State, PLD 1976 Karachi 762; 

Syed Ali Nawaz Gardezi v. Lt. Col. Mohd. Yousuf. PLD 1963 SC 51 (Pak), cited 

Expert evidence needs to be given a closer scrutiny aad requires a different 
approach while initiating proceedings under Section 340 CrPC. After all, it is an 
opinion given by an expert and a professional and that too especially when 'the 
expert himself has lodged a caveat regarding his inability to form a definite opinion 
without the required material. The duty of an expert is to furnish the court his 
opinion and the reasons for bis opinion along with all the materials. It is for the court 
thereafter to .see whether the basis of the opinion is correct and proper and then 
form its own conclusion. But, that is not the case In respect of a witness of facts. 
Facts are facts and they remain and have to remain as such forever. The witness of 
facts does not give his opinion on facts, but presents the facts as such. However, 
the expert gives an opinion on what he has tested or on what has been subjected 
to any process of scrutiny. The inference drawn thereafter is still an opinion based 
on his knowledge. In case, subsequently, he comes across some authentic material 
which may suggest a different opinion, he must address the same, lest he should 
he l:rrand~d M iiHell~etual1y dishonest. Ohjiwtive approach gnd openness to truth 
actually form the basis of any expert opinion. (Para 20) 

Manu Shanna v. State (NCTof Delhi), (2010) 6 SCC 1: (2010) 2 SCC (Cri) 1385; State(Delhi 
Admn.) v. Pali Ram, (1979) 2 SCC 158 : 1979 SCC (Cri) 389; Ramesh Chandra Agrawal 
v. Re$ency Hospitals Lzd., (2009) 9 SCC 709 : (2009) 3 SCC (Civ) 840, relied on 

The proceedings under Section 340 CrPC can be successfully invoked even 
without a preliminary inquiry since the whole purpose of the inquiry is only to 
decide whether it is expedient in the interest of justice to inquire into the offence 
which appears to have been committed. Section 340 CrPC, prior to amendment 
in 1973, .was Section 479-A in the 1898 Code and it was mandatory under the 
pre-amended provision to record a finding after the preliminary inquiry regarding 
the commission of offence; whereas in the 1973 Code, the expression "shall" 
bas been' substituted by "may" meaning thereby that under the 1973 Code, it 
is not mandatory that the court should record a finding. What is )l.OW required 
is only recording the finding of the preliminary inquiry which is meant only 
to form an opinion of the court, and that too, opinion on. an offence. "which 

a 
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State (Govt. of NCT of Delhi) v. Sidhartha vastustu, 2013 SCC OnLine Del 2118 : (2013) 201 h 
DLT657 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
KURIAN JOSEPH, J.- Leave granted. The appellant is aggrieved by the 

· proceedings initiated by the High Court of Delhi against him under Section 340 
of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (hereinafter referred to as "CrPC") · 
which culminated in the impugned order dated 22-5-20131 whereby the High 
Court directed its Registrar General to file a complaint against the respondent. 

Short facts g 
2. Ip connection with the investigation of FIR No. 287 of 1999 registered 

at Police Station Mehrauli (Jessica Lal murder case), the police sought an 
expert opinion from the State Forensic Science Laboratory, Rajasthan by letter 

.581f-g 
577e-/ e 
579/-g, 

~80f 
580e-f 
580f-g, 

577/, 577f-g 

515ef 
58Qc-d 

575d-e 
d 

580a 

575e, 579d-e 

on page(s) 

appears to have been committed", as to whether the same should be duly inquired 
into. (Paras 12 and 11) 

Pritish v. State of Maharashtra, (2002) 1 SCC 253 : 2002 SCC (Cri) 140, relied on a 
Har Gobind V, State of Haryana, ( 1979) 4 sec 482 : 1980 sec (Cri) 98, distinguished 
State (Go11t. of NCTof Delhi) v. Sidhartha Vashisht, 2013 SCC OoLiJ;!e Del 2118: (2013) 201 

DLT 657, reversed 
State v. Sidhartha Vas his ht, 2006 sec Onl.ine Del 1599 : (2006) 135 DLT 502; Court on its 

Own Motion, In re, 2006 SCC Onl.ine Del 1593 : (2006) 135 DLT 505, referred to 

R-~156,~6/~R b 
Advocatesj who appeared in this case : · 

K.V. Vi~wanathan, Senior Advocate (Abhishek Arrey, Advocate) for tbe Appellant; 
D.S. Mabra, Advocate, for the Respondent. 
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"(i) The calibre of two cartridge cases (C/1 and C/2) is .22. 
(ii) These two cartridge cases (C/1 mid C/2) appear to have been fired 

from pistol. 
(iii) No definite opinion could be given on two .22 cartridge cases (Cll 

and C/2) in order to link firearm unless the suspected firearm is available 
for examination." (emphasis supplied) 
4.' During the trial before the Sessions Court, New Delhi, 101 witnesses 

d wefe examined for the prosecution. The appellant was PW 95. The trial court 
acquitted all the ten accused of all the charges. In State v. Sidhartha Vqshisht2, _ 
by judgment dated 20-12~2006, the High Court convicted all of them. The 
conviction was upheld by this Court In Judgment dated 19-4-WH} The decision 
is reported in Manu Sharma v. State (NCT of Delhi)3. · 

5. Disturbed by the conduct of many of the witnesses turning hostile, the 
High Court, in the appeal against acquittal, initiated suo motu proceedings, by 
notice dated 20-12-20064 against 32 witnesses including the appellant. After 
considering their replies, the proceedings against a few of them were dropped. 
However, the appellant and a few others were directed to be proceeded against. 
The Court was of the opinion that the oral evidence tendered by the appellant 
reflected a shift in stand from that of the written opinion which was apparently 
to. help the accused, and hence, Section 193 of the Penal Code, 1860 (4S of 
1860) (herbinafter referred to as "IPC").was attracted. . 

6. In order to appreciate the factual position a little more in detail, which 
is necessary for the purpose of this appeal, we shall extract the relevant portion 

g of the deposition: 

"And after examination the report was prepared with reference to the 
queries. My report is Ext. PW-95/2 which was typed at my dictation and 
bears my sign at Point A. On examination I came to the conclusion as 
under: 

b 

PREM SAGAR MANOCHA v. STATE (NCT OF DELID) (Kurian, J.) 575 

dated 19-1-2000. The expert opinion was in respect of the following three 
questions: 

"l. Please examine and opine the bore of the two empty cartridges 
present in the sealed parcel. 

2. Please opine whether these two empty cartridges have been fired 
from a pistol or a revolver. 

3. Whether both the empty cartridges have been fired from the same 
firearm or otherwise." (emphasis supplied) 
3. The appellant at the relevant time was working as the Deputy Director 

of the Laboratory. He forwarded a report dated 4-2-2000 with the following 
result of examination: 

a 

-- ':' ..; .. 
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7. The witness was declared hostile, and i1.1 cross-examination, the 
following question and its answer were tendered: 

"Q. Is it correct that according to your own notings at Point C to Con. 
worksheet you were of the view that definite opinion as to whether the fired 
cases Cl and C2 have been fired from the same firearm i.e. one firearm or 
from two different weapons can be given only if the firearm involved in 
question is produced otherwise not? 

Ans. I have already stated that these two cartridge cases appeared 
to have been fired from two different firearms. Definite opinion 
would have been given once the weapon is given to me for 
examination." (emphasis supplied) 

8. Shri K.V. Viswanathan, learned Senior Counsel appearing. for the 
appellant, contended that being an expert and a professional, the appellant only g 
tendered] his opinion in response to the specific question put by court and that 
does notlamount to even a borderline case of perjury. 

9. Perjury falls under Chapter XI IPC- "Of False Evidence and Offences 
Against Public Justice". As per Section 193 IPC, 

"193. Punishment for false evidence .-Whoever intentionally gives false h 
· evidence in any stage of a judicial proceeding or fabricates false evidence 

a 

(i) In .answer to Query 1, in Ext. PW-95/lB regarding the bore of 
two empty cartridges I came to the conclusion that the calibre of two 
cartridge cases (marked C/l and C/2) examined by me is .22 bore. 

(ii) Regarding Query 2 the two cartridge cases in Question 1 I came 
to the conclusion that these two cartridges appear to have been fired 
from pistol. The query at No. 2 was 'please opine whether these two 
empty cartridges nave been fired from pistol or revolver'. 

(iii) Query 3 was 'whether both the empty cartridges have been 
fired from the same firearm' which had not been sent for examination b 
in order to link the cartridge cases with that. So my conclusion was 
that no definite opinion could be given on two .22 bore cartridge cases 
(Cll and C/2) in order to link with the firearm unless the suspected 
firearm is available for examination. 

· Court question 
0 

! {?· Fr;r reply to fiuery 3 the presence of theprearm was not necessary. 
The juestion was whether the two empty cartridges have been fired from 
one instrument or from different instruments? · 

Ans. The question is now clear to me. I can answer the query Here 
and. now. These two cartridge cases were examined physically and under 
sterio and comparison microscope to study and observe and compare the d 
evidence and the characteristic marks present on them which have been 
printf.d during firing. After comparison I am of the opinion that these 'two 
cartridge cases CIJ and Cl2 appeared to have been fired from two different 
firearms." · (emphasis supplied) 

(2016) 4 sec SUPREME COURT CASES 576 
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s (1979) 4 sec 482 : 1980 sec (Cri) 98 
6 (2002) 1 sec 2s3 : 2002 sec (Cri) 140 

h 

"9 .. Reading of the sub-section makes it clear that the hub of this 
provision is formation of an opinion by the court (before which proceedings 
were to be held) that it is expedient in the interest of justice that an inquiry 
should be made into an offence which appears to have been committed. In 
order to form such opinion the court is empowered to hold a preliminary 
inquiry. It is not peremptory that such preliminary inquiry should be held. 

g 

e 

b 

a 

for the purpose of being used in any stage of a judicial proceeding, shall be 
punished with imprisonment of either description for a term which may extend 
to seven years, and shall also be liable to fine; 

and whoever intentionally gives or fabricates false evidence in any other 
case, shall be punished with imprisonment of either description for a term 
which may extend to three years, and shall also be liable to fine." 
1(). Section 340 CrPC falls under Chapter XXVI of the Code- "Provisions 

as to Offences Affecting the · Administration of Justice". Either on an 
application or otherwise, if any court forms an opinion that it is expedient in 
the interdsts of justice that an inquiry should be made in respect of an offence 
referred to under Section 195 CrPC which appears to have been committed in 
relation to a proceeding in that court, the court after such preliminary inquiry, 
enter a finding and make a complaint before the Magistrate of competent 

c jurisdiction. It is this jurisdiction which has been invoked suo motu by the High 
Court in the criminal appeal, leading to the impugned order. 

11. Section 340 CrPC, prior to amendment in 1973, was Section 479-A in 
the 1898 Code and it was mandatory under the pre-amended provision to record 
a finding after the prel\minary inquiry regarding the commission of offence; 
whereas in the 1973 Co~e, the expression "shall" has been substituted by "may" 

d meaning thereby that upder the 1973 Code, it is not mandatory that the court 
should record a finding, What is now required is only recording the finding of 
the preliminary inquiry which is meant only to form a1;1 opinion of the court, 

· Aulf Uu1t lM, o~iition on m1 offence "which sppears to·hav@ been committed", 
as to whether the same should be duly inquired into. 

12. We are unable to appreciate the submission made by the leamed Senior 
Counsel that the impugned order is liable to be quashed on the. only ground 
that there is no finding recorded by the court on the commission of the offence. 
Reliance placed on Har Gobind v. State of Haryana5 is of no assistance to the 
appellant since it was a c~se falling on the interpretation of the pre-amended 
provision of CrPC. A three-Judge Bench of this Court in Pritish v. State of 
Mahp,rashtra6 has even gone to the extent of holding that the proceedings under 
Section 340 CrPC can be successfully invoked even without a preliminary 
inquiry since the whole purpose of the inquiry is only to decide whether it is 
expedient in the interest of justice to inquire into the offence which appears to 
have been committed. To quote: tPrltish case", SCC pp. 258-59, para 9) 
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d 

13. In the impugned order-, the High Court did form au opinion after the 
inquiry. To quote: tStdhartha easel, SCC Onl.ine Del para 90) 

"90. It was argu~d on behalf of the State by the learned Standing 
<;oun.sel that the ballistic expert's deposition, Ext. PW 95 was calcul. ated 
to let the accused Manu Sharma off the hooks. It was submitted that the 
witness had stated that, no definite opinion could be given whether the 
two empty cartridges were fired from the same weapon. However, on the 
basis of the same material, he took a somersault and gave a completely e 
contrary opinion in the Court saying that they appear to have been fired 
from different weapons. It was submitted that by the time thls witness 
stepped on to the box, the defence had formed its definite plan about a 
'two-weapon theory'. The deposition of this witness was sought to support 
the 'two-weapon theory'. That this Court and the Supreme Court rejected 
the theory did not in any way undermine the fact that PW 95 gave false 
evidence." · . · 
14. Therefore, what is to be seen is whether the High Court is justified 

in forming the opinion' on commission of the offence under Section 193 IPC. 
The stand of the appellant in his report (Ext. PW-95/2) dated 4-2-2000, and 
while deposing before the court at the trial, it is to be noted, was consistent. 
Query 3 was whether both the empty cartridges were fired from the same g 
firearm or otherwise. Since there was no recovery of the firearm, the same was 
not sent along with the cartridges for the examination by the expert. Therefore, 
the opinion tendered was that he was unable to give any definite opinion in 
answer to Query 3, "unless the s~spected firearm is available for examination": 

h 
State ((fovt. of NCT of Delhi) v. Sidhartha Vashislu, 2013 SCC Onl.ine Del 2118: (2013) 201 
DLT6517 

Even without suchpreliminary inquiry the court can form such an opinion 
when it appears to the court that an offence has been committed in relation 
to a proceeding in that court. It is important to notice that even when the a 
court forms such an opinion it is not mandatory that the court should make 
a complaint. This sub-section has conferred a power on the court to do 
so. It does not mean that the court should, as a matter of course, make 
~ complaint. But once the court decides to do so, then the court should 
make a finding to the effect that on the fact situation it is expedient in 
the interest of justice that the offence should further be probed into. If the b 
cqurt finds it necessary to conduct a preliminary inquiry to reach such 
a finding it is always open to the court to do so, though absence of any 
such pn:liminary inquiry would not vitiate a ,Pndin8 reached by the court 
regarding its opinion. It should again be remembered that the preliminary 
inquiry contemplated in the sub-section is not for finding whether any 
particular person is guilty or not. Far from that, the purpose of preliminary c 
inquiry, even if the court opts to conduct it, is only to decide whether it is 
expedient.in the interest of justice to inquire into the offence which appears 
to have been committed." (emphasis supplied) 
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3 (2010)6SCC1:(2010)2SCC(Cri)1385 
7 (1979) 2 sec 158 : 1919 sec (Cri) 389 
* Ed.: Emphasis supplied. 

h 

'i31 .... the real" function of the expert is to put before the court all 
the materials, together with reasons which induce him to· come to the 
conclusion, so that the court, although not an expert, may form its own 
judgment by its own observation of those materials. Ordinarily, it is not 
proper for the court to ask the expert to give his finding upon any of the 

g 

17. This Court in State (Delhi Admn.) v. Pali Ram 7 held that: (SCC p. 169, 
para 31) 

e 

It was at that juncture, there was a court question. According to the court, "for 
reply to Q¥ery 3, the presence of the firearm was not necessary. The question 

a was whether the two. ~mpty cartridges have been fired from one instrument 
or from different instruments." To that question, the appellant responded that 
"after comparison, I afn of the opinion that these two cartridge cases Gil and 
C/2 appeared to have been fired from two different firearms", It is not a clear, 
conclusive, specific and definite opinion. Io further examination, the appellant 
has clearly stated that "l have already stated these two cartridge cases appear 

b to have been fired from two different firearms. Definite opinion would have been 
given once the weapon is given to me for examination." 

15. We fail to understand how the stand taken by the appellant, as above, 
attrac~s the offence of perjury. As we have already observed above, the appellant 
has all .thfough been con .. sistent that as an.expert, a definite opiui.on in th. e. case 

0 could be given only if the suspected firearm is available for examination. It is 
nobody's' case that scientifically an expert can give a definite opinion by op.ly 
examining the cartridges as 16 whether th~y hAV~ bM11 tired from the same 
firearm. It was the trial court which insisted for an opinion without the presence 
of the firearm, and in that context only, the appellant gave the non-specific and 
indefinite opinion. An expert, in such a situation, could not probably have given 

d a different opinion, 
16. In fact, this Court, in the decision rendered on the appeal filed by the 

accused and reportedinManu Sharma. v. State (NCTof Delhi}3, has specifically 
dealt with the issue explaining, and in a way, justifying the stand of the 
app~llant. l'o quote: (SCC p. 73, para 180) 

"180. Similar is the case with the expert opinion of PW 95 which is 
agaln !nconcluslve. There ls no evidence on record to .WUUI thtlt PW 95 
gave an opinion to oblige the prosecution .. On the contrary, his response to 
the court question reveals that he was extremely confused as to the issue 
which had to be addressed by him in the capacity of an· expert. In the 
concluding part of his testimony he reaffirms the opinion given 9Y him 
which is that without test firing the empties from the weapon bf offence no 
conclusive opinion can be given." (emphasis supplied) 
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h 

s (2009) 9 sec 709 : (2009) 3 sec (Civ) 840 
9 LEX/SCPK/0483/2006 

10 PLD 1976 SC 53 (PaJ() 
11 PLD 1976 Karachi 762 
12 PLD 1963 SC 51 (Pak) 

d 

19. Mr Vishwanathan, learned Senior Counsel has invited our attention and 
has placed heavy reliance on a judgment of the Supreme Court of Pakistan in 
Umeed Ali Khan v. Sul{ana Ibrahimi, While dealing with the issue of perjury 
by expert witnesses, it Vias observed as follows: 

"6. We have also dilated upon the import and significance of the 
Handwriting Expert report by whom it was opined that the "receipt'twas 
signed by Dr Sultana Ibrahim. It is well settled by now that Expert's 
evidence is only confirmatory or explanatory of direct or circumstantial 
evidence and the confirmatory evidence cannot be givenpreference where 
confidence-inspiring and worthy of credence evidence is available. In this e 
regard we are forµ:Qed by the dictum as laid down in Yaqoob Shah v. 
State LO. There is ntj doubt that the opinion of Handwriting Expert is relevant 
but it does not amount to conclusive proof as pressed time and again by 
the learned Advocate Supreme Court on behalf of petitioner and can be 
rebutted by overwhelmin~ independent evidence. In this regard reference 
can be made to Abdul Majeed v. State'], It is always risky to base the t' 
findings of genuineness of writing on Expert's opinion. In this behalf we 
are fortified by the dictum as laid down in Syed Ali Nawaz Gardezi v. Lt. 
Col. Mohd. Yousuf12• It hardly needs any elaboration that expert opinion 
must always be received with great caution, especially the opinion of 
Handwriting Experts. An expert witness, however impartial he may wish 
to be; is likely to be unconsciously prejudiced in favour of the side which g 
calls him. The mere fact of opposition on the part of the other side is apt 
to create a spirit of partisanship and rivalry, so that an expert witness is 

issues, whether of law or fact, because, strictly speaking, such issues are 
for the court or jury to determine." (emphasis in original) 

18. In Ramesh Chandra Agrawal v. Regency Hospitals us». this Court has a 
dealt with the difference between an "expert" and "a witness of fact": (SCC 
pp. 715-16, para 20) 

"20. An expert is not a witness of fact and his evidence is really of 
an advisory character. The duty of an expert witness is to furnish the 
Judge with the necessary scientific criteria for testing the accuracy of U1e b 
conclusions so as to eriable the Judge to form his independent judgment by 
the application of these criteria to the facts proved by the evidence of the 
case. The scientific opinion evidence, if intelligible, convincing and tested 
becomes a factor and often an important factor for consideration along with 
other evidence of the case. The credibility of such a witness depends on 

· the reasons stated in support of his conclusions and the data and material 0 
furnished which form the basis of his conclusions." · 

(2016)4 sec SUPREME COURT CASES 580 
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13 (1995) 1 Lloyd's Rep 455 (CA) 

h 

g 

e 

c 

b 

a 

unconsciously impelled to support the view taken by his own side, Besides 
it must be remembered that an expert is often called by one side simply 
and solely because it has been ascertained that he holds views favourable 
to its interest. Although such evidence has to be received with "great 

. caution", yet such evidence, and reasons on which it is based, are entitled 
to careful examination before rejection and non-acceptance by court of 
expert's evidence does not mean that the expert has committed perjury. Of 
all kinds of evidence admitted in a court, this is the most unsatisfactory. 
It is so weak and decrepit as scarcely to deserve a place in our system of . 
jurisprudence." · 

We are afraid that the decision is of no assistance to the appellant, since 
according to that Court, the expert is often called by a party after ascertaining 
that the expert holds a view in favour of that party. That is not the situation or 
scheme under the Evidence Act, 1872. And, in any case, a government scientific 
expert certainly stands on a different footing. 

20. Expert evidence needs to be given a closer scrutiny and requires a 
different approach while initiating proceedings under Section 340 CrPC. After 
all, it is an opinion given by an expert and a professional and that too especially 
whdn the expert himself has lodged a caveat regarding his inability to form 

d a d.efl.Ql~e opinion withou; the required rnilt~lial. The duty of an expert is to 
furnish the court his opinif n. and the reasons for his opinion along wi'J all the 
materials. It is for the court thereafter to see whether the basis of the opinion is 
corr~ct and proper and then form its own conclusion. But-that is not the case 
in respect of a witness of facts. Facts are facts and they remain and have to 
remain as such forever. The witness of facts does not give his opinion on facts, 
but presents the facts as su~h. However, the expert gives an opinion on what 
he has tested or on what has been subjected to any process of scrutiny. The 
inference drawn thereafter is still an opinion based on his knowledge. In case, 
subsequently, he comes across some authentic material which may suggest 
a different opinion, he must address the same, lest he should be branded as 
intellectuapy dishonest. Objective approach and openness to truth actually form 
the basis of any expert opinion. 

21. In ·National Ju.Hice Gomp'1-nilf Naviera S.A. v. Prudential Assurance 
Co. Ltd. (the lkarian Reefer] L3, the Queen's Bench (Commercial Division) even 
went to the extent of holding that the expert has the freedom in such a situation 
to change1 his views. It was stated that 

"if an expert's opinion is not properly researched because he considers. that 
insufficient data is available, then this must be stated with an indication 
that the opinion is no more than a provisional one. In. cases where an 
expert witness who has prepared a report could not assert that the report 
contained the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth without some 
q~ali_fcatir;m. that qualification should be stated in the report." 
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g 

e 

22. Hence, merely because an expert has tendered an opinion while also 
furnishing the basis of the opinion and that too without being conclusive and 
definite, it cannot be said that he has committed perjury so as to help somebody. a 
And, m. er. e rejection 9f the expert evidence by itself may not also wan-ant 
initiation of proceedings under Section 340 CrPC. 

23. It is significant to note that the appellant's opinion that the cartridges 
appeared .to have been fired from different firearms was based on the court's 
insistence to give the opinion without examining the firearm. In other words, 
it was not even his voluntary, let alone deliberate deposition, before the court. b 
Therefore, it is unjust, if not unfair, to attribute any motive to the appellant 
that t~ertt was a somersault from his origina,I stand in the written ophtioo. As a 
matter of fact, even in the written opinion, the appellant has clearly stated that a 
definite opinion in such a situation could be formed only with the examination 
of the suf peered firearm, which we have already extracted in the beginning. 
Thus and therefore, there is no somersault or shift in the stand taken by jhe o 
appellant in the oral examination before court. 

24. The impugned proceedings initiated against the appellant under 
Section 340 CrPC are hence quashed. The appeals are allowed. 
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Criminal Appeal No. 205of1969, decided on October 25, 1972 
I B.W-o. A4it, 1172 (1 of 1m)--.s.cd011 0-Lpen'• ewfd..-Jlud'•rit(e1 

~-Bvlt1 .. t1a"1 '"'loe. 
M ... -1 Jub,,..4.._AGld-Uee for .. ._.cldal parpo•• -Wrely-D•tb 

•uetl bf drlaklq nahl-~ ev!deace lackla1-lal-.ce of aaJdde aplaeld. 
H•ltl, . that evidence or ~ handwrJnr apert, wdl.lre that of a liagerprlnt upert, ii 

generally or a rr1u chanicter lllfd lta l'alllbilltiet have been quite often noticed. Tbe court• 
1boul.d, tberdore, be wvy to "" too mucb wcigbt to the evidence or handwriting expert. 
Tbe conclu1ion1 bued upon racirc complU'itob. of baodwritJng muat at beat be indecillve 
atld yield to tbe politive evidence in the cue. (Para 26) 

Sri Sri Sri Ku/uf1 Clwulra Si111li Du v. Bab11 0-li PruaJ 8/iqaJ, 1954 SCR 919: AlR 
1954 ~C 316: 19.St SCJ 39~. r1lild 11;.ti. 

f\ppcal dimtiJuJ 

... R~pondenq. 

acts were said to have caused panic and terrQr in the locality. Neither Q( 
the grounds, however, suggested that the petitioner or any one or bis 
aaociates used bombs in pcrpetrat,ing the crime, nor w~ it sug~eated that the 
acts were done in pursuance or or for promoting a <;ertain political idec;>logy 
as in some eases which have recently ceme up before this Court, so that Qtber 
persons of the locality not subl~bing to that cult or ideology might ret11 
appreh~nsive that. they would next become th~ targets of 1imilar. at~ck,a in 
future ~nd thw dzsturh the even· tempo of the life of the community in that 
locality, Every assault in a public place like a public road and terminating 
in the death of a victim is likely to cause horror and even panic and terror i,n 
those who are the spectators. But tbat does not mean that all of such incl­ 
dent• do necetsarily cause disturbance or dislocation 0£ the community life 
of the Iocalitiea in which tb6y are committed. There is nothing in tbe two 
inQ<len~ set out in the grounds in the present case to s1,1ggest that either or 
them wu 0£ that kind and gravity wbi<;h would jeopardise the maintenance 
of public order. No doubt bomba were aid io hive beca 'lllTiC'J by th9H 
who are alleged to have committed the two acts stated in the grounds. 
Po1sibly that was done to terrify the respective victim• and prevent then) 
from offering resiatanfe· But it is not alleged in the grounds that they were 
exploded to cause t~rroi in the locality so that those livin11t there would be 
prevented from following their wual avocations of life. The two incidents 
alleged again1t the: p:etitioner, thus, pertained to specific individuals, and 
therefore, related to a,nd fell within the area of law and order. In respect of 
1uch acts the drastic· }:lrovilion1 or the Act are not contemplated ·to be 
resorted to and the ordinary provisions of our penal laws would be sufficient 
to cope with them. I 

5. In the circur.n.stance. the petition Ullllt be allowed and the reJcwe 
or the petitioner directed. Order accordingly. 

I' -- (H7!} 4 !apreme &art ea ... 4& 
I 

( Fr'1ftf Di/Iii HigA Courl) 
[11 . .,ou a. a~ llJiANNA AND v. v. OHANDaAOHl)D, JJ·l 

S)..i'I', BHAGWAN KAUR Appella.nt; 
Vrrsw 

S}iRI :¥:AHARAJ KR.ISHAN SHARMA 
AND O'}:'HERS 

SUPIU!VI OOUllT O.\Sll (1973) •sec •6 
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BH.\OWAN KAUR"· )(Ul.\RAJ XRISSAN SHARMA (Khanna,].) 47 

The Jud;;rnent of the Court was delivered by 

Khau.aa, J.-Maharaj Krishan Sharma (34) and'bis mother Shanti Devi 
(551 were convicted by the Additional Sessions Judge, Delhi, under 
Section 302, read with Section 34-, Indian Penal Code on the allegation tbat 
they caused the death of Shanti Devi alias Prem Lata {25); wife of Maharaj 
Krlshan accused, by forcibly pouring sulphuric acid in her month, and were 
sentenced to undergo . imprisonment for life. Qn appeal the Delhi 
High Court acquitted the two accused by ~iving them the benefit of doubt. 
The present appeal w..1s thereafterfiled by Bhagwan Ka\lr, mother of Shanti 
Devi deceased, by special leave against the acquittal of the two accused 
respondents, . 

2. The prosecution due is that Shanti Devi deceased was the daughter 
of P. W. 5 Uayal Das, Sub-Inspector C. I. D. of Delhi. The deceased was 
married to Maharaj Krishan accused, who is a science teacher in a Delhi 
school, on February 20, 1963. The accused, it is stated, did not feel happy 
\Vith the dOwrY hr61tgbt by the if~~eil~d. Tft~ t'~)AtiO.fts of the deeH~l!d Wi~ 
her bqshand became atrained and the cer eased romplained of ill-treatment 
by tbe two accused. On account oftbe strained relations the deceased on 
Q~casi~ns would go to her father's house and stay there for some ti.o;le; but as 
it was she would again come back to the house of the accused. ~report 
was also once lodged wi~h . the police by the deceased again.at the accused for 
ill-~reilqnent. In May, 1964, Mahl\raj Kri.shan accused obtained a writing 
frorA the deceased in which she stated that she wanted divorce. 

3. Maharaj Krishan! accused also ran a private college known as 
N. C. College at bis residence in C/96, New Rajinder Nagar, New l)elbi. 
On January 13, 1965, Hanuman Singh peon of that college purchased for 
the college from the shop of Lajpat Rai (P. W. 10} one quart of sulphuric 
acid with a concentration of 98.9 per cent. in a bottle. 

· 4. Towards the end of June, Mabaraj Krishan accused sent a tnee1age 
through the deceased to h4 Iather-ia-law that he wanted aome tnoney for 
ROi!\~ to thl! United Kingdom us he h!!.d obtained an employment voucher 
irom th~ United Kingdom. Maharaj Krishan was, however, told by his 
mother-in-law Bhagwan Kaur (P. W. J) that bis 9emanq. for money ce>uld 
not be met. On Jply 21, 1965, it is stated, Shanti Devi deceased sent a 
telephonic message to1 her mother Bhagwan Kaur from the house of ttie 
accused that she w~ beiug beaten by her busband. Bbagwan Kaur then 
went to the house of the accused. Dayal Das also reached there. Shanti 
Devi then told her parents while weeping that sbe had.beenbeaten by her 
husband as be wanted money for going abroad. Maharaj Krisban accused 
then admonished the deceased and again made a· demand for u.ioney for 
going to the United Kingdom. Maharaj Krishan was, however, told by the 
parents-of the deceased that they could n,ot pay him anything. 

! 5. The present occurrence took place on July 23, 1965. On that day 
'near about noon time, according to the prosecution case, Shanti Devi accused 
went t9 the house of Sushila Devi (P. W. 9). The house of Swbila Devi is 
opp<;nitF to that of 'the accused. Shanti D~vi accused ~hen ask~d Sushila 
Devi tQ accompany her to the house of the accused. Sushila Devi went to 
that house after a few minutes and found the deceased lying on a carpet in 
the room. The deceased was crying and screaming at that time. Sushila 
Devi felt burning sensation below her feet when she approached near the 
deceased. She also felt burning sensation when she sat on the sofa. Sbanli 
Devi accused then abused the deceased. Sushila Devi noticed froth e»minat 

------ ... --------------·--------·-----·-------------------------------------------------------------- .. --------~------------·------------------------------~--- 
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6. Dr. Tilak Raj Chadba (P• W. 30), homeopathic physician, i,s the 
old fWllily Doctor of the accused. According to this Doctor, at about 2. p. m. 
on that day he received a telephonic message from Maharaj Krisban accused 
that there 'was a serious case and that the Doctor must reach bis (M.raj 
Krishan's) house at once. Dr. Chadha was having his lunch and told 
Mah1n.j IW'iiban tbat be wg~d wmc 1fm llni1bini me lwn~b, Mihf'f~j 
Kr~han, however, requested Dr, Cbadha not to finish the lunch but to come 
·at ~nee as the case wa1 very serious. Dr. Cbadha, who rl"sides at a distance 
of . onlr. a fi.urlong from th. e house vf the accused, immediately went to .the 
house qf the accused. 1 Maharaj Krishan, who was standing at the entrance 
of the 1 house, then told Dr. Chadha that the deceased had taken sornetl;iing 
and that Maharaj Krishan had just come from the school. Dr. Chadha 
went inside and saw that the deceased was lying on the carpet and some saliva 
w~ coming out from her mouth. Acid w..1a found on the carpet near the 
head of the deceased. Dr. Chadha then told the accused to place the 
deceased on a cot and remove her t~ tbe ho.spital a~ the case was beyond bis 
contro~. Dr. Chad.ha also informed the police telephonk atly from the house · 
of the' accused that there was a case of acid poisoning and Police should 
reach at once. The deceased waa seml-conscicus at that time and was crying. 
Her tongue waa charred and she could not speak. A taxi was then brought 
and the deceased wa1 put in that taxi and taken to the Willingdon Hospital. 
Head Constable Sita Ram (P. W. 29) arrived at the house of the accused 
when the deceased was being taken in ~be taxi to the Willingdon Hospital. 
Head Constable Sita Ram also went in the taxi along with Dr, Obadha, 
Maha1 aj Krishau accused and the deceased to the Willingdon Hospital. 

7. On arrival in the hosphal, Head Constable Sita Ram made an appli­ 
cation to the doctor for recording the statement of the deceased, but the 
doctor said that she was unfit to make a statement. A. S. I. Hem Raj 
(P. W. 30), on coming to know of the telephonic message, first went to the 
house of the accused and, on being told that the deceased bad been removed 
to the Willingdon Hospital, went there .. The Assistant Sub-Inspector met 
Maharaj Krishan accused in the hospital and found him to 11e very much 
upset. 

7-A. At about 4.30 p. m. on that day Dayal Das (P. W. 5) received a 
teleph~ne message from ,Rajinder Nagar police station that his daughter had 
been apmitted in the Wjllingdon Hospital in a serious condition. Daya) r,>a11 

accompanied by hia wife Bhagwan Kaur, then went to the hospital and found 
the deceased lying in the casualty Department with serious burns over her 
face and chest. Maharaj Krishan accused was also _pi:esent at that time 
outside the hospital. Keshava Nand, who is cousin ofBbagwan Kaur, and 
his wife Kamla rp. W. 2) also reached the bospital. At about 11 p. m. on 
~hat night Shanti Devi deceased was removed to the female ward. Bbagwan 
Kaur went with the deceased to the ward. K-lmla 1at in the verandah of 
that ward. 

8. At about mid-night hour, it is alleged, Shanti Devi deceased 
regained consciousn~s a.nd opened her eyes. Bbagwan Kaur a$ked the 
dae@1111!d 111 to wh11~ bjJ.d lmppened, but tho aeceu11d eeuld 1tot 11'eAk ud 

out of ~he mouth of the deceased. The deceased uttered twice the word 
"Radh~wacni", which was the name of her Guru and thereafter she became 
unconscious. Mah~aj Krishan accused was also present in the house at that 
time and was busy in making telephonic call to a Doctor and . asking hiJI.l to 
come immediately tol see his wife. 

SUPREM& OOURT CASJLS (1973) 4 sec 48 
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(Shanti Sharma Maharaj) 
Shanli Devi Sharma c/o Maharaj K.riaban Sharma 

(Hlll&lnd NiitAA).11 

1 

9. Bhagwan Kl'u~, according to the prosecution case, ii illiterate and 
cpuJd not read what ~ad been written by Shanti Devi deceased. When 
Bhagwan Kaur inaisted upon tbe deceased speaking something, the . deceased 
told Bhagwan Kaur that tbe two accused had put acid on her tongue. Bbagwan 
Kaur. then started weeping whereupon Karola came inside. Kam.la too was 
told by Shanti Devi deceased that she bad been forcibly given .SOU)elbing in 
her mouth and that she had given a writing to her mother. Soon thereafter 
Bhagwan Kaur became unconscious and regained coruciowness at 5 a. m. 

10. The condition of Shanti Devi deceased deteriorated in the morning, 
and she died at about 10.45 a. m. 

I . 

11. A. S. I. Hem Raj drat prepared inquest report (P. W. 5/J) in 
the i presence of the lWQ accused. In the aforuaid inquest report,' th~ 
~tant Sub-Inspector recorded the statements of tbe two accwed. Maharaj 
Krishan accused, in the course of bis statement in the inquest report, staled 
that there used to take place petty quarrels between him and his wife, who 
had not given birth te any: child, but the matter used to be patched up. On 
July 23, 1965, accordin. to Maharaj Kriahan, he told the deceased at the 
time he was taking meals ii-bout his proposed vi.sit to England. Shanti Devi 
accused waa also present at that time. The deceased then tried to dissuade 
Maharaj Krlshan from going to England but he advised her to complete her 
studies and pass B. A. B. T. examination during the period he remained 
abroad. Shanti Devi accused then went out. Maharaj Krishan also went 
towards the kitchen to leave the utensils there. Maharaj Krishan then heard 
cries or the deceased. Both he and his mother rushed to the spot where tbe 
qece~ed was present. The deceased then pointed towarda a bottle contain.Ulg · 

I I 
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made a gesture indicating that she would like to write something Bha~wan 
Kaur then went to the Doctor's room and found nobody present there. 
Bhagwan Kaur picked up a piece of paper which was lying on the floor 
of that room. She also picked up a pan lying on the table. Bhagwan Kaur 
on return supported the deceased by sitting by her side and the deceased 
started writing-on the paper. Bhagwan Kaur put a spit-pan upside down 
under I the paper with a view to support it. After writing something the 
deceasr,I shook the pen indicating that there was no more ink in it. Bbagwan 
Kaur 1tben brought another pen from the table in the Doctor's room and 

. with that pen, the deceased wrote something more. After the deceased had 
~IHl!pllmal lh~ ~ritjl)~J Bh11iw~n Kaµr took the pen back to the doctor's 
room and placed it on the table. The wdting of the deceased is P. W. l/A 
and is in Hindi. ft was signed in Hindi by the deceased as Shanti Devi. 
The deceased also appended her signature on it in Engliah. The writing 
was to the following effect : 

"I am in senses now, A quarrel took place at my house yesterday 
and my husband asked me that he had no connections with me and that 
I should go to ;my parents. I did not go. Thereupon my (husband) 
caught hold or mf bands forcibly and my mother-in-law put some drug 
in my mouth fc;>rcibly with her hands, some of which got into (DlY 
mouth) and some scattered at the ground. · 

Written by: 
Shani Sharma 
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acid lying in the almirah and told the accused that she had taken acid out of 
that. · Maharaj Krishan also noticed some atains of acid scattered in the 
room. Maharaj Krishan immediately rang up Dr. Chadha. The Doctor 
sent a report. to the police station with the consent of Maharaj Krishan. 
The ~eceased was then taken to Willingdon Hospital. To similar effect was 
the statement of Shanti Devi accused. 

I . . 

12. According to A. S. I. Hem Raj, at about 2.45 p, m, Bhagwan 
Kaur 1nade a statement (P. W. l/B) to him. In the course of that statement 
BbagW'an Kau,r referred to the previous strained relations of the accused with 
the deceased. Bhagwan Kaur also 01ade reference to the writing of c;iying 
declaration (P. W. I/A) by the deceased during the night as well as to the 
oral 1tatement of the dmMed t6 Bn~~Wllrl KllUI'. Bb11gwan K11ur at tb@ 
same time handed over dying declaration (P. W. I/A) to A. S. I. Hem Raj. 
The Asaistant Sub- J nspector then prepared another inquest report (P. W. 
5/D) in which he recorded the statements of Bhagwan Kaur and Dayal Oas. 
A case was registered on the basis or s-atement (P. W. 1/8) of Bbagwan 
Kaur ,at Police Station Rajinder Nagar at 3.25 p. m, 

13. Post-mortem examina1ion on the body of Shanti Devi deceased 
w¥ performed by Dr B. L. Handa at 2.30 p. m. on July 25, 1965. The 
DOc:tori expreaaed the o~iuion that the death of the deceased was.due to 
corroslve poisoning proba~ly by acid; He also expressed the view that the 
acid1. of 

1that much quanticy could not be forced into the stomach by some· 
body else. The case was thereafter investigated by }.-.. S. 1. Hem Raj 
(P. W. 33) and Inspector Jagdish Kumar (P. W. 35). Writing (P. W. l/A) 
was sent to Dr. S. K. ~barma3 Government Examiner of questioned 
DocumetHs. D~. ShumA ~~~roam! th~ opinian thill thPPe wu similllrity in 
writing (P. W. I/A) and other documents containing the admuted writing 
of Shanti Devi de. eased. . 

14. On February 17, 1966 the police submitted a report to the 
magistrate that the case should be cancelled as the evidence indicated that 
the death of the deceased was the result ·uf suicide Shri Jagmohan 
Magistrate then passed an order in accordance with that report. On July 1, 
1966, Bh1gwan Kaur filed a compJaint against the accused under Section 302 
read wit~ Section 34, Indian renaJ Code on the above allegations, 

I 15. At the tri,I · the . two accused, while not dt>nying the strained 
relatiooa with the deceased, stated that the deceased bad died becau e she 
had henelf swallowed sulphuric acid. According to tbe accused, the 
sulphuric acid was not administered to her. No evidence was produced 
in defence. · 

16. Learned Additional Sesaiona Judge held that the death of Sha.nu 
nevl deceaaed WU cawed by ibe accused in !he manner slated by her in 
dying .declaration (P. W. I/A\, Evidence about the oral dying declaration 
of Shanti Devi deceased to Bhagwan Kaur and Kamla was not accepted. 
· 17. On appeal the learned Judges of the High Court referred to the 
diff'erent circwmtan~ of the case and fouud that tboae circumstances poiated 
to the conclusion that the deceased had died u a mult ofs1.1icide. A, 
regards the dying declaration (P. W. l/A), the learned Judges took the view 
that there were inher,ent weaknesses and improbabilities which furnished 
ii:ltrinaic evidence againat the acceptance of the dying declaration. Those 
weakne.ues were enumerated as. under : 

"(.1) It starta with the words 'At this tim1> 1 "m ~ ......... -. 1 T• ,_ 

SUP'k:!M!. COUR'f CAS!.S (1973) 4 sec 50 
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rathe} unusual thftt a person in that condition would extend that type.of 
assurance or d~a,ration which appears to be an effort to lend a cclour 
of genuineness i 

(2) The details about her husband having asked her to go to her 
parenta also brings in an el-rnent of· doubt because normally a person 
in t},\at condition will avoid details. 

(3) The ktter contains the word 'L• khak' which means "1he 
writer". The aigoatures in Hindi are not complete aa it is only 1igoed as 
"Shani Sharma", Against the Hindi signatures there is bracket and then 
she ii alleged to ·have aigned in Engliah "Shanti Sharma Maharaj". 
~gain at the hnck of lhtl letter she has signed in.RnJ1lish as Shanti 
Devi Sharma c/o Maharaj K:isban Sharma (Husband Name). The 
la.at of the abovementioned writing shov.s the meticulous care with 
whif.h the identity of the huaba.od ia sought to be eatablished. I find it 
difficult to accept that " patient in that ageny would add the words 
such aa 'the writer'~ repeat her signatures in English, and the word 
'Maharaj' also which is not found in any of her admitted letters such as 
Exhibita (P. W. 5/G}, P. M. and (P. W. 5/F), and write what is written 
at the back of the paper. 

i (4) The writing in the letter is in a firm hand which is inconsis­ 
tent with the writing of a person in Shanti Devi's condltlon. 

(5) The incomplete iignatures as 'Shani Sharma• cast a doubt i.n 
my mind because a person who could write so much would not have 
normally made a mistake in putting down complete Hiodi signatures.,, 

18. We have heard in thi.a Court, Mr. Ghurcharan Singh on behalf of 
the appellant and Mr. Noordin on behalf of the responden~ and are of the 
>pfoion that the present appeal ia devoid of any merit. 

19. It is the common case of the parties and is proved by the evidence 
>f Dr. Handa that Shanti Devi deceased died due to corrosive acid poisoning. 
Dr. Handa, who arrived at thiJ concluaion, foued at the time of post·o;iortem 
!Xamination that both the lips· of the deceased showed acid burns, Two 
1treaks of acid, each 211 long and 1/31' broad, were found present on either 
1ide of the chin. Small acid burns were present on the forehead, left cbeek 
rnd chest. On internal examination, the doctor found that the inner aspect 
lf the lips, the lining of the oral cavity and tongue were corroded. The 
teeth were chalky white. Food pipe showed corrosion of mucus. Stomaca 
was charred black and corroded. It had three perforations and tbe acid 
Naa fou;nd to have gone to the peritoneal cavity, leaving burns on the surface 
lf the I liver and adjacent structur£1. Stomach wall was friable and was 
empty.' Duodenum was also partly corroded. Reaction of the burns was 
strongly acidic. The quantity of acid poured into the mouth, in the 
opinion of the doctor, might be between half an ounce to one ounce. 

20. According to the proaecution case, it were the accused who forcibly 
poured acid into the mouth of the deceased. As againat that, the defence 
veraion was to the effect that the deceased committed suicide by drinking 
acid. The High Court on appreciation of the evidence came to the conclualon 
that the various circum,a~nces of the cue pointed to the i~erence that the 
death or the deceased was the result of suicide. This Court in an appeal 
under Article 136 of the Constitution does not normally reappraise evidence 
unlesi it finds some I glaring infirmity in the judgment of the High Court a.s 
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might have resulted in miscarriage or justice. No such infirmity has been 
brought to our notice. On the contrary, we find that the High Court hu 
properly appraised the evidence and has arrived i-t its conclusion in a well· 
reason~d judgment. . 

21. No eye-witner of the occurrei.ce has been produced by .the 
proaec~tion because, according to it, no one else was preaent at the time the 
acid w .. s forcibly poured into the mouth of the deceased, To bring the 
charge home to the accused, the prosecution has, however, relied upon the 
dying declaration (P. W. l/A) allt-ged to have been written by the deceased 
at about mid-night hour in the female ward of Willingdon Hoapital after the 
deceased had reqained consdowness. The prosecution has further relied 
upon the oral dyinir; declaration said to have been wade by the deceased at 
first to her mother Bhagwan KaUJ" (P. W.) and thereafter to Kamla {P. W.) 
in the female ward of the hospital during the night. The evidence about 
the oral dying declaration was rejected by both the trial court as well as 
the High Court. Reg,rding the written dying declar .. tion, the trial 
court accepted the ~ros!icution evidence, but the High Court found the 
same to be full of infirmitie1 and improbabilities, which have already been 
enumerated earlier .. fNothing cogent has been brought to our notice to take a 
view different from tlje lllgh Court. 

22. Apart from t~e infirmities and improbabilities pointed out by the 
High Court, we find that the salient features of the evidence all point to the 
conclwion that the death of the deceased was the rest.Ut of suicide and "aa 
not homicidal. We may now refer to'those features. · 

~3. According to Dr. Handa, who performed poet-mortem examination 
"1n the body of the dr.ceaaed, the quantity Cof acid which was found in the 
11~omach of the dece~ed w.-.s so much that it could not be poured by someone 
else. The Doctor ar'ded that the cases of homicidal administration of 
sulphuric acid by foree were very rare. If the victim, according to 
Dr. Handa, is overpowered forcibly and a third person pours acid mechani­ 
caJly by pulling the tongue out to the acid can reach the stomach but not rhe 
extent 10 aa to reach the stomach and beyond, as was the case with the 
deceased. The acid poure,d into the mouth of the deceased was not to less 
than half an ounce. The doctor also did not find 'any marks of injur:ies oo 
the body of the deceased other than the burns. Jf the deceased had been 
h• Id for~ibly by one of the accused and the other accused had poured add into 
her motith;'the deceased, in our oplnlon, must have olfered some i'esialante. 
In ~uch an event, some injuries in the nature of abrasions or scratches must 
have been found on the body of the deceased. The evidence of Dr. Handa 
shows that no such injurie~ were found on the body. The material on the 
record also indicates that no such injuries were found on the person of the 
accused. The medical evidence thus belies the prosecution version of the 
occurrence. 

2-t. The opinion of Dr. Handa that it waa a case ofauicide and not 
homicide is in consonance with the views expressed in standard boob on 
medical jurisprudence. In Taylor's Principles and Practice of Medical 
Juriaprudence, Twelfth Edition, at Page 235 it is said that sulphuric acid 
is wed for suicidal purposes and accidents occur .a,, a result of it having been 
mistaken fi1r some other liquid. Ac~ording to Modi'a Medical Jurisprudence 
a~d l'oxicology, Fifteenth Edition, Page 481, acid may be taken for suicidal 
~ur?fes. It ia further stated: : 

"Owing to ita ic~d tute and physical changes brought abdut in the 

SUPR!.MI! COURT CAS!.I (1973) 4 sec 52 
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food it is not possible to use it for homicidal purposes, unles.s the victim 
happens to be a child or an adult who is drunk or helpless." 

Aecordiflg to observations on Page 709 of Gonzales Legal Medicine 
P"tholo~y and Toxieoloy, Second Edition, "Sulphuric acid, due tc its severe 
ccrrosive action, bas randy been. . given by mouth for homicidal purposes 
except to children It is l<>metimes thrown on a person to disfigure the face, 
and i~ may cause death f r,,m the severe burns inflicted on the -kin, Most of 
the. cases are suicidal, due to the iogestion of the acid. Some cues are 
accidental, the acid havinl( been ingested in mistake for a medicine, or. 
~ixed with food, or poured into· the ear, or injected into the rectum by 
error instead of a tberap~utic drug, or injected into the vagina for the 
purpose of causing aborjion". 

I 

25. The conduct o( the accused immediately after the occurrence is con· 
ai,tent with the bypotbeaia of their innocence rather than with that of their 
guile, It is inconceivable that Shanti Devi accused would have called her 
neighbour Su~hila D.svi (P. W.) to her house if Slla.nti Devl accused a.long 
witb . the other accused ahortly before that had fo·dbly poured acid into the 
~out~ of the deceued. It is also moat unlikely that Maharaj K.rishan accuaed 
,.oul have msde frantic telepionic calls to Or. Chadha to 1rn nediately ruah 
t,Q hia bous.s if Maharaj Krishan along with his mother bad poured acid into 
the moutb of the dece~d. It u further extremely· improbable in tliar· event 
that ~ah uaj K.rlshao I would have alltiwed Dr. Chadha 'tu U«Q Mahuaj 
Kr1shan's telephone to call the police. Maharaj Krishan would also in that 
ev~nt have not taken the deceased to the hospital. On the contrary, M<lharaj 
Krisb:m would have, if h~ and his mother had been the real culprlts, waited 
for the time till the deceased died rath -r than take the risk of the deceased 
regaining cooadoumeas ib the hospital and making a dying declaration 
re~arding their complicity. 

26. So far.as the dying declaration (P. W. l/A) is concerned, we. are or the opinion that the evidence about the writinl( of that document l>Y the 
deceued is of a most unconvineinr character. The H:igh Court ha, referred 
to a. number of circumstances which militate against the acceptance 
of the evidence regarding the aforesaid dying declaration, . and we 
find no, cogent gro~111d · to take a different view. It is no doubt true that 
the prolfJcution led e~ence of baocjwriting expert to show the aimilarhy of 
handwriting betweep (P. W. l/A) and other admitted writings of the 
deceased, but in thjs re-pect, we are of the opinion that in view of the main 
essential features of tbe case, not mueh value t.t1\ be_ lfl!Chl!d to tho srpert 
evidence. The evidence of, handwriting expert, unlike that of a fingerprint 
expert,1is generally of a frail character and ita fallihiliti~ have been q~it~ often 
noticed The courts should, 'l\erefore, be vary to give too much werght to 
the evidence of handwriting expert. In Sri Sri Sri Killwr1 Chand•a Singh Deo 
v. Babu Gdlllsll Prasarl BluJ11I at1tl Ollu,s,1 this Court observed that concltuiona 
based upon mere comparison of handwriting must at beat be indecisive and 

. yiel~ to the positive evidence in the case. . 

'27. According ~o Bbagwan Kaur, Shanti Devi deceased wrote the dying 
declaration aoon after mid-night hour. Question theo ariaes aa to why 
Bhagw~n Kaur did not immedlately go· out of the female ward and tell her 
husband Dayal Daa that the deceased had been forcibly adminiat~rt'd 
IWJ.>huric. acid by the ~cuaed. BbaiEw•n Kaur bu tried to explain thi.s 
orµwion by saying that ahe wu' illiterate and did .not know about the 

I. 1954 SCR. 919: AIR 195UC 316t 1"4 ICJ !95. 
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(1973) 4 Sapreme Court Cate• M 
(Original Jurisdiction) 

(HPOR.E J• M. SBBLAT, I, D, t>UA AND H. R, KHANlllA, JJ.] 
AR.UN KUMAR SINHA Petitioner; 

V11sus 
THE STATE OF WEST BENGAL Respondent. 

Writ Petition No. 117 of 1972, decided on July 31, 1972 
PnvelRiv• Detaatlo.-Malaee-c. of bltenal S.carltJ Act, 1971 (26 of 1971) 

-S.IHectl- (1), Had i wi~ •ab-seed- (2) •f S.cdOll S-SabJecdn •adefacdea 
.t DJ1ulct Ma1Jetirac.-iCo-ter-•fBd•vlt Sled oa behalf of th• Sa.te by Depmy 
Secrec...,,, Hom• (SpeciilJ Depertm•• o1 au G-.v .. ••t-Prepn•IJ· 

contents of writing (P. W. I/A). Bhagwan Kaur, however, admits that IQOn 
after the deceased h~d written dying declaration (P. W. 1/A). the deceased 
told Bhagwan Kaur that the two accused had forcibly poured sulphuric acid 
into her mouth. It cannot, therefore, be 1a.id that Bbagwan Kaur remained 
unaware after 1 or 2 a. m. on the night between July :l3 and 24 that it were 
the accused who had poured acid into the mouth of the deceased. The 
immediate reaction of Bhagwan Kaur, if the prosecution 1tory were correct, 
would have been to go out and a~pri1e her husband, who i1 a Police Sub­ 
Inspector, so that the latter might inform the police regarding the complicity 
of the two accused, Bhagwan Kaur has tried to explain ibis omiasion by 
stat~nR thllt Lho bocamo uncorsdoiu There i!j however, ng Glipl1n1ugn u 

·to ~by Karola, who too profeuea to have been told by the deceased regarding 
the ,forfible administering of acid to the deceased, kept quiet and did not 
convey] that information to Dayal Das. It is further admitted by Bhagwan 
Kaur tflat she regained her coruciouaness at 5 a. m. IC Bhagwan Kaur bad 
been banded over a dying declaration by the deceased and had also been 
told by the deceased regarding the Cordble administering of acid to her by 
the accused, Bbagwao Kaur in that event could not have failed to convey 
that information to Dayal Da1 soon after regaining consciouanesa. Dayal 
Das in that event would have immediately reported the matter to the police. 
The i~ct that no auch intimation w.t1 given to the police till 2.45 p. m., as 
deposed by A. S. I. Hem Raj, creates considerable doubt regarding the 
authenticity of dying declaration (P. W. I/A) as well as about the leatiu.iony 
of Bhagwan Kaur and Kanila regarding the oral d)ing declaration of Shanti 
Devi deceased. r 

28. Another significant circumstance which emerges from the evidence 
on record Is that Maharaj KriihAn ~Am~ aut whh lbe vonion of euicido !lt 
th~ earlie5t stage. Ac~ordiug 10 Dr. Cbadha, be was told· by Maharaj 
Krishan immediately on arrival of Dr. Chadha that the deceased bad 
taken something. Maharaj Krishan and his mother also gave account of 
sui1 ide ~Y the deceased in their 1tatemenll recorded in the inquest report 
(P. W. 5/J). As against that, the evidence of A. S. I. Hem Raj shows that 
B.qagwan KaW' came out with the atory of dying declaration at a subsequent 
1tage. 

29. In our opinion, the various circumstance• of the case irresistibly 
point to the conclusion that the deceased committed suicide by taking 
sulphuric acid. The appeal consequenrly fails and is di.s.miaaed. 

SUl'IUU1U CUUKT CA8~1 (1!173) 4 sec 54 
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(19~0) 1 Supreme Court Cases 704 
(BEl'ORE R. s. SARKA.RIA AND 0. CHtN'N'APPA REDDY, JJ.) 

MURARI LAL Appellant ; 

Versus 
·STAfE OF MADHYA PRADESH Respondent. 

Criminal Appeal No. 125 of 1975t, decided on November 21, 1979 

Evlden<;e Act, um - ~cmw 45, 46, 73 Qod J - E'rid®C! of )land• 
wridDsz expert - Held,! need not be lnvariably corroborated - It is for the 
courtlto decide wbetherl to accept sucll an ~rroborated evidence or nqt - 
Court should approach the question cautiously and after examini.ng tbe re.ason­ 
JDgj behind the expert opinion and co:osider.b)g all other evidence should re.ach 
ifs ~ondusion - Even where there is no expert court bas power to COUJ,pare 
the writings itself and decide the matter - On facts, courts below on s'Udl 
COD)parison concwring with the expert's view and the defencie raising no ~ 
against the reasons given by the expert 'for bh opinion - Held, oplnion­ 
evideuce acceptable without any corroboration 

Evidence Act, 1872 - Sections 114 and .24(a) - Recovery of stolen 
goods about 7 montk<. after the COlJID].i$sion of robbery and murder - 
Explan~tion given by accused unacceptable - Handwritten note left at tbe 
place of occurrence proved to be that of the accused - Even though die 
recovery was too remote in point of time, in the clrcmnsfantes of the case, 
held, it can be linked with the coumds.9on of the offence raising a presumption 
awtinst the accused 

'dmillal Tri~ - Cil'cyitL41tantbil evidence - Convi~ under Sectious 
302/34, 460/34 and 394/397 based on two circumstances, VJZ,: M rec()very 
of a stolen wrist-watch J>elonging to the deceased at the lnstallce of the ~' 
a:nd (b) handwritten note left at the scene of occurrence - Exphmation given 
by tbe accused for the recovery not acceptable and the handwritten note proved 
t.o be that of the accused - Conviction npheld - Penal Code, 1860, Sedi.om 
'302, 39141 397, 460 and 34 . . · 

I tAp~cal .by Spl'Ciar Leave from the Judgment and Order dated January 15, 1974 of the 
Maahya rcadcah High Court in; Criminal Appeal No. 903of1973 . 

clause (v) which provides for "establishing and maintaining primary scbools". 
Under Section 124 "a Council may, at its discretion, provide either wholly or 
partly out of the municipal property and fund, for all or any of. the following 
matters, namely, (c) furthering educational objects". Thus establisbment and 
running of !Higher Secondary Schools by Municipal Councils a.re envisaged under 
tho Act and the lecturers find teachers appointed in the various· schools are 
undoubtedly the officers and servants of the Municipal Councils. 

S. For the reasons stated above. we bold that the· State Government bad 
the power to transfer the respondents'. But it is not clear wby the power was 
exercised in the case of the respondents. In any event, learned counsel for 
the appellant assured us that the State is more anxious for the correct inter­ 
pretation of the law engrafted in Section 94(7) of the Act than to enforce the 
order of transfer against the respondents, In the result while clarifying lhe 
position of law, we dismiss the appeals but make no order as to costs. 

! 
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The deceased was murdered in bis room at night and. some Qf bis gOQda 
including a wrist-watch were stolen. A handwritten note was ~ercd from 
b.ls room which indicated that .the offence was the handiwork of socue iruetra~ 
and unemployed young graduates. After about 7 months of the incident Uie 
wrist-watch was recovered from a person's house . at thel insta.n~ Qf the 
accused-appellant. The expert gave his opinion that the handwritt~ note and 
the specimen writings of the accused were the same. Io view Qf the two 
circumstances viz. tbe recovery of tbe wrist-watch and bis handwriting s1,1~­ 
ing his presence in the house of the deceased on the night of the murder, 
the accused was convicted under Section 302, IPC and sentenced to death. 
He was also sentenced under Section 460 read with Section 34 and Section 394 
read with Section 397, IPC ~o RI for 7 years on each count. On appeal the 
High Court altered the conviction from Section 302, IPC to Section 302 read 
with Section 34, IPC and substituted the senrence of imprisonment for life for 
the sentence of death. Dismissing the appeal of the accused the Supreme CQurt 

Held: 
The hazard in accepting the opinion of any expert is not because they 

are unrel)able witnesses but .because all human ·judgment is fallible.. While · 
the scien9e of ideniliicatiol\ of finger prints bas attained near perfe~OD and 
th! ri!k of on incorrect (j)P~nion is practically non,,eKi~ttmti thti ~"1" o' 
identification of handwriting is not nearly so perfect and the risk is higher. 
Therefpre, on the facts of a particular case, a court may require corrob«ll­ 
tion of a varying degree of the evidence of the handwriting expert. There 
can, however, be no hard and fast rule in this regard. (Paras 4 n,od 6) 

But there is nothing to. justify the rejection of the opinion Qf an expert 
supported by unchallenged reasons on the sole ground that it is not corroborated. 
An expert is not an accomplice and therefore, corroboration of his evidence 
is not always essential. (Para 6) 

An expert deposes and not decides. His duty is to furnish the judge 
with the necessary scientific criteria for testing the accuracy of his conclusion, 
so as to enable the judge to form his own independent judgment by the applica­ 
tion of those criteria to the facts proved in evidence. Therefore, the· approach 
of the court while dealing with the opinion of a handwriting expert should be 
to proceed cautiously, prbt;;e the reasons for the opinion, consider all other 
relevant evidence and decide finally to accept or reject it. (Paras 4 and 6) 

Section 73 of the Evidence Act enjoins the court to compare the disputed 
writings itself and this duty cannot be avoided by recourse to the statement 
that the court is no expert. Where there are expert opinions, (hey 
will aid the court. Where there iB none, the court will have to seek 
guidance from some authoritative textbooks and the court's own experience 
and knowledge. · · . (Para 12) 

Ma1a11 BiMri Lal. v, ~lau of Pwija6., A1R 1977 SC IOQ.I: (1977) 2 SCC 210: 1977 SCC (9ri) 
31 i' must be undentood as referring to the Cacta of the particular case 

Ram .Cha11ira v, U. P. ~tau, Af~ I§~' ge 991 :l§!ferl Lj559i !JAW4ri PrdJdi MiJIH, 
· Mohamtpad Isa, ( 1963) 3 .SCR 722: AIR 1963 SC 1728: ShaJll.i liumor v, Subodh liumar, 

AIR 1964 SC 529 and Fakhruddin v, Stall of M. P., AIR 1967 SC 1326: 1967 Cri LJ l 197, 
1:11plain1d and rllud 011 

Da11is v. ·Edinburgh Magislroll, 1953 SC 34 quoted by Prof'enor Croas in his Evidence and 
Buckl'y v, Rice· Thomas, (1554) l Plowden 118, 1elied on 

In the present case the reasons given by the handwriting expert for his 
opinion were not doubted by the defence party. Both the Sessions Court 
and the High Court compared the disputed writbig with the admitted writin&! 

MURAJU l.A.t. V, llTA~ OF M, P. 
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The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
Chi~ppa Reddy, J.-Murari Lal, who was accused 2 before the Sessions 

Jud~e. Jabal~ur, wa~ convict@d under Section 302 I.P .C. and ~antenood to 
death. He was also convicted under Section 460 read with Sections 34, 457, 
380, 392. 394 and 397 T. P. C. but sentenced under Section 460 read with 
Section 34 and Section 394 read with Section 397 only to rigorous 
imprisonment for a period of 7 years on each count. On appeal by Murari 
Lal and on reference by the )earned Sessions Judge. the High Court of 
Madhya Pradesh altered th¢ conviction from Section 302 I. P. C. to Section 302 
read with 34 I. P. C. and substituted the sentence of imprisonment for life for 
the. sentence of death. Otherwise the appeal was ·dismissed. Murari Lal 
has preferred this appeal bv special leave of this Court .. 

2. H. D. Sonewala (the deceased). used to live alone in one of the two 
'quarters' in the compound of the Parsi Dharmshala at Jabalpur. He. was 
the Area Organiser of Charak Pharmaceuticals Company of Bombay. On 

· the night of July 12, 1972 he went . out to dinner at the house of PW 2 and 
returned home at about midnight, He retired for the night. Next morning, 
his driver PW 9 and his servant PW 6 came to the house in the usual course 
to attend ~o their duties. .The gate was found locked. They called out to 
their master but there was no response. PW 6 . who also had a key opened 
the lock and went inside. Sonewala was found murdered in his bed. A 
first information report was siven at the police station Omti, Jabalpur, The 
Station House Officer. PW 28, came to the scene, found things in the room 
strewn about in a pell-mell condition. He seized v;arious articles. One 9f 
the articles so seized was a prescriotion pad Ex. P 9. on pages A to F of 
Ex. P. 9, there were writings of the deceased but on page G, there was a 
writing in Hindi in pencil which was as follows : 

'l''Ptift ifSf fimi\" t ~ 6tf ~fir ift'o {to imT ~ I f~ 1ft' !fiTf ~ ~ ~ ~ I ~~~,~~~. . 

Translated into English il means : "Though we have oassed B.A.. we have 
not secured anv emolovfti ent because there is none to care. This is the 
consequence. Sd./· Ban~ Singh". The dead body :>f ~ORewala was sent to 

and found. in conjunction with the opinion of the expert, that the author was 
the same person viz. the accused-appellant. The Supreme Court also found 
no ground for disagreeing with the finding. (Para 13) 

Although the court might have found it difficult· to link the recovery 
of the watch with the robbery and the murder due to considerable ti:i:ne--lag 
between tbe two, but in view of the c;>t;her vital circumstances that a writing 
made by the appellant was left on the deceased's table that ni~t and that 
the deceased's watch was recovered at the instance of the appellant, are sufficient 
in ~e absence of any acceptable explanation, to hold the appellant guilty of 
the offences of which he bas been convicted. (Para 15) 

R-UV/4643/CR 
'4.1/oocatu w~o apfl'am/ in tJii.s &414 : 

R. C. Kohli, Senior Advocatii (S. Ir. Gamhhir and Mis1-B. Ramrakhiani, Advocates, with hiih), 
for the Appellant; · · 

H. 1'. Puri and V. Ir. Bahl, Advocates, for the Respondent. 
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the Medical Officer for post-mortem examination. There was an · incised 
wound on the neck 7t" long, the maximum width of which was 2" of tissues 
and vessels up to the trachea were cut. Trachea was also cut. For several 
months after the discovery of the murder, the investigation made no progress 
till February 18, 197.3. On that day pursuant to intonnariou received in 
connection with some other case of theft in which one Roop Chand appeared 
to be involved, the Station House Officer secured the presence of Patrick (A-1) 
and questioned. Patrick made a statement and led them to his room from 
which t ...... o choppers and as many as 234 items of stolen property were seized. 
We may mention that out of the 234 items so seized, only two were alleged to 
belong ·to Sonewala, one was a tie-pin and the other was a cheque-book, 
Thereafter, the house of Patrick's father Gabrial was also searched and 310 
items of stolen property were recovered, none of which has anything to do 
with this case. On February 19, 1973 Murari Lal (A-2) said to be a friend 
of Patrick was questioned. He made a statement and led them to the house 
of his maternal uncle Sura] Prasad (A-4). Murari Lal asked his uncle to 
produce the wrist-watch, which was done. The wrist-watch had some special 
characteristic of its own and it was later duly identified by unfmpeachable 
evidence as belonging ~o the deceased. Specimen. writings Ex. P. 41 to 
Ex. P. 54 of Murari Lal were obtaintid, They wm ~~~t ~Q a ~~!ldwritiog 
and finger-print expert PW 15 along with the prescription pad Ex. P. 9, for 
his opinion.· The expert gave his opinion that the writing in Hindi at page () 
of Ex. P. 9 and the specimen writings of P. 41 to P. 54 were made by the 
same', person. Patrick. Murari Lal, Gabrial and Suraj Prasad were tried .by 
the learned Sessions Judge. Suraj Prasad was acquitted. Gabrial was con­ 
victed under Section 411. Patrick and Murari Lal were both convicted under 
Section 302 I .P. C and sentenced to death as already mentioned. The 
sentence of death passed on Patrick and Murari Lal was altered to lmnrison­ 
ment for life by the- High Court. Patrick has not. further appealed but 
Murari Lal has. 

3. The two vital circumstances against Murari Lat were : (1) the 
recovery. of a wrist-watch which belonged to the deceased Sonewala. and (2) 
the writing in Hindi at page G of Ex. P. 9 which was found to be io his 
handwriting indicatin~ his Pf"SunG' lu in, bQY~' Qf the deceased on the nipt 
of the murder and his participation in the commission of the offences. 
Shri R. C. Kohli. learned counsel for the appellant, argued that the recovery 
of the wrist-watch was too remote in Point of time to connect the appellant 
with the crime. He further argued that the High Court fell into a grave error 
in concluding that the writin~ at page G of Ex. P. 9 was that of the appellant. 
He submitted that. the evidence of PW 8 who claimed to be familiar with the 
handwriting of the appellant was wholly unacceptable, that it was not 
permissible in law to act unon the uncorroborated opinion-evidence of the 
expert PW 15 and that the High Court fell into a serious error in attempting 
to compare the writing in Ex. P. 9 with the admitted writing of the appellant. 

4. We will first consider the argument, a stale argument often heard.. 
parti~larly in criminal courts, that the opinion-evidence of a handwriting 
expert should not be actc~ upon without substantial corroboration. We shall 
presently point out how ~he argument cannot be justified on principle or 

707 MVRARI LAL{/, STATE OF M. p, (Chinnappa Reddy, J.) 
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bv Professor Cross in his Evidence 
2. (1554) l Plowden I JO 

I. Virif' lRrd Presldent Crioner in Daois v, 
Eainb1Jrgli Magistrate, 1953 SC 34 quoted 

precedent. We begin with the observation that the expert is no accomplice. 
There is Ob justification for condemning his opinion-evidence to the same 
class of evidence as that of an accomplice ·and insist upon corroboration. 
True, it has occasionally been saip on very high authority that it would be 
hazardous tb base a conviction solely on the opinion of a handwriting expert. 
But, the hazard in accepting the opinion of any expert, handwriting expert or 
any other kind of expert. i< not because experts, in general, are unreliable 
witnesses - the quality of credibility or incredibility being one which an 
expert shares with all other witnesses -, but because all human judgment is 
fallible and an expert may go wrong because of some defect of observation, 
some error of premises or honest mistake of conclusion. The more developed 
and the more perfect a science, the less the chance of an incorrect opinion 
and the converse if the science is Iese; developed and imperfect. The science 
of identification of ftng~r-print• bilB il~t'"n~ g~ar perfection and the risk of 
an i(1cor[ect opinion is practically 'non-existent. On the other hand, the. 
science o identification of handwriting . is not nearly so perfect and the risk 
is, theref re, higher. But !that is a far cry from doubting the opinion of a 
handwriting expert as an lnvarlable rule and insisting upon substantial corro­ 
horati1n i~ every case. howsoever the opinion may be backed by the soundest 
of reasons, It is hardly fair to an expert to view his opinion with an initial 
suspicion and to treat him -~ an inferior sort of witness. His opinion has 
to he tested by the acceptability of the reasons given by him. An expert 
deposes and not decides His duty 'is to furnish the iudze with the necessary 
scientific criteria for testing the accuracy of his conclusion, so as to enable 
the judge to form .oii1 own independent judgment by the application of these 
criteria to the facts proved in evidence". 

5. From the earliest times. courts have received the opmion of experts. 
As long ago as 1553 it was said in Buckley v. Rlce-Thomass : 

If matters arise in our Jaw which concern other sciences or facul­ 
ties, we commonlv ~pply for the aid of that science or faculty which 
it concerns. Th)s is a commendable thing in our Jaw. For. thereby 
it appears that we do not dismiss all other sciences but our own, but 
we approve of them and encourage · them as things worthy Qf 
commendation. · 

6. Expert testimony is made relevant by Section 45 of the Evidence 
Act and where the Court has ·to form an opinion upon a point as to identity 
of handwriting, the opinion of a Person 'specially skilled' 'in questions as to 
identity 

1 
of handwriting' is expressly made a relevant fact. There is nothing 

in the Evidence Act, as for example like iilustration (b) to Section 114 which 
entitles 

1the 
Court to presume that an accomplice ls unworthy o/ credit, unless 

he is corroborated in materia1 particulars, which justifies the court in assuming 
that a handwriting expert's opinion in unworthy of· credit unless corroborated. 
The Evidence Act itself (Section 3) tells us that 'a fact is said to be proved 
when. after considering the matters before it. the Court either believes it to 
exist or considers its existence so probable that a prudent man ought, under 
the circumstances of the particular case, to act upon the supposition that it 
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5. AIR 1904 SC 529 3. AIR 1957 SC 381: 195t Cri LJ 559 
4, (1963) 3 SCR 722 : AIR !~63 SC 1728 

7. Apart from principle. let us examine if precedents justify invariable 
insistence on corroboration. We have referred to Phipson .on Evidence, 
Cross on . Evidence, Roscoe on Criminal Evidence, Archibald on Criminal 
Pleadings, Evidence and Practice and Halsbury's Laws of England but 
we were unable to find ii: single sentence hinting at such a rule. We ma) 
now refer to some of the decisions of this Court. In Ram Chandra v. U. P. 
State", Jagannadhadas, J. observed: "It may be that nonnally it is not safe to 
treat expert evidence as to handwriting as sufficient basis for conviction" 
(emphasis ours). "May" and "normally" make our point about. the absence 
of arl inflexible rule. In lsbwari Prasad .Misra v. Mohammad lsa4 
Gajendragadkar, J. observed: "Evidence given by experts can never be con­ 
clusive, because after all it is opinion-evidence", a statement which carries 
us nowhere on the question now under consideration. Nor, can the state­ 
ment be disputed because it is not so provided by the Evidence Act a.nd, on the 
contrarv, Section 46 expressly makes opinion-evidence chal.lengeable by facts, 
otherwise lzrelevant. And as Lord President Cooper observed in Davis v. 
Edinburgh · Magistrate1 : ·"The parties have invoked the decision of a judicial 
tribunal and not an oracular pronouncement by an expert". 

8. In Shashi Kumar v. Subodh Kwnar6, Wanchoo, J., after noticing 
various features of the opinion of the expert said : 

We do not consider in the circumstance$ of· this case. that the 
evidence of the expert is conclusive' and can falsify the evidence of the 
attesting witnesses and also the circumstances which go to show that 
this will must have been s{gned In 1949 as it ~uP}S61't! 'to M. B!!Ma 
it is necessary to observe 'that expert's evidence as to handwriting is 
opinion-evidence ~nd it can rarely, if ever, take the place of substan­ 
tive evidence Brfore acting on such evidence it is usoal to see if it 

exists'. It is necessary to occasionally remind ourselves of this interpreta­ 
tion clause in the Evidence Act lest we set an artificial standard of proof not 
warranted i>Y the provisions of the Act. Further, under Section 114 of the 
Evidence Act, the Court may presume the existence of any fact wh,ich it thinks 
likely to have happened, regard being bad to the common course of natural 
events, human conduct, and public and private business, in their relation to 
facts of the particular case. It is also to be noticed that Section 46 of the 
Evioencf Act makes facts. not otherwise relevant, relevant if they support or 
are incqnsistent with the opinions of experts, when such opinions are relevant. 
So, corroboration may 'not invariably be insisted upon before acting on the 
opinion of 'an handwriting expert and there need be no initial suspicion. But, 
on the facts of a particular case, a court may require corroboration of a vatying 
degree. There can be no hard and fast rule, but nothing will justify the 
rejection of the opinion of an expert supported by unchallenged reasons on 
the sole ground that .it is not corroborated. The approach of a court while 
dealing with the opinion of a handwriting expert should be to proceed cautiously, 
probe the ireasons for the opinion, consider all other relevant evidence and 
duGidlj finally to ~~~pt Qr reject it. 

709 MURAAI ~AL~· STA.TB 011 M. P. (Chinnappa &dd,, J.) 
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is corroborated either by clear direct evidence or by circumstantial 
evidence, In the present case the probabilities are against the expert's 
opinipn and the direct testimony of the two attesting witnesses which 
we f'cePt is wholly [nconsisrent with it. 

So, there was acceptable direct testimony which was destructive of. the expert's 
opinion; there were other features also which made the expert's opinion 
unreliable. The observations regarding corroboration must be read in that 
context and it is worthy of note that even so the expression used WM 'it is 
usual' . and not 'it is necessary'. 

9. In Fakbrudd.in v. State of M. P.6, Hidayatullah, J. said: 
Both under Section 45 and Section 47 the evidence is an oploion, 

in the former by I!, scientific comparison and in the latter on the basis 
of familiarity resulting from frequent observations and experience. In 
either case the Court must satisfy itself by such means as are open 
that the opinion may be acted upon. One such means open to the 
Court is to apply i(s own observation to the admitted or proved writings 
and to compare them with the disputed one, not to become an hand­ 
writing expert but to verify the premises of tho expert in the one case 
and to appraise the value 6f the O!'ini~!l in the otber cme. Tbis 
comparison depends on an analysis· of the characteristics in the admitted 
or proved writings and the finding of the same characteristics in large 
measure in the disputed writing. In this way the opinion of the 
deponent whether expert or other is subjected to scrutiny and although 
relevant to start with becomes probative. Where an expert's opinion 
is givec, the Court must see for itself and with the assistance of the 
expert come· to its owu conclusion whether it can safely be b.elc.l· that 
the two writings are by the same person. This is not to say that the 
Court must play the role of an expert but to say that the Court may 
accept the fact proved only when it has satisfied i~ on its QWO 
observation that it is safe to accept the opinion whether 'of the expert 
or other witness. 

These observations lend no support to any requirement as to corroboration 
of expert testimony. On the other band, the lacts show that the Court ulH­ 

. mately di~ act upon the uncorroborated testimony of the expert though these 
judges todk the precaution of comparing the writings themselves. 

10. Finally, we come to Magan Bihari Lal v, State of Punjab7, upon 
which Sri R. C. Kohli, learned counsel, placed great reliance. It was said 
by this Court: 

. . . but we think it would be extremely ·hazardous to condemn 
the appellant merely on the strength of opinion-evidence of a band­ 
writing expert. It is now well settled that expert opinion must always 
be received with great caution and perhaps none so with more caution 
tpan the opinion of a handwriting expert. There is a profusion of 
precedentlai authority which holds that it is unsafC< to base a convic­ 
ti~n solely on expert opinion without substantial corroboration. This · 
ru/e has been universally acted upon and it has almost beco1¥ a rule 

6. AIRJ967SC.1326:1967diI:.J1197 7. AlR1977SCl09l: (1977)2SCC2l0. 
1977 sec (Ceil 313 
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of law. It was held by this Court in Ram Chandra v, State of U. P.s, 
that it is unsafe to treat expert handwriting opinion as sufficient basis 
fror conviction, but it may be relied upon when supported by other 
items of internal and external evidence. This Court again pointed 
out in lshwari Prasad v. Mohammad Isa4 that expert evidence of hand­ 
writing can never be conclusive because it is, after all, opinion-evidence, 
and this view was reiterated in Sh~hi Kumar v. Subodh Koma.rs, where 
it was pointed out by this Court that expert's evidence ·as to band· 
writing being opinion-evidence can rarely, if ever, take tile place of 
substantive evidence and before acting on such evidence, it would be 
desirable to consider whether it is corroborated either by clear direct 
evidence or by circumstantial evidence. This Court bad again occasion 
to consider the evidentiary value of expert oplnioa in regard to hand· 
writing in Fakhruddin v, State of M. P.6 and it uttered a note of caution 
po~nting out that it would be risky to found a conviction solely on · 
th~ evidence of a handwriting expert and ·before acting uirn such 
evidence, the court must always try to see whether it is corroborated 

1 

by other evidence, direct· or circumstantial. 
The abovJ extracted passage, undoubtedly, contains some sweeping general 
observations, But we do nqt think that the observations were meant to be 
observations of general application or as laying down any legal principle. It 
was plainly intended to be a lruJe qf caution and not a rule of law as is clear 
from the statement 'it has almost become a rule of law'. "Almost", we 
presume, means "not quite". It was said by the Court there was a "profusion 
of precedential authority" wblch lnslsted upon cortoh6tatiM n.n<i t~feteOC! 
was made to Ram Chandra v, State of U. P.3, Ishwari Prasad v. Moha,nuna(l 
Isa', Shash! Kumar v. Subodh Kumarli and Fakhruddh; v, State of M. P.e. 
We have already discussed these cases and observed that none of them 
supports the proposition that corroboration must invariably be sought before 
opinioa-evldence can be accepted, There appears to be some mistake i,n the 
last sentence of the above extracted passage because we are unable to find in 
Fakhruddin v. State of' M. P.6 any statement such as the one attributed. 
In fact, in that case, the learned Judges acted upon the sole testimony of the . 
expert after satisfying themselves about the correctness of the opinion bY 
comparing · the writings themselves. We do think that the observations in 
Magan Bihari Lal v, State of Punjab7, must be understood as referring to the 
facts of the particular case. 

11. We arc firmly of the opinion that there is no rule of law, no; .any 
rule. of [prudence which has crystallised into a rule of law, that opunon­ 
evidence of a handwriting expert must never be acted upon, unless substan­ 
tially corroborated, Butl having due regard to the imperfect nature of the 
science of identification of handwriting, the approach, as we indicated earlier, 
should be one of caution. Reasons f r the opinion must be carefully prebed 
and examined All other relevant evidence must be considered. Iu appro­ 
priate cases, corroboration may be sought. In cases where tbe reasons for 
the opinion are convincing and there is no reliable evidence throwing a doubt, 
the uncor~oborated testimony of an handwriting expert may be accepted. 
There cannot be any inflexible rule ori a matter which, in the ultimate analysis, 
is no more than a question of testimonial weight. We have said so much 

7ll MORARt LAL fl, STATE 01' M. p, (Clainnappa Reddy, J.) 
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because this is an argument Irequcntly met with in subordinate courts and 
sentences torn out of context from . the judgments of this Court are often 
flaunted. 

12. The argument that the court should not venture to compare 
writings itself, as it would thereby. assume to itself the role of aa expert is 
entirely without force. Section 73 of . the Evidence Act expressly enables 
the court to compare disputed writings with admitted or proved writings to 
ascertain: whether a writing is that- of the person by whom it purports to have 
been written, If it is hazardous .to do so, as sometimes said, we are afraid 
it is one of the hazards to which judge and litigant must expose themselves 
whenever i~ becomes necessary. There may be cases where both sides call 
experts and two" voices of science are heard. There may be cases where 
neither side calls an expert, being ill able to afford him. In all such cases, 
it becomes the plain duty . of the Court to compare the, writings and ' 
come to its own conclusion. The duty cannot be avoided by recourse to 
the statement that the court is no expert. Where there are expert opinions, 
they will aid the court. Where there is none, the court will have to seek 
guidance ft-om some authoritative textbook and the court's own experience 
and knowledge. But discharge it must, its plain duty, with or without expert, 
with or without other evidence. We may mention that Shashi Ku.m1U' v. 
Subodh Kumar6 and Fokhruddin v. State of M. P.6 were cases where the 
Court itself compared the writings. 

I~.· Reverting to the ·facts of the case before \1$, Sri Kohli had not a 
wore uf. criticism to offer against the reasons given by tbe expert PW IS, for 
his opinion. We have perused the reasons given by the expert as well as his 
cross-cxumlnation. Nothing has been elicited to throw the least doubt Qn 
the correctness of· the. opinion. Both the Sessions Court and the High Court 
compared the disputed writing at page 0 in Ex. P. 9 with the admitted writings 
and found. in conjunction with the opinion of the expert, that the author was 
the same person. We arc unable to find any ground for disagreeing with the 
~~ . 

lo#. We may al LIJis juncture consider the argument of Sri Kohli that 
the intcnH\I evidence afforded by the document showed that the appellant was 
not its author. He argued that the appellant was not even a matriculate 
whereas thp author of the dbcument bad described himself as a graduate. And, 
what necessity was there for a murderer and robber to write a note like that, 
questioned Mr. Kohli. It appears lo us that the note was designed to Jay 
a false trail . by making it appear that the murder and the robbery were the 
handiwork of some frustrated and unemployed young graduates, expressing 
their. resentment against the world which had shown no regard for their 
existence. 

IS. The other important circumstance against the appellant was the 
recovery of the deceascd'.s watch at the appellant's instance. That the deceased 
was the owner of the w~tc~ was not disputed before us. That the watch was 
recovered at the instance of the appellant was also not disputed before us. 
What was urged was that there was no reason to reject the explanation given 
by the. appellant in bis. statement under Section 313 CrPC that be had pur­ 
chased the watch from Roop Chand. Apart from his statement, there is 
" ViJi: Correction slip No. F. 3/79 (EdJ) di. 21-8-80 

(1980) l sec liUPR.E.ME COURT CASF.3 712 
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t Appeal under Section l l 6:A of the: Representation of the: People Act, l 95 I from the: 
Jud~ment' and Order dated February 7, 1978 of the Punjab and Haryana High Court in 
E. P. Nn. IS of 1977 . 

Election - Cottupt Practice - Bribery - Held, act• allegedly 
co'1stitl,ltb;ig bribery, even if proved would not constitute corrupt 
p'l'actice when committed at a time when the respondent was 11.ot 
y~t a talidly nominate~ candidate - Held also, that m.ere delivery 

HANDBOOK FOR RETURNING 0FPICERS, relitd on 

Election - Nomination paper - Filing of- Oath or aftir.iµatioo 
- On facts, held election pedtioner had not taken oat,b before 

.Returning Officer at ~e time of presentation of nomination paper - 
Requirement of taking .o~th, held, mandatory - Consdtutioo of India, 
Article 173(a) - Representation of the People Act, 1951 - Sec­ 
tion 36(2)(a) (Paras 10, 11 & 12) 

Civil Appeal No. 720 of 1978t, decided on December 14, 1979 

Election - Nomination Paper - Filing of - Held on facts, that 
nomination paper of election petitioner was filed beyoad ti.iµe - 
Held, failure to file nomination paper within time is a defect· of a 
~u~Atauti1l eJu1P1eteP, Pend@Piog nomin1doo paper lillbl@ to b@ 
rejected - Representation of the People Act, 1951, Sections 33(1), 
36(~)(b) and (4) (Para 7) 

Rogers on ELECTIONS, 21st Edn, Vol. III, page 74; Cutting v. Windror, 40 TLR 395, Parker's 
CONDUCT OF PARUAMENTARY ELECTIONS, 1970, page: 137 and A Norman Schofield: 
PARLIAMENTARY ELECTIONS, 2nd Edn., pages 149-150, rtlitti on 

Respondents. · 
Versus 

S. UMRAO SINGH AND OTHERS 

Appellant; HARJIT SINGH MANN 

(1~80) 1 Supreme Court Cases713 

(BEFORE P .. N. SHINGHA.L AND£. S. VBNKATAAAMIAH, JJ.) 

nothing in the evidence to substantiate bis case. On the other band, we think 
that, having come to know that the statement of Roop Chand in connection · 
with the investigation into another theft case bad led the police to interrogate 
Patrick, the appellant very cleverly tried to foist previous possession of the 
watch on Roop Chand. Wt:: are not prepared to accept the appellant's 
explanation. . Even so, it was urged, the recovery was too remote in point 
of time to be linked with the robbery and the murder. It is true tbat there 
was . a considerable time-lag. We might have found it difficult to link the 
recovery of the watch with the robbery and the murder bad tbis been the only 
circumstance. But, we have the other vital circumstance that a writing 
made by the appellant was left on the deceased's table that night. That 
circumstance coupled wit~ tqe recovery of the dead man's watch at the instance 
of the appellant, are su~ci~nt, iii our opinion, in the absence of. any accep­ 
able explanation, to h~td the appellant guilty of the offences of which be 
has been convicted. T~e appeal is dismissed. , 

713 HARJIT SINGH MANN v. S, UM:RAO SINOH 
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I 

SUKHDEV SINGH AND ANOTHER 
Versus. 

.. Complainant; STA1E OF MAHARASHTRA 

h 

(1992) 3 Supreme Court Cases 700 
(BEFOREA.M. AHMADIANDK. RAMA.swAMY,JJ.) 

Death Reference Case No. 1of1989 

700 SUPREME COURT CASES (1992) 3 sec 
1and~ vacated. In the nature of tbe provisions of Section 22 of the Act the 
proceedings under various sub-sections have to be initiated and action 
taken qy the same authority. The proceedings under Section 22 of the a 
Act being quasi-judicial the authority entrusted with the powers of the 
Collector has to be invested with the powers under all the. sub-sections to 
enable the said authority fo proceed in accordance with the scheme of 
the Act. In that view of the matter there is no scope for conferring some 
of the powers under Section 22 on the tehsildars and remaining to be left b 
with the Collector. The High Court assumed that part of the powers and 
functions of the Collector under Section 22 of the Act can be delegated 
under Section 2(i)(a) of the Act. It was on that assumption that the High 
Court came to the conclusion that the powers and functions under Sec­ 
tio~ 22 ~hich were being conferred upon the tehsildars should have been c 
mentioned before or after the word "such" in the notiflcation. We do not 
agree wifh the High Court's reasoning. The manifest intention of the. 
Gov~p1ment, which can be spelled-out from the notification, is that all 
the powers under Section 

122 of the Act have been delegated and con­ 
ferred on the Colonisatiop Tehsildars in the State of Rajasthan. The d 
expression 'such' used in the notification twice, only indicates that the 
Colonisation Tehsildars, who have been given all the powers of the Col­ 
lector under Section 22 of the Act, may exercise 'such' of these powers as 
are necessary to be exercised in a given case before them. In any case 
while dealing with a notification of the type before us, it is permissible to e 
iron out the creases to clarify the manifest intention of the State Govern­ 
ment in is~uing the notification. We, therefore, hold that the notification 
dated May 30, 1978 ~ppointing the Colonisation Tehsildars in the State 
of Rajas than to perform the functions and to exercise the powers of Col­ 
lector under Section Z~ of the t\~~ i~ l~gf'I apd valid. The High Court was 
not justified in reaching a different conclusion. 

7. We allow the appeals, set aside the judgment of the learned 
Single Judge and also of the Division Bench of the High Court and dis­ 
miss the writ petitions filed by the respondents-petitioners before the g 
High Court. There shall be no orders as to costs. 
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From the Judgment and Order dated October 21, 1989 of the Pune Designated Court 
in Terrorist Sessions Case No. 2 of 1987 

h 

g 

e 

d 

c 

b 

Appellant; 

STATE OF MAHARASHTRA v. SUKHDEV SINGH 

Wuh 
Criminal Appeal No. 17 of 1990t 

STATE OF MAHARASHTRA THROUGH CBI 
Versus 

SUK.HOEY SINGH ALIASSUKHAAND O'IHERS Respondents. 
Death Reference Case No. 1of1989 and Criminal Appeal No. 17of1990, 

decided on July 1), 1~1 
Penal Code, 1864' - Ss. 302, 307 and 34 - Having reganl to the nature or 

conrdssion made by the accused persons in their statements under s. 313 CrPC 
held,· trial court rig~tly convicted accused 1 under S. 302 IPC and accused S 
under s. 302/34 on tharge or assassination or General Vaidya to avenge the 
alleged desecration of Akal Takht in Golden Te01ple, Amritsar caused In 
Operation Blue Star conducted by the deceased - Death sentence confirmed 
- C~nviction and sentence under Ss. 307 and 307/34 also uph~ld - Terrorist 
and Jl)isruptlve Activities (Prevention) Act, 1985, S. 12(4) 

General A.S. Vaidya, the then Chief of the Armed Forces was assigned the 
task of flushing out militants who had taken refuge in the Golden Temple at 
Amritsar. During this operation, known as. the Blue Star Operation, some 
militants were killed and a part of the Golden Temple known as Harminder 
Saheb was damaged. Oen. Vaidya had, therefore, incurred the wrath of the Pun­ 
jab militants for what they called desecration of the doiden Temple. A/ter 
retirement on January 31, 1986, Gen. Vaidya and his wife settled in Pune. 
According to the prosecution case on August 10, 1986 Gen. Vaidya along with 
his wife and security guard went for shopping in his car which he was himself 
driving. While on return when he slowed down his vehicle to negotiate a sharp 
turn a red Ind-Suzuki motor cycle came parallel to the car on the side of Oen. 
Vaidya and the person occupying the pillion seat of the motor cycle fired three 
shots from close range at the head of General Vaidya. Before his wife and 
securityman could realise what had happened, Gen. Vaidya slumped on the 
shoulder of his wife and died. His wife also received injuries. Accused 1, 5 and 
others were charged under Ss. 3(2)(i), (ii) and 3(3) of the TADA Act read with 
Rulel 23(4) of the Rul~ framed thereunder as also under Ss. 120~B, 465, 468, 
471, ~19, 302, 307 read with S. 34 IPC. All the accused denied the charge and 
claimed to be tried. However, subsequently accused 1 expressed his desire on 
September 19, 1988 to make a statement before the court admitting to have 
killed Gen. Vaidya. He made the statement in open court and the Presiding 
Judge of the Designated Court gave him eight days' time to reflect and make a 
detailed written statement thereafter, if he so desired. On September 26, 1988 
when the accused were once again arraigned before the Designated Court 
Accused 1 submitted a written statement admitting to have fired four bullets at 
Gen. Vaidya and to have killed him. Accused 5 also in his statement recorded 
under Section 313 of the Criminal Procedure Code admitted that he was the 
person driving the black (not red) Indu-Suzuki motor cycle with Accused 1 in 

a 
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SinGe no oath is administered to the accused, the statements made by the 
accused ¥nder s. 313 will not be evidence stricto sensu, Th.at is why sub-section 
(3) says that the accused s~all not render himself liable lo punishment if he 
gives false answers. But subis. ·(4) says that the answers given by the accused in 
respo?~e t~ his examination under Section 313 can be taken i~IO considerauon 

e 

d 

c 

b 

a 

the pillio' seat, and that it was he who brought his motor cycle in line with the 
car drivetj by Gen. Vaidya to facilitate Accused 1 to shoot the General. The 
Designated Court came to the conclusion that the prosecution had failed to 
prove beyond reasonable doubt that the accused had entered into a criminal 
conspiracy to commie murder of the General. The Designated Court, however, 
held that Accused 5 was driving the motor cycle with Accused 1 on the pillion 
seat and it was the latter who fired the shots Crom close range killing Gen. 
Vaidya and injuring his wife and that thus the crime in question was committed 
in furtherance of the common intention of Accused 1 and Accused 5 to cause 
lbe mtmler Q{ v,m, Yiii~yii, Th~ &;;Qun iil~O foun~ lhiH I~~ 1w9 accused were 
guilty of attempt to commu murder of the wife of Gen. Vaidya in furtherance of 
the common intention. Accordingly, it convicted Accused l under Sections 302 
and 307, IPC for the murder of Gen. Vaidya and for attempting to take the life 
of hlswife and Accused 5 under Section 302 and Section 307, both read with 
Section 34, IPC. It sentenced both Accused 1 and Accused 5 to death subject to 
confirmation of sentence by the Supreme Court. For the offence under Sec­ 
tion 307 he sentenced bcrh Accused I and Accused 5 to rigorous imprisonment 
for 10 years. Both the substantive sentences were ordered co run concurrently. 
He acquitted both Accused 1 and Accused 5 of all the other charges levelled 
against. them. le also acquitted all the other accused (2, 3 and 4) of all the 
charges. Before the Sup~eme Court the prosecution case had two elements, the 
first:relating to the char~e of criminal conspiracy and the various criminal acts 
done in f1mheran" lh,rwf iifi~ lh~ ~~wn~ r~lating 19 \he actual murder of 
General Vaidya. The prosecution also invoked Sections 3 and 4 of T AJ;)A. 
Agreeing with the decision of the Designated Court · 
Held: 

The decision of the trial Judge is based on sound reasons and is unassail­ 
able. Therefore, the conviction of Accused I under Sections 302 and 307, JPC 
and Accused 5 under Sections 302 and 307, IPC, both read with Section 34, JPC 
and the sentence of death awarded to both of them are confirmed. There is no 
merit in the State's appeal against the acquittal of the other accused persons of 
all the p~arges levelled against them and accused l and 5 on the other counts 
with which they were charged. (Para 58) 

Criminal Procedure Code, l973 - Ss. 313, 229, 228 and 226 - Accused 
pleading guilty - Convlcnon can be founded upon confession/admission of 
guilt made by ·accu. sed at an~ stage including the stage of making statement g 
under S. 3J3 - However, while acting upon the plea of ~uilt of accused, court 
must approach with caution and circumspection to ensure that the plea is clear 
and unquallfled and the admission of facts constitutes the offence - Terrorist 
and Dtsru pnve Acnvitles (Prevention) Act, 1985, S. 12( 4) 
Held: h 

(1992) 3 sec SUPREME COURT CASES 702 
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STATE OF MAHARASHTRA v. SUKHOEV SINOH 703 
in such inquiry or trial. Sub-section (4) is a verbatim reproduction of sub-s, (3) 
of the corresponding S. 342 of the old Code of Criminal Procedure. In the con­ 
text of the old sub-s, (3) the Supreme Court in Hate Singh Bhagat Singh case 
held that an answer given by an accused under Section 313 examination can be 
used for proving his guilt as much as- the evidence given by a prosecution wit­ 
ness and in Narain Sing~ case it held that if the accused confesses to the com­ 
mission of the offence With which he is charged the Court may, relying upon 
thaf confession, proceedlto convict him. These decisions apply with equal force 
in the case of the new sub-s, (4) also. (Para 51) 

Hate Singh Bhagat Singh v, Stale of M.B., AIR 1953 SC 408: 1953 Cri U 1933; Narain 
Siligh v. State of Punjab, ( 1%3) 3 SCR 678: ( 1964) 1 Cri U: 730, applied 

Unger ~mion 1Z(4) of llle TADA A~t a D\f~ignai~Q ~\In ~hflll, f9r ow 
purpose of trial of any offence, have all the powers of a Court of Session. The 

c , procedure for. the trial of session cases is outlined in Chapter XVIII of the 
Code. S. 229 of the Coqe provides that if the accused pleads guilty th~ Judge has 
tp record the plea and thereafter decide whether or not to convict the accused. 
11w plea of guilt tantamounts to an admission of all the facts constituting the 
offence. It is, therefore, essential that before accepting and acting on the plea 
the Judge must feel sati~fied that the accused admits facts or ingredients con- 

d stituting the offence. The plea of the accused must, therefore, be clear, 
unambiguous and unqualified and the Court must be satisfied that he has 
understood the nature of the allegations made against him and admits them. 
The Court must act with caution and circumspection before accepting and 
acting on the plea of guilt. Once these requirements are satisfied the law 
permits the Judge trying the case to record a conviction based on the plea of 
guilt. U, however, the accused does not plead guilty or the Judge does not act on 
his plea he muse fix a date for the examlnatlon ol the witnesses i.e.' the trial ol 
the case, There is pqthing in this Chapter which prevents the accused from 
pleading guilty at apy subsequent stage of the trial. But before the trial Judge 
accepts and acts on that plea he must administer the same caution unto himself. 
This plea of guilt may also be put rorward by the accused. in his statement 
recor~ed under Section 313 of the Code. (Para 52) 

In the present case both the accused I and 5 have unmistakably, unequivo- 
cally and. without any reservation whatsoever admitted the fact that they were 
responsible for I he murder of Gen. Vaidya. Apart from the confession of 
accused I, Accused 5 has himself admitted that he was driving the motor cycle 
wi\h Accused I on the pillion seat and to Iaclluate the crime he had brought the 
m~tor, cycle in line 'tith the car so that Accused 1 may have an opportunity of 
firing al his victim from close quarters. There is, therefore, no doubt whatsoever 
that bpth Accused I and 5 were acting in concert, they had a common intention 
to kill Gen. Vaidya and in furtherance of that intention Accused 1 fired the 
fatal shots .. Therefore, the trial Judge was justified in holding that Accused 1 
was guilty under Section 302 and Accused 5 was guilty under Section 302134 
IPC. (Para 52) 

Asokan v. State of Kerala, 1982 Cn U: 173 (Ker HC); State of Maharashtra v. R.B. 
Chowdhari, AIR 1968 SC 110: (1967) 3 SCR 708: 1968 Cri U 95, distinguished 
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Penal Code, 1860 - Ss. 302, 307 and 34 - Death sentence - Rarest of 
the rare ease - Assasslnatlon of Gen. Vaidya who conducted Operetlon Slue 
Star for clearing militants from Golden Temple, Amritsar and causing injuries a 
lQ his wife - Considering the case to be similar lo Kehar Singh case being of 
rarest of &he rare category where accused persons instead or showing remorse 
or repentance felt proud of their act, held, award of death sentence proper - 
No e}4enuating circumstance lo depart from the ratio of Kehar Singh case 
shown (Para 54) 

Kehar s0gh v. Suu« (Delhi Admirostration), (1988) 3 SCC 609: 1988 SCC (Cri) 711,/o/- b ~~ . . ., 

Terrorist and Disruptive Activities (Prevention) Act, 1985 (31 or 1985) - 
Ss. 10, 12(4) and 17(3) - Two accused charged under Ss. 3(2)(i) or (ii) and 
3(3) of the Act r/w R. 23(4) of the Rules made thereunder as also under 
Ss. 120·Br 465, 468, 4711 4191302,307 r/w 34 IPC - Designated Co1,1rt acqutt- c 
ting accused from charges. under the Act and Ru Jes and convicting them ~nly 
under' Ss, 302 and 307 and Ss. 302134 and 307/34 IPC respectively - Held, con­ 
viction being outside the provisions of the Act, it was open under S. 10 of the 
Act to the Designated Court to convict and - award such sentence us provided 
under IPC--: Penal Code, 1860, Ss. 302, 307 and 34-Terrorist and Disruptive 
Activities (Prevention) Act, 19871 S. 12 (Para 54) d 

.~riminal Procedure Code, 1973 - Ss. 309(2) third proviso and 235(2) - 
Effect of the third proviso to S. 309(2) - Held, the proviso does not prohibit 
grant of adjournment for the purpose of affording opportunity or hearing to 
the parties before pronouncing sentence in compliance with mandatory provi- 
sions of S. 235(2) e 

Constitution of India - Art. 21 - Covers right to expeditious dlsposal of 
criminal case and fair opportunity to place all relevant material before court 

Held~ 
The third proviso to S. 309(2) must be read in the context of the general . 

policy of expeditious inquiry and trial manifested by the main part of the sec- 
tion. Tha~ section emphasises that an inquiry or trial once it has begun should 
proceed from day to day till the evidence of all the witnesses in at ten dance has 
been recorded so that they may not be unnecessarily vexed. The underlying 
object is to discourage frequent adjournments. But that does not mean that the 
proviso precludes the court from adjourning the matter even where the interest 
of justice so demands. The proviso may not ernitle an accused to an adjourn­ 
ment but it does not prohibit or preclude the court from granting one in such 
serious cases of life and death to satisfy the requirement of justice as enshrined 
in Section 235(2) of the Code. Expeditious disposal of a criminal case is indeed 
the requirement of Article 21 of the Constitution; so also a fair opportunity to 
place all relevant material before the· Court is equally the requirement of the 
said Article. Therefore, 

1if the court feels that the interest of justice demands 
that the matter should b~ adjourned to enable both sides to place the relevant 
material touching on tqe question of sentence before the court, the above 
extracted proviso cannot 'preclude the court from doing so. (Para 56) 

(1992)3 sec SUPREME COURTCASES 704 
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Both the accused had mentally.declded to own their involvement in the 
murder of Gen. Vaidya before their statements were recorded under Section 
313 of the Code. Not only that, their attitude reveals that they had resolved to 
kill him as they considered him on enemy of the Sikh community since he was 
alleged to have desecrated the Akal Takht, They also told the trial court that 

· they were proud of their act and were not afraid of death and were prepared to 
sacrifice their Jives for the article of their faith, namely, the realisation of their 
dream of a separate State of Khalistan. It is thus apparent that before they 
made their statements admitting their involvement they.had mentally prepared 
themselves for the extreme penally and, therefore, if they desired to place any 
material for a lesser sentence they had ample opportunity to do so. But after 
the decision of the Supreme Court in Kehar Singh case and having regard to the 
wel! planned manner in which they executed their resolve to kill Oen. Vaidya, 
they were aware that there was every likelihood of the Court imposing the 
extreme penalty and they would have, if they so desired, placed material in their 
wrrnen statements or Would have requested the 6>urt for tlme when their 
statements under Section 313 of the Code were recorded, if they desired to pray 
for a lesser sentence. Their resolve not to do so is reflected in the fact that they 
have not chosen to file any appeal against their convictions by the Designated 
Court. Therefore; the r~quiremems of Section 235(2) of the Code have been 
satisfied in letter and spirit and no prejudice is shown to have occurred to the 
accused. (Para 57) 

Kehar Singh v, State (Delhi Administration], (1988) 3 SCC 609: 1988 SCC (Cri) 711, 
referred to 

Criminal Procedure Code, 1973......:. S. 313(1) (b) - Examination of accused 
, undFr - Mandatory - Purpose and stage of exumlnatlon - If any Incrimtnat­ 
ing material against accused appears on the conclusion of the 'prosecution evl­ 
denee, court would b~ duty-bound to s~licit accused's explanaticln therefor 
irres~ective of how weak or scanty the prosecution evidence was in that respect 

d 

c 

a 

STATE OF MAHARASHTRA v. SUKHDEV SINOH 70S 
Allauddin Mian v. State of Bihar; (1989) 3 SCC 5; 1989 SCC (Cri) 490; Ma/kjalSingh v. 

~~ate of Punjab, (1991) 4 SCC 341: 1991 SCC (Cri) 976: JT (1991) 2 SC 19(), refmerJ. 

Jumman }(}tan v. State of V.P., (1991) l SCC 752: 1990 Supp 3 SCR 398: 1991 SCC 
(Cr•) ~3. disringuished · . ' . 

Criminal Preeedure Codt!, l97J - s. ZJ5(Z) - Requirement of olTordin~ 
pre-sentence hearing - Conviction and sentence of death pronounced on the 

· same day - Where accused persons bud ulready resolved to kill the deceased 
b (Gen. Valdya who had conducted Operation Blue Star to clear the Golden 

Temple from terrorists) and were prepared to sacrifice their lives for the cause 
even before making their confessional statements in examination under S . .313 
and executed their ~esoJve in a planned manner without ever praying for lesser 
sentence despite bejng aware of the death sentence granted in Kehar Singh 
case, held, accused "'ere mentally prepared for the extreme penalty and hence. 
requirement of S. · ~35(2) satisfied in letter and spirit - Penal Code, 1860, 
Ss.3021307,34 
Held: 
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h 

Section 313 embodies the fundamental principle of fairness based on the 
maxim audi alteram panem .. The purpose of the examination of the accused 
under Section 313 is to give the accused an opportunity to explain the 
incriminatins material which has surfaced on record. The stage of examination 
of the accused under clause (b) of sub-section (1) of Section 313 is reached only b 
after the witnesses for the prosecution have been examined and before the 
accused is called on to enter upon his defence. The trial Judge is not expected 
before he examines the accused under Section 313 of the Code, to sift the evi-· 
deqte and pronounce on whether or not he would accept the evidence regard- 
ingl any I incriminating material to determine .. whether or not to examine the 
accused on that material. "Jto do so would be to pre-judge the evidence without c 
hearing the prosecution under Section 314 of the Code. The words "shall ques­ 
tion him", clearly bring out the mandatory character of the clause and cast an 
imperative duty on the CQUrt rnd confer a corresponding right On the accused to 
an opportunity to offer his Clf planation for such incriminating material appear· 
ing against him. Therefore, no matter how weak or scanty the prosecution evl- d 
dence is in regard to a certain incriminating material, it is the duty of the court 
to exa~ine the accused and seek his explanation thereon. It is onlr after that 
stage is over that rhe oral arguments have to be heard before the judgment is 
rendered. It is only where the court finds that no incriminating material has sur­ 
faced that the accused may not be examined under Section 313 of the Code. If 
there is material against the accused he must be examined. In the instant case it e 
is not correct to say that no incriminating material had surfaced against the 
accused. Therefore, the trial court was justifled in examining the accused under 
Section 313. (Para 50) 

lit Bahadur Cherri v. Slate of Arunachal Pradesh, 1977 Cri U 1833 (Gau HC);Asokan v. 
State of Kera/a, 1982 Cn U 173 (Ker HC), referred lo 

Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Opinion or handwriting expert - NQrm1dly 
courts do not place imj>licil reliance on such oplnlon evidence and insist on 
corrohoralion - Dul need of corroboratlon is not an Inflexible rule and it 
depends upon focls and circumstances of each case - Quality of opinion would 

. depend on soundness of reasons on which it is based - nut before acting upon 
thl! opinion l!ridence court must he jDtisOed ohout the ienuinljnm of the g 
specirqenf:r admitted ha,ndwriting of the accused and competence an~ depe. nd­ 
abilhy of he expert - Opinion of handwriting expert compared with lhot of 
finger pri t expert · 
Held: 

Evidence regarding the identity of the author of any document can be 
tendered (i) by examining the person who is conversant and familiar with the 
handwriting of such person or (ii) through the testimony of an expert who is 
qualified and competent to make a comparison of the disputed writing and the 
admitted writing on a scientific basis and (iii) by the court comparing the dis­ 
puted document with the admitted one. (Para 29) 

- Natural justice -Audi alteram partem -Applicability in criminal trial - 
Provi~ion in S. 313, CrPC ror . 
Held: a 

SUPREME COURT CASES (1992) 3 sec 706 
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A handwriting expert is a competent witness whose opinion evidence is 
recognised as relevant under the provisions of the Evidence Act and has not 
been equated to the class of evidence of an accomplice. It would, therefore, not 
be fair to approach the opinion evidence with suspicion but the correct 
approach would be to weigh the reasons on which it is based. The quality of his 
opinion would depend on the soundness of the reasons on which it is founded. 
B~t Xe court cannot afford to overlook the fact tha.t the science of identifica­ 
tion f handwriting Is an imperfect and frail one as compared to the science of 
ident ncatlon of fingerprints; courts have, therefore, been wary in placing 
implicit reliance on such opinion evidence. Since such opinion evidence cannot 
t~ke the place of submnlive evidence, mum have, as a rule of prudence, 
looked for corroboration before acting on such evidence. But that ls not to say 
that it is a rule of prudence of general application regardless of the clrcum­ 
stances of the case and the quality of expen evidence. No hard and fast rule can 
be laid down in this behalf but the court has to decide in each case on its own 
merits what weight it should attach to the opinion of the expert. If there exist 
numerous striking peculiarities and mannerisms which stand out to identify the 
writer, the court can act on the expert's evidence. (Paras 30 and 29) 

However, before a court can act on the opinion evidence of a handwriting 
expert two things must be proved beyond any manner of doubt, namely, (i) the 
genuineness of the specimen/admitted handwriting of the concerned accused 
and (ii) the handwriting expert is a competent, reliable and dependable witness 
whose evidence inspires confidence. Prudence demands that before acting on 
such eplnlnn the court ~hould be fully ~arisfiecl ibout the iulhOllhip of the 
admitted writings which is made the sole basis for comparison and the court 
should also be fully satisfied about the competence and credibility of the hand­ 
writing expert. Though by nature and habit, over a period of time, each 
individual develops certain traits which give a distinct character to his writings 
making it possible to identify the author but since handwriting experts are 
generally engaged by one of the contesting parties they, consciously or uncon­ 
sciously, tend to lean in favour of an opinion which is helpful to the party 
engaging him. Therefore, before a court can place reliance on the opinion ofan 
expert, it must be shown that he has not betrayed any bias and the reasons on 
which he has based his opinion are convincing and satisfactory. h is, therefore, 
necessary to exercise extra care and caution in evaluating their opinion bef re 
accepting the same. (Paras 28 and 29) 

Ram Narain v. State of U.P., ( 1973) 2 SCC 86: 1973 SCC (C.ri) 752; Bhagwan Kaur v. 
Maharaj Kristian Sharma, ( 1973) 4 SCC 46: 1973 sec (Cri) 687; Murari Lal v. State of 

, M.P., ( i 980~ 1 SCC 704: 1980 SCC (Cn) 330, relied on 
ln the present case the trial court found that the evidence on record in 

regard 10 the natural handwriting of the accused was not satisfactory and did 
not inspire confidence. The trial court also found-that it was hazardous to rely 
on. his evidence as he had betrayed bias against the accused and in favour of the 
prosecution as "he also belongs to the Police Department". On a consideration 
of the expert-eviden~e it does not appear that the view taken by the trial court is 
unsustainable or perverse. Even otherwise having regard to the facts and cir­ 
cumstances of the case and the nature of evidence tendered and the quality of 

a 

707 STATE OF MAHAAASHTRA v. SUKHDEV SINGH 
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Although Section 73 specifically empowers the court tQ compare the dis- o 
pured writings with thF specimen/admitted writings shown to be genuine, 
prudence demands thatl th~ court should be extremely slow in venturing an 
opinion on the basis of mere comparison, more so, when the quality of evidence 
in respect ot specimenzadmitted writings is not of high standard. (Para 32) 

Evidence Act, 1872 ~ ~. 9 - Identification of accused persons in court for c 
the first time. ofter a lo~g lapse of time - No TI pora~e held - Accused alter- 
ing their appearance d~ring the course of time - Accused also total strangers 
to witnesses who got only Oeeting glimpse of the accused - Witnesses not 
entirely independent and unbiased - Held, it would be risky to pince reliance 
on such identification without proper corroboration 
Helf: 

1 Great care must be exercised before acting on a belated ldentiflcauon in 
court by a witness who cannot be said to be an Independent and unbiased per­ 
son. In the case of total strangers, it is not safe to place implicil reliance on the 
evidence of witnesses who had just a fleeting glimpse of the person identified or 
who had no particular reason to remember the person concerned, if the· e 
idemiliation i~ made for the firxl lime in court. In the prescm case it was all 
the more ~ifficult as indisputably the accused persons had since changed their 
appe~rance. Test identification parade, if held promptly and after taking the 
necessary precautions to ensure its credibility, would· lend the required 
assurance which the court ordinarily seeks to act .on it. Jn the absence of such . f 
test id~ntification parade it would be extremely risky to place implicit reliance 
on identification made for the first time in Court after a long lapse of time and 
that 100 of persons who had changed their appearance. (Paras 17 and 25) 

Kanan v. State of Kem/a, ( 1979) 3SCC319: 1979 SCC (Cri) 621, relied on 
Supreme Court Rules; f 966 - Or. 21 R. 8(2) - Amie us curiae - Advo- g 

cotes appearing as amicus curiae making twenty trips from Pune to Delhi to 
attend the case and devoting their valuable professional hours at considerable 
personal inconvenience - Out of Rs 29,000 spent by them, they received only 
R~ sooo - _Ap11r@ciuling their d@volion and dedicuuon which enhance the 
image and prestige of the legal procession, State Govt. directed to pay them the 
outstun~ing amount of Rs 24000 which they hod spent for travel, lodging and 
boarding and ulso to pay a further sum of Rs. 25,000 by way of professional fees 
for rend~ring service as omr'cus curiae 

. . R-Mtr/l 1425/CR 

evidence of the expert the prosecution has not succeeded in establishing beyond 
reasonable doubt the so-called conspiracy. (Paras .28and~1) 

Evidence Ac~ 1871 """ s, 73 ...- Court would lli lilow on rco~hing Us llWR ti 
conclusion by itself comparing the disputed writing with the specimen/admitted 
writing on record especially where genuineness of the specimen/admitted writ- 
ing Is not beyond doubt 
Held: 

(1992)3 sec SUPREME COURT CASES 708 
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z. After his retirement on January 31, 1986, General Vaidya and his 
wife Bhanumati ldft Delhi for Pune. As their bungalow at Pune was stilJ 
under construction, they shared bungalow No. 20. at Queens Garden, 
Pune, occupied by Major-General Y.K. Yadav, General Vaidya owned a 
Maruti car bearing registration No. DIB 1437 which reached Pune on the 
next day i.e. February 1, 1986. Between February 4 and 16, 1986 General 
V11idya ~rnd his wife went to Goa for 11 brief holid11y. They returned to 
Pune on February 16, 1986. They continued to reside in the bungalow 
occupied by Major-General Y.K. Yadav. General Vaidya was required to 

g · be, hospitalised from March 24 to April 7, 1986 as he was suspected to be 
suffering from jaundice. During his stay in bungalow No. 20, Queens 
Garden, two Police Sub-Inspectors were available on security duty, one 
for hitnself and another for Major-General Yadav but after his discharge 
from the hospital and on their shifting to their bungalow at 47!3, 

h Koregaon Park with effect from May 26, 1986 only one armed Head 
Constable, Ramchandra Kshirsagar, was on security duty with him. 
Although the name-plate of General Vaidya was displayed on one of the 
two posts of the entrance gate to bungalow No. 20 at Queens Garden, no 
such name-plate was displayed at bungalow No. 47{3, Koregaon Park. 

e 

a 

STA TE OF MAHARASHTRA v. SU KHO EV SINGH (Ahmadi; J.) 709 
Advocates who appeared id this case : 

Altaf Ahmed, Additional Solicitor-General, V.V. vaze, Senior Advocate (Mis S.B. 
Takawane, S.M. Jadhav, AS. Bhasme and Ms A Subhashini, Advocates, with them). 
for the Complainant/Appellant; 

R.S. Sodhi, Harshad Nimbalkar, P.G. Sawarkar and I.S. Goel, Advocates, for the 
Accused/Responcent. · 

The Judgment of the Courl was del;vered by 
b AHMADI, J.- General A.S. Vaidya, the then Chief of the Armed 

Forces was, on the orders of the then Prime Minister Smt Indira Gandhi, 
assigned the difficult and delicate task of flushing out militants who had 
taken refuge in the Golden Temple at Amritsar. During this operation, 
known as the Blue Star Operation, some militants were killed and a part 

c of the Golden .Temple known as Harminder Saheb was damaged. Both 
the then Prime Minister Smt Indira Gandhi and General Vaidya had, 
therefore, incurred the wrath of the Punjab militants for what they called 
the desecration of the Q-olden Temple. They, therefore, vowed to avenge 

I I 

the deaths of their colleagues and punish all those who were responsible 
d for the damage to the Golden Temple. After the assassination of Smt 

Gandhi on October 31, 1984, it is the prosecution case, they waited for 
General Vaidya to retire on January 31, 1986 so that the security cover 
which would then stand reduced may not be difficult to penetrate. After 
his retirement General Vaidya decided to settled down in Pune in the 
State of Maharashtra. 
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710 SUPREME COURT CASES (1992) 3 sec 
3. On the morning of August 10, 1986, General Vaidya and his wife 

left their bungalow with the securityman Ramchardra Kshirsagar for 
shopping in their Maruti car No. DIB 1437 at about 10.00 a.m, The car a 
w~ bring driven by· General Vaidya with his wife sitting in the front seat 
to his! left and the securityman sitting in the rear seat- just behind her. 
After th' shopping spree was completed at about 11.30 a.m. and while 
they were returning to their residence via Rajendrasinghji Road, the car 
had to take a turn to the right at the square in front of 18 Queens Gar- b 
den at the intersection of Rajendrasinghji and Abhimanyu roads. To 
negotiate this turn General Vaidya who was driving the vehicle slowed 
down. Af that point of time a red Ind-Suzuki motor cycle came parailel 
to the car on the side of General Vaidya and the person occupying the 
pillion sciat of the motor cycle fired three shots from close range at the c 
head of General Vaidya. Before his wife and securityman could realise 
what had happened, General Vaidya slumped on the shoulder of his wife 
Bhanumati. The motor cyclists drove away and could not be located. An 
autorickshaw passed by. As General Vaidya lost control over the vehicle 
the car ~urg~d 'ow~rQ~ ~ cyclist Digambar Gaikwad. The latter, in order d 
to save himself, jumped. off the cycle. The cycle came under the Maruti 
car and as a result the car stopped at a short distance in front of a com­ 
pound wall. Immediately thereafter the securityman stepped out of the 
vehicle and went in search of some bigger vehicle to carry General 
Vaidya to the hospital. A green matador van which was passing by was e 
fetched by the securityman in which the injured General Vaidya was 
carried to the Command Hospital where he was declared dead. 

4. The securityman immediately informed the L.I.B. Office about 
the incident which information was received by Police Inspector Garad. 1 On receipt of the information the Commissioner of Police and his 
Deputy ~rrived at the ho~pi,~l MQ questioned the securityman who nar­ 
rated the incident to them. Thereupon the securityman was asked to go 
to the Control Room. On reaching the Control Room he received a mes­ 
sage from Inspector Mohite requiring him to return to the place of the g 
incident where his formal complaint was recorded by Inspector Mohite. 
A panchnama of the scene of occurrence was drawn up by Inspector 
Mohite in the presence of witnesses and the empty cartridges and other 
articles were recovered therefrom. 

S. As stated earlier, the assailants of General Vaidya had made good h 
their escape from the scene of occurrence after the incident. On Septem- 
ber 7, 1986, two persons riding a red Ind-Suzuki motor cycle collided 
with a truck. They were thrown· off the motor cycle and sustained 
.injuries. A bag containing arms and ammunition w,as also thrown off but 
they hurriedly collectcld the spilled articles. When members of the public 
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STATE OF f1AHARASHTRA v. SUKHDEV SINGH (Ahmadi, J.) 711 

who .had collected there immediately after the accident went to assist 
them they behaved in an abrasive manner and one of them, later 
identified as Accused 1 Sukhdev Singh @ Sukha, raised his revolver and 
threatened to shoot, which raised the suspicion of the crowd prompting 
one Narayan Bajarang Pawar to report the matter to Inspector A.I. 

'Pa than of Pimpri Police Station. Inspector Pa than swung into action and 
along with the informant and his staff members, includlng Sub-Inspector 
Nirnbalkar, went in search of the two motor cyclists. Inspector Parhan 
went to the '.r-lmprl. ~~llway Pollce Station and asked P.S.I. MX Kadam 
of that Police Statipn to immediately go to the place of the accident and 
guard the same unfil further orders. Inspector Parhan, on return, noticed 
two persons passing by Vishal Talkies and as one of them was limping his 
suspicion was aroused whereupon he drove his vehicle near them and 
pounced on one 9f them, later identified as Accused 2 Nirmal Singh @ 
Nimma. Accused l Sukha tried to run away but P.S.I. Nimbalkar gave a 
chase and caught hold of him arid brought him to Inspector Pathan, 
Before he was overpowered, it is the prosecution case, that Accused l 

d Sukha ·unsuccessf~lly tried to fire a shot at P.S.I .. N. imbalkar. to make 
good his escape. It may here be mentioned that both Accused 1 and 
Accused 2 were charge~sheeted under Section 307 IPC1 for that incident 
and were ultimately convicted and sentenced. 

6. After both Accused I and Accused 2 were apprehended by 
Inspector Pathan and P.S.I. Nimbalkar they were searched and weapons 
like pistol and revolver along with Jive cartridges were recovered from 
them. They were also carrying certain papers concerning the red Ind­ 
Suzuki motor cycle and they too were attached. As a sizeable crowd had 
gathered on the road Inspector Pathan thought it wise to cause the 
seizure memorandum to be recorded at the Pimpri Police Station. The 
prosecution case is that while the two persons were being taken in a jeep 
to the Pimpri Police Station they raised slogans of "Khalistan Zindabad" 
and proudly proclaimeq that they were the assailants of General Vaidya. 

g After reaching the Police Station all the articles which were found in the 
possession of these two persons were attached under a seizure 
memorandum. Inspector Parhan suspected that the pistol which was 
Found from them may have been the weapon. used for killin~ Geritnl 
Vaidya and hence he sent the weapons as well as the cartridges attached 
from the scene of occurrence to the ballistic expert who reported that 
the farLridges found from the place where General Vaidya was shot were· 
fired from the pistol f.hich was recovered from the possession of these 
two persons after their. arrest on September 7, 1986. In the course of 
iqyestig,ation it came to light that besides Accused 1 and 2 certain. other 
persons described as terrorists, namely, Accused 3 Yadvinder Singh, 
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Accused 4 Avtar Singh, Accused S Harjinder Singh and absconding 
accused Sukhminder Singh @ Sukhi, Daljit Singh @ Bittu @ Sanjeev 
Gupta, Jasvinder Kaur and Baljinder Singh @Raju were involved in the a 

· conspiracy allegedly hatched for assassinating General Vaidya 
immediately after his retirement and on depletion of the security cover. 
Accused 1 and 2 and others named hereinabove were charge-sheeted on 
August 14, 1987 under Sections 120-B, 302, 307, 465, 468, 471 and 212, 
IPC, Sections 3 and 4 of Terrorist and Disruptive Activities (Prevention) b 
AGt1 1~857 hereinafter called 'TADA',_ and Section 10 of the Passport 
Act, 19f)7. 

; 7. In regard to the charge of conspiracy, forgery, etc., the prpsteu­ 
tion case is that absco~ding accused Sukhi hired a flat sometime in 
October-November 1985 at 7, Antop Hill, Bombay. Thereafter he came c 
to Pune and stayed in Dreamland Hotel in the assumed· name of Rakesh 
Sharma. On January 26, ;1986 he shifted to and registered himself as 
Ravinder Sharma in Hotel Gulmohar on the pretext that he was visiting 
the city for business purposes. He was accompanied by another person. 
They gave a false address that they were residents of 307, Om Apart- d 
ments, Bombay, While in Pune an advertisement appeared in the local 
daily Maharashtra Herald offering a flat No. G-21, Salunke Vihar, Pune 
on hire. This flat was in the possession of Major AK. Madan and he was 
desirous qf letting it out to repay the instalments of the loan taken for 
meeting the construction cost of the said flat. He had entrusted this work ~ 
of finding a suitable tenant to one V.R. Hallur and had given a power-of­ 
attorney. to him for that purpose. The said V.R. Hallur approached the 
Estate Agent Mr Bhavar Sanghvi and disclosed that he was desirous of 
letting 04t the flat on a rent ranging between Rs 1200 and Rs 1500 with a f 
deposit ranging between Rs 12,000 and Rs 15,000. The Estate Agents 
published an advertisement in the local newspaper Maharashtra Herald, 
in consequence whereof one person identifying himself as Ravinder 
Sharma approached the Estate Agent and finalised the deal by paying 
Rs 15,000 in cash as deposit and agreeing to pay rent at- the rate of 
Rs 1500 per month and went on to pay advance rent for three months i.e. g 
Rs 4500 to the said V.R. Hallur, The deal was closed on January 30, 
19g(;. It jg the pro§e~ution case that this flat ~as hired as .. t~e conspirators 
needed an operational base in Pune lo fac1htate the J(1lhn~ of General 
Vaidya. 

8. The prosecution case further is that on May 3, 1986 the 7, An top 
Hill flat at Bombay was raided and besides arms and ammunition an 
English novel 'Tripple' was found on the cover page whereof someone 
had scribbled the number of General Vaidya's Maruti car. Clothes of dif­ 
ferent sires were also found indicating the presence of more than one 
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person, On May 81 1986 an Ind-Suzuki motor cycle bearing No. MFK 
7548 was purchased in the name of Sanjeev Guptti from its owner Sur~h 

a Shah through R. V. Antapurkar, a salesman. Accused 1 is reported to 
have lived in Hotel Ashirvad, Pune on June 9, 1986. Accused 1 Jived in 
Hptel Amir in Room No. 517 on June 11, 1986, in Hotel Jawahar in 
Room No. 206 on the next day and in Hotel Mayur in Room No. 702 on 
June 13, 1~86. On the same day he is shown to have stayed in Hotel 

b Commando, Bandra, Bombay in Room No. 402. The Union Bank'rob­ 
bery took place on that day. The motor cycle was sent for servicing on 
July l, 1986. Sukhi left for U.S.A on a forged passport on July 14, 1986 
and was arrested there. According to the prosecution they Jived in dif­ 
ferent hotels in· different assumed names. for drawing up a plan to kill 

c General Vaidya. 
9. Now we enter the crucial stage. According to the prosecution, in 

pursuance of the conspiracy hatched to kill General Vaidya, Accused 1, 2 
and 5 left Ambala Cantonment for Doorg on August 3, 1986 by 138 UP 

d Chhatisgarh Express. The form for reservation of sleeper berths dated 
July 29, 1986, Ex. 700, is alleged to have been filled by Accused 1, of 
course in an assumed name. They reached Doorg on August 5, 1986 and 
left for Bombay on the next day by Gitanjali Express. From Bombay the 
prosecution alleges that they went to Pune. Prosecution has also 
tendered evidence to show that on August 9, 1986, Accused 1 and 5 · 
made inquiries concerning the whereabouts of a retired military officer in 
the neighbourhood of General Vaidya. After accomplishing the task 
Ac~used I returned re l}ombay by 730 p.m, and stayed in Hotel 
Neelkanth, Khar, in the assumed name of Pradeep Rumar. On Septem• 
ber 6~ 1986, Accused ~ and 2 are stated to have stayed in Hotel Dalmond, 
Bandfa, Bombay, in the assumed names of Ravi Gupta and Sandeep 
Kumar before their arrest at Pune on September 7, 1986 by Inspector 
Parhan. This, in brief, are the broad outlines of the alleged conspiracy 
perpetrated by the accused persons and the absconding accused to kill 

g General Vaidya. To prove these circumstances a large number of docu­ 
ments and ocular testimony of several witnesses came to be tendered by 
the prosecution before the Designated Court. 

JO. The investigation revealed that on the date of the incident the 
motor cycle was driven by Accused 5 Harjinder Singh @ Jinda with 
Accused 1 Sukhdev Singh @ Sukha in the pillion seat. The shots were 
fired by Accused 1 lfrom the pillion seat at close range after Accused 5 
had brought the motor cycle in line with the front window of the driver's 
seat of the Maruti car, The window pane was lowered and General 
Vaidya was at the steering wheel with his right elbow resting on the 
window and the hand holding the top of the car. As stated earlier, three 
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shots w~re fired in ,quick succession and before Bhanumati and the 
securityrnan could realise what had happened the motor cyclists made 
good their escape. Had it not been for the. accident which took place on a 
September 7, 1986 in which the said motor cycle was involved the police 
would have been groping in the dark to nab the perpetrators of the 
crime. Accused 2, 3 and 4 were put up for trial as co-conspirators. The 
other co-conspirators could not be placed for trial as they could not be 
traced since they wereabsconding, All the five accused denied the charge b 
and claimed to be tried, However, after the charge was framed Accused 1 
Sukhdev Singh@ Su~ha expressed his desire on September 19, 1988 to 
make a statement expressed his desire on September 19, 1988 to make a 
statement before the ~ourt admitting to have killed General Vaidya. He 
made the statement iq open court and the lea. rned Presiding Judge of the c 
Designated Court, Pune gave him eight days' time to reflect and make a 
detailed written statement thereafter, \f he so desired. On September 26, 
1988 when the accused were once again arraigned before the Designated 
Court Accused 1 submitted a written statement, Ex. 60-A, admitting to 
ha~e £ired rour bullet~ at General Vaidya and to have killed him. He also a 
stated in that statement that he had accidentally injured Bhanumati 
Vaidya although he did not intend to do so. According to him since she 
was sitting close to General Vaidya one of the bullets strayed and caused 
injury to her. So far as Accused 5 Harjinder Singh @ Jinda is concerned, 
he, in his statement recorded under Section 313 of the Criminal e 
Procedure Code, 1973, admitted that he was the person driving the black 
(not .red) .Indu-Suzuki motor cycle with Accused 1 in the pillion seat. It 
was he who brought his motor cycle in line with the Maruti car driven by 
General Vaidya to facilitate Accused 1 Sukha to shoot the General. It 
was only thereafter that Accused 1 fired the bullets which caused the 
death of General Vaidya. 

11. The learned Presiding Judge of the Designated Court, Pune, 
framed the points for determination and came to the conclusion that the 
prosecution had failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt that the g 
accused before him and the absconding accused had entered into a 
criminal conspiracy to commit the murder of General Vaidya. He, 
however, came to the conclusion that Accused 5 was driving the motor 
cycle with Accused 1 on the pillion seat and it was the latter who fired 
the sho1ts from .close range killing General Vaidya and injuring his wife h 
whb waf seated next to him. He came to the conclusion that the crime in 
question was committed in furtherance of the common intendon of 
Accused :1 and Accused 15 to cause the murder of General Vaidya. He 
also cam~ to the conclusion thatthe said two accused persons were guilty 
of attempt to commit the murder ofBhanumati in furtherance of their 
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STATE OF M~ARASHTRA v, SUK,HDEV SINGH (Ahmadi, J.) 715 
common intention. After a detailed and elaborate judgment running into 
over 300 typed pages, the learned Judge of the Designated Court, Pune, 

a convicted Accused 1 under Sections 302 and 307, IPC for the murder of 
General Vaidya and 1 for attempting to take . the life of his wife 
Bhanumati. He convicted Accused 5 under Section 302 and Section 307, 
both read with Section 34, IPC. He sentenced both Accused 1 and 
Accused 5 to death subject to contirmation of sentence l;>y thi~ Court. 

b for the offence under Section 307 he sentenced both Accused l and 
Accused 5 to rigorous imprisonment for 10 years. Both the substantive 

. sentences were ordered to run concurrently. He acquitted both Accused 
1 aqd Accused 5 of aJI the other charges levelled against them. So far as 
Accused 2, 3 and 4 are concerned he acquitted them of all the charges 

c lryellFd against them and directed that they be set at liberty at once. 
' 12. The facts of which we have given a brief resume make it crystal 

clear that broadly speaklng the prosecution case has two elements, the 
first relating to the chafge of criminal conspiracy and the various criminal 

d acts done in furtherance thereof and the second relating to the actual 
murder of General Vaidya. The pr9ser;:1i1tion hM also invoked S!¢l;C)nS ~ 
Al'ld.t ofT Ar>A. 

]3. Now according to the prosecution as soon as it became known to 
the militants that.General Vaidya planned to settle down at P ... une aft.er 

e his retjrement from Army service, wheels began to move to kill him as 
. soon as the security cover available to him was reduced. The prosecution 
tendered evidence, both oral and documentary, to show that the con· 
spiracy was hatched between January 23, 1986 and May 3, 1986. The first 
step taken in this directionwas to hire a flat in Block No. G·21, Salunke 
Vihar; Pune, tp create an operational base to work out and implement 
the alleged criminal conspiracy. This flat was hired by one Ravinder 
Sharma whom the prosecution identifies as absconding accused Sukhi, 
Now according to the prosecution after acquiring this base, Sukhi left th.e 

: country on July 14, 1986 'and did not participate further in the execution 
g of 1the alleged conspiracy. Accused 2 Nirmal Singh became. privy to the 

cons1'iiracy.Jater on. To prove this part of the prosecution case evidence 
·has been tendered to show that two persons Raj Kumar Sharma and 
Rakesh Sharma came and stayed in Hotel Dreamland, Pune, from 
January 23 to 26, 1986 and contacted various estate agents on telephone, 

h including PW 20 B.D. Sanghvi, partner of M/s Estate Corporation, Pune, 
with a view to hiring a flat in Pune, The absconding accused Sukhi, it is 
contended, had stayed in that hotet under the assumed name of Rakesh 
Sharma. PW 3 Rajender Tulsi Pillai has been examined to show that 
thereafter the said -accused Sukhi and his companion shifted to Hotel 
Gulmohar on the 26th at about 2.20 p.rn. and stayed there till 10.00 a.m. 
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of the 29th. Therefore, according to the prosecution Rakesh Shanna and 
Ravinder Sharma were one and the same person and the evidence of the 
hand'fiting expert PW 120 M.K. Kanbar establishes that the said person a 
was none other than the absconding accused Sukhi. The enrnes 
identified as Q, 3 and Q. 4 from the register of Dreamland Rote) and 
Q. 5 and p. 6 from the register of Gulmohar Hotel are, in the opinion of 
PW 120, to be of Sukhi, It is indeed true that while discussing this part of 
the prosecution evidence the learned trial Judge has committed certain b 
factual errors and has wrongly read the evidence as if PW 120 had opined 
that the said entries were made by Accused 1 Sukha, That is probably on 
account of similarity of names; he seems to have substituted Sukha for 
Sukhi, We have, however, corrected this 'error while appreciating the 
prosecution evidence. But it must be remembered that because Sukhi c 
had fled from the country he could not be produced for identification by 
the hotel staff. No one has, therefore, identified him as Rakesh Sharma 
or Ravinder Sharma. The question of identity, therefore, rests solely on 
the evidence of tfl~ h11ndwriting expert PW 1M. . 

14. TI1en we come to the evidence of PW 20 B.D. Sanghvi and PW d 
22 G.H. Bhagchandani who figured in the transaction concerning the let­ 
ting out of the G-21, Salunke Vihar flat at Pune, to one Ravinder 
Sharma. According to the prosecution this Ravinder Sharma had met 
PW 20 and it was PW 22 who had shown the flat to him. Both these wit­ 
nesses had, therefore, an occasion to see Ravinder Sharma from close e 
quarters. It was in their presence that the said Ravinder Sharma had 
signed the agreement to lease on January 27, 1986. PW 104 V.R. Hallur, 
the power-of-attorney of Major Madan and PW 105 R.J. Kulkarni who 
had contacted PW 20 were also concerned with the said deal. The evi­ 
dence of ;pw 65 D.B. Bhagve reveals that one Ravinder Sharma had pur­ 
chased a· bank draft of Rs 15,000 from. the J;3"11k of Baroda, .Punt, on 
January 25, 19&6 ih lhe name of Neelam Madan .. The lease documents 
are at Exs. 598 and 599. From the evidence of the aforestated witnesses it 
is established that a person who gave his name as Ravinder Sharma had 
contacted them for hiring the flat and the deal when finalised, payments g 
were made and documents executed between January 24 and 27, 1986 at 
Pune. The question is who was this Ravinder Sharma? Once again there 
is no direct evidence regarding his identity but the prosecution places 
reliance on the opinioq evidence of the handwriting expert PW 120 who h 
has deposed that all these documents are in the handwriting of the 
absconding accused Sukhi. 

15. From the above evidence what the prosecution can at best be 
said to have established is that the person who signed the register of 
Dreamland Hotel as Rakesh Sharma and the register of Gulmohar Hotel 
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STATE OF MAHARASHTRAv. SUKHDEV SINGH (Ahmadi, J.) 717 
as Ravinder Sharma and the person who signed the lease documents 
pertaining to G-21, Salunke Vihar flat as Ravinder Sharma was one and 
the same person because according to the evidence of PW 120 the hand- 

. writings tally but the identity of that person has got' to be established by 
comparing the said handwriting with the undisputed handwriting of the 
suspect. The prosecution seeks .to attribute the authorship of the afore­ 
said documents to the absconding accused Sukhi but since the specimen 

b or admitted handwriting of Sukhi could not be secured, as he had fled 
from this country tp U.S.A even before the conspiracy came to light, the 
mere opinion evidence of PW 120, even if accepted at its face value, is 
not sufficient to ~tablish the identity of the author of those documents. 
We will have to see if this missing link is supplied by other evidence on 
record. We may al~o hasten to add that at this stage we are not examining 
what value can he attached to the evidence of PW 120. The find of the 
original bill of Hotel Gulmohar, &. 92-A, from the G-21, Salunke Vihar 
flat after the arrest of Accused 1 and 2 does not improve the matter for 

d that by itself cannot prove that the absconding accused Sukhi was the 
author of the doduments relied on. None of these witnesses, not even 
PW 62 Kantilal Shah, has identified him even from his photograph; So 
also the fact that the said person, whoever he was, had given a false and 
bogus Bombay address of 307, Om Apartments, Borivali or that the 
handwriting of some person who had stayed in yet another assumed 
name in different hotels of Pune, Ahmedabad and Bhavnagar is of no 
help to establish the identity. Even though the entries Exs. 416 and 417 
have been relied upon the two telephone operators of Dreamland Hotel 
were not examined. That being so the prosecution evidence falls far short for rstablishing its case that all these entries were made by the abscond­ 
ing accused Sukhi. 

16. Then we come to the evidence in regard to the activities at the 
Antop Hill flat, Bombay, belonging to PW 49 Sadanand Gangnaik. 
AccMdi11g to him h~ Md let the fist ta M:akhni Bai but since she has not 

g been examined the further link is not established. As pointed out earlier, 
according to the prosecution, that flat too was hired by the absconding 
accused Sukhi sometime in October-November 1985 and the same was 
raided on May 3, 1986. Evidence was tendered by the prosecution with 
~he avowed purpose of showing that a group of terrorists were in occupa- 

h tion of the said flat and when the same was raided certain' incriminating 
'evidence was found ard attached therefrom. One such important piece is 
s~ated to be a nove in English entitled 'Tripple' on the cover page 
wher~of someone had scribbled in pencil the number of General 
Vaidya's car DIB~l437 On the basis of the documents referred to in the 
preceding paragraph, +e handwriting expert PW 120 says that the scribe 
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of this number is the very person who happens to be the author of the 
aforesaid documents. But· this piece of evidence suffers from the very 
same handicap from which the other evidence suffers in regard to the a 
identity of the author of this document also. Besides, PW 48 H.S. Bhullar 
has contradicted himself on the authorship of the writing on the cover 
page of the novel 'Tripple'. In his examination-in-chief he said it was in 
the handwriung of Sukha but on this point he was cross-examined by the 
prosecution to extract a statement" that it was written by Sukhi. The idea b 
wa~ to establish contact between Sukhi and Sukha so that the former can 
be eonaeeted with the ctJme with tht rtid 6f Secti6n 120-B, IPC. From 
the fact that clothes of different sizes were recovered from the said flat it 
was ~rgu~d that several persons were in occupation of the flat. The find 
of three live and one empty cartridges was a circumstance projected by c 
counsel to support his say that the flat was used for illegal purposes. 

17. From the above facts it is not possible to infer that Sukhi and 
Sukha were in occupation of the flat. This gap is sought to be filled 
through PW 48 H.S. Bhullar who claims to be a friend of the inmates of 
the flat. This witness deposes to have taken three prostitutes to the flat d 
to satisfy the sexual urges of Sukhi, Sukha and another who were living 
therein. Now this witness is said to have identified Sukha in court. 
Exl 318 d~led December 8, 1988 is an 9pplicntion given by At!eug!d 5 
Jinda alleging that when he and Sukha were being taken to court they 
were shown to the prosecution witnesses. Before we examine this allega- 8 

· 
tion it is necessary to bear in mind that PW 48 was apprehended by the 
police on May 10, 1986 and was booked as a co-accused but was later 
released and used as a witness. Great care must be .exercised before 
acting on such a belated identification in court by a witness who cannot 
be said to be an independent and unbiased person. Corroboration is 
sought to be provided through the maid servant PW 49 Lulita who was 
worki?g in the flat. She too had identified the accused in court only. She 
was candid enough to accept the fact that the accused Sukhu and Jinda 
were shorn to her and PW 48 when they were being taken to court. This 
admission nullifies the identification of the two accused by these two wit- g 
nesses in court. No weight can be attached to such identification more sh 
when no satisfactory explanation is. forthcoming for the investigation 
officer's failure to hold a test identification parade. So also PW 50 Hirn 
Sinha, one of the prostitutes, also identified him in court but she too was h 
not called to any test identification parade to identify the inmates of the 
flat. She too admits that Sukha was shown to her when he was in the 
lock-up. The other prostitute Jaya who is said to have had sex with Sukha 
was not called to the witness-stand though she attended court. When PW 
50 could not identify the person with whom she bad sex what reliance 
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c~n be placed on her identification of Sukha in court after a lapse of 
almost two years? Besides, it is an admitted fact that there was consider- 

a a~le change in the appearance of the accused, earlier they were clean 
shav9n and later they were attired like Sikhs making identification all the 
more difficult. .No neighbour, not even the laundryman, was examined to 
establish their identity. In this state of the evidence if the learned trial 
Judge was reluctant to act on such weak evidence, no exception can be 

b taken in regard to his approach. . t8· Reliance has been placed on the evidence of PW 4(5 Jagdish 
Bhave, a policeman, who deposes that he had gone to the flit it 10.00 
a.m. to make inquiries, was pulled in and locked up in the lavatory on 
May 3, 1986. He identifies Accused 1 Sukha as the person who had 

c pointed a foreign make revolver at his neck. He also claims to have 
identified him at the test identification parade as well as in court. In 
regard to the identification at the test identification parade, there is some . 
discrepancy as he seems to have initially identified a wrong person. He 

d had also seen him in the lock-up before the identification parade. Lastly, 
he-claims he had managed to secure help by breaking the glass panes. of 
the rear ventilator of the lavatory. Now PW 49 Lalita deposes that she 
was in the flat till 11.00 a.m. If this witness was Jocked up and he had 
raised an alarm, PW 49 Lalita would certainly have learnt about the same 

e but ~he i~ iQi~lly silent about the same. If the glass panes were broken a 
note thereof would have been taken in the panchnama, At least PW 1~a 
PSI 2eorge would have spoken about the same. Besides the story given 
by P'f 46 cannot be hid to be a natural and credible one; The prosecu­ 
tion Jried to contend that PW 49 Lalita being an illiterate woman was 
making a mistake on the time factor. We have no reason to so believe. 
Even if there is any doubt the benefit thereof would go to the defence. 
PW 155 M.V. Mulley who arranged the test identification parade for PW 
46 supports him. But the prosecution does not explain why Inspector 

'Raum Singh and Sub-Inspector Govind Singh and the laundry man were 
g not examined. Sub-Inspector Govind Singh would have explained why he 

could not identify Accused 1 at the test identification parade if he had 
been called to the! witness-stand, To us it seems PW 46 was put up to 
supply the lacuna regarding the involvement and identification of 
Accused 1 in particular. Thi! lmned trinl Judge w;u right in pointing OU' 

h that several independent witnesses had not been examined and the 
prosecution staked it~ claim on an artificial and unnatural story found 
unacceptable put forth in the testimony of°PW 49 Lalita. Even the 
identification of Accused 1 Sukhaby PW 46 Jagdish does not carry con­ 
viction and is of no avail to the prosecution. 
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19. From the flat during the raid three live and one.empty cartridges 
were found. One live cartridge was of .32" bore while the other two Jive 
cartridges were of .38" bore. The empty cartridge was of .38" bore, These a 
were forwarded along with the revolver which was found from Accused 2 
on September 7, 1986 at Pune, to PW 125 M.D. Asgekar, the ballistic· 
expert. This witness has d~posed that the empty cartridge was fired from 
the revolver found froht Accused 2, which weapon, it was said, was used 
in the Union Bank robbery. It is further his say that the live pistol b 
cartridge .32" bore was similar to the one used in General Vaidya's assas- 

'sination. True it is, the learned trial Judge has overlooked this evidence. 
We will consider the impact of this evidence at a later stage. 

20. A Brylcreem bottle, article 83, was found in the flat, PW 150 
ViJay Tote llfted the fingerprint on that bottle which was later compared C 
by :PW 172 A.R. Ar,g,re, fingerprint-expert, with the fingerprint of 
Accused 1 Ex. 607 an~ was found to tally. PW 107 S.V. Shevde, Director 
of Fingerprint Bureau proves this fact. · 

21. The next circumstance relied upon concerns the purchase of a 0 red Ind-Suzuki motor cycle MFK 7548 on May 8, 198{5 through PW 18 
Anantpurkar from PW 23 Suresh Shah, the allottee. This motor cycle 
was later serviced on July 1, 1986 by PW 39 Pirnpalnekar. The motor 
cycle was purchased in the name of Sanjeev Gupta, a name allegedly 
assumed ~y absconding accused Daljit Singh alias Bittu. The evidence of e 
PW 12 Trirnbak Yeravedkar shows that it was regist ~red in the R.T.O. in 
the name of S.B. Shnh and was then trnnsferred in the nnm~ of SMjeev 
Gupta. PW 76, a CBI officer had attached the free service coupon Ex. 
187 and the requisition slip Ex. 259. Neither bears any signature of the 
police officer or panch witness in token of being attached. The papers 
concerning a motor cycle 9earing the name of Sanjeev Gupta are s_tated 
to have been recovered on September 7, 1986 from Sukha and Nimma 
after their arrest following an accident. Since, according to the prosecu­ 
tion, the said motor cycle was used for murdering General Vaidya and 
was later recovered from the accident site on September 7, 1986, it was g 
argued that there was a conspiracy preceding the said murder. The 
owner's manual, article 10, was found from G-21, Salunke Vlhar, Pune, 
butl that does not bear a9y name or even the registration number pf the 
vehicle. The find of sue~ a document, assuming it was really there and 
was 901 planted as submitted by the defence counsel, cannot advance the h 
prosecution case. Another link which the prosecution tried to establish 
was that this motor cycle V,..as seen parked in the garage allotted to the 
occupant of G-21, SalunkefVihar flat. This fact is proved through PW 24 
Vidyadhar Sabnis. PW 25 Lt. Col. Basanti Lal, occupant of G-23 flat, 
however, states t~_at since the garage allotted to him was being used for 
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STATE OF MAHARl\Sl-ITRA v. SUKHDEV SINGH (Ahmadl; J.) 721 
preparing his furniture in the month of May 1986, he was using the 
garage allotted to G-19 or G-21 flat holders for parking his car. All that 

a his evidence shows that in the month of May 1986 one person had come 
inquiring about the occupants of G-21 flat and as the flat was locked he 
had left a message which this witness says he had slipped through the gap 
in the door of that flat. This is neither here nor there. Then he states that 
he had seen a red Ind-Suzuki motor cycle parked near the garage of 

b G-~l. flat. on August 9 or 10, 1986. PW 26 Prakash Sabale, a nei~hbo~r 
residing in Anand A~artments, was called to depose that sometime m 
June 1986 he had se~n a red Ind-Suzuki parked in the garage of G-21 
~<ill. The evidence of this witness conflicts with that of PW 25 who has 
stated in no uncertain terms that he was parking his car in the said 

c garage. Was there any particular reason for these witnesses to take note 
of the red coloured lnQ-Sy~uki motor ~y~I~? NQ reia§QD h"~ be_en 
assigned by the witnesses or the investigating officer. Such red Ind­ 
Suzuki motorcycles were not an uncommon sight in the city of Pune, at 
least none says so. The evidence tendered by the prosecution in this 

d behalf betrays a laboured attempt to connect the inmates of G-21 flat 
with, the purchase of a red Ind-Suzuki motor cycle since it was S\lQ­ 
sequeritly involved in an accident on September 7, 1986 and accused 
Sukha land Nimm4 were found using the same. No attempt was made to 
establish the identity of Sanjeev Gupta even through photographs. 

e 22. PW 27 Hanuman Kunjir, a newspaper vendor, was examined to 
prove that he supplied the Indian Express newspaper to the occupants of 
G-21 flat. He discontinued supplying the newspaper when he found that 
the earlier issues which he had Ief] in the door-gap had not been col­ 
lected by anyone and there was no gap through wblcb be could push in 

· the newspaper. Once he-had found the door open and recovered his 
dues under receipt Ex. 218. No attempt has been made to establish the 
identity of the perspn who asked him Lo supply the newspaper or the per­ 
son iho paid the amount of Rs 40 for which he gave the receipt Ex, 218. 

g Hence his evidence is of no use to the prosecution. · 
23. The prosecution alleges that Sukhi left India on July t4, 01986. 

The absconding accused Bittu and Accused 1 Sukha had also secured 
false passports in fake names. Sukha is said to have taken out a passport 
in the name of Charan Singh. No expert opinion was tendered though 

h the handwriting expert was examined to show that the application for 
passport was tendered by Sukha in the assumed name of Charan Singh. 
The learned trial Judge also points out that the photograph seems to 
have been tampered with and ex facie raises a grave suspicion regarding 
the circumstances in which and the point of time when it came to be 
affixed. PW 55 S.S. Kehlon has signed the index card of Charan Singh's 
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appli~ation. PW 54 Raj Rani Malhotra deposes that nothing adverse was 
reported by the CID officers in respect of Charan Singh. The passport 
was, therefore, issued to Charan Singh. From the above evidence it is dif- a 
ficuit to ~scertain who tampered with the photograph. Even PW 70 Raj­ 
kumar Mittal who dealt with the index card did not find anything suspi­ 
cious at that time. PW 77 Kulbhusan Sikka had delivered the passport to 
Shashi Bhushan who w~ authorsed by. Charan Singh to receive the 
same. From the above evidence and particularly lack of expert evidence b 
it is difflcult to conclude that Accused 1 Sukha bad committed forgery to 
secure a passport to leave India. The prosecution has tried to show that 
Sukhi obtained a passport in the name of Sunil Kumar, Bittu obtained a 
passport in the name of Harjit Sidhu and Sukha tried to obtain a passport 
in the name of Charan Singh. It is true that Sukhi left India on July 14, o 
1986, maytie on a forged passport. So also we may assume that Bittu 
obtained a false passport and so did Sukha. This by itself will not estab- 
lish a firm link between. the three as co-conspirators. As stated earlier 
none in the passport office suspected anything shady in regard to Charan 
Singh's nppliclltion for grant of pnssport. It seams that only after th@ pas. d 
sport was issued some tampering was attempted. The manner in which 
the photograph is pinned raises suspicion. Who did it is the question? 

"Tbere is no evidence in this behalf. There is nothing on record, except 
suspicion, that Accused 1 was privy to it. In the absence of reliable evi­ 
dence it is unwise to act on mere suspicion. We, therefore, cannot find e 
fault with-the approach of the learned trial Judge so far as this part of the 
prosecution case is concerned. 

24. cPne further fact on which the prosecution places reliance in sup­ 
port of its case of criminal conspiracy is that Accused l, 2 and 5 travelled 
by Chhatisgarh Express from Arnbala to Doorg between August 3, 1986 
and August 5, 1986 and from Doorg to Bombay by Gitanjali Express in 
assumed names. Apart from the oral evidence of PWs· 126 to 135 and 
15f, the prosecution has placed strong reliance on the reservation forms 
Exs, 700 and 701 purporting to be' in the handwriting of Accused 1 
Sukha, There is no direct evidence as admiuedly they had travelled in g 
assumed names and nqne has identified them. Thus the only evidence is 
the opinion evidence or the handwriting expert PW 120 to the effect that 
the reservation forms are in the handwriting of Accused ,1 Sukha. While 
in Bombay, the Accused 1 is stated to have given his clothes to Lily h 
White Dry ... cleaners on August 7, 1986 and received them from PW 89 
Deepak Nanawani on the next day. PW 30 Arjun Punjabi has proved the 
two tags of the said laundry found from G-21, Salunke Vihar flat when 
the same was searched. But the said evidence cannot be of much use 
unless the identity of the person who delivered and received back the 
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clothes is established. Here also the prosecution relies on the evidence of 
the handwriting expert to show that Accused 1 had written his name 

a (assumed name) on the bill prepared at the time the clothes were 
'delivered for dry-cleaning. 

25. From the facts discussed above it becomes clear that the direct 
evidence, if at all, regarding the identity of the persons who moved about 
in different assumed names is either wholly wanting or is of such a weak 

b nature that it would be hazardous to place reliance thereon without 
pro~er earrobornlion. As J'Ointed out egrlier the direct eviden.ce regnrd­ 
ing identity of the iculprlts comprises (i) identification for the first time 
after a lapse of considerable time in court or (ii) identification at a test 
identification parade. In the case of total strangers, it is not safe to place 

c implicit reliance on the evidence of witnesses who had just a fleeting 
glimpse of the person identified 'or who had no particular reason to 
remember the person concerned, if the identification is made for the first 
time in court. In the present case it was all the more difficult as 

d indisputably the accused persons had since changed their appearance. 
Test identification parade, if held promptly and after taking the neces­ 
sary precautions to ensure its credibility, would lend the required 
assurance which the court ordinarily seeks to act on it. In the absence of 
such test identification parade it would be extremely risky to place 

e implicit reliance 011 identification made for the first time in Court after a 
long lapse of time and that too of persons who had changed their 
appearance. We, therefore, think that the learned trial Judge was per­ 
fectly justified in looking for corroboration: In Kanan v. State of Kera/a 1 

this 
1Court speaking through Murtaza Fazal AJi, J. observed: (SCC p. 320 

para 1) 
"It is well settled that where a witness identifies an accused who 

is not known to him in the Court for the first time, his evidence is 
absolutely valueless unless there has been a previous T.I. parade to 
test his powers of observation. The idea of holding T.I. parade under 
Section 9 of the Evidence Act is to test the veracity of the witness on 
the question of his capability to identify an unknown person whom 
the witness may have seen only once. If no T.I. parade is held then it 
will be wholly unsafe to rely on his testimony regarding the 
identification of an accused for the first time in Court," 

h We art! in respectful ~greement with the afore-quoted observations, 
_ 26. The prosecution also led evidence to show that the accused per­ 

sons Y,.ere put up for test identification by the witnesses who claim to 
have seen them at different places before the actual incident of murder· 
took place. We have a?verted to the prosecution evidence in this behalf 
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earlier and have pointed but how weak and thoroughly unreliable the 
said evidence is. It has been shown that some of the witnesses who claim 
to have identified the accused, one or more, have conceded that they had a 
an occasion to see the accused in the Borivali lock-up earlier in point of 
time. This admission on the part of the witnesses has rendered the evi­ 
dence. in this behalf of little or no value and such evidence was rightly 
bru~hed aside by the trial court. We too, having critically examined the 
evirenqe in this behalf, find it difficult to accept the same. Therefore, the b 
direct e~.dence regardin,& the identity of the accused is of no help to the 
prosecution. I · · 

Z7. The prosecution has then relied on the evidence of the hand­ 
writing expert PW 120 to establish. the involvement of the accused, 
including the absconding accused, in the commission of the crime in 
question. In the case of the absconding accused Sukhi, PW 120 examined 
a host of documents marked Q.1 to Q.34, Q.55 and Q.62 to Q.91 and 
compared them with the two documents A-53 and A-54 marked as 
admitted writings of Sukhi. The expert opined that Q.1 to Q.12, Q.14 to 
Q.23, Q.55, Q.62 to Q.66, Q.68 to Q.70, Q.72 to Q.77, Q.79 to Q.$5, d 
Q.87 and p.89 were in the handwriting of the author of the documents 
marked Ar53 and A-~4. In the case of Accused 1 Sukha, PW 120 exam­ 
ined the questioned documents marked Q.40, to Q.54, Q.60~ Q.61, Q.94 
and Q.95 and compared them with his specimen writings marked S-1 to 
S-49, S-52 to S-59, S-62 to S-64 and the admitted writings A-1 to A-53 e 
iand A-6' to A-73 and came to thl'i con"lu~ion that, tho writing~ Q.40, 
Q.54, Q.60, Q.61, Q.94 and Q.95 tallied with the specimen and admitted 
writings of Accused 1. So far as Q.55 is concerned an express negative 
opinion was obtained that it was not in the hand of Accused 1. Similarly 
in regard to the accused Daljit Singh @ Bittu, questioned documents 
mark9d Q.35 to Q.39 were compared with the admitted writings marked 
A-55 'to A-59 and the expert opined that Q.35 to Q.39 showed 
similaritir5 with A-55 to A-59. The handwriting of Accused 5 Jinda.could 
not be obtained and, therefore, the question of comparing his specimen 
writings with the questioned writings did not arise. • 

28. Before a court can act on the opinion evidence of a handwriting 
expert two things must be proved beyond any manner of doubt, namely. 
(i). the gf nuineness of the specimen/admitted handwriting of the con­ 
cerned accused and (ii) the handwriting expert is a competent, reliable h 
and dependable witness whose evidence inspires confidence. In the 
present case since the absconding accused are not before us we are main- 
ly concerned with the expert's opinion implicating Accused 1 Sukha. The 
specimen writings of this accused have been proved through the evi­ 
deuce of PW 5 Shaikh Zahir and PW 68 Anand Pawar. The evidence 
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STATE OF MAHA,RASHTRAv. SUKHDEV SINGH (Ahmadh J.) 725 
shows that PW 168 S. Prasad, a police officer, had called the witness to a 
room where Accused 2 Nirmal Singh was present and he was required to 

a write I down what the said police officer dictated to him. The specimen 
writings of Nirmal Singh have been proved through the evidence qf the 
said PW 5 and PW 41 Ramkripal Trivedi. Thereafter they went to anoth­ 
er room where Accused 1 was present. At the instance of PW 160 M.P. 
Singh he was asked to sign as many as fifteen papers. The learned trial 

b J udgy has not doubted this part of the prosecution case and we may 
proceed on that basis. To prove the natural handwriting of Accused 1, 
the prosecution examined PW 84 S.I(. Prachendia, a lecturer of Gyan 
Jyoti P.G. CoJlege. This witness claims that Accused 1 was his student 
and he had submitted an application in the prescribed form for admission 

c to the .p.G. Course as a private candidate. In support, reliance is placed 
on the photograph article 31 showing the witness in company of Accused 
l. Two other registers (articles 39 & 40) have been relied upon to prove 
that certain replies are in the hand of Accused 1. But unfortunately for 
the prosecution the witness could not even identify Accused 1 in the 

d dock nor did he state that the form and the entries in the registers were 
made by Accused 1 in his presence. In his cross-examination the witness 
admitted that he would not be able to identify the handwriting of other 
students who studied under him. More so in the case of Accused 1 who 
was only a private student. In the circumstances we agree with the 

e learned trial Judge that the evidence on record in regard to the natural 
hang~ri~in,g Qf Acc'rl~ed l is n9t satisfactory and does not inspire con· 
fidenF. If we rule oJt this part of the material used by the handwriting 
expert for comparison we are merely left with the specimen writ­ 
ings/signatures of Accused 1 taken while in custody. Here also the evi­ 
dence of PW 120 itself shows that the handwriting of the railway reserva­ 
tion form Ex. 700 does not tally with the specimen writings/signatures of 

·Accused 1. It only highlights the fact that it wouJd be dangerous to 
'identify the person who travelled on the strength of the reservation form 
Ex. 700 by comparing the writing thereon with the specimen writings of 

g Accused 1. The evidepce of PW 30 Arjun Punjabi and PW 89 Deepak 
Nanwani and the fibd pf laundry tag No. 8833 of Lily White Dry-cleaners 
from G-21, Salunk~ Vihar flat on September 7, 1986 was used to estab­ 
lish the fact that Accused 1 was one of the inmates of the said flat and 

h was in Pune a couple of days before the murder of General Vaidya. This 
eonMetiM i~ gought to be establli;hed on the Ktrength of the opinion evi· 
dence of PW 120 that the handwriting and signature on the laundry bill 
Ex. 547 tallied with. the specimen writings/signatures of Accused 1. But 
the laundry tags do not bear the name of the laundry or the year of issue. 
It was, however, urged that the evidence of PW 89 clearly proved that 
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the number on the tags tallied with the number on "the bill and the 
opinion evidence of PW 120 clearly established the fact that since the 
writing and signature on the bill tallied with the specimen writ- a 
Ing/signature of Accused I, it was reasonable to infer that Accused 1 
resined in rhe 0-21, S~dupk(j Yihar t1at. But what i~ in~eed ~urpri~ing i~ 
that PW 89 was neith9r called to the test identification parade nor asked 
to identify the perso9 who had delivered the clothes for dry-cleaning 
from amongst the accused seated in the dock. The question then is b 
whether implicit reliance can be placed on the opinion evidence of the 
handwriting expert PW 120. ' 

29. It is well settled that evidence regarding the identity of the 
author of any document can be tendered (i) by examining the person 
who is conversant and familiar with the handwriting of such person or (ii) c 
through the testimonv of an expert who is qualified and competent to 
make a comparison o/ the disputed writing and the admitted writing on a 
scientific basis and (iii) by the court comparing the disputed document 
with the admitted one. In the present case the prosecution has resorted 
to the second mode by relying on the opinion evidence of the handwrit- cJ 
ing e)lf)ert PW 120. But since the science of identific;ition of handwriting 
by comparison is not an infallible one, prudence demands that before 
acting on' such opinion the court should be fully satisfied about the 
authorship of the admitted writings which is made the sole basis for com­ 
parison and the court should also be fully satisfied about the competence e 
and credibility of the handwriting expert. It is indeed true that by nature 
and habit, over a period of time, each individual develops certain traits 
which give a distinct character to his writings making it possible to 
identify the author but it p1Ust at the same time be realised that since 
handwriting experts are generally engaged by one of the contesting 

· parties they, consciously or unconsciously, tend to lean in favour of an 
opinion which is helpful to the party engaging him. That is why we come 
across cases of conflicting opinions given by two handwriting experts 
engaged by opposite parties. It is, therefore, necessary to exercise extra 
care and caution in evaluating their opinion before accepting the same. g 
So ~ourfs have as a rule of prudence refused to place implicit faith on the 
opinion evidence of a handwriting expert. Normally courts have consid­ 
ered it dangerous to base aconviction solely on the testimony of a hand­ 
writing e~pert because such evidence is not regarded as conclusive. Since h 
such opinion evidence cannot take the place of substantive evidence, 
courts have, as a rule of! prudence, looked for corroboration before 
acting on such evidence. True it is, there is no rule of law that the evi­ 
dence: of a handwriting expert cannot be acted upon unless substantially 
~rrobonated ~ut,i;oyrt~ hiave been ~l<;.>w in placini irpplicit reliance on i , 
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such opinion evidence.lwlthout more, because of the imperfect nature of 
the science of identification of handwriting and its accepted fallibility. 
There is no absolute rule of Jaw or even of prudence which has ripened 
into a rule of Jaw that in no case can the court base its findings solely on 
the opinion of a handwriting expert but the imperfect and frail nature of 
the science of identification of the author by comparison of his admitted 
han~writing with the disputed ones has placed a heavy responsibility on 

b the, courts to exerci~e extra care and caution before acting on such 
opinion. Before a co~_rt.can place reliance on the opinion of an expert, it 
must be shown that he has not betrayed any bias. and the reasons on 
which he has based his opinion are convincing and satisfactory. It is for 
this reason that the courts are wary to act solely on the evidence of a. 
handwriting expert; th~t, however, does not mean that even if there exist 
numerous striking peculiarities and mannerisms which stand out to 
identify the writer, the court will not act on the expert's evidence. In the 
end it all depends on the character of the evidence of the expert and the 
facts and circumstances of each case ... 

30. In Ram Narain v. State of U.P. z this Court was called upon to 
consider whether a Corlvietion bas!d on uneorroborated testimony of th! 
handwriting expert could be sustained. This. Court held: (SCC p. 90 
para 6) 

"[I]t is no doubt true that the opinion of handwriting expert 
given in evidence is no less fallible than any other expert opinion 
adduced in evidence with the result that such evidence has to be 
received with great caution. But this opinion evidence, which is 
relevant, may be worthy of acceptance if there is internal or external 
evidence relating to the document in question supporting the view 
expressed by the expert." 

A similar view was expressed in the case of Bhagwan Kaur v. Maharaj 
Krishun Shanna' in the following words: (SCC p. 53, para 26) 

"The evidence of a handwriting expert, unlike that of a finger­ 
p~in t ~~p~rt, i~ generally of a frail character and its fallibiliti~ 'h~ve 
been quite often noticed. The courts should, therefore, be wary to 
give too much weight to the evidence of handwriting expert." 

In MurariLal v. State of MP.4 this Court was once again called upon to 
examine whether the opinion evidence of a handwriting expert needs to 
be substantially corroborated before it can be acted upon to base a con­ 
viction. Dealing with this oft-repeated submission this Court pointed out: 
(SCC pp. 708-09 para 6) 

h 
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"Expert testimony is made relevant by Section 45 of the Evi­ 
dende Act and where the Court has to form an opinion upon a point 
as to identity of handwriting, the opinion of a person 'specially a 
skilled' 'in questions as to identity of handwriting' is expressly made 
a relevant fact. There is nothing in the Evidence Act, as for example 
like illustration (b) to Section 114 which entitles the Court to 
presume that an accomplice is unworthy of credit, unless he is cor­ 
roborated in material particulars, which justifies the court in assum- b 
ing that a handwriting expert's opinion in unworthy of credit unless 
corroborated. The Evidence Act itself (Section 3) tells us that 'a fact 
is said to be proved when, after considering the matters before it, 
the Court either believes it to exist or considers its existence so 
probable that a prudent man ought, under the circumstances of the 
particular case, to act upon the supposition that it exists'. It is neces- c 
sary to occasionally remind ourselves of this interpretation clause in 
the Evidence Act lest we set an artificial standard of proof not war­ 
ranted by the provisions of the Act. Further, under Section 114 of 
the Evidence Act, the Court may presume the existence of any fact 
which it thinks likely to have happened, regard being had to the a 
common course of natural events, human conduct, and public and 
private business, in their relation to facts of the particular case. It is 
also to be noticed that Section 46 of the Evidence Act makes facts, 
not otherwise relevant, relevant if they support or are inconsistent 
withl the opinions of erports, when ~uch opinion~ ere relevant. So, e 
corroboration may not invariably be insisted upon before acting on 
the opinion of an handwriting expert and there need be no initial 
suspicion. But, on the facts of a particular case, a court may require 
corroboration of a varying degree. There can be no hard and fast 
rule, but nothing will justify the rejection of the opinion of an expert 

. supported by unchallenged reasons on the. sole ground that it is not 
corroborated. The approach of a court while dealing with the 
opinion of a handwriting expert should be to proceed cautiously, 
probe the reasons for the opinion, consider all other relevant evi­ 
dence and decide finally to accept or reject it." 

After examining the dse-law this Court proceeded to add: (SCC p. 711, g 
para 11) , i 

''We are firmly of the opinion that there is no rule of law, nor 
any rule of prudencd which has crystallised into a rule of law, that 
opinion-evidence of a handwriting expert musf never be acted upon, 
unless substantially corroborated, But, having due regard to the h 
imperfect nature of the science of identification of handwriting, the 
approach, as we indicated earlier, should be one of caution. Reasons 
for the opinion rpu~t be carefully probed and examined. All other 
relevant evidence must be considered. In appropriate cases, cor­ 
roboration may be sought. In cases where the reasons for the 
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"These answers in cross-examination of this witness do show 
that the specimen writings of Sukhdev Singh alias Sukha (Accused 
1) and the questioned writings are not written by Sukhdev Singh 

g (Accused 1) at all." · 
As regards Accused ~ Nimrna, the learned trial Judge points out that the 
specimen signature 'J'tl. 'Singh' does not correspond with the questioned 
dRcuments. The learned trial Judge, therefore, did not consider it wise to 
place reliance on the opinion of PW 120 particularly because he did not 

h consider his opinion to be independent but found that he had betrayed a· 
till in favour of the inve~tigating machinery. Sincu lhu trial ooun uid n<t>' 
consider the opinion of PW 120 to be dependable he did not deem it 
necessary to laok for corroboration. For the same reason he did not con­ 
sider it necessary to scrutinise the evidence of the expert in regard to the 
two absconding accused Sukhi and Bittu. No such opinion evidence is 

STATE OF. MAHARASHTRA v. SUKHDEV SINGH (Ahm0J:J4 J.) 729 
opinion are convincing and there is noreliable evidence throwing a 
doubt, the uncorroborated testimony of an handwriting expert may 

a be accepted. There cannot be any inflexible rule on a matter which, 
in the ultimat1b analysis, is no more than a question of testimonial 
weight." 

1 

What emerges from the case-law referred· to above is that a handwriting 
expert is a competent witness whose opinion evidence is recognised as 

b relevant under t~e provisions of the .Evidence Act and has not been 
equated to the class of evidence of an accomplice. It would, therefore, 
not be fair to approach the opinion evidence with suspicion but the cor­ 
rect approach would be to weigh the reasons on which it is based. The 
quality of his opi~ior would depend on the soundness oi the reasons on 

c which it is founded. But the court cannot afford to overlook the fact that 
the science of identification of handwriting is an imperfect and frail one 
as compared to the science of identification of fingerprints; courts have, 
therefore, been wary in placing implicit reliance on such opinion evi­ 
dence and have looked for corroboration but that is not to say that it is a 

d rule of prudence of general application regardless of the circumstances 
of the case and the quality of expert evidence. No hard and fast rule can 
be laid down in this behalf but the court has to decide in each case on its 
own merits what weight it should attach to the opinion of the expert. 

31. Thetrial court examined the evidence of the handwriting expert 
e PW 120 in great detail and came to the conclusion that it was hazardous 

to rely on his evidence as he had betrayed bias against the accused and in 
favour of the prosecution as "he also belongs to the Police Department". 
(see paragraph 159 of the judgment). As regards the specimen writ­ 
ings/signatures of Accused l the trial court observes in paragraph 157 as 
under: 
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relied upon in respect of the other accused. We may at once state that 
the quality of evidence in regard to proof of identity of Sukhi and Bittu 
through their so-called handwriting is weaker than that of Accused 1. We a 
have carefully examined the opinion evidence of PW 120 and we agree. 
with thf learned trial Judge that the quality of his evidence is not so high 
as .to commend acceptance without corroboration. Having giv~n our 
anxious consideration td toe expert's evidence, through which we were 
takeA by the learned counsel for the prosecution, we do not think that b 
the view taken by the learned trial Judge is legally unsustainable or per­ 
verse. Even otherwise having regard to the facts and circumstances of the 
case and the nature of evi~ence tendered and the quality of evidence of 
PW 120 the prosecution has not succeeded in establishing beyond 
reasonable doubt the so-called conspiracy. c 

32. It was then submitted, relying on Section 73 of the Evidence Act, 
that we ~hould cOm~ar~ the di~~uted material with the 

·specimen/admitted material on record and reach our own conclusion, 
There is no doubt that the said provision empowers the court to see for 
itself whe(her on a comparison of the two sets of writing/signature, it can d 
safely be concluded with the assistance of the expert opinion that the dis­ 
puted writings are in the handwriting of the accused as alleged. For this 
purpose we were shown the enlarged copies of the two sets of writings 
but we are afraid we did not consider it advisable to venture a conclusion . 
based on such comparison having regard to the state of evidence on e 
record in regard to the specimen/admitted writings of the Accused 1 and 
2. Although the section specifically empowers the court to compare the 
dispu~ed writin~s with the specimen/admitted writings shown to be genu- • 
ine, wudence dema9ds that the court should be extremely stow in 
venturin~ an opinion on the basis of mere comparison, more so, when 
the quality of evidence in respect of specimen/admitted writings is not of 
high standard. We have already pointed out the state of evidence as 
regards the specimen/admitted writings earlier and we think it would be 
dangerous to stake any opinion on the. basis of mere comparison. We 
have, therefore, refrained from basing our conclusion by comparing the g 
disputed writings with the specimen/admitted writings. 

33. From the above discussion of the evidence it is clear that the 
. prosecution's effort to provide the missing links in the chain by seeking 
to establish the identity of the participants in the alleged conspiracy h 
through the handwriting expert PW 120 has miserably failed. We, there­ 
fore, agree with theconclusion of the learned trial Judge in this behalf. 

34. That brings us to the incident of murder of General Vaidya on 
the morning of Augu&t 10, 1986 at about 1 lJO am We have set out tne 
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facts 

1in regard to the said incident in· some detail in the earlier part of this 
judgment and will recapitulate only those facts which are necessary .to be 
noticed for the purpose of appreciating the evidence leading to the mur­ 
der. The fact that General Vaidya died a homicidal death is established 
beyond any manner of doubt by the evidence of PW 157 Dr L.K. Bade 
who had undertaken the post-mortem examination and had opined that 
death was due to shock suffered following gunshot injuries. Counsel for 
the defence had nl&o admitted thi~ fact as is evidenr.ed by fu. 155. As this 
fact was not challenged before the trial court, as indeed it could not be, 
nor was it contested before us, we need not detain ourselves on the same 
and wquld proceed to examine the evidence with a view to fIXing the 
responsibility for the said crime. 

35. On the morning of the day of the incident General Vaidya and 
his wife PW 106 Bhanumati had gone out for shopping in the Maruti car 
DIB 1437 at about 10.00 a.m. with their securityman PW 16 Ramchandra 
Kshirsagar in the rear seat. When they were returning at about 11.30 
a.m. with General Vaidya in the driver's seat, his wife by his side in 'the 

d front and the securityman behind her, the incident in question occurred, 
The car had slowed down at the intersection of Rajendrasinghji and 
Abhimanyu roads since it had to negotiate a sharp right turn to go to. the 
residence of General Vaidya. Taking advantage of this fact an Ind-Suzuki 

e . motqr cycle came parrllel to the car on the side of the driver i.e. General 
Vaidya and the pillion rider took out a pistol or gun and fired three shots 
in quick succession at the deceased. Immediately thereafter the motor 
cyclists sped away and the victim slumped on the shoulder of his wife who 
too was injured. Unfortunately the reflexes of the securityman were not 
fast enough and hence the culprits could make good-their escape without 

'a shot having. been fired at them by the securityman. The car drifted 
towards the cyclist PW 14 Digambar Gaikwad who, sensing trouble, 
jumped off leaving the cycle which came under the front wheel of the 
car. Therefore, Wj have the testimony of three ~~s0n~ Who CQn he 

g described as witnesses to _the main incident, namely, PW 16, the 
securityman, PW 106, the wife of the deceased and PW 14, the cyclist. In 
addition to the evi~ence of the aforesaid three witnesses, the prosecution 
has also placed reliance on the evidence of PW 111 G.B. Naik, PW 114 
Vijay Anant Kulkarni and PW 115 B.V. Deokar, on the plea that these 

h witnesses had alsoseen the incident and the culprits from the rickshaw in 
which they were passing at that time of the incident. The trial court has 
placed reliance on the first set of witnesses and has rejected the evidence 
tendered through the second set of witnesses as it did not accept the fact 
that the autorickshaw in question had actually passed by. We will discuss 
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the prosecution evidence regarding the commission of the crime in two 
parts. 
. 36. The evidence pf the securityman PW 16 Ramchandra Kshirsagar a 
ts that when the car was proceeding towards the intersection from where 
it had to turn right to igo to the bungalow of General Vaidya, he saw an 
autorickshaw coming from the opposite side and signalled it by stretching 
out his hand to keep to t~e extreme left. Then he saw a cyclist also com- 
ing from the opposite side and signalled him also. Just then the car which b 
had slowed down considerably began to negotiate a turn when a red Ind­ 
Suzuki motor cycle drove along the car on the side of General Vaidya 
who was at the steering wheel. The pillion rider fired three shots from his 
we~pon at the head tj( General Vaidya and then sped away. This witness 
wants us to believe that as he was busy signalling the rickshaw driver he c 
had not seen the motor cycle approaching the car before the first shot 
was fired. As soon as the car came to a halt, he jumped out of the car 
with his service revolver but as PW 106 Bhanumati Vaidya was shouting. 
for a conveyance he went about searching for one and found a matador 
van in which the injured General Vaidya was rushed to the hospital. It d 
was after reaching the hospital that he contacted the L.l.B. Inspector 
Gadd to whom he narrated the incident and reil~~atbi the ~!I.me to the 
Commissioner of Police. His detailed complaint Ex. 179 was then 
recorded by PW 119 Inspector Mohite in which he described the colour 
of the motor cycle as black and not red. Since he was sitting behind PW e 
106 Bhanumati, he could have seen the assailant when his attention was 
drawn in that direction on hearing the first shot fired from close range. It 
is difficult to believe that he had no opportunity to see the motor cyclists. 
It must be remembered that four shots were fired, albeit in quick succes­ 
sion, but there was a slight pause after the first shot. It is difficult to 
agree with the suggestion that he had no opportunity to see the assailant 
and his companion. In fact he states that he saw them from a distance of 
thrqe or four feet only. As pointed out earlier Accused 1 and 2 were 
arrested on September 7, 1986 when they met with an accident There- g 
after ori September 22, 11986 this witness was called at about 12 noon to 
the Yervada Jail. Soon tbereafter a person who identified himself as a 
Magl~trate came and gave them certain !nstructlo~ regarding th! 
identification parade about to be held. He. was then called to a room in 
which 10 to 12 persons ha~ lined up and he was asked if the person who h 
had fired at General Vaidya was amongst them. He identified one person 
from the queue as the assailant. He identified Accused 1 as that person 
in Court also. The panchnama drawn up in regard to the test identifica­ 
tion parade is at EX. 349 duly proved by PW 51 B.S. Karkande, Special 
Judicial Magistrate. Except for a couple of minor contradictions there is 
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nothing brought out in his cross-examination to doubt his testimony 
regarding identification of Accused 1 as the person who fired the shots at 
General Vaidya. The presence of this witness at the time of occurrence 
cannot and indeed was not doubted. So also it cannot be denied that he 
ha~ an opportunity to identify the assailant. We,· therefore, do not see 
any serious infirmity.in his evidence which would cast a doubt as regards 
his identiflcation of .+ccused 1. 

37. The next important witness is PW 106 Bhanurnati Vaidya. She 
had accompanied her.husband and was sitting next to him in the front 
seat of the car when t~e incident took place. She states that when the car 
took a turn Rt the lmcrscuion she h~ard three sounds like the misfire of 
a motor cycle but soon thereafter her husband's left hand slipped from 
the steering and his neck slumped on her shoulder. She stales that the . 
car drifted towards a cyclist who jumped off leaving the cycle which was 
run over by the front wheels of the motor car. She saw the motor cycle 
with two riders speed away and could only see the back ofthe pillion 

d rider. She too had received bullet injuries on her right shoulder and was 
admitted in the intensive care unit of the hospital. She was operated 
upon for removal !of the bullets from her body. Next day a Magistrate had 
visited the hospital and had recorded her statement. She has deposed 
that the pillion rider whom she had seen from behind had been noticed 
by hdr two days earlier on August 8, 1986 at about 9.00 or 9.30 a.m. with 
a red motor cycle opposite Gadge Maharaj School at the corner of 
bungalow No. 45. Two persons were standing there one of whom was the 
pillion riqer whom she saw from behind after the shoot out. She, 
h?wever, expressed her inability to Identify him fr~m amongsl thti 
accused persons in Court. Under cross-examination she stated that she 
could not say if it was a motor cycle or a moped. Thus her evidence 
proves the incident beyond any manner of doubt but her evidence is of 
little use on the question of identity of the assailant and his companion. 

38. PW 14 Digambar Shridhar Gaikwad, the cyclist, deposes that at 
the time of the incident he was proceeding on his cycle towards the rail­ 
way station when he heard three sounds and looked towards the Maruti 
car. fie saw a red motor cycle by the side of the driver of the car. It sped 
away with two persons riding it. The pillion rider who had a bag was seen 
putting something therein. Since the driver of the car was wounded on 
his head, he lost control of the vehicle and the same came towards him 
whereupon he jumped off and the cycle was under the wheels of the car. 
In cross-examination he stated that he had not seen any other vehicle on 
the road, thereby ruling out the presence of any autorickshaw in regard 
to which PW 16 has spoken. His evidence is also not useful from the 
point of identity of the assailant. 
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39. The evidence Of three more witnesses PW 60 Jaysing Mahadeo 
Hole, PW 61 Nazir Husain Ansari and PW 103 Ashok Jadhav may be 
noticed at this stage. PW 61 and PW 103 have deposed that on the day a 
previous lo the incident two persons had appro"~lleg them and had 
lnqulred about the residence of a recently retired army General. These 
two persons identified Accused 1 as the person who had approached 
them with his companion waiting near the motor cycle. PW 60 is the 
chowkidar who had seen two persons sitting on their red motor cycle in b 
the compound of Gadge Maharaj School and had driven them out. He 
also identified Accused 1 along with PWs 16, 61 and 103 at the test 
identification parade held on September 22, 1986. It is pertinent to note 
that PWs 61 and 103 had identified Accused 5 through his photographs 
articles 23 and 75. They identified him in court but Accused 5 stated in c 
answer to question No. 135 that they did so at the behest of the police. 

40. We now come to the next group of witnesses, the driver and the 
two passenger~ Qf tile autorickshaw which the ~ecuritymnn PW 16 elaims 
was seen coming from the opposite direction. PW 16 says that just as the 
car was turning towards the right, he saw an autorickshaw coming from d 
the opposite direction and ·signalled it to move to the extreme left. True 
it is that' PW 14, the cyclist, did not notice it but in our view that cannot 
cast any! doubt on the credibility of PW 16. There was no need for the 
cyclist td take note of the autorickshaw, His attention was riveted at the 
car and the motor cycle after he heard the shots and there was no need e 
for him to notice the autorickshaw, Counsel for the accused submitted 
that the story regarding the presence of an autorickshaw was invented by 
the securityman PW 16 to save his skin as he had been guilty of a serious 
lapse in having failed to save General Vaidya and apprehend his . f 
assailants. We may examine the evidence of the rickshaw driver PW 115 
Baban Vithobha Deokar and the two passengers PW 111 G.B. Naik and 
PW 114 Vijay Anant Kulkarni, PW 111 had two daughters Anuradha and 
Anupama. Anuradhaf is the wife of PW 114 whereas Anuparna was 
wedded to Arunkumar Tamar. Anuparna had come to her father's house g 
from Secunderabad on August 4, 1986 as her relations with her husband 
were strained. On the riext day her husband who was an Education 
Instructor in the military had also come to Pune. While at the house of 
PW 111 there was a quarrel between the couple; hot words were fol­ 
lowed by physical assault. In the course of this quarrel she was kicked in h 
the a~Qomen and bping pregnant complications d~v~lt~ped within a· 
co~ple of days necess~tating her removal to the clini~ of PW 1 Dr Sudhir 
Kumar on August 7, 1986. Her husband had left earlier but PW 114 who 
had come to Pune had assisted his father-in-law in the treatment of 
Anupama who was operated upon on the morning of August 10, 1986, 
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vide Ex. 82. The son of PW 111 was also a doctor in military service and 
in consultation with him and PW 114, PW 111 had decided to lodge a 

a complaint against Arunkumar Tomar with the higher military authorities. 
After the complaint was drafted it was decided to have it typed on a 
stamp-paper so that sufficient copies could be taken out for being 
Q~pM~heQ w varipu~ £l1i1~h9~Hi~1 The ~tamp-pap~r w&s p9rchased from 
PW 36 Mrs Gokhle. The draft was got typed at - N.B. Xerox Company 

· b situate at Camp, Pune, as is evident from PW 3:/ Hidayat Ali. This part of 
the prosecution case is supported by Ex. 249, an entry from the stamp­ 
vendor's register, evidencing the purchase of the stamp-paper Ex. 249-A 
proved through the stamp-vendor PW 36. The original complaint Ex. 
249-A typed on t?e stamp-paper was forwarded to the General Officer 

c Commanding whereas ten copies thereof taken out on an electronic 
typewriter were sent to different authorities under the signature of 
Anupama, This is. also proved through the deposition of PW 37 Hidayat 
Ali. 

41. 6n August 10, 19&>, PW i11 and PW 114 picked up an autorick- 
d shaw outside Agakhan Palace at about 11.00 a.m. to go to Stree Clinic of 

Dr Sudhir Kumar. He was instructed to drive through Camp area. They 
~assed through Bund Gardens, took the overbridge and passed via the 
Circuit House to Abhimanyu Road. PW 111 was sitting on the right side 

e and his son-in-law PW 114 was to his left. A white Maruti car was noticed 
and then he saw a red coloured Ind-Suzuki motor cycle being driven 
parallel to the car on the driver's seat side. They then saw the pillion 
rider pump in three bullets in the head of the driver of the car. This wit­ 
ness deposes that the assailants were 20 or 25 years of age. When the 
motor cycle passed by the rickshaw, the witness had an opportunity to 
identify the motor cyclists. They were clean shaven then but were in tur- 
ban and beard in court. Then these two witnes~es got down from the 
rickshaw and helped others lift the body of General Vaidya to the 
matador van which carried him and his wife to the hospital. They then 

g went to PW 37 Hidayat Ali, picked up the typed material and went to 
Stree Clinic where they discharged the rickshaw. They had narratec;l the 
incident to PW 37. ~W 111 also claims to have made a note about the 
inpidt(nt in his diary .Ex. 622. It is true that the statements of these two 
witnesses were recorded late i.e. on October 24, 1986 presumably 

h because their names ~ad not surfaced earlier. The witness was shown 
several photographs and he could recognise one of them as the driver of 
the motor cycle. This photograph is marked article 148. Later both PW 
111 and PW 114 had identified Accused 1 at the test identification 
parade held on October 29, 1986. Both the witnesses also identified 
Accused 1 and 5 in court. Albeit PW 111 took some time to identify 
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Accused 1 in court but that may be on account of the change in his 
appearance. It is said that the evidence of PW 111 and PW 114 stands 
corroborated by the evidence of PW 36 and PW 37 and the documentary a 
eviden~e Exs. 249, 249-A and Ex. 82. 

421 The rickshaw driver PW 115 has deposed that on August 10, 
1986 at about 11.00 a.m, ~~ile he was waiting in front of Agakhan Palace 
he i~s ;ngaged by PW 111 and PW 114 who instructed him that they 
d~ir~d to go to the Cam~ area and from there to the Deccan area. '1 
When .his vehicle apprqached the Circuit House intersection and 
emerged on the Abhimanya road he saw a white Maruti car and one Ind­ 
Suzuki motor cycle taking a turn to the right of the intersection. The 
motor cyclists drove on the side of the driver's seat and the pillion rider 
fired three shots at the driver of the car. Immediately thereafter the c 
motor cyclists sped away. He then speaks about the manner in which the 
cyclist jumped off and the car came to a halt after running over the cycle. 
He also strtes that thereafter the two passeng~rs. got down from his =. 

·shaw and went near the car. He also parked his rickshaw at the corner ol 
the intersection and jpined the other two passengers. He found that the cl 
car driver was injyrc;r9 on the head and w~ qleeding profusely. A · 
matador van arrived and the injured was lifted and placed in the van and 
carried to the hospital. He and the two passengers then returned to the 
rickshaw and proceeded towards Deccan side and from there to the 
Stree Clinic. Sometime after the incident i.e. on November 8, 1986, the e 
C.B.I. officers showed him seven or eight photographs and asked him if 
he could recognise the photographs of the motor cyclists. He recognised 
the photograph of the driver of the motor cycle but he did not notice any 
photograph. of the pillion rider. The photograph of the driver of the 
motor cy~le is included as article 150 and his signature was obtained on 
the reverse of it. This photograph is stated to be of Accused 5 whom the 
witness later identified in court also, No test identification parade could 
be held as Accused 5 Jinda could not be. arrested till August 30, 1987. 
The evidence of this witness also lends corroboration to the evidence of 
PWs l l l.and 114. g 

43. There is also the evidence of PW 28 Noor Mohamad, also a rick­ 
shaw driver in whose rickshaw PW 111 and PW 114 had gone to the Jan 
Kalyan Blood Bank to register their name in case blood may be required 
at the time of Anupama's operation. He has also stated that the two pas- h 
sengers were talking about having witnessed a shoot-out earlier in the 
day 3is is ordinarily seen in movies. 

44. The learned trial Judge discarded this part of the prosecution 
case for diverse reasons, some of them being (i) the story of the 
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securityman PW 16 in regard to the. location of the autorickshaw is in 
sharp conflict with his version in the FIR; (ii) the presence of PW 111 

a and PW 114 at the place of the incident is highly doubtful for the reason 
that there was no cause for them to take the longer route, more 
particularly when Anupama was admitted to the clinic of PW 1 and was 
to b~ operated on that very day; (iii) the conduct of both the witnesses in 
maintaining sphinx-like silence for more than two and a half months 

b when the incident had shaken the nation was highly unnatural, more so 
because admittedly l'W 111 had met Inspector Mohite only a few days 
after the incident, maybe in some other connection; (iv) the entry in the 
diary of PW 111 regarding this incident was ex facie a laboured attempt 
made with a view to creating corroborative documentary evidence to 

c support his false version; and (v) the identification of the motor cycle 
driver through a photograph purporting to be of Accused 5 Jinda is also 
an attempt to connect the said accused with the crime in question. The 
learned Additional Solicitor-General made a valiant attempt to question 
the correctness of the grounds on which the learned trial Judge brushed 

d aside this part of the prosecution case. But for the view we are inclined 
to take we would have given our anxious consideration to the submis­ 
sions of the learned counsel. The purpose of leading this evidence was 

. essertialJy to identify the driver of the motor cycle through these wit­ 
nessys. They did so by picking up one photograph from seven or eight 

e shown to them. Whose photograph is this? Accused 5 disowns it. No test 
identification parade was held since Accused 5 Jinda was apprehended at 
Delhi a year or so later on August 30, 1987 and was taken to Pune in 
January 1988. Although the prosecution did not deem it wise to hold a 

. test identification parade because. of the passage of time, the witnesses 
examined later did not hesitate to point a finger at Accused 5 Jinda dur- 

- ing the trial. Therefore, according to the prosecution the photograph was 
that of Accused 5,Jinda.who was very much in court. The Iearned trial 
Judge, therefore, lhaQ the be?efit of comparing the _Photogra~h with 
Accused 5 whose photograph 1.t purported to be. In this connection the 

g learned trial Judge has this to say in paragraph 342 of his judgment: 
"Firstly, in my opinion, this photograph does not appear to be 

that of Harjinder Singh alias Jinda (Accused.S) at all .... [H]ow can I 
hold that this is the photograph of Jinda (Accused 5), when obvious- 
ly lo the miked eyeg, it does. not look similar to the face of Jinda 
(Accused 5)." 

Proceeding further, in paragraph 343, the learned judge adds: 
" ... wher~as in. the instant case before me, the photograph does 

.not appear to be of Jinda (Accused 5)." 
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It will thus be seen that the learned Judge on a comparison of the 
photograph with the features of Accused 5 who was very much before 
him categorically heldl that the photograph pointed out by the witnesses a 
was not of Accused 5.1We.cannot ignore the photograph from considera­ 
tion for non-production of the negative (not traced) becau~e that i~ 
merely an additional platjk on which the trial court has ruled out this part 
of. the prosecution case. For the above reasons the trial court refused to 
place reliance on the prosecution's attempt to establish the identity of tJ 
Accused 5 as the driverof the motorcycle through photographs. 

45. But the learned Additional Solicitor-General submitted that it is 
no~ possible to beli~v~ that the photographs relied on were not the 
photographs of Accused 5. He submitted that Accused 5 was 
apprehended in Delhi on August 30, 1987 and as his legs were fractured c 
he was immediately admitted to a hospital and was taken to Pune in 
January 1988. In the meantime his photographs had appeared in various 
newspapers, ma~azines and also on television and, therefore, it is not 
possible to believe that the investigating officer would be so naive a.o; to 
show and produce someone else's photographs. He submitted that per- d 
haps because the appearance of Accused 5 had undergone a change in 
the meantime even the learned Judge had difficulty in identifying him as 
the person in the photographs. He submitted that this was· followed by 
the witnesses identifying him in court. There is considerable force in this 
line of reasoning but at the same time we cannot overlook the opinion of e 
the learned Judge who had the opportunity to compare the photographs 
with the features of Accused 5 who was very much before him. Had the 
evidence rested there we would have found it difficult to ignore it-but we 
find that Accused 5 has in his statement recorded under Section 313 of 
the Code admitted the fact that it was he who was driving the motor cycle 
with Accused 1 on the pillion seat when General Vaidya was shot down. 
He has also admitted this fact in his written statement Ex. 922 submitted 
to fourt through the Jailer and followed it up by admitting the same in 
answer to.question No. 1249 of his statement under Section 313 bf the 
Cod~. He has further stated that Accused 1 and he killed General Vaidya g 
as h~ had attacked and destroyed the Akal Takht in the Golden Temple 
at Amritsar. He then adds that the Sikhs are fighting for a separate State 
of Khalistan and will continue to tight till the goal is achieved. Lastly, he 
says "we Sikhs are not afraid of death". It was, therefore. submitted by ti 
the learned Additional Solicitor-General that this statement is sufficient 
to prove his involvement in the commission of the crime and in any event 
it lends corroboration to the prosecution evidence in this behalf. 
Accused 1 has also made a statement on similar lines admitting his 
involvement in the crime and the fact that he had fired the fatal shots at 
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STATE OF MAHARASHTRA v, SUKHI)EV SINGH (Ahmadi, J.) 739 
General Vaidya from the pillion seat of the motor cycle. So far as 
Accused 1 is concerned there is evidence tendered by the prosecution of 

a witnesses who identified him at the test identification parade, in court, 
\hrijugh phuLOgriiph~ and by '11" "yewitn~ th" ~~uritrnum fW 16 ling 
his 1statement lends frroboration thereto. The question theli) is can a 
conviction be based 

1on such an admission of guilt made in the written 
*ateµients followed by the oral statement under. Section 313 of the 

b Code? 
I 46. The charge was framed on September 2, 1988. Both Accused 1 

and 5 along with othe~ pleaded not guilty to the charges levelled against 
them and claimed to be tried. After recording the plea, the proceedings 
were adjourned to September 19, 1988 on which date Accused 1 orally 

c informed the learned trial Judge that he had killed General Vaidya and 
he did not desire to contest the case. The Accused 1 has later explained 
in his statement under Section 313 of the Code that according to him 
killing General Vaidya was not ll crime and thut i~ why he hlld not 

d pleaded guilty. B~ that as it may, the learned trial Judge gave Accused 1 
time up to September 26, 1983 to reflect. On that date Accused 1 
presented a written statement Ex. 60-A wherein he admitted to have 
fired four shots at General Vaidya and killed him. He further stated that 
he had learnt that he had injured his wife also but that was wholly 

e unintentional. Even later when his statement was recorded under Sec­ 
tion 313 of the Code, he owned the statement Ex. 60-A and did not try to 
wriggle out of it. He departs from the prosecution case, in that, he says 
hc;1 was riding a black (not red) motor cycle and that Accused 5 was not 
th~ driver but one Mathura Singh was driving the motor cycle. That 
betray~ an auompt on hi~ part to keep out Accused 5. Even after thi~ 
statement was filed the learned trial Judge did not convict him 
straightaway but proceeded to complete the prosecution evidence before 
recording his statement under Section 313 of the Code. He followed this 
up by yet another statement Ex. 919 admitting his guilt. 

g 41. Accused 5 Jinda pleaded not guilty to the charge. He did not 
make any such statement till the conclusion of the evidence when he sent 
Ex. 922 through jail. However, at the conclusion of the prosecution evi­ 
dence when Accused 5 was examined under Section 313 of the Code, he 
admitted that he was the driver of the motor cycle and Accused 1 was his 

h pillion rider. He also admitted that Accused 1 had fired the fatal shots at 
General Vaidya while sitting on the pillion seat. In answer to the usual 
last question Accused 5 said that on the date of the incident he was driv­ 
ing a black motor cycle with Accused 1 on the pillion seat and it was the 
latter who fired at and killed General Vaidya. This being an admission of 
guilt, the question is whether the court can act upon it. He has supported 
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this by his written statement Ex. 922. It will thus be seen that both the 
Accused 1 and 5 made written as well as oral admissions regarding their 
involvement in the commission of the crime. 

48. lt is manifest from the written statements of both Accused 1 and 
5 and from their oral statements recorded under Section 313 of the Code 
that they firmly believed that since General Vaidya was responsible for 
conducting operation Blue Star which had damaged a sacred religiou~ 
place like the Akal Takht of the Golden Temple at Amritsar and had 
also hurt the religious feelings and sentiments of the Sikh community, he 
was guilty of a serious crime, the punishment for which could only be 
death, and, therefore, they had merely executed him and in doing so had 
not committed any crime whatsoever. As stated earlier it is on this notion 
that the accused continued lo plead not guilty while at the same time 
admitting the fact of having killed General Vaidya. It may be mentioned 
that when the eyewitness account was put to him, Accused 1 admitted 
that he WHS the pillion rider who had fired four shots at General Vaidya. 
His answers to the various circumstances pointed out to him in his state­ 
ment under Section 313 of the Code reveal that he unhesitatingly 
admitted the entire eyewitness account and also owned responsibility for 
the crime. Even in his written statement Ex. 60-A he admitted "Maine 
Vaidya SJabko Marn Hain" meaning "I have killed Vaidya Saheb", So far 
as Accused 5 is concerned he too admitted the correctness of the eyewit­ 
ness account of the incident leading to the ultimate death of General 
Vaidya. When he was asked if he had anything else to say, he referred to 
his statement Ex. 922 and admitted that it was in his own handwriting, its 
contents were correct and he had signed it. He also admitted that he was 
driving the motor cycle when his pillion rider fired at General Vaidya and 
injured him. It is in this background that we must examine the impact of 
their admissions in their statements under Section 313 of the Code. 

49. Section 313 o~ the ¢ode is intended to afford a person accused 
of a crime an opportunity to explain the circumstances appearing in evi­ 
dence against him. SubLsection (1) of the section is in two parts: the first g 
part empowers the court to put such questions to the accused as it con­ 
siders necessary at any stage of the inquiry or trial whereas the second 
part imposes a duty and makes it imperative on the court to question him 
generally on the prosecution having completed the examination of its 
witnesses and before the accused is called on to enter upon his defence. h 
Counsel for Accused 15 submitted that since no circumstance had sur­ 
faced in evidence tendered by the prosecution against the said accused, 
there was nothing for him to explain and hence the learned trial Judge 
committed a grave error in examining the said accused under Section 313 
of the Code. He submitted that since the examination has to be made 
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STATEOFMAJi.ARA,SHTRAv.SUKHOEVSINOH (Ahmadi,!.) 741 

under the said provision after the prosecution has examined all its wit­ 
nesses and rested, it is obligatory on the learned Judge to decide which 

a circumstance he 'f nsiders established to seek the explanation of the 
accused. He submitted that the obligation to question the accused is a 
serious matter and not a mere idle formality to be gone through by the 
trial court without applying its mind as to the evidence and. circumstances 
necessitating an explanation by the accused, Therefore, counsel sub· 

b mitted, if there is no evidence or circumstance appearing in the prosecu­ 
tion evidence Implicating the accused wlth the commission of the crime 
with which he is charged, there is nothing for the accused to explain and 
hence his examination under Section 313 of the Code would be wholly 
unnecessary and· fmproper. In such a situation the accused cannot be 

c questioned and his answers cannot be used to supply the gaps left by wit­ 
nesses in their evidence. In such a situation counsel for Accused 5 Jinda 
strongly submitted that his examination under Section 313 should be 
totally discarded and his admissions, if any, wholly ignored for otherwise 
it may appear as if he was trapped by the court. According to him the 

d rules of fairness demand that such examination should be left out.of con­ 
sideration and the admissions made in the course of such examination 
cannot form the basis of conviction. Counsel for the Accused 1 also con- 
t~pQyQ that th~ c;vidYn~~ a9Q\I~ ~Y tb~ pf9~~vti9n ~~~in~t the ~~.cy~~ 
was so thin and weak that even if it was taken as proved the court would 

e not have been in a position to convict him and, therefore, it was 
unnecessary to examine him under Section 313 of the Code. Strong 
reliance was placed on .lit Bahadur Chetri v, State of Arunachal Pradesh5 
and Asokan v. State of Kerala', We do not see any merit in these submis­ 
sions. 

SO. Section 313 of the Code is a statutory provision and embodies 
the fundamental principle of fairness based on the maxim audi alteram 
partem. It is trite Jaw that the attention of the accused must be specifical­ 
Jy i?vited to inculpatory pieces of evidence or circumstances laid on 

g record with a view to giving him an opportunity to offer an explanation if 
he chooses to do so. !The section imposes a heavy duty on the court to 
take ~reat care to ensure that the incriminating circumstances are put to 
the accused and his response solicited. The words '.'shall question him" 
el~arly bring out the mandatory eharaeter of the elause and east an 

h imperative duty on the court and confer a corresponding right on the 
accused to an opportunity to offer his explanation for such incriminating 
material appearing against him. It is, therefore, true that the purpose of 
the examination of the accused under Section 313 is to give the accused 
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742 SUPREME COURT CASES (1992) 3 sec 
an opportunity to explain the incriminating material which has surfaced 
on recqrd. The stage of examination of the accused under clause (b) of 
sub-section (1) of Sectiop 313 is reached only after the witnesses for the a 
prosecution have been examined and before the accused is called on to 
enter u~n his defence. At the stage of closure of theprosecution evi­ 
dence and before record inf of statement under Section 313, the learned 
Judge is not expected to evaluate the evidence for the purpose of decid- 
ing whether or not he shoJld question the accused. After the Section 313 b 
stage is over he has to hear the oral submissions of counsel on the evi­ 
dence ndduced before pronouncing on the evidence. The learned trial 
Judge is not expected before he examines the accused under Section 313 
of the Code, to sift the evidence and pronounce on whether or not he 
would accept the evidence regarding any incriminating material to c 
determine. whether or not to examine the accused on that material. To 
do so would be to pre-judge the evidence without hearing the prosecu­ 
tion under Section 31.4 of the Code. Therefore, no matter how weak or 
scanty the prosecution evidence is in regard to a certain incriminating 
material, it is the duty of the court to examine the accused and seek his d 
explanation thereon. It is only after that stage is over that the oral argu­ 
ments have to be heard before the judgment is rendered. It is only where 
the court finds that no incriminating material has surfaced that the 
accused may not be examined under Section 313 of the Code. If there is 
m~terjal agairuit the accosed he must be eimminod, In tho lnsraot ca~() it i~ e 
not cqrrect to say that no incriminating material had surfaced against the 
accused, particularly Accused 5, and hence the learned trial Judge was 
not justified in examining the accused under Section 313 of the Code. 

St. That brings 4s to the question whether such a statement 
recorded under Section 313 of the Code can constitute the sole basis for 
conviction. Since no oath is administered to the accused, the statements 
made by the accused will not be evidence stricto sensu, That is why sub­ 
section (f) says that the accused shall not render himself liable to punish- 
ment if he gives false answers. Then comes sub-section ( 4) which reads: g 

"313. (4) The answers given by the accused may be taken into 
consideration in such inquiry or trial, and put in evidence for or 
against him in any other inquiry into, or trial for, any other oltence 
which such answers may tend to show he has committed." 

Thus the answers given by the accused in response to his examination h 
under Section 313 can be taken into consideration in such inquiry or tri- 
al. This much is clear on a plain reading of the above sub-section. There­ 
fore, though not strictly evidence, sub-section (4) permits that it may be 
taken into consideration in the said inquiry or trial. See State of 
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Maharashtra v. R.Q. Chowdhari", This Court in the case of Hate 'Singh 
Bhagat Singh v. State of MB. 8 held that an answer given by an accused 
under Section 313 examination can be used for proving his guilt as much 
as the evidence given by a prosecution witness. In Narain Singh v. State 
of ~jab9 this Court held that if the accused confesses to the commis­ 
sion of the offence with which he is charged the Court may, relying upon 
that confession, proceed to convict him. To state the exact language in 

b which the three Judge bench answered the question it would be 
advantageous to reproduce the relevant observations at pages 684-685: 

"Under Section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure by the 
first sub-section, insofar as it is material, the Court may al any stage 
of the enquiry or trial and after the witnesses for the prosecution 
have been examined and before the accused is called upon for his 
defence shall put questions to the accused person for the purpose of 
enabling him to explain any circumstance appearing in the evidence 
against him. Examination under Section 342 is primarily to be 
directed to those matters on which evidence has been led for the 
prosecution to ascertain from the accused his version qr explana­ 
tion - if any, of the incident which forms the subject-matter of the 
charge and his defence. By sub-section (3), the answers given by the 
accused may 'be.taken into consideration' at the enquiry or the trial. 
If the accused person in his examination under Section 342 confesses 
to the commission of the offence charged against him the court may, 
relying upon that confession, proceed to convict him, but if he does 
not confess and in explaining circumstance appearing in the evi- 
dence against hittt ~et~ u~ h~ 6Wfl \l~r~ion And ~eeks lo explain his 
conduct pleading that he has committed no offence, the statement 
of the accused can only be taken into consideration in its 
entirety." (emphasis supplied) 

Sub-section (1) of Section 313 corresponds to sub-section (1) of Sec­ 
tion 342 of the old, Code except that it now stands bifurcated in two parts 
with the proviso added thereto clarifying that in summons cases where 
the presence of the accused is dispensed with his examination under 

g clause (b) may al~o be dispensed with. Sub-section (2) of Section 313 
reproduces the old sub-section (4) and the present sub-section (3) cor­ 
responds to the old sub-section (2) except for the change necessitated on 
account of the abolition of the jury system. The present sub-section ( 4) 

h with which we are concerned is a verbatim reproduction of the old sub- 
~e~tion (J), Therefore, the afor~tated ob~rvation5 apply with equal 
force. 
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52. Even on first ~riqciple we see no reason why the court could not 
act on the admission 9r confession made by the accused in the course of 
the trial or in his statement recorded under Section 313 of the Code. a 
Under Section 12(4) Of the TADA Act a Designated Court shall, for the 
purpose of trial of anr offence, have all the powers of a Court of Session 
and shall try such offence as if it were a Court of Session so far as may be 
in accordance with the procedure prescribed in the Code for the trial 
before a Court of Session, albeit subject to the other provisions of the b 
Act. The procedure for the trial of Session cases is outlined in Chapter 
~II of the Code. Af<:Prding to the procedure provided in that Chapter 
after the case is opened as required by Section 226, if, upon considera­ 
tion of the record of the case and the documents submitted the.. with, 
the Judge considers that there is no sufficient ground for proceeding c 
against the accused, he shall discharge the accused for reasons to be. 
recorded. If, however, the Judge does not see reason to discharge the 
accused he is required to frame in writing a charge against the accused as 
required by Section 228 of the Code. Where the Judge frames the 
charge, the charge so framed hu to be read over ind erplained to the " 
accused and the accused is required to be asked whether he pleads guilty 
of the offence charged or claims to be tried. Section 229 next provides 
that if the accused pleads guilty, the Judge shall record the plea and may, 
in his discretion, convict him thereon. The plain language of this provi­ 
sion shows that if the accused pleads guilty the Judge has to record the e 
plea and thereafter decidq whether or not to convict the accused. The 
plea of guilt tantamounts tb an admission of all the facts constituting the 
offence. It is, therefore, essential that before accepting and acting on the 
plea the Judge must feel satisfied that the accused admits facts or 
ingredients constituting the offence. The plea of the accused must, there­ 
fore, be clear, unambiguous and unqualified and the Court must be 
satisfied that he has understood the nature of the allegations made 
against him and admits tpem. The Court must act with caution and cir­ 
cumspection before acce~ting and acting on the plea of guilt. Once these 
requirements are satisfied the law permits the Judge trying the case to g 
record a conviction based on the plea of guilt If, however, the accused 
does not plead guilty or t~e learned Judge does not act on his plea he 
must fix a date for the examination of the witnesses i.e. the trial of the 
case. There is nothing in this Chapter which prevents the accused from h 
pleading guilty at .. any subsequent stage of the trial. But before the trial 
Judge accepts and acts on that plea he must administer the same caution 
unto himself. This plea of guilt may also be put forward by the accused in 
his statement recorded under Section 313 of the Code. In the present 
case, besides giving written confessional statements both Accused 1 and 

SCC Online Web Edition, Copyright© 2019 
Page 45 Monday, September 23, 2019 
Printed For: M~enakshi Arora toa_ 
SCC Online W b Edition: http://www.scconline.com 

~~~-::.~'.~-~~~-~l~.:~--~-~~~~~~-~~-~~-~~~~----------------------------------------------------------------------·--··-·--- -- --··------- 
ea: 
[Q?(f~ 
True Prinf 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



STATE QF MAHARASHTRA V: SU.KHDEV SINGH (Ahmad~ J.) 745 
Accused 5 admitted to have been involved in the commission of murder 
of peneral Vaidya. We have already pointed out earlier that both the 

a accused have unmistakably, unequivocally and without any reservation 
whatsoever admitt~ the fact that they were responsible for the murder 
?f qeneral Vaidya.' It is indeed true that Accused 1 did not name 
Accused 5 as the driver of the motor cycle, perhaps he desired to keep 
him out, but Accused 5 has himself admitted that he was driving the 

b motor cycle with Accused 1 on the pillion seat and to facilitate the crime 
he had brought the motor cycle in line with the Maruti car so that 
A"WitJd 1 may hevo an opportunity· of firing at hiI victim from close 
quarters. There is, therefore, no doubt whatsoever that both Accused 1 
and Accused 5 'Were acting in concert, they had a common intention to 

c kill General Vaidya and in furtherance of that intention Accused 1 fired 
the fatal shots. We are, therefore, satisfied that the learned trial Judge 
was justified in hqlqing that Accused 1 was guilty under Section 302 and 
Accused 5 was gu~lty under Section 302/34 IPC. 

d 53. As pointed out earlier, learned counsel for Accused 1 and 5 con- 
tended that although a statement recorded under Section 313 of the 
Code ean be tak~n inM consideration in an inguiry or trial since It ls not 
'evidence' stricto sensu and not' being under oath, it has little probative 
value. Reliance was placed on R.B. Chowdhari case' in support of this 

e proposition. The two decisions of the High Courts to which our attention 
WfS drawn do not in fact militate against the view which we are inclined 
to take in regard to the admission of guilt made by the two accused in 
their statements rJcorded under Section 313 of the Code. In the case of 
lit B~hadur Chetri5 only one witness was examined and immediately 
thereafter the statement of the accused was recorded under Section 313 · 
of the Code. The deposition of the sole witness did not reveal that he 
had seen the accused causing the injury in question. The question that 
was framed was not consistent with this evidence and hence the High 
Court found that the trial court had sered illeg8lly .. It was held that such 

g an answer cannot be construed as pleading guilty within the meaning of. 
the provisions of the Code and hence the learned Magistrate had acted 
contrary to law in convicting and sentencing the accused on the basis of 
that plea. It will thus be seen that the Court cameto the conclusion that 
the accused could not be stated to have pleaded guilty and hence the 

h conviction was set a~ide. In the other case of Asokan" the High Court of 
Kerala pointed out that in a criminal case the burden of establishing the 
guilt beyond reasonable doubt lies on the prosecution and that burden is 
neither taken away, nor discharged, nor shifted merely because the 
accused sets up a plea of private defence. It was pointed out that if the 
prosecution has not placed any incriminating evidence such an admission 
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made by the accused will be of no avail unless the admission constitutes 
an admission of guilt of any offence. In that case also the admission made 
by the airused read as a whole did not constitute an admission of guilt of a 
the offence charged. On the contrary it was in the nature of a plea of 
private defence. In such circumstances, the High Court came to the con­ 
clusion that in the absence of a unequivocal, unmistakable and 
unqualified plea of guilt, the Court could not have convicted the accused 
on the-statement made.by him under Section 313 of the Code. This deci- b 
sion also does not, therefore, help the defence. 

54. The accused were inter alia charged under Sections 3(2)(i) or (ii) 
and 3(3) of TADA Act read with sub-rule (4) of Rule 23 of the rules 
framed thereunder. Section 3 provides the punishment for terrorist acts. 
Section 10 lays down that when trying any offence a Designated Court C 
may also try any other offence with which the accused may, under the 
Code, be charged at the same trial if the offence is connected with such · 
other offence. It is obvious that where an accused is put up for trial for 
the commission of any offence under the Act or the Rules made there­ 
under he can also be tried by the same Designated Court for the other d 
offences with which he may, under the Code, be charged at the same trial 
provided the offence is connected with such other offence, In the instant 
case, the accused were tried under the aforesaid provisions of TAl)A Act 
and the Rules made thereunder along with the offences under Sec­ 
tions 120-B, 645, 468, 471, 419, 302 and 307 IPC. They were also charged e 
for the commission of the aforesaid offences with the aid of Section 34 
IP¢. As pointed out earlier under Section 12( 4) the procedure which the 
Designated Court must follow is the procedure prescribed in the Code 
for the trial before a Court of Session. Accordingly, the two accused per­ 
sons were tried by the rD~ignated Court since they were charged for the 
commission of offences under the TADA Act. The Designated Court, 
however, came to the conclusioa that the charge framed under Section 3 
of the TADA Act read with the relevant rules had not been established 
and, therefore, acquitt~ the accused persons on that count. It is not g 
necessary for us to e~arriine the correctness Of this finding as we also 
come to the conclusion that capital. punishment is warranted. It also 
acquitted all the accused persons of the other charges framed \.I Oder the 
Penal Code save and except Accused l and· 5, as stated earlier. The 
acc~sed. ~ere also convicted under Sectio~ 3~ and 307/34 respec_tiv~ly h 
for'the mJury caused to PW 106 Bhanurnati Vaidya. Thus the convicnon 
of Accused 1 and 5 is outside the provisions of TADA Act and, there­ 
fore, it was open to the Designated Court to award such sentence as was 
provided by the Penal Code. Section 17(3) of the TADA Act makes Sec­ 
tions 366 to 371 and Section 392 of the Code applicable in relation to a 
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case involving an offence triable by a Designated Court. The Designated 
Court having com~ to the conclusion that this was a case falling within 

a the description of 'the rarest of a rare' awarded the extreme penalty of 
death to both Aqbused 1 and 5 for the murder of General Vaidya. In 
doing so, the trial court placed . strong reliance on the decision of this 
Court in Kehar Sf'tgh v. State (Delhi Administiationj". The learned trial 
Judge took the view that since the murder of General Vaidya was also on 

b account of his involvement in the Blue Star Operation his case stood 
more or less on the same footing and hence fell within 'the rarest of a 
rare' category. \f e think that this line of reasoning adopted by the 
learned trial Judge is unassailable. We may also point out that the 
accused persons bad no remorse or repentance, ln fact they ielt proud oi 

c having killed General Vaidya in execution of their plan and hence we 
find no extenuating circumstance to make a departure from the ratio of 
Kehar Singh case 1°. 

SS. Lastly, placing reliance on the decision of this Court in Allauddin 
d ¥ian v. State of Blhar" the learned defence counsel submitted that in the 

present case also since the conviction and sentence were pronounced on 
the same day, the capital sentence awarded to the accused should not be 
confirmed, In the decision relied on, to which one of us (Ahmadi, J.) was 
a party and who spoke for the Court, it was emphasised that Section 

e 235(2) of the Code being mandatory in character, the accused must be 
given an adequate opportunity of placing material bearing on the ques­ 
tion of sentence befor~ the Court It wa~ pointed out that the ~ho;e! of 
sentence had to be made after giving the accused an effective and real 
opportunity to place his antecedents, social and economic background, 
mitigating and extenuating circumstances, etc., before the Court for 
otherwise the Court's decision may be vulnerable. It was then said in 

. paragraph 10 at page 21: · 
"We think as a general rule the trial courts should after record­ 

ing the convicti9n adjourn the mater to a further date and call upon 
g both the prosecution as well as the defence to place the relevant 

fiiaterial bearing on the question of sentence before it and there­ 
after pronounce the sentence to be imposed on· the offender." 

The above decision wds rendered on April 13, 1989 whereas the present 
decision was pronounced on October 21, 1989. Yet, contended learned 

h counsel for the accused the Court did not appreciate the spirit of Sec­ 
t;on 235(2) of. lhe Code, The ratio of Allauddin Mian casell was. affirmed 
in Malkia: Singh v. State of Punjab 12• 
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I s~. On the other hand the learned Additional Solicitor-General 
inVited! our attention to, a subsequent decision of this Court in Jurnman 
Khan v. State of U.P. 13 :1111at decision turned on the facts of that case. In a 
that casip the Court refused to entertain the plea on the ground that it 
was ~otraised in the courts below and was sought to 'be raised for the 
first time in the apex court. That decision, therefore, does not assist the 
prosecution. llellance w~s then placed on the thlrd proviso to Sec- 
tion 309 of the Code which reads as under: b 

"Provided also that no adjournment shall be granted for the 
purpose only of enabling the accused person to show cause against 
the sentence proposed to be imposed on him." 

This proviso must be read in the context of the general policy of 
expeditious inquiry and trial manifested by the main part of the section. c 
That section emphasises that an inquiry or trial once it has begun should 
proceed from day to day till the evidence of all the witnesses in 
attendance has been recorded so that they may not be unnecessarily 
vexed. The underlying object is to discourage frequent adjournments. 
But that does not mean that the proviso precludes the court from 0 
adjourning the matter even where the interest of justice so demands. The 
proviso may not entitle an accused to an adjournment but it does not 
prohibit or preclude the court from granting one in such serious cases of 
life a~d death to satisfy the requirement of justice as enshrined in Sec­ 
tion 235(2) of the Code, Expeditious disposal of a criminal case is indeed · e 
the. r1eqyireinent of Article 21 of the Constitution; so also a fair 
opportunity to place all relevant material before the court is equally the 
requirement of the said Article. Therefore, if the court feels that the 
lntorost of justice demands that the matter should be adjourned to 
enable both sides to place the relevant material touching on the question 
of sentence before the court, the above extracted proviso cannot 
preclude the court from doing so. 

51. But in the instant case we find that both the accused decided to 
plead guilty. Accused 1 had done so at the earlier stage of the trial when g 
he filed the statement Ex. 60-A Accused 5 had also made up his mind 
when he filed the statement Ex. 922 even before his examination under 
Section 313 of the Code. Accused 1 had reiterated his determination 
when he filed the statement Ex. 919. Thus both the accused had mentally 
decided to own their involvement in the murder of General Vaidya h 
before their statements were recorded under Section 313 of the Code. 
Not only that their attitude reveals that they had resolved to kill him as 
lhey Mnsidered him an enemy of the Sikh community since he had 
desecrated the Akal Takht. They also told the trial court that they were 
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proud of their act and were not afraid of death and were prepared to 
sacrifice their lives for the article of their faith, namely, the realisation of 

a their dream of a separate State of Khalistan, It is thus apparent that 
before they made their statements admitting their involvement they had 
mentally prepared themselves for the extreme penalty and, therefore, if 
they desired to pince nny mnterfal for 11 lesser gentence they hnd nmple 
opportunity to do so. But after the decision of this Court in Kehar Singh 

b case" and having regard to the well planned manner in which they 
executed their resolve to kill General Vaidya, they were a~are that there 
was every likelihood of the Court imposing the extreme penalty and they 
would have, if they so desired, placed material in their written statements 
or would have requested the Court for time when their statements under 

c Section 313 of the Code were recorded, if they desired to pray for a les­ 
ser sentence. Their resolve not to do so is reflected in the fact that they 
have not chosen to file any appeal against their convictions by the Desig­ 
nated Court. We are, therefore, of the view that in the present case the 
requirements of Section 235(2) of the Code have been satisfied in letter 

a 11nd gpirit and no prejudice is shown to have occurred to the accused. 
We, [therefore, reject this contention of the learned counsel for the 
accused. 

S8. For the above reasons, we are of the opinion that the decision of 
e the learned trial Judge is based on sound reasons and is unassailable .. We, 

therefore, confirm the conviction of Accused 1 under Sections 302 and 
. 307, IPC and Accused 5 under Sections 302 and 307~ IPC, both read with 
Section 34, IPC and the sentence of death awarded to both of them. We 
see no merit in the State's appeal against the acquittal of the other 
accused persons of all the charges levelled against them. and accused 1 
and 5 on the other. counts with which they were charged and accordingly 
dismiss the State's Criminal Appeal No. 17 of 1990. The Death 
Reference No. 1of1989 will stand disposed of as stated above. 

59. Before we} part we must express our deep sense of gratitude for 
g the excellent assistance rendered to us. by the learned Additional 

Solicitor-General, the learned counsel for the State of Maharashtra and 
the learned Advocates appointed as amici curiae to represent the 
accused persons. But for their excellent marshalling and analysis of the 
evidence which runs into several volumes we may have found it difficult 

h to compress the same and reach correct conclusions. A word of special 
praise is due to the learned advocates Shri H.V. Nimbalkar and Shri I.S. 
Goyal both of whom sacrified their practice at Pune and attended to this 
case from time to time devoting their valuable professional hours at con­ 
siderable personal inconvenience. Their devotion and dedication is also 
evident from the fact that apart from making twenty trips to Delhi they 
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t From the Judgment atjd Order dated October 8, 1984 of the Allahabad High Court in 
Sales Tax Revision Nof. 446, 447 and 448 o_f_I9_8~3 . 

According to clause (a) of Section 3, an inter-State sale or purchase is one 
which occasions the movement of goods from one State to another. The move- h 
ment of goods from one State to another must be the necessary incident - the 
necessary consequence - of sale or purchase. It must he case of cause and 
effect - the cause being the sale/purchase and the effect being the movement of 

d 

(1992) 3 Supreme Court Cases 750 
(Bf'.FORE S. RANOANATHAN, V. RA.MASWAMI AND B.P. JEEVAN REDDY, JJ.) 

COMMISSIONER OF SALES TAX, U.P. AND OTHERS Appellants: 
Versus 

Mis BAKHTAWAR LA,L ~ILASH CHAtm ARHTI 
AND OTI1ERS .. Respondents. 
Civil Appeal Nos. 4560-62of19901 etc., etc., clecidecl on August 5, 1992 e 

· Sales Tax - Inter-State sale - What constitutes - Movement of goods 
from one State to another must he the incident of sale - Sale and movement of 
goods must form parts of the same transaction - Property in goods must pass 
In either State - Sale may precede or follow the Inter-Statemovement - Tests 
to be satlsfled on facts In each case - Stipulation in the contract for inter· 
State movement of goods may be express or implied - Ex-U.P. principals con­ 
tracting with assessee dealer of agricultural products in State of U.P. for pur­ 
chase ot goods by assessee on their behalf in U.P. as commission agent and 
despatc~ of the goods to srch principals to ex-UiP, _destination on payqient of 
commission -Assessee p~r<:hasing the goods from cartmen and agriculturists 
in u1r· ar.d despatching them to ex-u.P. principals in fulfillment of the CQn- g 
tract! witllin three days of the purchase as soon as wagons·availahle - Held, 
transaction constituted inte~·State ~al~ - <;e1Hrnl Si.tie~ Tll1' r\~t, 1?~61 5, J(il) 
Held: 

750 SUPREME COURTCAS!;:S (1992) 3 sec 
spent a sizeable amo~nt bf Rs 29,000 from 'their own pockets as against 
which they have receiyed a sum of Rs 5,000 only on October 29, 1991. At 

·one point of time the~ had also difficulty in procuring accommodation in a 
Maharashtra Sadan till we passed orders in that behalf. Such devotion 
and dedication enhances the image and prestige qf the legal profession. 
Apart from the time actually spent on the aforesaid twenty occasions in 
this Court one has to merely imagine the number of hours they must 
have devoted for preparing the defence. We direct the State of b 
Maharashtra to pay the outstanding amount of Rs ,4,QOQ which ~hey 
hate spent for travel and lodging and boarding expenses and we also 
direct that they together be paid a further sum of Rs 25,000 by way of 
professional fees for rendering service as amici curiae. The said amount 
will be paid to them within one month from today. c 
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K.N. Wanchoo, J. 

1 . This is an appeal on a certificate granted by the Calcutta High Court. The 
appellants are the sons of Ramtaran Banerjee deceased (hereinafter referred to as the 
testator). They had been appointed executors under a will purported to have been 
executed by the testator on August 29, 1943. The testator was about 97 years· old 
when he died on April 1, 1947. The appellants applied for probate of the will in the 
court of the District Judge in June 1947. Their case was that the will in dispute was 
the last will and testament of the testator and had been duly executed. The petition 
was opposed by Subodh Kumar Banerjee and Sukumar Banerjee who are also sons of 
the testator as well as by the descendants of Sushil Kumar Banerjee and Sanat Kumar 
Banerjee, two other sons of-the testator who had predeceased him. The main grOl,.md 
of opposition was that the will hpd not been properly executed and attested, though 
it was also contended that it was not genuine, and the testator did not have 
testamentary capacity at the time of signing the alleged will and that the execution of 
the will had been obtained by undue influence, fraudulent misrepresentation- and 
coercion. 

Case Note: 
1 

. 

Family - Genuinen~ss of v,till - District Judge held in favour of Appellants 
that due execution and attestatlon of will was proved - However, High 
Court reversed judgment o1 District Judge and rejected Petition for probate 
- Hence, this Appeal - Whether, High Court was right in reversing order of 

· District Court - Held, it was not quite so firm as some other signatures 
made later in month of September - On whole Court were not accepted that 
signature at bottom of will could not possibly was made in August 1943 and 
must had been made late in 1946 - Therefore, evidence of expert was 
conclusive and could falsify evidence of attesting witnesses and also 
circumstances vf hich ~Q to showed that this will must had been signed in 
1943· as it purports to be - Thus, all probabilities were against expert's 
opinion and direct testimony of two attesting witnesses which was wholly 
inconsistent with: it - Hence, on review of entire evidence that due 
execution and attestation of will in dispute was proved as alleged by 
propounders and so Appellants were entitled to probate with copy of will 
attached - Hence, set aside order of High Court and restored order of 
District Judge - A~peal allowed. 

JUDGMENT 

.. 

IN ·rHE SUPREME COURT OF INDIA 

Appeal (civil) 295 of 1960 

Decided On: 13.09.1963 

Appeilants:Sh~shi Kumar Banerjee and Ors. 
Vs. 

Respondent:Subodh Kumar Ba~erjee since deceased and after him his legal 
· reprasentatlves and Ors. 

Hon'ble Judges/Coram: 
P.B. Gajendragadkar, K. Subbe Rao, K.N. Wanchoo, N. Rajagopala Ayyangar and J.R. 
Mudholkar, JJ. 

Eq11ivalent Citation: A!R1964SC529 

MANU/SC/0278/1963 
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The mode of proving a will does not ordinarily differ from that of proving any other 
document except as to the special requirement of attestation prescribed in the case of 
a will by Section 63 of the Indian .successton Act. The onus of proving the will is on 
the propounder and in the absence of suspicious circumstances surrounding the 

4. The principles which govern the proving of a will are well settled; (see H. 
Venkatachala Iyengar v. B. N. Thimmajamma, MANU/SC/0115/1958 : AIR1959SC44::: 
and Rani .Purnima Devi v. Khagendra Narayan Dev, MANU/SC/0020/1961 : 
[1962]3SCR195 ). 

3. The present respondents then went in appeal to the High Court, and the only issue 
that was urged before the High Court was with respect to the due execution and 
attestation of the wjll. The main contention in that behalf was that though the will 
appeared to be date~ August 29, 1~43, the signature of the testator appearing at the 
bottom of the will could not have been made in 1943, and reliance in this connection 
was placed on the evidence of a handwriting expert. The High Court first examined 
the evidence of the handwriting expert as to the date on which the signature 
appearing at the bottom of the will could have been made. The High Court differed 
from the trial court which had also considered the evidence of the expert and had 
ref1,1sed to rely upon it .in preference to the evidence of the attesting witnesses and 
came to the conclusion, relying on the evidence of the expert, that the signature 
could not have been put at the foot of the will in the year 1943 and similarly the 
names on the plan attached ito the will could not have been written in 1943. 
Therefore having come to this conclusion, the High Court held that that was the end 
of the case of the propounders and the attesting witnesses must also be held to have 
deposed falsely. Having reached this conclusion, the High Court then went on to 
consider the evidence of the a~te~ting witnesses and said that independently however 
of the view expressed by it as to the evidence of the expert it was not possible to rely 
on the evidence of the - two attesting witnesses and consequently found that due 

. execution and attestation of the will had not been proved. On this finding, the High 
Court reversed the ~udgmentLqf the District Judge and rejected the petition for 
probate. As the High Court's j, dqrnent was one of reversal and the amount involved 
was over rupees twenty thousand, the High Court granted a certificate of fitness to 
enable the appellants to appeal to this Court; and that is how the matter has come up 
before us. 

(4) Was the execution of the will obtained by undue influence, fraudulent 
representation and coercion, as alleged ? 

The District judge held on the evidence that though the testator might have been 
enfeebled in body, he retained a sound and disposing mind almost upto the last 
moment of his life, and one of the last documents executed by the testator which was 
attested by one of the caveators himself, was dated March 3, 1947. The issue as to 
undue influence, fraudulent misrepresentation and coercion was abandoned and was 
thus answered in favour of the appellants. The District Judge also held that due 
execution and attestation of the will had been proved and that the will was genuine. 
In ~Ol'l~~~u~ne~ I'\~ ~ranted probate with a copy of the will attached to the appellants. 

i:.- 7 

.2J manupatra® 

Jl-6 I 

2. Four main Issues arose on these pleadings, namely,-- 

(1) Is the will g~nuine? 

(2) Has the will been properly executed and attested? 

(3) Had the testator testamentary capacity at the time of the signing of the 
alleged will ? · 
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5. Before we consider the evidence as to attestatlon.. there are certain prellrnlnarv 
facts which are not in dispute and which may be set out. The testator was a man of 
great wealth and a well known lawyer of Calcutta. Though he retired from the Bar' in 
1935, he continued to be the elected President of the Alipore Bar Assoctatlon till the 
end of 1946. He died at the very advanced age of 97 and was about 93 years old 
when the will in dispute is said to have been executed. He was the head of a large 
family, having seven sons, five daughters and numerous grand-children. His wife 
died on July 2, 1945. Two of his sons, Sushi! and Sanat had predeceased him. Before 
his death the testator had already made provision for his heirs by executing a number 
of documents. The scheme he used was to grant a perpetual lease of the property in 
favour of the person whom he wanted to benefit; ultimately the reverslonarv interest 
In the leased propeH:y which the testator had was also conveyed to the same chlld. in 
this manner he 1 had disposed of 

1property worth about rupees sixty lacs, half to the 
prcpounders, (namely, the appellants) and half to the caveators (namely, the 
respondents). Th~ will in dispute refers to the remaining property which is said to be 
valued at rupees three lacs onlv, It is witnessed by two persons, namely, 
Manmathanath Mookerjee and $ambhunath Munshi. The entire· will is in the 
handwriting of the testator and 1 has been corrected in various places and the 
corrections have been initialled by the testator. It is not in dispute that the body of 
the will was written out by the testator between January and March 1943, leaving 
some blanks here and there, particularly in relation to the numbers of immovable 
properties disposed .of and also in some cases the name of the particular legatee to 
whom the ,properties, were to go. It also appears that the testator suffered from a 
severe illness in July 1943 and at one time his life was despaired of. It was after 
recovery from this serious illness that the will in dispute is alleged to have been 
signed by him on· August 291 i943. It is also not in dispute that the signature at the 
bottom of the will is the signature of the testator. Further though at one time there 
was dispute whether the date under the signature was written by the testator, the 
respondents have fai'led to prove that the date "29-8-1943" is not in the handwriting 
of the testator. The dispositions in the will are [n favour of the various sons and 
grandsons of the testator and also of his wife, and wherever the testator had 
deprived any of his descendants of benefit under the will he has given reasons for the 
same. Further· the will recites at the end that the testator had signed it in the 

t' -, 

121" ma:nu,pat·ra® ·· 11r· 
execution of the will, proof of testamentary capacity and the signature of the testator 
as required by· law is sufficient to discharge the onus. Where however there are 
suspicious circumstances, the onus is on the propounder to explain them to the 
satisfaction of the court before the court accepts the will as genuine. Where the 
caveator alleges undue lntluence, fraud and coercion, the onus is on ·him to prove the 
same. Even where there are noi such pleas but the circumstances give rise to doubts, 

· it is for the propounder to satisfy the conscience of the court. The suspicious 
circumstances may be as to the genuineness of the signature of the testator, the 
condition of the testator's mind, the dispositions made in the will being unnatural 
improbable or unfair in the li~ht of relevant circumstances or there might be other 
indications in the will to show' that the testator's mind was not free. In such a case 
the court would naturally expect that all legitimate suspicion should be completely 
removed before the document is accepted as the last will of the testator, If the 
propounder himself takes part in the execution of the will ·which confers a substantial 
benefit on him] that is also a circumstance to be taken into account, and the 

· propounder is required to remove the doubts by clear and satisfactory evidence. If 
the propounder succeeds in removing the suspicious circumstances the court would 
grant probate, even if the will might be unnatural and might cut off wholly or in part 
near relations.x rnpara> It is in the light of these settled principles that we have to 
consider whether the appellants have succeeded in establishing that the will was· duly 
executed and attested. 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



Meenakshi Arora. www.manupatra.com 23-09-20i 9 (Page 4 of 11) 

There .is no· doubt about the genuineness of the signature of the testator, for it is 
admitted that the signature at the foot of the will is his. The condition of the 
testator's mind is also not in doubt and he apparently had full testamentary capacity 
right upto March 1947, even though he was an old man of about 97. when he died on 
April 1, 1947. The dispositions made in the will are by no means unnatural and 
where the testator has deprived any of his descendants of any share of his remaining 
property he has given. reasons for it. Besides he had already disposed of the large 
bulk of his property worth about rupees sixty lacs and the wil.1 only deals with a small 
residue worth about rupees three lacs. There is nothing to show that the dispositions 
were not the result of the free will and mind of the testator. Further, the propounders 
(namely, the appellants) had nothing to do with the execution of the will anc;I thus 
there are really no suspicious circumstances at all in this case. All that was required 
was to formally prove it, though the signature of the testator was admitted and It was 
also admitted that the whole will was in his handwriting. It is in the background of 
these circumstances that we have to consider the evidence of the two attesting 
witnesses and of the handwriting expert on whose opinion alone practically the High 
Court has held that the will was not duly executed and attested. 

6 ~ Before we come to the evidence of these three witnesses mentioned above we 
should Ii ke to refer to one other circumstance, which appears in this case. The 
evidence is that some time after the will had been executed it was handed over by 
the testator to his son Soshi. The will was in a closed envelope and on the top of that 
the testator had written "Soshi preserve this my will" and had signed that. It is not in 
dispute that the writ)ng and the slqnature on this envelope are also in the hand of the 
testator. Sos~i kept this envelope with him and after the death of the testator, he and 
his brother Sunil went with it to. Birendra Nath Lahiri, an advocate. When the 
advocate saw the envelope it was closed. He did not open it. He advised them to give 
notice to all the heirs of the testator and fix a date and place for the opening of the 
envelope. They .therefore asked him to issue the notice and gave him the names of all 

. IZj manupatra® 
' . 118 

presence of the attesting witnesses and that the attesting witnesses had seen the 
testator signing it and that the attesting witnesses had attested it in the presence of 
the testator and of each other. In view of these facts the High Court had also to 
recognize that the will could by no means .be said to be an unnatural document. 
There is no evidence to show that the propounders (namely, the appellants) had 
taken any part in t~e execution of the will. We shall later ~efer to the evidence of the 
attesting witnesses which shows that the testator had cautioned them not to speak of 
the will and to keep the fact of thetr having attested it secret. The issue as to undue 
influence, fraudul~nt misrepresentation and coercion was, according to the District 

·Judge, "clearly, categorically and 
1 

unconditionally abandoned" by the respondents. 
There can also be no doubt that on the evidence, the testator was in a sound and 
disposing state of mind and had full testamentary capacity not only on August 29, 
1943 when the will purports to have been exe~uteo but even ialmost uptQ the l~~t o~y 
of his life, for he had executed many documents in 1944, 1945 and 1946 and the last 
of such documents was executed on March 3, 1947 to which one of the caveators was 
an attesting witness. In the High Court no argument appears to have been addressed 
against the finding of the District Judge that the testator had full testamentary 
capacity almost upto the last day of his death. Further the fact that the will is ci 
holograph will and admittedly 'ri the hand of the testator and in the last paragraph of . 
the will the testator had stated that he had signed the will in the presence of the 
witnesses and! the witnesses had signed it in his presence and in the presence of 
each other raise strqng presumption of its regularity and of its being duly executed 
and attested. On these facts there is hardly any suspicious circumstance attached to 
this will and it will in our opinion require very little evidence to prove due execution 
and attestation of the will. 
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7. This brings us to the main question which has been debated before us, namely, 
the due execution and attestation of the will. The respondents' case in this connection 
appears to be that the date which appears on the will as 'the date of execution thereof 
is not the date on 

1 

which the will was executed by the testator but that it was 
executed at a much later date and was thus not duly executed and attested. We have 
therefore to examine the evidence of the attesting witnesses in this connection and 
what the learned counsel for the appellants calls lntrlnslc evidence in the will itself to 
show that it must have been executed and attested on August 29, 1943 as [t purports 
to pe, for the fact that the will is in the handwri,tin9 of the testator and bears his 
signature is not in ·dispute .. The respondents mainly .relied on the evidence of the 
handwriting expert and their case as based on that evidence was that i!l 1943, 1944 
and 1945 there was no tremor in the handwriting of the testator and that tremor 
appeared in his handwriting from 1946 and went on increasing till his death in 1947. 
The expert's evidence further is that the writing in the body of the will is without 
tremor while the signature at! the· bottom of it and initials in the margin on the 
corrections showed tremor and therefore! the will must have been signed after 1945 
and not in August 1943, as it purports to be. We shall deal with the evidence of the 
expert later but it is pertinent to 'point out here that we cannot understand when the 
testator admittedly signed the will even according to. the respondents, thouqh 
sometime in 1946 why he should have antedated it to August 1943. It is in this 
connection that the finding of the District Judge that the testator was possessed of 
full testamentary capacity alm9st upto the moment of his Cleath, certainly upto March 
1947, which d~es not appe~r to have been challenged before the High Court, . 
assumes great i mportgn~e. lf the te~tiiltor h~d not ~i·gn~Q this will in 1943 q~ it 
purports to be and if he was possessed of full testamentary capacity in 1946 as he 
must in our opinion be held to be and was in fact signing this will in 1946, we fail to 
see why he should not put on it the date in 1946 on which according to the 
respondents he actually signed the will and get it attested on that date. The whole · 
argument therefore based on the theory of tremor put forward by the handwriting 
expert appears to us to be of no help to the respondents; for the testator having 
retained full mental capacity and power of judgment till almost the! last moment of 
his life, it does not stand to reason that he would antedate the will if he really signed 
it late in 1946. Once therefore it is. admitted that the signature on the will is that of 
the testator, the theory that it is antedated by him can be accepted only if the 
expert's evidence is so convincing that the extreme improbability attaching to the 
said theory can be safely rejected. 

.0 ma·nu.pat1ra® 
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theheirs. He then issued a notice to all the heirs including the caveators responJents 
telling them that the last will and testament of the testator .had been handed over to 
him, that he would· open it on May 8, 1947 between 7 p.m. and ,7-30 p.m. and 
requested them to be present at his place either in person or through some agent in 
order to witness the opening of the envelope. In reply to this notice, two of the heirs, 
namely, Sukumar Banerjee arid Provat Kumar sent replies; but they did not attend at 
the time and place fixed by Lahiri. The only persons to attend were the three 
appellants and one Kartick Mukherjee, who is a son-in-law of the testator and · 
husband of one of the daughters named Nihar Bala. Thereafter the envelope was 
opened and it is no one's case that at that time. the will was not in the same condition 
in which it was when it was filed in court along with the probate application. 
Therefore when the will was opened on May 8, 1947, it bore the signature of the 
testator as well es the attestation of the attesting witnesses. This again is a very 
important circumstance in favour of the genuineness and due execution and 
attestation of the will and is perhaps the reason why the respondents did not come 
forward with a positive case as to the will having been attested after the death of the 
testator. · 
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14. These circumstances afford in our opinion intrinsic evidence of the fact that the 
will must have been signed in August 1943. On that basis all these recltals in the will 
would be correct and appropriate. In reply however it is urged on behalf of the 
respondents that most of these circumstances do not go to the root of the matter 
inasmuch as they d9 not affect the dispositions made by the will. It is said that the 

11. Th~ fourth eireum~t~n~e which ig rn lied on ls that the will says that Shivendra, a 
son of another daughter Rani Devi alias Renuke is preparing for his 6.A. examination. 
Now it is not dtsputed that Shivendra had passed his B.A. Examination in 1944. 
Therefore it is ~aid that if this will was signed in 1946 it could not have contained 

. this recital about Shivendra and un consequence it must have been signed in 1943, 
which it purports to be. · 

1 2. The fifth. circumstance whiSh is re lied on is that the will mentions that 
Sukumar's wife was alive for the testator when depriving Sukumar of any share in the 
property has said that he and his wife have no children and Sukumar's income is 
more than sufficient to maintain him and his wife in ease and comfort. Now there is 
no dispute that Sukumar's .wlfe died in October 1 ~43. It is therefore said that if this 
will was being signed in 1946, the testator could not have used words in it to 
indicate that Sukumar's wife was alive; this could only happen Ir the wlll was really 
signed in August 1943. 

13. Lastly, the will devised premises No. 76 Hazara Road in favour of Sashi, but on 
January 26, 1946, the testator had given away this property to Bimal. Consequently it 
is said that if the will was really signed in late 1946, such a bequest could not 
possibly appear there in. 

• I 

1 O. The third circumstance which is re lied on is with respect to Nihar Sala, a 
daughter of the testator, to whom a bequest was made in the will and who is the wife 
of Kartick Mukherjee. The testator said in the will that her husband was a Senior 
Stock Varifler on a monthly pay of Rs. 300/-. Now it is in evidence that karttck 
retired early in 1946 and his wife Nihar Bala asked in January 1947 for a monthly 
allowance which the testator provided for her. It is said that if this wi II was signed by 
the testator late in 1946 he would not say therein that his son-in-law was getting Rs. 
300/- per mensem when in fact he had retired. 

I 
9. The next circumstance is that while providing for a monthly allowance for his 
daughter Sushi la, the testator says that she was Jiving with hersons in her house. It 
is admitted that.Sushi la came to live with her father in 1945, shortly before the death 
of her mother and stayed on till the testator died. In such circumstances it is 
extremely unlikely that the testator who had made corrections in the will before he 
signed it would riot correct this part of it. · 

s. Turnlnq now ·to the intrinsic evidence in the will itself, to which reference has been 
made on behalf of the appellants, we find that there are as many as six circumstances 
which go to show that the date on which the will purports to have been executed, 
namely, August 29, 1943, must be the correct date and that a will containing the 
provisions which this will contains could not have been executed late in 1946. The 
first circumstance to which ref1rence may be made is that it makes provision for the 
wife of the testator and provides for consultation with her in case there is any dispute 
between the three executors. Npw it is not in dispute that the wife of the testator died 
in· 1945; as such it would certainly be strange--if not impossible--to find a provision 
in the will for the wife 1rnd '11~0 ~ provision to the effect that the wife should be 
consulted whenever there was a dispute between the executors appointed under the 
will. 
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will was undoubtedly written out between January and March 1943 at which time 
these recitals would be correct and that it may be that the testator did not worry to 
make any correction therein when he actually signed the will late in 1946. These 
explanations thqugh technically possible are hardly satisfactory. We are of opinion 
that it is most ~nli~ely that the testator would not correctthese recitals ih the will if 
he was really signing it in 1~46 as he did make some corrections and the 
probabilities therefore indicate that the will was signed in 1943 as it purports to be. 
Further it was admitted in the High Court that it was not possible for the respondents 
to explain how all these recitals came to be in the will; if that is so and if the 
respondents are unable to explain how alln these recitals came to be in the will, they 
in our opinion clearly support the case oAf the appellants that the wlll was written 
out. between January to March 1943 and signed in August 1943. In any case though 
some of the recitals are of a minor nature, there are two matters which in our opinion 
could not have appeared in a will signed late in 1946. These two matters are, 
namely, (1) provision for the wife when she undoubtedly died in 1945, and (2) the 
disposition of propertv No. 76 Hazara Road. We cannot accept the argument that 
these matters might rave escaped the attention of the testator when he signed the 
will late in i946 for there wa? nothing wrong with him till late 1946 which would 
allow such defects to creep Into this will. We therefore agree with the contention on 
behalf of the appellants that these circumstances tend to show that the will must 
have been signed in f.ugust 1943 as it purports to be. 

1 5. This brings us . to the oral evidence of two attesting witnesses and the 
handwriting expert. We must, with respect, say that the High Court was not right in 
first considering· the evidence of the expert and holding on its basis that the will 
could not have. oeen signed in 1943, in a case of this kind where there were 
practically no suspicious circumstances· and where a.II the circumstances point to the 
due execution and attestation of the will. It is true that after having considered the 
evidence of the expert and having said that there was .an end of the case of the 
propounders and the attesting witnesses must also be held to be untruthful once the 
evidence of the expert was believed, the High Court has gone on to consider the 
evidence of the attesting witnesses and has said that. it was doing so independently 
of the view expressed by it as to the evidence of the expert. We propose therefore to 
take the evidence 'of the two attesting witnesses first to see whether in the 
circumstances of this case when we are dealing with a holograph will and when there 

·are practically no suspicious circumstances and the intrinsic evidence in the will itself 
points to its execution when it purports to have been executed we can rely on that 
evidence. The· two attesting witnesses are Manmathanath Mookerjee and Sarnbhunath 
Munshi. Manma~hanath Mookerjee is the father-in-law of Sunil, one of the 
propounders and to that extent he is certainly interested in supporting the 
propounders' case. It-may also be conceded that in, certain respects he has not been 
as straight forward as he should have been, particularly with respect to his dealings 
with his son-in-law. But he is a respectable man and his son-in-law was not- in any 
way concerned with the execution of this will and did not get any great advantage out 
of it except that one of the sons Sukumar was disinherited by this will and this had 
increased his share a little; but that was also the case with the shares of the other 
descendants of the testator. Manmathanath Mookerjee was examined on commission 
and was .(:ross-exaniined at inordinate length, sometimes on matters which were not 
very relevant to the point on which he was giving evidence, namely, the attestation of 
the will in dispute. But in spite of the interest he has in his son-in-law, Sunil and in 
spite of his unsatisfactory replies with respect to his dealings with Sunil, it seems to 
us that there is really no sufficient reason to disbelieve him when he says that 'he 
attested this will at the instance and in the presence of the testator and that the 
testator signed. it in his presence and that of Sambhunath Munshi and that they 
signed it in his presence and in each other's presence. 
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17. Stress however has been laid on a slight discrepancy in the evidence of the two 
attesting witnesses as to the time of the execution of the will. According to 
Sambhunath the will is said to have been executed at about 3-0 p.m .. and it took 
about 45 minutes for the testator to complete the will by filling up the blank spaces 
therein and correcting it here i and there. Sambhunath's statement also is that he 
arrived about noon at the house of the testator and shortly thereafter Manmathanath 
Mookerjee arrived. On the other hand, the evidence of Manmathanath is that he 
arrived at about 3-30 p.m. and thereafter the testator brought the will, filled up the 
blanks and made corrections in it and then the execution and attestation took place. 
So according to this statement the will must have .been executed and attested at 
~bovt 4-30 p. m. Further, accordin~ to Sambhunath Munshi, he stayed at the place 
for 2 1/2 hours and Manmath19nath Mookerjee came only a short time after he 
arrived. There i~ no doubt thatl there are these discrepancies as to time. But we are of 
opinion that the discrepancies are not so serious as to make us distrust the evidence 
of the two attesting. witnesses. That evidence in substance shows that the will was 
executed and attested sometime in the afternoon of August 29, 1943. Sambhunath 
would place it somewhere between 1 p.m. and 3-30 p.m. while Manmathanath places 
it somewhere between 3 p.m. and 5 p.m. Considering that these witnesses .were 
giving evidence almost 8 or 9 years after the execution of the will, this discrepancy in 
time is not so serioµs as to destroy the value of their evidence. In substance, it 
shows that the execution of the will took place in the afternoon according to both the 
witnesses; this is not a case where one witness says that execution took place in the 
morning while the other ways that it took place in the evening, which of course may 
introduce some infirmity in, the evidence. 

18. It was also urged that it was most unlikely that Manmathanath Mookerjee would 
go to inspect his house in Rustomjee Street on an afternoon in the month of August, 
as, it would be a most inconvenient time for a person of his status. But if the time 
would Be inconvenient to a person of status, we fail to see why we should not 
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16. Let us therefore examine the reasons which led the High Court to place no 
reliance on the evidence of Manmathanath Mookerjee. and Sambhunath Munshi. 
Manmathanath's statement is that he happened to go that day to inspect a house 
belonging to his father's de-butter estate at Rustomjee Street which is near where the 
testator used to live. Therefore he went to see the testator because his usual practice 
was that whenever he was in the locality in which the testator lived and he had time 
at his disposal he always went round to see him. Similarly the evidence of 
Shambhunath Munshi was that he went to see the testator in order to hand over 
Glucose and Horlicks which he was asked to procure for the testator as in those days 
Glucose and Horlicks were difficult to get. Thus it was by chance that the two 
attesting witnesses happened to be there when the testator asked them to attest the 
will. The argument on behalf of the respondents is that if the testator wanted to 
execute the will tie would have sent for these witnesses and it is too much to believe 
that they happened to be there and the testator took advantage of their presence. It 
may be that it is more usual for witnesses to be called when a person is intending to 
execute a will; even so there is nothing impossible in advantage being taken of the 
accidental presence of witnesses in this connection. Further if these two witnesses 
were not witnesses of truth they could easily have stated that they were called by the 
testator and in the circumstances· of this case nobody would have been able to 
disprove that staterient. It seems to us clear therefore that the testator took 
advantage of the adcidental presence of these two witnesses whom he knew wel I 
from before and asked them to attest the will. Nor do we think there was any such 
relationship between Shambunath Munshi and Manmathanath Mookerjee or between 
Shambhunath Munshi and Sunil and Sashi as to impel Shambunath to give false 
evidence as an attesting witness. 
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19. Further so far as Sambhunath Munshi is concerned, he was obviously on good 
terms with the test~t6~ WMM h~ had known for some vsars, All that has b@en said 
against him is that he was a tenant of Manmathanath. But he was a tax collector of 
the Calcutta Corporation and as such we do not think that he would be under the 
thumb of Manmathcinath or· his son-in-law simply because he was a tenant in 
Manmathanath's house. Otherwise there is no reason except for the discrepancies to 
which we have already referred and which in our opinion do not detract from the 
substantial truth of his statement, why his evidence should be disregarded. Taking 
therefore a broad view of the evidence of these two witnesses in the circumstances of 
this case to which we have already refer red, we are of opinion that the evidence is 
reliable and does prove execution and attestation, of the will in dispute. · 

20. This brinqs us to the evidence of the handwriting expert. In his report, the expert 
said that the testator's pen control in spite of his advanced years was well malntatned 
in 1943 and the specimens of the testator's writing in that year showed strength and 
ease and perfect control over the pen which was scarcely seen in the hand of an old 
man of about 9.2 y~ars. Further the report said that the change in the· testator's pen 
control between the years 1943 9nd was so slight as to be scarcely noticeable. But in 
1946 all of a sudden the pen control gave way and the hand shook and this resulted 
in deviations in the natural path of the strokes. The report further said that the main 
body of the will which is said to have been written in. 1943 showed strength in pen 
control and pressure which is found in the specimens of 1943 but the additions and 
the signature at the bottom of the will as well as i.n the margin showed that they 
must have been written late in 1946 after the testator had lost pen control. In his 
evidence the expert made some changes in his opinion. He said that deterioration in 
the signature of the testator began from March 1946 and this he said because he had 
to admit that! many signatures of January 1946 did not disclose any tremor. Further 
though in the report he had said that tremors began suddenly in 1946, in his 
evidence he admitted that in aid- age tremors appeared gradually and increased with 
passage of time. Further he was cross- examined with respect to certain signatures of 
the testator of the period befote 1946 which showed tremors and also with respect to 
certain signatures after 1946 which did not show tremors. He had to admit that some 
of these signatures shown to him did not conform to the pattern, namely, that there 
was pen control upto March 1946 and thereafter pen control was lost. He however 
explained these deviations from the pattern by reference to what he called "pen 
pressure" and "angularities" which according to him were different from loss of pen 
control. There is however no doubt that there are some signatures of the period upto 
March 1946 which show tremors and there are some signatures of the period after 
March 1946 which do not show much tremor. We may in this connection refer to Ex. 
E-36 and Ex. 23/1 of 1943, Ex. C/21 and Ex. E.53. of 1944 and Ex.E-75 of 1945 
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believe such a person when he says that he actually did go for a particular purpose to 
a particular place at a particular time. Some criticism was also made about 
Manmathanath's statement that he· did not know in which room his daughter used to 
live in the testator's house. We fail to see how this statement affects the credibility of 
the witness, for it is not disp1uted that the witness being the father-in-law of the 

· testator's son used to go to th~ testator's house as and when occasions arose. Some 
criticism was also made as to' whether Manmathanath wrote the word "witness" on 
the plan attached to the will. When asked about· it he stated that he did not 
remember, which seems to us to be a perfectly understandable answer in connection 
with ·a matter about which evidence was being given after 8 or 9 years. Stress was 
also laid on some discrepancies between the evidence of Manmathanath and 
Sambhunath Mynshi as to w~ether some children had come during the time they 
were there and if so when. These are however matters of such minor detail that they 
cannot affect the main evidence of these two witnesses. 
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We do not consider in the circumstances of this case that the evidence of the expert 
is conclusive and can falsify the evidence of the attesting witnesses and also the 
circumstances which go to show that this will must have been signed in 1943 as it 
purports to be. Besides it is necessary to observe that expert's evidence as to 
handwriting is opinion evidence and it can rarely, if ever, take the place of 
substantive evidence. Before aqting on such evidence it is usual to see if it. is 
corroborated etther by clear direct evidence or by . circumstantial evidence. In the 
present case all the probabilities are· against the expert's opinion and the direct 
testimony of the two attesting witnesses which we accept is wholly inconsistent with 
it. . 

22. Again it is not in dispute that the envelope containing the will bears the signature 
ofthe testator and the endorsement on it to the effect "Scshl, preserve this my wlll." 
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which clearly show tremors. Further Ex.C-38 of January 30, 1946 also clearly shows 
tremor and these are all before March from which time according to the expert tremor 
started. On the pther hand Ex. ·E-100 of June 1946 is admitted by the expert himself 
as, showing not m~ch tremor. We must not also forget that the testator was an old 
man of about 93 even in 1943 a~d therefore if sometimes his signatures were not as 
set as usual, tha~ mfy be explained partly by his extreme old-age. We agree with the 
District Judge th:at mo two signatures written by a person in the ordinary course of 
writing are precisely alike and di:fferences may arise from various factors such as 
diversity in the makes of the pen] the level of the signatures the space it occupies 
etc. and therefore it is difficult to 'generalise and it will indeed be dangerous to base 

. a decision upon such inconclusive data. All that can be said after a review of all the 
signatures from 1943 is; that as the testator's age increased his writing became more 
shaky, though as we have said before, there are examples of shaky signatures before 
1946 and also examples of not so shaky signatures after 1945. · 

21. This conclusion is in our opinion borne out by the various signatures on the will 
and the various writings therein which were made to fill in the blanks after the main 
body of the will had been written in January to March 1943. The full signature at the 
foot of the will does show some tremor but there are a number of signatures on the 
r'r'largit'l of th~ will wnien are not full anq some of them do not show much tremor 
though some do. Further according to the evidence of the attesting witnesses, the 
plan attached to the will was also signed at the same time as the will and the expert 
admitted in his evidence that the signature of the testator on the plan showed 
superior control and was not like the signature at the bottom of the will which 
according to the [expert showed failing pen control. If both these signatures were 
made on the same day--and there is no reason why they should· not have been, 
whether in 1943 or late in 1946--, it is remarkable that the one on the will, according 
to the expert, shows failing -pen control while the one on the plan does not disclose 
any tremor. The evidence of the expert therefore in these circumstances is not 
conclusive and cannot prove that the signature at the bottom of the will could not 
possibly have been made on August 29, 1943 on which date it purports to have been 
made. Besides it m~st not be Forgotten that the will was e~e~uMa in Au~u~t 1943 
soon after the testator had recovered from, a serious illness and if there is some· 
tremor here and there in his writing on that day, his illness may partly explain it. In 
this connection however our attention was drawn to some signatures made on 
September 1, 1943 only three days later which do not show much tremor: (see Ex. 
C/15). As we see the signature of September 1, 1943, we find that it is not quite so 
firm as some other signatures made later in the month of September. On the whole 
therefore we are not prepared to accept that the signature at the bottom of the will 
could not possibly have been made in August 1943 and must have been made late in 
1946. 
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24. On the whole therefore it seems to us that it has not. been established by the 
evidence of the expert that the signature at the bottom of the will could not be made 
on August 29, 1943 ee depQsed to t>Y. the attesting witnesses. In the circumstances of 

· this case, the view taken by the District Judge of the evidence of the expert, namely, 
"it would be in deed dangerous to base a decision upon such inconclusive data" 
appears to us to be correct We hold therefore on a review of the entire evidence that 
due execution and attestation of the will in dispute has been proved as alleged by the 
propounders and so the appel)ants are entitled to probate with a copy of the will 
attached. We therefore allow tre appeal, set aside the order of the High Court and 
restore that of the District Judgl=. The appellants will get their costs throughout. 

23. Finally we may point out that the expert admitted in hls evidence that it was only . 
by a chemical test that it could be definit~ly stated whether a particular writing was 
of a particular year or period. He also admitted that he applied no chemical tests in 
this case. So his opinion cannot on his own showing have that value which it might 
have had if he had applied a chemical test. Besides we may add that Osborn on 
"Questioned Documents" at p, 464 says even with respect to chemical tests that "the 
chemical tests to determine age also, as a rule, are a mere excuse to make a guess 
and furnish no reliable data upon which a definite opinion can be based". In these 
circumstances the mere opinion of the expert cannot override the positive evidence of 
the attesting witnesses in a case like this where there are no suspicious 
ci rcu msta nces. 
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Accordlnq to Soshi, this. closed envelope was given to him towards the end of 
December 1945 or beginning of January 1946. It would be safe to presume that both 
the signature and the endorsement on it were made at the same time. But if one 
looks at the endorsement one finds some tremor or deviation in the words "Soshi" 
and "preserve" while there is very little tremor or deviation in the signature of the 
testator. This shows that sometime even in the writing written at the same time 
tremor appeared in 'some words, even though other words did not have tremor. It 
may be that towards the latter part of 1946 and in 1942 the tremor became rather 
pronounced and was usually present all the time. · 
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The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
MOHAN M. S~~NTANAGOUDAR, J.:- These appeals are directed against the 

impugned judgment dated 12.06.2008 passed by the High Court of Andhra Pradesh at 
Hyderabad in Appeal Suit No. 1404 of 2004 and Cross-Objection (SR) No. 50168 of 
2004. 

2. By the impugned judgment, .the High Court has reversed the judgment of the 
Trial Court dated 05.12.2003 passed by the mrd Additional District Judge at 
Karimnagar in O.S. No. 91of1996, in which the Trial Court had decreed the suit. 

3. A suit for specific performance was filed by the plalntlff, Chennadi Jalapathi 
Reddy (the appellant herein) in respect of the agreement of sale dated 20.04,19~3 
pertaining to House No. 1-5-266 (new) situated at Kaman Road, Karimnagar. It is his 
case that the firfst ~efendant in the suit, Baddam Pratapa Reddy (the first respondent 
herein, now deceased) agreed .to sell the suit schedule house in hi,s favour; that he 
was always ready and wilUng to perform his part of the contract; and though he had 
sufficient money to get the sale !deed registered and had brought the availability of 
money to the notice of the first defendant, the latter did not execute the sale deed in 
his favour. The first defendant and his brother, Saddam Ram Reddy, sold their 
respective shares in the suit htjuse in favour of the second defendant, Neethi 
Satyanarayana (the second respondent herein) after execution of the agreement of 
sale in favour of the plaintiff. The suit was initially filed against the first defendant. The 
second defendant was impleaded subsequently. It is relevant to note here that the 
plaintiff purchased half of'·the suit property from the second defendant after the 
impugned judgment was passed by the High Court.' · 

4. The defendants in their written statement denied the case of the plaintiff, 
specifically alleging t~at the agreement of sale is forged. 

5. On evaluation of the material on record, the Trial Court decreed the suit. Vide the 
impugned judgment, the High Court dismissed the suit arid disposed of the appeal 
and cross-objections arising out of the judgment of the Trial Court. Hence, the instant 
appeals have been preferred before this Court. 

6. During the trial, the agreement of sale Ext. A-1 was sent for obtaining expert 
opinion on the genuineness of the signature of the first defendant thereon. DW-2 is 
the expert who examined it and his report is ·at Ext. B-2. He opined that the admitted 
signatures of the first defendant and the disputed signature do not tally, thereby 
meaning that it is forged. The Trial Court considered this expert opinion, but preferred 
not to rely on _it, inasmuch as it ruled that the expert opinion was not corroborated by 

Ctrnnnadi Jalapathi Raddy ..... App@llimt; 
v. 

Baddam Pratapa Reddy (Dead) Thr Lrs. and Another 
Respondents. 

In t'1' Supreme Court of India 
(BEFORE N.V. RAMANA~ MOHAN M. SHANTANAGOUDAR AND AJAY RASTOGI, JJ.) 

Civil Appeal Nos. 7818-7819 of 2009 
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any reliable evtdence. It also helc:1 that the evidence of the attesting witnesses (PWs 2 
and 3) is cogent and reliable, arid there is no reason why their evidence should be 
disbelieved to giye if.fay to the expert opinion. . 

7. Per. contra, the High Court splely relied upon the expert opinion ·and dismissed 
the suit by concluding that the signature of the first defendant on the agreement of 
sale Ext. A-1 is forged. -i. 

8. From the discussion of the High Court in arriving at this conclusion, we find that 
it has not assigned any valid reason for disbelieving the attesting witnesses PWs 2 and 
3. In fact, with respect to 'their evidence, the High Court made certain observations 
which are against the evidence on record. Similarly, with respect to PW-1, the High 
Court observed that he had not deposed as to the presence of the third attester, 
Krishna Murthy, at the time of execution of the agreement of sale. However, it is clear 
from the evidence of PW-1 that he has specifically deposed about the presence of 
Krishna Murthy a~ ~na~ ~irne. It was also wrongly observed by ths High Court that PWs 
1 and 2 are silent as to the time and place of the execution of the agreement. 
However, in his examination-in-chief, PW-2 has clarified that the first defendant 
executed this agreement at the suit schedule house, at a time when he was residing 
there and the plaintiff was residing in the western .slde of the house, etc .. From the 
aforementioned facts, it is clear that the High Court disbelieved the evidence of the 
plaintiff (PW1) and the attestors (PWs 2 and 3) on mere assumptions and wrong 
reasons. · 

9. In any c:as~, to satisfy our conscience, we have gone through the evidence of 
PWs 1, 2, and 3. ir.s rightly observed by the Trial Court, there is nc reason to disbelieve 
these witnesses, whose evidence is consistent, cogent, and reliable. Though they were 
subjected to lengthiY cross-examination, nothing noteworthy has been brought out 
from their deposition to discard their evidence. Thus, the evidence of PWs 1, 2, and 3 
fully supports the case of the plaintiff and In our considered opinion, t:h~ Hi~h Court 
was not justified in rejecting their evidence. 

10. As mentioned supra, the High Court mainly relied upon the opinion evidence of 
DW-2, the handwriting expert, who opined that the signature-of the first defendant on 
the agreement of sale Ext. A-1 did not tally with his admitted signatures. · 

11. By now, it is wel.-settled that the Court must be cautious while evaluating 
expert evidence, which is a weak type of evidence and not substantive in nature. It is 
also settled that it may not be safe to solely rely upon such evidence, and the Court 
may seek independent and reliable corroboration in the facts of a given case. 
Generally, mere expert evidence as to a fact is not regarded as conclusive proof of it. 
In this respect, reference may b~ made to a long line of precedents that includes Ram 
Chandra and Ram Bharosey v. State of Utter Pradesh, AIR 1957 SC 381, Shashi Kumar 
Banerjee v. Subodh Kumar Banerjee, AIR 1964 SC 529, Magan Bihari Lal v. State of 
Punjab, (1977) 2 SCC 210, and S. Gopal Reddy v. State of Andhra Pradesh, ·(1996) 4 
sec 596. 

12. We may particularly refer to the decision of the Constitution Bench of this Court 
in -Shashi Kumar Banerjee (supra), where it was observed that the evidence of a 
handwriting expert can rarely be given precedence over substantive evidence. In the 
said case, the Court chose to disregard the testimony of the handwriting expert as to 
the disputed signature of the testator of a Will, finding such evidence to be 
inconclusive. The Court instead relied 'on the clear testimony of· the two attesting 
witnesses as well as. the circumstances surrounding the execution of the Will. 

13. On the otherhand.Jn Murari Lal v. State of Madhya Pradesh, (1980) 1 SCC 704, 
this Court emphasised that reliance on expert testimony cannot be precluded merely 
because it is not corroborated by independent evidence, though the Court must still 
approach such evidence with caution and determine its creditworthiness after 

SCC Online Web Edition, Copyright© 2019 
Page 2 Monday, September 23, 2019 
Printed For: Meenakshi Arora 
SCC 

1Qnline 
Web Edition: http:/lwww.scconline.com 

sec~ 
mt.J¢mijllf 

:t'lrL$Wt.'l(IW:fll04'p;./~4Jd( 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



considering all othJr relevant evidence. After. examining the decisions referred to 
supra, the Court was of the opinion that these decisions merely laid down a rule of 
caution, and there is no legal rule that mandates corroboration of the opinion evidence 
of a handwriting expert. At the same time, the Court noted that Section 46 of the 
Indian Evidence Act, 1872 (hereinetter "the Evidence Act") expressly makes opinion 
evidence open to challenge on facts. 

14. In Alamgir v. State (NCT, Delhi), (2003) 1 SCC 21, without referring to Section 
46 of th~ EvidM~~ A~t, tnis Court ~eiterated the observations in Murari Lill (supra) and 
stressed that the Court must exercise due care and caution while determining the 
creditworthiness of expert evidence. 

15. In our considered opinion, the decisions in Murari Lal (supra) and Alamgir 
(supra) strengthen the proposition that it is the duty of the Court to approach opinion 
evidence cautiously while determining its reliability and that the Court may seek 
independent corroboration of such evidence as a general rule of prudence. Clearly, 
these observations in Murari Lal (supra) and Alamgir (supra) do not go against the 
proposition stated in Shashi Kumar Banerjee (supra) that the evidence of a 
handwriting expert ~hould rarely 9e given precedence over substantive evidence. 

16. In light of these principles, it is necessary to evaluate the correctness of the 
findinqs of the f-:ligh 'Court as to the genuineness of the signature of the first defendant 
on i::xt. A-1. 

17. As mentioned earlier, Ext; A-1 is the agreement of sale entered into by the 
plaintiff and the first ,defendant. Ext. A-2 is the receipt evldenclnq the payment of 
earnest money. of Rs. 61,200/- in pursuance. of this agreement of sale. The receipt 
bears the signature of the first defendant on the revenue stamps affixed thereon. 
Curiously, Ext. A-2 was not sent for obtaining expert opinion. At the same time, no 

. reliable material was brought on record that the first defendant has not received the 
amount under Ext. A-2. In th)e absence of any challenge to the first defendant's 
signature on Ext. A-2, and in th~ absence of any reliable material produced by the first 
defendant to deny the recei~t of such earnest money, the High Court, in our 
eon~idered opinion, should havQ rnlh;}d upon tms receipt. In fact, we find. that the High 
Court has not considered Ext. A-2 in its entire judgment. As a matter of fact, Ext. A-1 
and Ext. A-2 go hand in hand, and Ext. A-2 should not-have been ignored by the High 
Court. 

18. Moreover, merely because the plaintiff's signature was not present on the 
agreement of sale, this would not ipso facto nullify the agreement altogether. This is 
because the aqreernent was signed by the first defendant and clearly reveals that he 
had agreed to ~ell_ the property) to the plaintiff for a due consideration of Rs. 1,20,000/ 
-. This agreement was followed by Ext. A-2, which shows the payment and receipt of 
the earnest money. In addition to the signature of the first defendant, this receipt 
bears the signature of the plaintiff on revenue stamps. As mentioned earlier, Ext. A-1 
and Ext. A-2 are part of the same transaction. Thus, the contention that absence of 
the plaintiff's signature on Ext. A-1 nullifies the agreement altogether, cannot be 
accepted. 

19. In addition to this, the evidence of DW-3 (the brother of the first defendant) 
belies the alleg*ion of the first defendant that the signature found on Ext. A-1 is 
forged. DW-3 specifically admitted during his cross-examination that he could identify 
the signature of the first defendant, who is his elder brother. He has further admitted 
that Ext. A-1 and! E;:xt. B-1 bears the signature of the first defendant. It may be noted 
here that a partition had taken place between the first defendant and DW-3 in the year 
1980, and such partition was effected through Ext. B-1, an unregistered partition 
deed. Crucially, the first defendant has also admitted his signature on Ext. B-1 in his 
cross-examination. Thus, it is clear that such admitted signature and the disputed 
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signature of the first defendant have been identified by his brother as those of the first 
defendant himself. 

20. Undoubtedly, the opinion of a handwriting expert is a relevant fact under 
Section 45 of the Evidence Act. Under Section 47 of the Evidence Act, the opinion of 
any person acquainted with the handwriting· of the person by whom it is supposed to 
be written or signed is also a relevant fact. 

21. Per the explanation to Section 47 of the Evidence Act, a person is said to be 
acquainted wit~ the handwritibg of another person when he has seen that person 
write, or when he has received documents purported to be written by that person in 
answer to documents written by himself or under his authority and addressed to that 
person, or when, in the ordinary course of business, documents purporting to be 
written by that person have been habitually submitted to him. ' 

22. A reading of Section 47 of the Evidence Act makes it clear that this provision is 
concerned with the relevance of the opinion of a person who is acquainted with the 
handwriting of another person. The. Explanation to this Section goes on to enumerate 
the circumstanc1s in which a person may be said to have such acquaintance. · 

23. In the matter at hand, DW-3, in his cross-examination, has identified the 
disputed signature of the first defendant (his elder brother) on Ext. A-1. He also stated 
that the suit schedule house was constructed when he was 25 years old; a partition 
was effected in 1980, after which he and the first defendant occupied their respective 
shares in the house; and that he finally sold his share in 1996 (when he was aged 
about 58 years). This goes on to show that DW-3 lived and resided with the first 
defendant in the same house for over three decades. Moreover, as mentioned ~~l'li~I', 
DW-3 identified the first defendant's signature on Ext. B-1 (the partition deed), which 
has been admitted by the first defendant himself. In light of this, and given that DW-3 
came in to support the case of his brother, the first defendant before the Court, it can 
be inferred that their relations were cordial even after partition and that DW-3 would 
have seen the latter write on multiple occasions in normal course of family affair. Thus, 
it is clear that, .he was acquainted with the handwriting of the first defendant in terms 
of the Explanation ~o Section 47 of the Evidence Act. This makes his, opinion as to the 
disputed handwriting a relevant f~q under Section 47. 

24. At this ju~Ftqre, it would be apposite _to observe that the weight to be accorded 
to such an opinion depends on the extent of familiarity shown by the witness with the 
disputed handwriting. This, in turn( depends on the frequency with which the witness 
has had occasion to notice and observe the handwriting, his own power of observation, 
and hOW recent 5U'h Qb~erVgtj~m~1 W~r~, ln light of the facts discussed above, which 
go on to show the familiarity of DW-3 with the handwriting of the first defendant, we 
conclude that the testimony. of DW-3 may safely be relied upon, and must be accorded 
similar, if not greater, weight than the expert evidence adduced by the defendants to 
advance their case. This conclusion is further strengthened by the fact that the first 
defendant neither challenged DW-3's admission nor his acquaintance with the 
disputed handwriting; although it was open for him to do so by way of re-examination. 

25. The adrnlsslon by ow.;3 is further supported by the cogent and consistent 
testimony of the plaintiff (PW-1) and attesting witnesses (PWs 2 and 3), and the fact 
that the first defendant has hot denied his signature on Ext. A-2 (the receipt of 
payment of earnest money). Having regard to the totality of the facts ·and 
circumstances, we conclude that the disputed signature of the first defendant on Ext. 
A-1 is genuine. Moreover, keeping in mind the principle that expert evidence should 
not be given precedence over ·substantive evidence, in our considered opinion, the 
High Court was not justified in giving precedence to the opinion of the expert (DW-2) 
arid solely relying upon his testimony to set aside the judgment and.decree of the Trial 
Court. 
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26. In any cas~, to satisfy oJr·conscience, we have examined the admitted and. 
disputed signatures ourselves, and find that the signatuq:s are virtually the same. 
However, in this case, it is unnecessary for us to rely on our own comparison in light of 
the material on· record, as discussed above. We hasten to emphasize that we have not 
been prejudiced by our own comparison in appreciating the evidence and reaching our 
conclusion . 

. 27. There is another reason why we are not inclined to place reliance on the opinion 
of the expert DW-2. From a .. perusal of his report Ext. B-2, it is evident that barring the 
signature on a written statement in a prior suit, all other admitted signatures of the 
first defendant are of a period subsequent to the filing of the plaint (i.e. on the 
vakalatnama and the written statement filed in this suit itself).. These admitted 
signatures taken subsequent to the filing of the suit could not have been used as a 
valid basis of comparison, and their use for this purpose casts serious doubt on the 
reliability of the entire report E;xt. B-2. Thus, the report was liable to be discarded on 
this ground alone, and was wro'ngly relied upon by the High Court. 

28. Moreover, the High Court has wrongly observed that the plaintiff has not 
produced any evidence to prove that he demanded the performance of sale after the 
execution of the agreement of sale. The filing of a suit for specific performance of an 
agreement of sale is governed by Section 16(c) of the Specific Relief Act, 1963, read 
with Artide 54 of the Schedule of the Limitation Act, 1963. In addition to this, Forms 
47 and 48 of Appendix A of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 prescribe the format of 
the plaint for such a suit. Thus, a plaint which seeks the relief of specific performance 
of an agreement/contract must comply with all these requirements. In the matter at 
hand, the plaintiff h~s specifically averred in his plaint that he was ready and willing to 
perform his part of the contract under the agreement of sale dated 20.0't.1993. It was 
also specifically stated that the plaintiff had been demanding that the first defendant 
receive the balance consideration of Rs. 58,800/- and execute a regular registered sale 
deed at his cost, but the first defendant had been avoiding the spedflc perfort'r'lal'l~~ Of 
the agreement of sale. In light of this, in our considered opinion, all the formalities 
which are to be pl~a<;!ed and proved by the plaintiff for getting a decree of specific; 
performance have been fulfilled. Moreover, there cannot be any proof of oral demand. 
Be that as it may, we are satisfied from the evidence that the plaintiff had sufficient 
money to pay the balance consideration to the first defendant and was ready and 
willing to perform his part of the contract. 

29. In view of the aforementioned reasons, the impugned judgment of the High 
Court is liable to be set aside. Accordingly, the judgment and decree passed by the 

. Trial Court stands restored. The appeals are allowed accordingly. 
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t From the Judgment and Order dated 1-9-2010 of the High Court of Punjab and Haryana at 
Chandigarh in Crl. Revision No. 1558 of2010: S.P.S. Rathore v. CBI, 2010 SCC Onl.ine P&H 
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Versus 
CENTRAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION · 

AND ANOTHER . . Respondents. 

Criminal Appeal No. 2126 of201Qt, decided on September 23, 2016 

A. Penal Code, 1860 - S. 354 - Molestation of a girl about 15 yrs of 
age - Conviction of accused - Validity of - Essential ingredients of offence 
under S. 354 IPC, summarised 

- Appellant-accused being ~G of Pollce - He running a Lawn Tennis 
Association, of which victim was a member - Incident of molestation 
happe3ing in the office room of accused in the association building, which 
was wi nessed by vlcttni's friend (PW 13), who was also a member of the 
associa ion - Conviction of accused under S. 354 IPC, by an_ t_he courts below, 
confir ed - Victim had afterwards commltted suicide, but charge under 
S. 306 IPC added by trial court was set aside by High Court, which was 
affirmed by Supreme Court 

- Held, act of molestation was very well proved fro in deposition of PW 13, 
being eyewitness to the incident - No reason present for her to depose falsely 
- Evidence of victim's father (PW 15) corroborates PW 13's evidence - 
Fact regarding molestation by appellant, stated on oath by father of victim and 
parents of eyewitness; as well as other prosecution witnesses - Number of 
persons, mMtly plny~:rs 4nd their p!ll'enw, giving memorandum lo Secretary 
(Home) of the State, and its copies to other authorities, for bringing aforesaid 
incident to the notice 1 of higher authorities, including the CM of State, after 
signing it, which was also signed by the victim - All witnesses identified 
their signatures as well a$ that of victim, when they were examined in court - 
DGP of relevant time, who was directed by State Govemment to hold enquiry 
into the allegations levelled against arpellant in the memorandum, and who 
concluded that allegation was based on true facts and cognizable case was 
made out against appellant, was the authority competent to investigate fact 
in questipn and statements given by witnesses before him are admissible in 
e~idence, irrespectiv~ of time-gap between the time when the incident occurred 
and the date on which statements were given - Delay of. about 6 days in 
presenting the complaint has been fully explained 

, - Claim of appellant that present case was fabricated and a result of rivalry 
between HLTA (his tennis association) and HTA (another tennis association 
formed later on by IAS group with Das its President and patronage of 0) and 
D and O MlludM with PW 1 (father of PW 13) agrumt sppetlam and that PW 1 
has derived professional benefit from such exercise besides venting his long- 

b 
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standing grudge against the appellant, does. not stand to. logic having regard to 
Indian social set up, where any father (here PW 15) would not let his daughter's 
honour and reputation be damaged merely because one of his associates (here 
PW 1) has his own agenda against appellant - Further, there is no evidence 
on record to substantiate the allegations that the two officers D and Q, were in 
any "Vay instrumental in pr~paration of memorandum or implicating appellant 
in the case - There is also no evidence on record to suggest any nexus of the 
two officers with PWs 1 and 15 - There is no evidence to suggest any enmity 
between appellant and PW 1 to implicate him in a fabricated case 

_:_On aforesaid facts, it is clear that 'pw 13 (eyewitness, victim's friend) 
withstood her testimony from beginning till the end and her deposition was 
found reliable and corroborative with other prosecution witnesses -'Hence, 
both courts below were right in upholding conviction of appellant under S. 354 
IPC · (Paras 30 to 56) 

B. ~vidence Act, 1872 - Ss. 45, 47 and 60 - Handwriting expert - 
Eviden~an value of - Direct evidence of persons having witnessed a person 
signing a document vis-a-vis contrary evidence of handwriting expert - Role 
of court- Principles explained 

_,.,,,. Held, sole evidence of a handwriting e?lpert is not 1wrmally ~vffic;;eqt 
for recording a definite finding about the writing being of a certain person or 
not - A court is competent to compare the disputed writing of a person with 
others which arc admitted or proved to be his writings - It may not be safe for a 
court to record a finding about a person's writing in a certain document merely 
on basis of expert comparison, but a court can itself compare the writings in 
order to appreciate properly the other evidence produced before it in that regard 
- It is n9t essential that the handwriting expert must be examined iI;1 a case 
to prove 9r disprove the disputed writing - It is opinion evidence and it can 
rarely, if ever, take the placf of substantive evidence - It is thus cleat, that 
uncorroborated evidence of a handwriting expert is an extremely weak type of 
eviden~~ artd the same should not be relied upon either for the. conviction or for 
acquittal - Courts should, therefore, be wary to give too much weight to the 
evidence of handwriting expeft - Before acting on such evidence, it is usual 
to see if it is corroborated ei ther by clear, direct evidence or by circumstantial 
evidence 

- In instant case of molestation of a girl by appellant-accused an IO of 
Police, number of persons gave memorandum to Secretary (Home) of the State, 
and its copies to other authorities, for bringing aforesaid incident to the notice 
of higher authorities, including the CM of State, after signing it, which was 
also signed tiy the victim R - All witnesses identified their signatures as well 
as that of vittim, when they were examined in court - Appellant disputed 
genuineness of signatures of R - He tried to substantiate his contention by 
examining handwriting expert.- Held, contention of appellant is not tenable 
as the witnesses who were examined by prosecution and in whose presence the 
memorandum was signed, have identified the signatures of R - In such regard, 
the law is very clear that a fact should be proved by the best available evidence 
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- ~he witnesses had identified the signatures of R on memorandum, therefore, 
the evidence of the hanc;iw1riting expert cannot be considered to be safe and it 
requires corroboration from independent witnesses - As the signatures of R . 
have been proved by the witnesses who have signed the memorandum and are 
direct, primary and best available evidence in the case, therefore, the same can 
be relied upon=-. Penal Code, 1860. S. 354 (Paras 33 and 47 and 50) 

C. Evidence Act, 1872 - Ss. 157 and 6 - Scope of S. 157 - "Authority 
legally competent to investigate matter" - Who ls- Delay in making of such 
statements - Effect on admissibility - Difference in posltlon re statement 
made to an authority and to a non-authority, in the context of S.157,.explained · 

- Held, S. 157 envisages two categories of statements of witnesses, which 
can be used for corroboration - First is the statement made by a witness to 
any person at or about the time when the incident took place - Second is the 
statement made by a witness to any authority legally competent to investigate 
the matter, and such statement made to such authority gains admissibility, no 
matter· that it was made long after the incident -:- But if the statement was 
made to non-authority with delay, it loses its probative value due to lapse of 
time 

-:-- Instant case of molestation of a girl-about 15 yrs of age by appellant· 
accused, an IO of Police - DGP Rr at the relevant time was asked by the 
State Government to enquire into the facts given in the memorandum given by 
numberof persons regarding the incident, and report thereon - Contention of 
appellant; that the statement recorded by Rr cannot be used by prosecution for 
the purpose of corroboration under S. 157, Evidence Act - Held, contention 
of appellant is not tenable at all - Rr was an authority legally competent to 
investigate the incident- He was asked by State Government to enquire into 
the facts given in the memorandum and report thereon - To make a person 
an authority legally competent to investigate, it is not necessary that he should 
be having authority which flows from a statute - It is sufficient that such 
person was authorised legally by State Government to investigate the matter­ 
Hence, Rr was the authority competent to investigate the fact in question and the 
statements given by the witnesses before him are admissible in evidence under 
S. 157 for the purpose of corroboration, irrespective of the time gap between 
the time when the incidents occurred and the date on which the statements were 
~iv~n - n,. wag in raet enmpetent to inve~ti~at~ the matter since the enquiry 
conducted by him was merely a fact-finding-enquiry - Penal Code, 1860, 
S. 354 - (Paras 37 to 39) 

D. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973-S.154- Delay in lodging/filing FIR 
- Duly explained - Instant case of molestation of a girl about 15 yrs of age by 
appellant-accused, an IG of Police- Held, delay of about 6 days in presenting 
complaint to the SHO has been duly explained 

- In a tradition-bound non-permissive society in India, it would be 
extremely reluctant to admit that any incident which is likely to reflect 
upon chastity of a woman· had occurred, being conscious of danger of being 
ostraci~ed by society or being looked down by society - Herein, victim 
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-'- Held, in order to constitute the offence under S. 354 JPC, mere 

knowledge that the modesty of a woman is likely to be outraged is sufficient 
without any deliberate intention of having such outrage alone for its object - 
If intention or knowledge is one of the ingredients of any offence, it has got 
Lo be proved like other ingredients for convicting a person - But, it is also 
equally true that those ingredients being state of mind may not be proved by 
direct evidence - Therefore, they may have to be inferred from the attending 
circumstances of a given case - In instant case of molestation of girl by 
appellimt-accm@d, the sequence of events, indicatuii that apptilhmt tml mfW§it~ 
culpable intention for th~ crime committed - Evidence Act, 1872 - Ss. 14 
and 15 - Proof of intention or knowledge · (Paras 42 to 45) 

F. Criminal Trial - Witnesses - Generally - If a particular number 
of witnesses are required for proving a certain fact - Determination of - 
Adverse inference, if warranted due to non-examination of certain witnesses . f 

- Held, no particu ar number of witnesses are required for proving a 
certain fact - It is quality and not quantity of witnesses that matters - 
Evidence is weighed and not counted - Evidence of even a single eyewitness, 
truthful, consistent and inspiring confidence, is sufficient for maintaining 
conviction - It is not necessary that all those persons who were present at the g 
spot of incident must be examined by the prosecution in order to prove guilt 
of accused ++- Having examined all witnesses, even if other persons present 
nearby are not examined, evidence of eyewitness cannot be discarded 

- Instant case of molestation of a girl about 15 yrs of age by appellant­ 
accused- Victim R was member of lawn tennis association of appellant - 
Contention of appellant, that non-examination of two important site witnesses 
viz. P, the ball picker and T, the Coach, leads to adverse inference against 

R; who was member of lawn tennis association of appellant, not informing 
about the incident of her molestation by appellant to her. parents under the 
circumstances that appellant, who being a very senior police officer of the a 
State, was reasonable, and it would not have been an easy decision for her 
to speak out - In the normal course of human conduct, unmarried minor 
girl would not like to give publicity to the traumatic experience she has 
undergone and felt terribly embarrassed in relation to the incident to narrate it 
to her parents and others, overpowered by a feeling of shame, and her natural 
inclination. would be to avoid talking about it to anyone, lest the family name b 
and honour is brought into controversy - After informing the incident to her 
parents, the follow-up action was immediately taken by the residents and the 
fellow players and a memorandum containing allegations against appellant 
w~ pr~p"r~Q. anQ. submitted before the then Secretary (Horne) - Therefore, 
giving due consideration to ~ppellant, once the victim and her family members 
got assuraqce of justice from the superior authorities, they lodged a formal c 
complaint against the appellant- Penal Code, 1860, S. 354 (Para 46) 

E. Penal Code, 1860 - S. 354 - Intention to molest/outrage modesty - 
Nature and extent of proof necessary - Intention or knowledge, being one of 
the ingredients of any offence - Proof of 
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the prosecution - I{eld, High Court has rightly h0eld that adverse inference 
against prosecution can be drawn only if it withholds certain evidence and 
not merely on account of its failure to obtain certain evidence - Moreover, 
aforementioned witnesses were not in any way connected with the actual 
commission of offence and even in their absence, commission of offence of 
molestation by appellant, stands well proved by unimpeachable testimony of 
the eyewitness (PW 13) to the incident - Penal Code, 1860 - S. 354 - 
Evidence Act, 1872, Ss. 135 and 144 Ill. (g) (Paras 52 to 54) 

G. Penal Code, 1860- S. 354- Molestation of a girl of about 15 yrs of 
age by accused - Defence plea of false implication - Tenability of - Duty 
of court in cases relating to crime against women 

- Held, there is devastating increase in cases relating to crime against 
women in the world and India is also no exception to it - Although statutory 
provisions provide strict penal action against such offenders, it is for the courts 
tQ ~timtttely decide whether such incident has occurred or not - The courts 
should be more cautious in appreciating the evidence and the accused should 
not be left scot-free merely on flimsy grounds - Herein, by the consistent 
evidence of PW 13 (eyewitness), the prosecution has proved beyond reasonable 
doubt the offence committed by the appellant-accused under S. 354 :(PC -~­ 
A charge under S. 354 ll'C is one which is very easy to make and is very 
difficult to rebut - It is riot on account of alleged enmity between appellant 
and D and 0, that he was falsely implicated - It would, however, be unusual 
in a conservative society, that a woman would be used as a pawn to wreak 
vengeance -When a plea is taken by appellant that he was falsely implicated, 
the courts have a duty to make deeper scrutiny of evidence and decide the 
acceptability or otherwise of accusations made against him - In the instant. 
case, both trial court and High Court have done that - There is .no scope 
for taking a different.vi~w.from the view Altwty bMn tak~n by MUrlS below 
- 

1occfrrence of overt act is well proved by the unimpeachable testimony of 
eyewitness (PW 13) (Para 41) 

H. Penal Code, 1860 - S. 354 - Reduction. of sentence - Consideration 
of mitigating factors like ojd age, health ailments, etc. of accused, and sentence 
imposed by trial court vis-a-vlsenhanced sentence imposed in appeal 

:- Molestation of a girl about 15 yrs of age by appellant-accused - His 
conviction under. S. 354 IPC, confirmed by Supreme Court - Held, with regard 
to sentence of appellant, certain mitigating factors were pointed out, which 
are old age of appellant, health ailments, responsibility of looking after his 
unmarried daughter suffering from congenital heart disease, past meritorious 
service record and prolonged trial - Keeping in view the aforementioned 
factors, especially the old age and physical condition of appellant, it is not 
expedient to put him back in jail - While findings as to guilt of appellant is 
upheld, sentence of appellant is reduced to the period already undergone by 
him of mor~ thM ~i~ month~ (which Wfrn the sentenee imposed by tnal couru ns 
a special case considering his very advanced age, instead of enhanced sentence 
of 1 Vi yrs imposed by appellate court (Para 55 and footnote 7) 

a 
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In the present case, the appellant-accused, a member of the prestigious service 
of India (being IG of Police), was on deputation with Bhakhra Beas Management 
Board (BBMB), Chandigarh as Director (Vigilance & Security) at the relevant 
time. He also founded the Haryana Lawn Tennis Association (HLTA) in the yea,r 
1988 at Panchkula, The office of HLTA was established in the garage of an under 
construction building· owned by the appellant. HLTA enrolled several member 
players, who were mostly nearby residents of Panchkula, on payment of monthly 
subscription. 

~ (slnce deceased), daughter of PW 15 and A (PW 13), daughter of PW 1 and 
M (PW 2, the complainant), both aged about 15 years, residents of Panchkula, got 
themselves enrolled as m~mbers of HLTA. Both of them were good friends and 
used to go together for pra4ticl.'i at the tennis court. The appellant was also a frequent 
visitor to the said tennis court. One day, when R informed the appellant about her 
plan to go abroad, the appellant met her father PW 15 on 11-8-1990 in order to 
persuade him to not to send his daughter out of the country for specialised tennis 
coaching anti promised that special coaching would be arranged for her at HLTA 
ilself and also asked him to send R to his office on the very next day in connection 
with the same. PW 15 informed the same to his daughter R and asked her to meet 
the appellant in his office on 12-8-1990. · 

On' 12-8-1990, R visited the house of A and told her about the visit of the . 
appellant to her house and also that he had called her in his office. When both of 
them were ~ractising in_ thf. te~s court, P,. the ball picker'. informed R, that the 
appellant had called her in liis office. Accordingly, R along with A, went to meet the 
appellant who was standing outside the office at that particular point of time. The 
appellant insisted them to come .inside the office. On his insistence, both the girls 
went inside the office. The appellant got fetched one chair which was occupied by 
A and R kept standing while the appellant sat in his chair- which was on the other 
side of the table. The appellant requested A to call for T, the Coach. Accordingly, 
A went outsjde leaving behind the appellant and R in the office. A asked the person 
who fetchcq the chair for her in the office to inform the coach to come to the office 
of the appellant. However, the coach refused to come. 

Immediately thereafter, when A returned to the office, she witnessed thatR was · 
in the grip of the appellant, who was holding one hand of R in his hand and his 
other hand was around her waist. The appellant was pulling her towards his chest 
go ss to embrace ber and R was trying to push him bauk with bur nee bWid. 

On seeing A (PW 13), the appellant got frightened and released R and fell on 
his chair. The appellant asked A to go out of his room again and personally bring. 
the coach with her. The appellant insisted R to stay in his room, but she somehow 
managed to escape. Thereafter, R narrated the whole incident to A. After discussion, 
both the girls decided not to inform the same to their parents as the appellant, being 
IG of Police, could involve or harass them and their parents. 

On 14-8-1990,R along with A went to the lawn tennis court at about4:30 p.m., 
instead of their usual timing, in order to .avoid the appellant, who used to visit the 
court in the evening. When both the girls were about to return, at about 6:30 p.m., 
P, the ball picker, came out of the court and told R that the appellant had called 
her In his office. However, R refused to meet him and pointed out to A that since 
they had not informed their parents about the misbehaviour of the appellant on 
12-8-1990, 'the appellant was feeling emboldened and had again called her to his 
office with ,a view to molest her. Thereafter, both of them decided to disclose the 
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incident that took place on 12-8-1990 to their respective parents. Accordingly, R 
narrated the incident of her molestation at the hands of the appellant to her father. 
Also, the parents of A were made aware of the entire incident. 

On hearing such fact, PW 15 gathered the residents of the locality, who 
were mostly parents of trainee boys and girls, and they went to HLTA office to 
meet the appellant, but they were informed that the appellant had already left for 
Chandigarh. On 15-8-1990, a memorandum/petition, duly signed by R, A, PW 1 
and PW 2, w.as presented to the then Secretary (Home), Haryana. After the approval 
6f lhe J.fom~ Min.i!lt~r. RP, the then DGP, was direct@d to hold an inquiry into the 
allegations levelled against the appellant in the memorandum/petition. 

After conducting the enquiry into the incident, Rr concluded that the allegation 
of molestation is based on true facts and a cognizable case is made out against 
the app1ellant under the provisions of IPC and forwarded bis enquiry report 
dated 319-1990 to the Secretary (Home), Government of Haryana. · 

Du~ing investigation, it was also revealed that after the incident of molestation, 
R confined herself in her house. Later, on 28-12-1993, she committed suicide by 
consuming poison and died on 29-12-1993. 

When no action was taken by the State Government, PW 2 (the complainant/ 
Respondent 2) filed a criminal writ petition before the High Court. The High Court, 
issued direction to the Superintendent of Police, Panchkula, that after registration 
of the ~a~;, tll; iJm~ti~iHi91J ~)l~ll be handed over to tile Central Bureau of 
Investigation (CBI) and the same shall be conducted by an officer not below the 
rank of DIG, which was upheld by the Supreme Court, which culminated into 
registration of FIR against the .appellant, 

Tl\C trial court belq the appellant guilty under Section 354 !PC and sentenced 
him to suffer RI for six months along with a fine of Rs 1000. The appellate 
court enhanced the sentence to RI for I Yz years (one and a half), but sentence .of 
fine remained unchanged, which was affirmed by High Court in criminal revision 
preferred by the appel,ant. Hence the instant appeal. 

Confirming the conviction of the appellant under Section 354 IPC, while 
modifying the sentence to the period already undergone, the Supreme Court 

Held: 
In. order to constitute the offence under Section 354 IPC, mere knowledge that . 

U1e modesty of a woman is Hkelr to be outraied is sufficient without any deliberate 
'intention of having such outrage alone for its object. There is no abstract conception 
of modesty that can apply to all cases. A careful approach has to be adopted by 
the court while dealing with a case alleging outrage of modesty. ·The essential 
ingredients of the offence under Section 354 IPC are as under: 

(i) that the person assaulted must be a woman; 
(ii) that the accused must have used criminal force on her; and 
(iii) that the criminal force must have been used on the woman intending 

thereby to outrage her modesty. (Paras 42 and 43) 
I 

Viqyadharan v. State of Kera/a, (2004) 1 SCC 215 : 2004 SCC (Cri) 260, relied on 

It is undoubtedly correct that if intention or knowledge is one of the ingredients 
of any offence, it has got to be proved like other ingredients for convicting a 

a 
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The Judgment of the c;:ourt was delivered by . 
R.~. AGRAWAL, J.-This appeal has been filed agains.t the judgment and 

order dated 1-9-2010 passed by the High Court of Punjab and Haryana at 
Chandigarh in S.P.S. Rathore v. CBJI whereby the learned Single Judge o'.f the 
High Court dismissed the revision petition filed by the appellant herein. 

Brief facts 
· · 2. S.P.S, Rathore, the appellant-accused, a member of the prestigious 

service lof the country, was on deputation with Bhakhra Beas Management 
Board (BBMB), Chandigarh as Director (Vigilance & Security) at the relevant 
time. He also founded the Haryana Lawn Tennis Association (HLTA) in the 
year 1988. 

3. The office of HLTA was established in the garage of House No. 4(:)9, 
Sector 6, Panchkula, an under construction building owned by the appellant­ 
accused which was divided into three portions wherein front portion was 
being used as the office of HLTA and the other two portions were being 
utilised by T. Thomas and Kuldeep Singh, Coach and Manager respectively 
of the Association for residential purposes. HLTA enrolled several member 
players who were mostly nearby residents of Panchkula on payment of monthly 
subscription. 

4. Ms Ruchika (since deceased), daughter of Shri S.C. Girhotra and 
Ms Aradhana alias Reemu, daughter of Shri Anand Prakash and Madhu 
Prakash (the complainant), both aged about 15 years, residents of Panchkula 
got themselves.enrolled as members ofHLTA. Both of them were good friends 
and usdd to go together for practice at the tennis court. The appellant-accused 
was als~ a frequent visitor to the said tennis court. One day, when Ms Ruchika 
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informed the appellant-accused about her plan to go abroad, the appellant­ 
accused met her father, Shri S.C. Girhotra on 11-8-1990 in order to persuade 
him to not to send his daughter out of the countryfor specialised tennis coaching a 
and promised that special coaching would be arranged for her at HLTA itself 
and also asked him to send Ruchika to his office on the very next day in 
connection with the same. Shri Girhotra informed the same to his daughter 
Ruchika and asked her to meet the appellant-accused in his office on 12-8-1990. 

5. On 12-8-1990, Ms Ruchika visited the house of Ms Aradhana and told 
her about the visit· of the appellant-accused to her house and also that he had b 
called her in his office. When both of them were practising in the tennis court, 
Paltoo, the ball picker, informed Ms Ruchika that the appellant-accused had 
called her in his office. Accordingly, Ms Ruchika along with Ms Aradhana 
went to meet the appellant-accused who was standing outside the office at 
that particular point of time. The appellant-accused insisted them to come 
inside the office. On his insistence, both the girls went inside the office. The c 
appellant-accused got fetched one chair which was occupied by Ms Aradhana 
and Ms Ruchika kept standing on the right side of Ms Aradhana while the 
appellant-accused sat in his chair which was on the other side of the table. The 
appellant-accused requested Ms Aradhana to call for Mr Thomas, the coach.' 
Accordingly, Mg Al'llOhAna went outside leaving behind the appellant-accused 
and Ms Ruchika in the office. Ms Aradhana asked the person who fetched the <;J 

chair for her in the office to inform the coach to come to the office of the 
. appellant-accused. However, the coach refused to come. 

6. Immediately thereffter, when Ms .Aradhana returned to the office, she 
witnessed that Ms Ruchika was in the grip of the appellant-accused, who was 
holding one hand of Ruchika in his hand and his other hand was around her 
waist. The appellant-accused was pulling her towards his chest so as to embrace e 
~er and Ruchika was trying to push him back with her free hand. 

7. On seeing Ms Aradhana (PW 13), the appellant-accused got frightened 
and released Ms Ruchika and fell on his.chair, The appellant-accused asked 
Ms Aradhana to go out of his room again and personally bring the coach 
with her. The appellant-accused insisted Ruchika to stay in his room, but she 
somehow managed to es~~Be, Wh~n Arildhttllil W1l51lbout to so behind Rucnna, 
the appellant-accused told her "Ask her to cool down, I will do whatever she 
will say". After listening to this, Ms Aradhana also ran behind Ms Ruchika 
to enquire about the matter. Thereafter, Ruchika narrated the whole incident 
to her. After discussion, both the girls decided not to inform the same to their 
parents as the appellant-accused, being IG of Police, could involve or harass 
them and their parents. g 

8. On 14-8-1990, Ms Ruchika along with Ms Aradhana went to the lawn 
tennis court at about 4.30 p.m., instead of their usual timing, in order to avoid 
the appellant-accused, who used to visit the court in the evening. When both 
the girls were about to return, at about 6.30 p.m., Mr Paltoo the ball picker, 
came out of the court and told Ms Ruchika that the appellant-accused had h 
called her in his office. However, Ms Ruchika refused to meet him and. pointed 
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out to Ms Aradhana that since they Md· not informed their parents about the 
misbehaviour of the appellant-accused on 12-8-1990, the appellant-accused 
was feeling emboldefe9 and had again called her to his office with a view to 
molest her. Thereaft9r, both of them decided to disclose the incident that took 
place on 12-8-1990 to their respective parents. Accordingly, Ruchika narrated 
the incident of her molestation at the hands of the appellant-accused to her 
father, Shri S.C. Girhotra, Also, the parents of Ms Aradhana were made aware 
of the entire incident. 

9. On hearing this, Shri S.C. Girhotra gathered the residents of the locality 
who were mostly parents of trainee boys and girls and they went to filTA 
office to meet the appellant-ctGGU5ud but Ul~y were iijfQffi'lyQ thil~ the ~ppellai;it­ 
accused had already left for Chandigarh. On 15-8-1990, a memorandum/ 
petition, duly signed by Ms Ruchika, Ms Aradhana, Mr Anand Prakash and 
Ms Madhu Prakash, father and mother of Ms Aradhana, was presented to the 
then Secretary (Home), Haryana. After the approval of the Home Minister, Shri 
R.R. Singh, the then DGP was directed to hold an inquiry into the allegations 
levelled against the appellant-accused in the memorandum/petition. 

10. After conducting the enquiry into the incident, Shri R.R. Singh 
concluded that the allegation of molestation is based on true facts and a 
cognizable case is made out against the appellant-accused under the provisions 
of the Penal Code, 1860 (in short "IPC") and forwarded his enquiry report 
dated 3-9-·1990 to the Secretary (Home), Government of Haryana. 

q. During investigation it was also revealed that after the incident of. 
n{oles~ation, Ms Ruchika confined herself in her house. Later, ou 28il2-1993, 
she committed suicide br consuming poison and died on 29-12-1999. 

il2. The enquiry report by Shri R.R. Singh was examined by the Legal 
Division of the. Government of Haryana in 1990 arid 1992 which also 
recommended for registraFon of a case against the appellant-accused. Madhu 
Prakash, the complainant/Respondent 2 herein requested several authorities 
in the Government of Haryana for registration of a case but no action was 
taken on which she filed a criminal writ petition being No. 1694 of 1997 
before the Punjab and Haryana High Court. The High Court, vide order 
dated 21-8-19982, issued direction to the Superintendent of Police, Panchkula 
that after registration of the case, the investigation shall be handed over to the 
Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) and the same shall be conducted by an 
officer not below the rank of DIG. This Court, by its order dated 14-12-19993, 
upheld the order of the High Court dated 21-8-19982 which culminated into 
registration of a first information report (FIR) being No. 516 of .1999 under 
Sections 354 and 509 IPC at Police Station Panchkula, Haryana against the 
appellaljlt-accused. 
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828 S~PREMECOURTCASES . (2017) 5 sec 
13. CBI filed charge-sheet dated 16-11-2000 before the .Court of Special 

Judicial Magistrate, CBI, Ambala under Section 354 IPC. A petition under 
Section 473 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (in short "the Code") was 
filed by CBI for condoning the delay in filing the charge-sheet and for taking 
cognizance which was allowed by the Court of Special Judicial Magistrate by 
his order dated 5-12-2000. Being aggrieved by the order dated 5-12-2000, the 
appellant-ac~used preferred writ petition (Criminal) being No. 46381 of 2000 
before the High Court challenging the condonation of delay. The High Court . 
by its order dated 18-4-20014 dismissed the petition with a direction to the trial 
court to dispose of the case preferably within six months. 

14. Further, a petition was filed for addition of Section 306 IPC in the 
charge-she~t which was allowed by an order of the.trial court dated 23~10-2001. 
Being aggrieved by the. order dated 23·10·1001, the 6ip~U~~t-accused 
preferred criminal miscellaneous petition being No. 44697-M/2011 before the 
High Court. The High Court, by its order dated 12-2-20025, set aside the order 
dated 23-10-2001 passed by the trial court. In appeal, this Court also upheld? 
the order dated 12-2-20025 passed by the High Court. 

15. Th~ Court of Chief Judicial Magistrate; Chandigarh, by its judgment 
and order dated 21-12-2009 in Challan Nos. 3/17-11-2000, 12 T/10-4-2006 
RBT191/17-11-2009, held the appellant-accused guilty of the offence under d 
Section 354 IPC and sentenced him to suffer rigorous imprisonment (RI) for 
six months along with a fine of Rs 1000. Being aggrieved by the judgment 
and order dated 21-12-2009, the appellant-accused preferred criminal appeal 
being No. 

15 of 12-1-2010 before the Court of Additional Sessions Judge, 
Ch@(ii~i'"~r <;BI and Madhu Prakash, Respondent 2 herein also pre~errecj. 
criminal appeals being Nos. 26of12-l-20i0 and 22 of 5-2-2010 respeCUVely, 
before the Court for enhancement of sentence. The learned Additional Sessions e 
Judge, Chandigarh, by his order dated 25-5-2010 dismissed the appeal 
filed by the appellant-accused while allowing the appeals filed by CBI and 
Madhu Prakash for inadequacy of the · sentence and for enhancement of 
sentence of imprisonment and the appellant-accused was awarded with rigorous 
imprisonment for 1 Vi years (one-and-a-halt) for committing the 'offence under 
Section 354 IPC. The sentence of fine remained unchanged. 

16. Being aggrieved of the judgment and order dated 25-5-2010, the 
appellant-accused preferred criminal revision being No. 1558 of 2010 before 
the High Court. The High Court, by its order dated 1-9-20101, dismissed the 
revision filed by the appellant-accused. 
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7 S.P.S. Rathore v. CBI, SLP (Cri) N·o. 8042 of 2010, order dated 11-11-2010 (SC), 
d wherein it was directed: 

"I. Heard both sides. Leave granted. Hearing expedited. 
2. The. petitioner Wi!IS convicted and sentenced to six months' rigorous 

imprisonment and a fine ofRs 1000 for an offence punishable under Section 354 
of the Penal Code by, the trial court. Both the petitioner as well as the State filed an 
appeal before the Sessions Court. The Sessions Court enhanced the sentence to one 
year and six months' which was confirmed by the High Court in the revision filed 
by the petitioner. Afainst the order of the High Court the petitioner has filed. the 
special leave petitioh before this Court and on 1-10-2610 this ~ourt issued notice. 

3. When the bail application was 'taken up on the last date of hearing i.e. 
27-10-2010, the learned Additional Solicitor General appearing on behalf of 
Respondent 1 CBI raised an objection by drawing 01,1r attention to the pendency 
of thrde FIRs. Toda~ the learned Additional Solicitor General has informed us that 
CBI has filed two dlosure reports on 10-11-2010. It is also brought to our notice 
insofar as the third FIR is concerned, by an order dated 25~1-2010 the High Court 
of Punjab and Haryana has permitted CBI to continue with the investigation but the 
final report shall not be presented. 

4. Apart from the above factual information, it is not in dispute that the petitioner 
had served more than six months out of the enhanced sentence of one year and six 
months. Taking note of all these aspects and in view of the information furnished 
by CBI we feel that the petitioner deserves to be released on bail. Accordingly, the 
FYUli9ner is ordered to be released on bail subject to the condition that he shall 
not leave the country without specific permission of the Chief Judicial Magistrate, 
qhandigarh. Accordingly, Criminal Miscellaneous Petition No. 20386 of 2010 
application for bail is allowed. 

5. It is brought to our notice that the petitioner's passport has already 
been surrendered and it stands deposited before the Additional Sessions Judge, 
Chandigarh. The above statement is recorded." 

c 

18. Heard Shri K. V. Viswanathan, learned Senior Counsel for the appellant­ 
accused and Ms Vibha Datta Makhija, learned Senior Counsel for CBI and Shri 
Vikas Mehta, learned counsel for Respondent 2. 

Riyal contentions 
19. The learned Senior Counsel for the appellant-accused contended that 

given the situation of HLTA makeshift office in a garage at the relevant point 
of time along with the presence of a number of people including labourers, 
it woul~ be impossible tp even try for such an act, knowing well that the act 
can be seen by others. The learned Senior Counsel further contended that the 
prosecution story is. absolutely false and frivolous and the appellant-accused 
has been framed in the present me by the complainant party and lhe high 
level officers of the State with an ulterior motive. The appellant-accused neither 

b 

17. Aggrieved by the abovesaid order, the appellant-accused has preferred 
this petitiou by way of special leave before this Court. This Court, by its order 

a dated 11-11-20107, has allowed the petition filed by the appellant-accused for 
bail. 
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visited the house of Shri S.C. Girhotra nor asked for a meeting with Ruchika 
on 12-8-1990 in HLTA office. 

2,0. It was further argued that the memorandum/petition has been drafted 
after prolonged consideration and deliberation by several interested persons 
including some senior police officers of the State of Haryana, The name of 
the players who were allegedly accompanying Ms Ruchika at the relevant 
time has not been mentioned in the memorandum intentionally and lAt~t 
on Ms Aradhana has been planted as "Sathi Khiladi". It was contended 
that the words "Sathi Khiladi" have been ·mentioned in the memorandum b 
for the purpose of introducing an eyewitness of choice. The learned Senior 
Counsel further contended that the signatures of Ms. Ruchika on the alleged 
memorandum are ·false and forged and on this ground, the document cannot 
be relied upon. This document does not disclose the details of the incident and 
mere! y suggests that the appe!lant-accused misbehaved with Ms Ruchika which 
does not attract Section 354 IPC. 

2L The learned Senior Counsel further contended that no complaint was 
filed by Ms Ruchika or her father Shri S.C. Girhotra or Shri Ashu, elder brother 
of Ms Ruchika or Mrs Madhu Prakash (PW 2) or Shri Anand Prakash (PW 1) 
or by Ms Aradhana (PW 13) in the police station. Even after 14-8-1990, when 
Ms Ruch1ka add Ms Aradhana allegedly iiifMt'ited th~ir p!lr~nrn. none of them 
approached the police to get the FIR registered. The police post, Sector 6. 
Panchkula is at .a distance of 300 yd only from the tennis court. It is situated very 
near t? they house of Shri S.C. Girhotra also. In this way undue and unexplained 
delay resl.tlted in manipulations and proper version could not be put forth before 
the court.l 

22. The' learned S enior Counsel for the appellant-accused further contended 
that thf inquiry conducted by Shri R.R. Singh was without jurisdiction as the 
appellant-accused, at the relevant point of time, was on deputation with .6BMl3 

. and was not under the admi5strative control of the Government of Haryana. 
He further contended that th€1 IAS lobby in the Government of Haryana was 
entirely against the appellant-accused and it had colluded with Shri Anand 
Prakash (PW 1) and others against the appellant-accused. He further pointed 
out the reason that there was rivalry between the two tennis associations, one 
headed by the appellant-accused and one formed later on by the IAS group with 
Shri J.K. Duggal, Secretary (Home) as its President with the patronage of Shri 
B.S. Ojha, 

23. It was further contended from the side of the appellant-accused 
that before forming the Haryana Tennis Association (HTA), the IAS lobby 
pressurised the appellant-accused to step down from the Presidentship of HLTA 
in favour of Shri B.S. Ojha to which the appellant-accused refused which 
annoyed Shri .B.S. Ojha, who had strong reasons for ordering the enquiry 
by Shri R.R. Singh and police officers working under him had organised the 
drafting of the said memorandum against the appellant-accused. The enquiry 
conducted by Shrt R.R. Singh cannot be relied upon because no enquiry could 
be marked to him and also he has not held the enquiry in proper manner. 

c2011) s sec SUPREME COURT CASES 830 
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. S.P.Si RATHORE v. CBI (Agrawal,].) 831 
24. It was further subrlutted by the learned Senior Counsel that the media 

has played a negative role in the present case and published the selective news 
items only in collusion with the complainant party. The material witnesses like 
ball picker, Paltoo and Coach K.T. Thomas, who were allegedly present at 
the place of the alleged incident, have not been examined by the prosecution. 
Further, the witnesses have made a lot of improvements and there are other 
discrepancies also in the statements of witnesses and therefore, the same could 
not have 'been relied upon by the courts below. The learned Senior Counsel 
finally contended that the case of the prosecution is false and frivolous, the 
net result of which is' that the prosecution has failed to prove its case and the 
appellant-accused is entitled to be acquitted. 

25. Per contra, the learned Senior Counsel for CBI submitted that the 
occurrence is well proved by the unimpeachable testimony of Ms Aradhana 
(PW 13). The eyewitness stood with her testimony till the end and therefore, 
the contention urged on behalf of the appellant-accused with regard to the 
above evidence has no relevance or substance. On a careful examination of 
~he ~taterrient of PW 13, it can be very easy to arrive at the conclusion that 
there was every possibility that Ms Ruchika could have been embraced by the 
appellant-accused in the manner that the eyewitness eventually described in her 
deposition before the trial court. Even Shri S.C. Girhotra, father of Ms Ruchika 
has categorically deposed that the appellant-accused met him and requested 
him not to send his daughter abroad and also insisted to meet her in his office 
on 12-8-i996 which gets corroboration from the statement of PW 13 lhal b6th 
the girls went to meet the appellant-accused at his office at HLTA. 

26. [With regard to the claim of signatures on the memorandum as well 
as on the application given to the SHO, theleamed Senior Counsel for CBI 
submitted that' as far as the signatures of Ms Ruchika on the document are 
concerned, Ms Ruchika has signed the alleged memorandum in the presence 
of others and the same is established by the witnesses like Ms Aradhana, Mrs 
Madhu Prakash and Shri Anand Prakash in whose presence she signed the 
documents, which is a direct evidence. The evidence of expert witness cannot 
be considered conclusive proof of the charge and It requires independent and 
reliable evidence for its corroboration. She further submitted that Ms Ruchika 
was the best person to depose about the genuineness of her signatures, but as she 
i~ no morn, tlrnrnfore, ~be w~lQ QQt f\pp1r~+ in the witness box to depose about 
the genuineness of her signatures on the alleged memorandum. In her absence, 
the persons in whose presence she signed the document are the best witnesses 
to prove the genuineness of the signatures of the victim. The strong direct 
evidence on record cannot be rebutted by weak type of evidence of handwriting 
expert upon which reliance is placed by the learned Senior Counsel on behalf 
of the appellant-accused. · 

27.I With regard to the contention urged by the appellant-accused that 
Ms Aradhana was the "Sathi Khiladi" as mentioned in the memorandum, on 
the basis of which FIR got registered, was manipulated, the learned Senior 
Counsel submitted that a perusal of the contents of the memorandum reveals 
that it merely gives a sequence of events which had happened from the very 

a 
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beginning and no manipulation appears to be made out. Merely on the ground 
that SQ.ri C.P. Bansal, the then DIG and Shri Sham Lal Goyal, the then DSP 
were present on the spot, it cannot be said that they actively participated a 
in its drafting and certain unnecessary and unwarranted facts were added to 
it. If experienced police officers would have participated in its drafting then 
it should. have been in the form of FIR and the evidence must have been 
specifically pointed out in it. But the language of the memorandum 'is like 
that the people have tried to show their resentment against the alleged act and 
demanded action against the accused. The reason for not mentioning the name b 
of Ms Aradhana in the memorandum is that she could have been harassed by 
the accused, who being a high-ranking police officer. Because of this reason 
only, Ms Ruchika or Ms Aradhana or their parents did not approach the local 
police to lo:dge the FIR. They were fully aware that the appellant-accused, being 
a seniormost police officer, holding a key post in the State, would definitely 
hamper the investigation or may not allow the polic.e officers to cooperate with c 
the complainant party. 

28. The learned Senior Counsel for CBI furthe~ pointed out· that Shri 
R.R .. Singh was an authority legally competent to investigate the facts of the 
memorandum and he was asked by the Government of Haryana to enquire into 
the facts given in the memorandum and to submit a report to it. To make a 
person au authority legally competent to investigate, it is not necessary that he d 
should be having authority which flows from a statute. It is sufficient that such 
person was authorised le~ally by the State Government to investigate the fact. 
As such, Shri R.R. Singh was the competent authority to investigate the facts in 
question and the statements given by the witnesses before him are admissible in 
evidence irrespective of time gap between the time when the incidents occurred 
and the date on which thr statements were given. e 

29. The learned Senior Counsel for CBI finally submitted that the alleged 
rivalry between HLTA and HTA as well' as the arguments advanced by the 
learned Senior Counsel for the appellant-accused regarding the credibility of 
Shri Anand frakash (P\X{ 1) and Shri S.C. Girhotra (PW 15) have no bearing 
on thF case at hand and the prosecution has made out a case for conviction of 
the appellant-accused under Section 354 IPC. 

Discussion 
30r It is not disputed that HLTA was floated in 1988-1989 at Panchkula, 

Haryana. The appellant-accused was the President of HLTA. Its office was 
established iii th~ ~arnge of sa under construction house at Sector 6. PanGhlrul" 
owned by the appellant-accused. It is also an admitted fact that Ms Aradhana g 
(PW 13), Mr Manish Arora (PW 3), Mr Vipul Chanana (PW 4) and Ms Ruchika 
(since deceased) were the members of the Association and used to play tennis 
in its court. It is the case of the prosecution that 011 11-8-1990, the appellant­ 
accused visited the house of Shri S.C. Girhotra (PW 15) and requested him 
noL lo send his daughter lo Canada for coaching as he would arrange special 
coaching for her at HLTA itself. This facl has been well proved by Shri S.C. h 
Girhotra (PW 15) in his statement, He has deposed before the trial court that on 

{201?) s sec ~Ul'llEM£ COURT CASES 832 
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11-8-1990, the appellant-accused visited his house at about 12.00 noon and had 
asked hirh riot to send his daughter to Canada and that he would arrange special 
coaching for her. The appellant-accused further asked him to send his daughter 
on 12-8-1990, at about 12.00 noon, in his office to discuss about the training. 
At that particular point of time Ms Ruchika was not present at her house. On 
her return, PW 15 informed the same to her and also asked her to meet the 
appellant-accused on 12-8-1990 in his office at 12.00 noon. This fact finds 
corroboration from the statement of Ms Aradhana (PW 13). She has deposed 
that on 1 ;2-8-1990, at about 11.00 a.m., Ms Ruchika came to her house and she 
very excitedly told her that on 11-8-1990, the appellant-accused had visited 
her house and requested her father not to send her abroad and that he would 
arrange special eoi:whing for her at HLTI\ i~self as she was a promising player. 
She further informed Ms Aradhana that the appellant-accused had asked her 
to meet him on 12-8-1990, at 12.00 noon, at HLTA office. The very same fact 
finds place in the memorandum also which was signed by Ms Ruchika along 
with others. The evidence of PW 15 corroborates with the evidence of PW 13 in 
order to substantiate the fact that the appellant-accused visited the house of Shri 
S.C. Girhotra on 11-8-1990 and asked him to send Ms Ruchika to his office OQ 
12-8-1990 at 12.00 noon. 

31. Ms Ruchika (since deceased) and Ms .Aradhana went to play at lawn 
tennis court on 12-8-1990 and while they were playing Shri Paltoo, the ball 
picker came there and told Ms Ruchika that the appellant-accused had called 
h~rr tot his office at 12.QO noon. Accordingly, Ms Ruchika and Ms Aradhana­ 
went tp his office. The apr,ellant-accused asked Ms Aradhana to fetch ~e Coach 
Shri T. Thomas. While ¥s.Aradhana had left the place, the appellant-accused 
mot~sted/outraged the m~degty of Ms Ruchika. Wh~n Ms Aradhana returned 
to the office, she witnessed the appellant-accused· molesting Ms Ruchika. 
Ms Aradhana, in her statement, has categorically deposed that 01,1 that day 
when both of them i.e. f1s Ruchika and Ms Aradhana were playing tennis, 
Shri Paltoo, the ball picker, came and informed Ms Ruchika that the appellant­ 
accused had called her in HLTA office. They saw that the appellant-accused was 
standing outside .his office, On seeing them, the appellant-accused asked them 
to ~ome to his office. Though Ms Ruchika requested the appellant-accused to 
talk to her outside the office, but he insisted upon them to come to his office. 
On his insistence, they followed him towards his office. On being asked by 
the appellant-accused, a chair was brought on which Ms Aradhana (PW 13) 
sat down while Ruchika remained standing on her right side. Immediately 
thereafter, the appelhf.t-accused asked Ms Aradhana to fetch the Coach Mr T. 
Thomas. When she went outside to call the coach, she found him standing at 
a distance on the other side of the house across the road. She asked the ball 
picker, Paltoo to go and fetch the coach. Mr Thomas, on being informed about 
the same by Mr Paltoo, waved his hand towards Ms Aradhana expressing his 
inability to come at that moment. Thereafter, Ms Aradhana returned and when 
she entered the office, she saw that the appellant-accused was holding one hand 
of Ms Ruchika and his other hand was around her waist. Ms Ruchika was trying 
hard to get herself released by pushing him away with her other hand. On seeing 

a 
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Ms Aradhana (PW 13), the appellant-accused became nervous and released 
Ms Ruchika and fell down on his chair. When she informed the appellant­ 
accused that the coach has refused to come to his office, the appellant-accused 
rudely ordered her to go again and call the coach personally. In the meantime, 
Ms Ruchika came to her side and went out of the office. When PW 13 was 
trying to fol1ow her, the appellant-accused told her "ask her to cool down, I 
wiJJ do wha~ever she wip say". Thereafter, PW 13 followed Ms Ruchika and 
when she reached near her, Ruchika started weeping loudly. When she asked 
Ms R uchika as to what had happened, she narrated that as soon as she left b · 
to fetch the coach, the appellant-accused caught hold of her hand which she 
got released with great difficulty, but he again caught hold of her hand and 
with his other hand the appellant-accused caught hold of her waist and dragged 
her towards him and embraced her. She further told her that in the meantime 
when PW 13 reached there, he got scared and immediately released her. After 
discussion as to whether the incident be disclosed to their parents or not, both 
of them decided not to inform their parents about the incident as the appellant­ 
accused' being a high-rnqking ponce offic~r, coi,ilQ hNW their families, The 
molestation of Ms Ruchika at the hands of the appellant-accused is very well 
proved fr01~1 the deposition of PW 13. There was no reason for Ms Aradhana 
(PW 13) to depose falsely. In fact, she witnessed the actual act of molestation 
of Ms Ruchika at the hands of the appellant-accused. Further, the fact regarding 
molestation of Ms Ruchika by the appellant-accused has been stated on oath 
by Shri Anand Prakash (PW 1), Mrs MadhuPrakash (PW 2), Mr Manish Arora 
(PW 3), Mr Vfpul Chanan (PW 4) and Shri S.C. Girhotra (PW 15). There is 
no reason ~s to why PW 13 and other aforementioned prosecution witnesses 
would falsely implicate the appellant-accused in the case. 

32. Ms Ruchika and Ms Aradhana visited the lawn tennis court on 
14-8-1990, at 4.30 p.m., instead of their usual timing deliberately in order 
lo avoid MttfMl1UUion With the sppsuam-accused, Who usually used to Vi5it 
the court in the evening daily. At about 6.30 p.m., when they were about 
to return after practice, Shri ·Pal too, the ball picker, came over the lawn 
tennis court and told Ms Ruchika that the appellant-accused had called her 
in his office immediately. However, Ms Ruchika refused to go there and told 
Ms Aradhana that since they had not informed about the incident which took 
place on 12-8-1990 to their parents that has emboldened the appellant-accused. 
Thereupon, they decided to inform about the overt act of the appellant-accused 
to their parents. They went to the house of Ms Ruchika where they met Shri 
S.C. Girhotra, father of Ms Ruchika, Ms Ruchika started narrating the incident 
of molestation to her father, however, she could not narrate the entire incident g 
and broke down, whereupon her father told Ms Aradhana to take Ms Ruchika 
to her mother. They went to the house of Ms Aradhana where Mrs Madhu 
Prakash (PW 2) and Shr:l Anand Prakash {PW 1) Wete !'rMent. Mg Ruchikll 
disclosed the entire incident to PW 2, who further informed her husband about 
the said incident. Thereafter, Ms Ruchika, Ms Aradhana, Shri Anand Prakash, 
Mrs Madhu Prakash and Shri S .C. Girhotra and other persons went to IU,TA 
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court to meet the appellant-accused wherefrom they came to know that the 
appellant-accused had already left for Chandigarh. 

a 33. On 15-8-1990, a number of persons, who were· mostly players 
and their parents, gathered at the residence of Sh.ri Anand Prakash. They 
decided that the incident should be brought to the notice of higher authorities 
including the Chief Minister of Haryana, Accordingly, a memorandum was 
prepared. A number of copies of this memorandum were prepared for 
being handed over to differenl authorities, Thls memorandum was signed 

b by Shri Anand Prakash, Ms Ruchika, Mrs Madhu Prakash, Meenu, Sangeet, 
Aradhafa, Anirudh, Beenu, Naresh Mittal, C.S. Gupta and Shri r.o. Mittal. 
The witnesses who were examined in the court identified their. signatures as 
well as signatures of Ms Ruchika on the memorandum. The appellant-accused 
disputed the genuineness of signatures of Ms Ruchika. He tried to substantiate 
his contention by examining the handwriting expert. The contention of the 

c appellant-accused is not tenable as the witnesses who have been examined 
by theprosecution and in whose presence the memorandum was signed, have 
identified the signatures of Ms Ruchika. Shri Anand Prakash has proved the 
preparation of memorandum. In this regard, the law is very clear that a fact 
should be proved by the best available evidence. The witnesses had identified 
the signatures of Ms Ruchika on the memorandum. therefore, the evidence 

d of the handwriting expert cannot be considered to be safe and it requires 
corroboration from independent witnesses. As already stated, the signatures 
of Ms Ruchika have been proved by the witnesses who have signed the 
memorandum and are direct, primary and best available evidence in the case 
and, therefore, the same can be relied upon. 

34. On 16-8-1990, the memorandum was given to Sh.ri J.K. Duggal 
e (PW 12), the then Secretary (Horne) who assured them that the matter would 

be enquired into. He asked the persons who had presented the memorandum to 
him to reach the lawn tennis court where Sh.ri S.K. Joshi, the then SDM would 
also be reaching. Af~er reaching there, they found a notice dated 15-.8-1990 
declaring suspension! of Ms Ruchlka with effed from 19-8-1990 di~~lay~d 
on the notice board. Sh.ri S.K. Joshi, the then SOM also reached there. Shri 
Kuldeep Singh, the Manager and Shri T. Thomas, the Coach were also present 
there. On being asked, Shri Kuldeep Singh, in the presence of witnesses, 
informed that he has affixed the notice on the directions of the appellant­ 
accused. He further disclosed that Ms Ruchika has committed no act of · 
indiscipline. On being asked, Shri Kuldeep Singh gave the same facts in writing 
on the notice. This fact was confirmed· by the Coach, Shri T. Thomas and he 

g sighed at a point where the following words were written "I support the contents 
of the endorsement of Shri Kuldeep Singh". He was also asked to give it in 
writing, if any act of indiscipline has been committed by Ms Ruchika. On 
this,' he made an endorsement to the effect that to the best of his knowledge 
Ms Ruchika has not done any act of misbehaviour or indiscipline in HLTA 
tennis court. This notice was produced by Shri Anand Prakash at the time of his 

h deposition before the trial court. It has also come in his evidence that the said 
notice was given to him by the SDM immediately after making endorsement. 

835 S.P.S. RATHOR,E v. CBI (Agrawal, J.) 

SCC Online Web Edition, Copyright© 2019 
Page 19 Monday, September ~3. 2019 
Printed For: Meenakshi Arora I LJ 
~_;;~~~~;"~~:=--··--·---··------··-·---=19 __ . ftj(C({f 

I 0 NL I N'E;' 
True Prinf 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



h 

e 

d 

c 

b 

a 

Thes~ facts have been .pr~v¢d by PW 1, PW 2, PW 3, PW 4, PW 5 and PW 13. 
The presence of Shri Kuldeep Singh and Shri T. Thomas on that day and time 
has already been proved by the then SHO, Panchkula who was on patrolling 
duty on that date and reached the spot on receiving verbal transmission message 
about the incident. 

35. Shri R.R. Singh was directed by the Chief Minister and the Home 
Minister of the State of Haryana to conduct an enquiry into the allegations 
contained in the memorandum. In compliance with the said order, Shri R.R. 
Singh recorded the statements of the witnesses including Mrs Madhu Prakash 
(PW 2), Ms Aradhana (PW 13), Shri S.C. Girhotra (PW 15) and Shri Anil 
Kumar. The statements of Ms Ruchika and Shri Anand Prakash (PW 1) were 
also recor~ed. After the enquiry, he recommended that a case under the relevant 
provisions of IPC be got registered. Despite the fact that Shri R.K Singh had 
recommended the registration pf a case.against the appellant-accused, no action 
was taken by the State Government. It is most surprising that no value was 
attached to the said report and to the recommendations made by such a high­ 
ranking police officer i.e. Director General of Police, Haryana. 

36. It has also been argued from the side of the appellant-accused that Shri 
B.S. Ojha and Shri J.K. Duggal were having great grudge against him. It was 
further contended that the relations between the appellant-accused and Shri 
R.R. Singh were strained since 1976. But this suggestion was denied by the 
witness while appearing in the court. The learned Senior Counsel for CBI has 
strenuously submitted that ~ proper report was given by Shd R.R.. Singh .and 
it is a matter of common experience that no girl or father would make a false 
compl~nt of such heinous nature even against their enemy. . . 

37~ Shri R.R. Singh had conducted the enquiry under the orders of the 
Government of Haryana, therefore, he was competent to investigate/enquire 
into the allegations made in 

1the 
memorandum. As such, all the statements 

recorded by himare admissible under Section 157 of the Evidence Act for the 
purpose of corroboration. Shri J.K. Duggal and Shri B.S. Ojha are independent 
witnesses and they have no grudge against the appellant-accused as alleged by 
the learned Senior Counsel. For the sake of arguments, even if it is assumed 
to be correct that there was some dispute over the control of HLTA between 
them, it was not such a big issue which would have induced them to implicate 
the appellant-accused falsely. There isno evidence on record to substantiate the 
!l.llegmiom that th~~~ twq omcen were in illlY way inMrumentill in prwpilrilt~9n 
of memorandum or implicating the appellant-accused in the case. There is also 
no evidence on record to suggest any nexus of these two officers with Shri 
Anand Prakash (PW 1) and Shri S.C. Girhotra (PW 15). There is no evidence 
to suggest any enmity between the appellant-accused and PW 1 to implicate 
him in a fabricated case. 

38. It is further the case of the appellant-accused that the statement recorded 
by Shri R.R. Singh cannot be used by the prosecution for the purpose of 
corroboration under Section 157 of the Evidence Act. The contention of the 
accused is not tenable at all. This sectionenvisages two categories of statements 
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of witnesses.which cau be used for corroboration. First is the statement made 
by a witness to any person at or about the time when the incident took place. 
The second is the statement made by him to any authority legally competent to 
investiga~e the matter. Such statements gain admissibility, no matter that it was 
made lonr after the incident. But if the statement was made to non-authority, 
it loses ns probative y1alue due to lapse of time. 

39. Shri R.R. Sinkh was an authority legally competent to investigate the 
incident. He was asked by the Slate Government to enquire into the facts given 
in the memorandum and report thereon. To make a person an authority legally 

. competent to investigate, it is not necessary that he should be having authority 
which flows from a statute. It is sufficient that such person was authorised 
legally by the State Government to investigate the matter. Hence, we are of the 
view that Shri R.R. Singh was the authority competent to investigate the fact in 
question and the statements given by the witnesses before him are admissible 
in evidence irrespective of the time-gap between the time when the incidents 
occurred and the date on which the statements were given. Shri R.R. Singh was 
in fact c~mpetent to investigate the matter since the enquiry conducted by him 
was merely a fact-finding enquiry. The undisputed fact is that nothing happened. 
even after the submission. of the report by Shri R.R. Singh because no action 
was taken by the State Government on the same .. Further, all the witnesses 
includi~g Shri J.K. Duggal and Shri B.S. Ojha examined by the prosecution 
are the [ndependent witnesses and the enmity, as suggested by the appellant­ 
accused, is not proved, as discussed above. 

40. The learned Senior Counsel for the appellant-accused has contended 
that in the present fact situation, how a person can embrace other while standing 
behind the table and then suddenly fall into his chair on the entry of PW 13. In 
this regard, we have carefully considered the evidence given by the prosecution, 
especially the evidence of PW 13. She, being the sole witness to prove the actus 
reus, her evidence should receive some careful consideration and we do not 
find any reason for her to depose falsely against the appellant-accused, There 
is, thus, every possibility that Ms Ruchika could have been embraced by the 
appellant in the manner as described by PW 13. 

41. The High Court, on proper reappreciation of the entire evidence, came 
to the nsht conclusion that the prosecution was successful in proving the case 
beyond reasonable doubt and the offence punishable under Section 354 IPC 
was made out. There is devastating increase in cases relating to crime against 
women. in the world and our country is also no exception to it. Although 
the statutory provisions provide strict penal action against such off enders, it 
is for the courts to ultimately decide whether such incident has occurred or 
not. The courts should be more cautious in appreciating the evidence and the 
accused should not be left scot-free merely on flimsy grounds. By the consistent 
evidence of Ms Aradhana (PW 13), the prosecution has proved beyond 
reasonable doubt the offence committed by the appellant under Section 354 

a 
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IPC. A charge under Section 354 IPC is one which is very easy to make and is 
very difficult to rebut. It is not that on account of alleged enmity between the 
appellant and Shri Duggal and Shri Ojha, he was falsely implicated. It would, 
however, be unusual in a conservative society that a woman would be used as a 

· pawn to wreak vengeance. When a plea is taken by the appellant-accused that 
he has been falsely implicated, the courts have a duty to make deeper scrutiny of 
the evidence and decide the acceptability or otherwise of the accusations made 
against him. In the instant case, both the trial court and the High Court have 
done that. There is no scope for taking a different view from the view already 
been taken by the courts below. The occurrence of the overt act is well proved. 
by the unimpeachable testimony of the eyewitness, Ms Aradhana (PW 13). 

42. In order to constitute the offence under Section 354 IPC, mere 
knowledge that the modesty of a woman is likely to be outraged is sufficient 
without any deliberate intention of having such outrage alone for its object. 
There is no abstract conception of modesty that can apply to all cases. A careful 
approach has to be adopted by the court while dealing with a case alleging 
outrage of modesty. The essential ingredients of the offence under Section 354 
IPC are as under: 

(i) that the person assaulted must be a woman; 
(ii) that the accused must have used criminal force on her; and 
(iii) that the criibnaJ force must have been used on the woman 

intending thereby to outrage her modesty. 

43. This Court, in Vidyadharan v. State of Kerala8 held as under: (SCC 
p. 221, para 10) 

"JO. Intention is not the sole criterion of the offence punishable under 
Section ~54 IPC, and it can, be committed by a person assaulting or using 
criminal force to any] woman, if he knows that by such act the modesty of 
the woman is likely to be affected. Knowledge and intention are essentially 
things of the mind and cannot be demonstrated like physical objects. The. 
existence of intention or knowledge has to be culled out from various 
circumstances in which and upon whom the alleged offence is alleged to 
have been committed. A victim of molestation and indignation is in the 
same position as an injured witness and her testimony should receive the 
s~rpe weight." 
44~ It is undoubtedl1 correct that if intention or knowledge is one of the 

ingredients of any offence, it has got to be proved like other ingredients for 
convicting a person. But, it is also equally true that those ingredients being state 
of mind may not be proved by direct evidence and may have to be inferred 
from the attending circumstances of a given case. The sequence of events which 
we have detailed earlier indicates that the appellant-accused had the requisite 
culpable intention: 
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45. This Court, in Tarkeshwar Sahu v. State of Bihar9, held as under: (SCC 
pp. 576-77, paras 39-40) · 

"3 9. So far as the offence under Section 354 IPC is concerned, intention 
to outrage the modesty of a woman or knowledge that the act of the accused 
would result in outraging her modesty is the gravamen of the offence, 

40. The essence of a woman's modesty is her sex. The culpable 
intention of the accused is the crux of the matter .. The reaction of the 
woman is very relevant, but its absence is not always decisive. Modesty is 
an attribute associated with female human beings as a class. It is a virtue 
which attaches to a female owing to her sex." 
46. With regard to the delay of about 6 days in presenting the complaint 

to the SHO, this Court is of the view that the same has been duly explained. 
In a tradluon-tound non-permnnve sodcty in Indte, it would !J; ;AU-~m~ly 
reluctant to admit that any incident which is likely to reflect upon the chastity 
of .a woman had occurred, being conscious of the. danger of being ostracised 
by the society or being looked down by the society. In the instant case, the 
victim, Ms Ruchika not informing about the incident to the parents under the 
circumstances that the appellant-accused, who being a very senior police officer 
of the State, was reasonable and it would not have been au easy decision for her 
to speak out. In the normal course of human conduct, this unmarried minor girl. 
would; not like to give publicity to the traumatic experience she has undergone 
and felt terribly embarrassed in relation to the incident to narrate it to h~r parents 
and others overpowered! by a feeling of shame and· her natural inclination 
would be to avoid talking about it to anyone, lest the family name and honour 
is brought into controversy. After informing the incident to her parents, the 
follow-up action was immddiately taken by the residents and the fellow players 
and a memorandum containing allegations against the appellant-accused was 
prepared and submitted before the then Secretary (Home). Therefore, giving 
due consideration to the appellant-accused, once the victim and her family 
members got assurance of justice from the superior authorities, they lodged a 
formal complaint against the appellant-accused. 

47. With regard to the contention of the learned Senior Counsel for the 
appellant-accused that the signatures of Ms Ruchika on the memorandum were 
forged though she si~ned. the same in front of Shri Anand Prakash, Shri S.C. 
Girhotra, Ms Aradhapa and Mrs Madhu Prakash and they have admitted the 
same, we are of the opinion that expert evidence as to handwriting is only 
opinion evidence and it can never be conclusive. Acting on the evidence of any 
expert, it is usually lo see if that evidence is corroborated either by clear, direct 
or circumstantial evidence. The sole evidence of a handwriting expert is not 
normally sufficient tor recording a deilnHe flndlng abouf the writing beiM Of 
a certain person or not. A court is competent to compare the disputed writing 
of a person with others which are admitted or proved to be his writings. It 
may not be safe for a court to record a finding about a person's writing in a 

a 
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certain document merely on the basis of expert comparison, but a court can 
itself compare the writings in order to appreciate properly the other evidence 
produced before it in that regard. The opinion of a handwriting expert is also a 
relevant in view of Section 45 of the Evidence Act, hut that too is not conclusive. 
It has also been held by this Court in a catena of cases that the sole 'evidence of 
a handwriting expert ls no] normally suffiti~nt fot r~Mrding Q definite finding 
about the writing being 'of a certain person or not. It follows that it is not 
essential that the handwriting expert must be examined in a case to prove 
or disprove the disputed writing. It is opinion evidence and it can rarely, if b 
ever, take the place of substantive evidence. Before acting on such evidence, 
it is usual to see if it is corroborated· either· by clear, direct evidence or by 
circumstantial evidence. . 

48. In Mobarik Ali Ahmed v. State of BombaylO this Court has held as under: 
(AIR p. ~64, para 11) 

· l'l 1 .... Learned counsel objected to this approach on a question of 0 

proof. We are, however, unable to see any objection. The proof of the 
genuineness of a document is proof of the authorship of the document and is 
proof of a fact like that of any other fact. The evidence relating thereto may 
be direct or circumstantial. It may consist of direct evidence of a person 

· who saw the document being written or the signatures being affixed. It may 
be proof of the handwriting of the contents, or of the signatures, by one of cJ 
the modes provided in Sections 45 and 47 of the Evidence Act. 

It may also be proved by internal evidence afforded by the contents 
of the document. This last mode of proof by the contents may be of 
considerable value where the disputed document purports to be a link in a 
chain of correspondence, some links in which are proved to the satisfaction 
of the court. In such a situation the person who is the recipient of the 
document, be it either a letter or a telegram, would be in a reasonably 
good position both with reference to his prior knowledge of the writing or 
ihe sigJJ.iitlilf~~ Qf tbe alleged sender limited thou~h it may be, as also his 
knowledge of the subject-matter of the chain of correspondence, to speak 
to its authorship. 

In an appropriate case the court may also be in a position to 
judge whether the document constitutes a genuine link in the chain of 
correspondence and thus· to determine its authorship. We are unable, 
therefore, to say that the approach adopted by the courts below in arriving 
at the conclusion that the letters are genuine is open to any serious legal 
objection. The question, if any, can only be as to the adequacy of the 
materi~l on which the conclusion as to the genuineness of the letters is 
arrived:at. That however is a matter which we cannot permit to be canvassed 
before us." 
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"26; ... It is no doubt true that the prosecution led evidence of 
handwriting expert to show the similarity of handwriting between (PW 1/ 
A) and other admitted writings of the deceased, but in this respect, we 
are of the opinion that in view of the main essential features of the case, 
not much value can be attached to the expert evidence. The evidence of 
a handwriting expert, unlike that of a fingerprint expert, is generally of 
a frail character and its fallibilities have been quite often noticed. The 
courts should, therefore, be wary to give too much weight to the evidence 
of handwriting expert. In Kishore Chandra Singh Deo v. Babu Ganesh 
Prasad Bhagat12 this Court observed that conclusions based upon mere 
comparison of handwriting must at best be indecisive and yield to the 
positive evidence in the case." 

50. It is. thus clear that uncorroborated evidence of a handwriting expert is 
an extremely weak type of evidence and the same should not be relied upon 
either for the conviction or for acquittal. The courts, should, therefore, be wary 
to give too much weight to the evidence of handwriting expert. It can rarely, if 
ever, take the place of substantive evidence. Before acting on such evidence, 

d it ls usun to see if if is corroborated enner by clear, glr~~t ¥Y19~D9¥ 9i; by 
circumstantial evidence. 

51. It is the claim' of the learned Senior Counsel for the appellant-accused 
that the present· case is fabricated and· a result of the rivalry between HLTA 
and HTA. Further, Shri Anand Prakash has derived professional benefit from 
this exercise besides venting his Iong-standing grudge against the appellant­ 
accused. It does not stand to logic that having regard to the Indian social set up, 
any father would let his daughter's honour and reputation be damaged merely 
because one of his asfociates has his own agenda against the appellant-accused. 
However, each case has to be determined on the touchstone of the factual matrix 
thereof. In the instant case, there is nothing on record on the basis of which it 
can be said that the tender age of the victim was exploited for the benefit of 
Shri Anand Prakash (PW 1). 

52. With regard to the contention of the learned Senior Counsel that non­ 
examination o/ two important she witnesses viz. Shd Palt66, th~ btill ~icker and 
Shri T. Thomas, the Coach draws adverse inference against the prosecution, the 
High Court has rightly held that adverse inference against the prosecution can 
be 'drawn only if it withholds certain evidence and not merely on account of 
its ff1lure to obtain certain evidence. We are also of the opinion that they were 
not tn any way connected with the actual commission of offence and even in 
their absence, the commission of the offence of molestation by the appellant­ 
accused stands well proved by the unimpeachable testimony of the eyewitness 
(PW 1 3) to the incident. 

a 

49. In Bhagwan Kaur v. Maharaj Krishan Sharma+ this Court held as 
under: (SCC p. 53, para 26) 
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s3. No particular nudiber of witnesses is required for proving a certain fact. 
It is the quality and not the quantity of the witnesses that matters. Evidence 
is weighed and not counted. Evidence of even a single eyewitness, truthful, 
consistent and inspiring confidence is sufficient for maintaining conviction. 
It is not necessary that all those persons who were present at the spot must 
be examined by the prosecution in order to prove the guilt of the accused. 
Having examined all the witnesses, even if other persons present nearby are not 
examined, the evidence of eyewitness cannot be discarded. 

54. In view of the foregoing discussion, we are of the opinion that 
Ms Aradhana (PW 13) withstood her testimony from the beginning till the end 
and her deposition was found reliable and corroborative with other prosecution 
witnesses and both the courts below were right in upholding the conviction of 
the ap~~IJU!l[JfiCCUSed UildWC ~ection 354 IPC. 

55. With regard to sentence of the appellant-accused, the learned Senior 
Counsel on his behalf has pointed out certain mitigating factors which are 
-old age of the appellant-accused, health ailments, responsibility of looking 
after the unmarried daughter suffering from congenital heart disease, past 
meritorious service and prolonged trial. Keeping in view the aforementioned 
factors especially the old age and physical condition of the appellant-accused, 
we do not think it expedient to put him back in jail. While we uphold, the 
findii;igs as to the guilt of the appellant-accused, we are of the opinion that the 
cause of justice would be best subserved when the sentence of the appellant­ 
accused would be altered fo .the period already undergone. We, therefore, 
reduce the sentence of the appellant to the period already undergone by him as 
.a special case considering his v~ry udvanced agu. . 

56. In view of the foregoing discussion, we confirm the conviction of the 
appellant-accused under Sectibn 354 IPC while modifying the sentence to the 
period already undergone. The appeal is disposed of with the above terms. 
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t From the Judgment and Order dated 16-10-1990 of. the Andbra Pradesh High Court m Crl. 
RC No 446 of 1990 

h 

(1996) 4 Supreme Court Cases 596 
(BEFORE DRA.S. ANAND AND M.K. MUKHERJEE, JJ.) d . 

S. GOPAL REDDY Appellant; 
\krsus 

STATE OF A.P. Respondent. 
Criminali\Fv~al No. 231of1994ft, decided on July 11, 1996 

A. Dowry Prohibition Act, 1961 - S. 4 r/w S. 2 - $cope - Held, lO\lel'!l ~ 
the yery demand of dowry at the negotiation stage as a consideration for a 
proposed marriage - "Marriage" held includes the proposed marriage that 
may not have taken place - The peculiar definition of dowry in the Act 
specifically covers the demand made 'before' marriage 

B. I)owry Prohibition Act, 1961- Ss. 3 and 4 - Court's approach should 
be realistic in dealing with a case under the Act - Provisions of the Act should 
be interpreted in the light of the object of the Act so as to further that object - 
But it being a penal statute court should be cautious and careful so that 
suspicion, conjectures and surmise may not influence its judgment - At the 
same time it cannot acquit an accused merely on the basis of technicalities and 
minor discrepancies - Interpretation of statutes - Penal statutes 

C, Constitution of India - Art. 136 - Criminal appeal - Findings of fact 
- General rule of reappralsal of resiakd g 

D. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 114 Ill. (g) - Adverse presumption to be drawn 
from non-production of vital letter by the prosecution 

E. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Expert evidence - Nature of - Held, is a 
weak type of evidence which cannot be safely relied upon without independent 

State appeal on 16- 7-1986 has awarded the enhanced benefits under the 
Amendment Act 68 of 1984. Thus this appeal by special leave. 

4. Thi~ appeal is only in respect of awarding of enhanced benefits under a 
Sections f3(2), 28 and 23(1-A) of the Act. In view of the settled legal 
position that the awar~ of the civil court was made long before the date of 
the introduction of the Amendment Act 68 of 1984, the claimant is not 
entitled to the enhanced benefits. That apart, it is also settled legal position 
that the High Court, while dismissing the appellant's appeal, had no 
jurisdiction to award the additional benefits since the claimants did not file b 
any appeal for further enhancement. Therefore, in the absence of any 
"o~iti9nal compensation being awarded, the High Court has no jurisdiction 
to award the benefits under the provisions of the Amendment Act 68. gf 
1?84. 

5. The appeal is accordingly allowed. The order of the High Court 
awardin~ solatium, interest and additional amount under Sections 23(2), 28 c 
and 23( I +A) stands set aside. No costs. 
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and reliable corroboration - On facts, the testimony of the handwriting expert 
was not clinching enough 

F. Evidence Act, 1872 - Ss, 67, 73 and 45 - Proof of execution of 
document by a particular person - Modes of - Relevance of oplnlon of 
witnesses and of opinion of handwriting expert in such situations 

G. Interpretation of Statutes - External aids - Dictionaries - When 
definition of a word provided in the statute itself, dictionary meaning cannot be 
looked into 

H. Interpretation of Statutes - Basic rules - Purposive construction - 
Provi~ion should be construed in the context of the object the Act seeks to 
achieye - Mischief rul~ 

Tpe prosecution case was that at the stage of negbtiation of marriage of the 
accused-appellant, an JPS officer, with V, daughter of PW 1, a lawyer, the appellant's 
elder brother, the second accused, had demanded a house at Hyderabad, jewels, cash 
and clothes worth about Rs l lakh and a sum of Rs 50,000 in cash for purchase of 

c car. This was agreed upon by PW 1. The date of marriage was to be fixed after 
.consulting the appellant. However, later the second accused 'raised the demand from 
Rs 50,000 to Rs l lakh for purchase of the car and insisted that the said amount be 
paid before marriage. While the dowry talks remained inconclusive the date of 
marriage was fixed. Meanwhile, it was alleged that the appellant had written a letter 
to V asking her to cancel the marriage or to fulfil the demands made by his elders. 
When. the appellant came to Hyderabad PW 1 told him about the additional demand 
of his elder brother. 'Ijhe appellant told PW 1 that he would consult his brother and 
inform him about it a~d left for his native place. It is alleged that on his return from 
the village, the first ~~cused asked PW 1 to give Rs 75,000 instead of Rs 50,000 as 
agreed upon earlier 'instead of Rs 1 lakh as demanded by the. second accused. 
According to the prosecution case this talk tookplace In the presence of one N (who 
was not examined). •The appellant suggested that PW 1 should give Rs 50,000 
immediately towards the purchase of the car and the balance of Rs 25,000 should be 
paid within one year after the marriage but PW 1 did not accept the suggestion. 
According to the prosecution case 'Varapuja' was performed by PW I and his other 
rGlatiYG~ at thG hou~, Q( th~ ~lt'fQnO flli~Y~~c;I, At that time PW 1 alle~edlr handed 
over to the appellaru; a document purporting to settle a single-storey house in the 
name of V along with a bank pass-book showing a cash balance of Rs 50,881 in the 
name of V. It was alleged that on this the appellant flared up saying that the 
settlement was for a double-storeyed house and threatened to get the marriage 
cancelled, The effort of PW 1 to. persuade the appellant failed and ultimately the 
marriage did not take place. The appellant then returned all the articles that had been 
given to him at the time of Varapuja. PW 1 thereupon sent a complaint to the 
Director of National Police Academy where appellant was then undergoing training 
and later filed a report in the concerned police station. During the investigation, 
various letters purported to have been written by the appellant to v were sent to the 
ha~dwriting expert PW 3, who gave his opinion regarding the existence of 
sill)ilarities between the specimen writings of the first accused -and the disputed 
writip~s but also said "no definite opinion can be given on the basis of the present 
standards. Extensive admitted writings are required }or oJ/erlng de/znite oplnion_n 
Both the appellant and his. elder brother were tried for offences under Section 420 
IPC read with Section 4 Dowry Prohibition Act, 1961. The trial court convicted 
them both and sentenced t~em to undergo 9 months' RI and to a fine of Rs 500 each 
and in default to undergo SI for four months for the offence under Section 420 IPC 
and to RI for 6 months and a fine of Rs lOOO each and in default SJ for six months 
I or the offence under Section 4 of the Act. In appeal, the Additional Metropolitan 
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Sessions Judge held that no offence under Section 420 IPC was made out and set 
aside 'their conviction and sentence for the said offence while confirming their 
conviction and sentence for the offence under Section 4 of the Act. Both the convicts a 
unsuccessfully invoked. the revisional jurisdiction of the High Court. SLP filed by 
the appellant's brother was dismissed by the Supreme Court. The present appeal by 
special leave was filed by the appellant against the order of the High Court 
~eMining to hrm. Allowing hi~ app!!al and ~ettin& asidli thli ~onvi~tion and ~ent~nv~. 
Held: . 

Ary 'demand' of 'dowry' made before, at or after the marriage, where such 
dema~d is made as a consideration for marriage would attract the provisions of b 
Section 4 of the Act. (Para 18) 

The Dowry Prohibition Act is a piece of social legislation which aims to check 
the growing menace of the social evil of dowry and it makes punishable not only the 
actual receiving of dowry but also the very demand of dowry made before or qt the 
time or after the marriage where such demand is referable to the consideration of 
marriage. Keeping in view the object of the Act, "demand of dowry" as a 
consideration for a proposed marriage would also come within the meaning of the c 
expression dowry under the Act. Thus, any 'demand' of money, property or valuable 
security made from the bride or her parents or other relatives by the bridegroom or 
his parents or other relatives or vice versa would fall within the mischief of 'dowry' 
under t~f Act where such demand is not properly referable to any legally recognised 
clajm a~d is relatable only to the consideration of marriage. Marriage in this context 
would include a proposed 1:\arriage also more particularly where the non-fulfilment d 
of the "demand of dowry" leads to the ugly consequence of the marriage not taking 
plac9 ~tall. It i~ Mt ~ogg1ble to rnbgcribe to th@ visw th:u it is only the proplifty or 
valuable security given at the time of marriage which would bring the same within 
the definition of 'dowry' punifhable under the Act, as suc.h an interpretation wo.uld 
be defeating the very object f~r which the Act was enacted. The expression 'dowry' 
under the Act must be interpreted in the sense which the statute wishes to attribute to 
st. One must· keep in mind the well-known rule of "interpretation of statutes that the ~ 
text and the context of the entire Act must be looked into while interpreting any of 
the expressions used· in a statute. The courts must look to the object which the statute 
seeks to achieve while interpreting any of the provisions of the Act. A purposive 
approach for interpreting the Act is necessary. · (Paras 10 to 12) 

The definition ·of the expression 'dowry' contained in Section 2 of the Act 
cannot be donfined merely to the 'demand' of money, property or valuable. security 
''mad~ At ~e !t"tu th! performunce of muri3ge" on the basis of thli dimion!lfy 
meaning of 'dowry'. Meaning of the expression 'dowry' as commonly used and 
understood is different than the peculiar definition thereof under the Act which 
applies wherever the expression is used in the Act. Where definition has been given 
in a statute itself, it is neither proper nor desirable to look to the dictionaries etc. to 
find out the meaning of the expression. The definition given in the statute is the 
determinative factor. (Para 11) 

l.V. Jadhav v, Shankarrao Abasaheb Pawar, (1983) 4 SCC 231: 1983 SCC (Cri) 813, g 
followed 

Reserve Bank of India v. Peerless General Finance and Investment Co. Lid., (1987) 1 SCC 
· 4~4; N.K. Jain v. ex Shah, (199!) 2 sec 495: 1991 sec (Cn) 328: 1991 sec CL&S) 

6~6; Seaford Court Estates ltd. v. Asher. (1949) 2 All ER 155 (CA), relied on 
However, dowry as a quid pro quo for marriage is prohibited and not the giving 

Of traditional presents lO thli brido Of thli !)ri";grQQffi by frjynQ~ an~ relatives. Thus, h 
voluntary presents given at or before or after the marriage to the bride or the 
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bridegroom. as the case may be, of a traditional nature, which are given 1101 as a 
consideration for marriage but out of love, affection or regard, would not fall within 
the mischief of the expression 'dowry' made punishable under the Act. (Para 11) 

There is an alarming increase in.cases relating to harassment, torture, abetted 
suicides and dowry _deaths of young innocent brides. Awakening of the collective 
consciousness is the need of the day. For this a wider social movement is necessary. 
The role of the courts, under the circumstances, assumes a great importance. The 
courts are expected to deal with such cases in a realistic manner so as to further the 

. object of .the legislation. However, the courts must not lose sight of the fact that the 
Act, though a piece of social legislation, is a penal statute. One of the cardinal rules 
of inte~retation in such cases is .ihat a penal statute must be strictly construed. The 
courts have, thus, to be watchful to see that emotions or sentiments are not allowed 
to influence their judgment, one way or the other and that they do not ignore the 
golden thread passing through criminal jurisprudence that an accused is presumed to 
be .innocent till proved guilty and that the guilt of an accused must be established 
beyond a reasonable doubt. They must carefully assess the evidence and not allow 
either suspicion or surmise or conjectures to take the place of proof in their zeal to 
stamp 'out the evil from the society while at the same time not adopting the easy 
course, of letting technicalities or minor discrepancies in the evidence result in 
acquitting an accused. They must critically analyse the evidence and decide the case 
in a realistic manner. (Para 19) 

In appeal by special leave the Supreme Court, generally speaking, does not 
interfere with the findings recorded oi:i appreciation of evidence by the courts below 
except wnere there ~ppem to have occurrnd gross mtscruriago of juMic; or th;r; 
exists sufficient reasons which justify the examination of some of the relevant 
evidence by the Supreme Court itself. (Para 20) 

In this case at the time of initial demand of dowry as a consideration for 
marriage of the appellant it was only the brother of the appellant, the second accused, 
who was present and it was the second accused alone with whom the negotiations 
took place in the presence of PW 2, the person who introduced the parties. There was 
no mention about the additional demand either in the complaint or in the FIR. This 
story, therefore, appears to be an afterthought, made with a view to implicate the 
appellant with the cornrnrssion of an offence under Section 4 of the Act. Therefore, · 
this part of the story of PW I, in absence of any independent corroborauon, cannot 
be accepted. Further, the holding of 'Varapuja', where the demand of dowry alleged 
to have been repeated, appears to be highly improbable. No corroboration of any 
nature to support this part of the evidence of PW 1 is forthcoming on the record. 

(Paras 24 and 26) 
There is also no satisfactory evidence on the record to show that the appellant 

cancelled the marriage on account of non-fulfilment of dowry demand allegedly 
made by ham. The letter which PW 1 claims to have himself received from the 
appell~nt regarding canc,_ellation. of marriage prior to 'Varap.vja' ceremony has not 
been r.roduced. Reliance instead has been placed by the prosecution on a Jetter 
allege~ly written by the appellant to V cancelling the date of marriage. An adverse 
presumption has to be drawn from the failure to produce this letter. The complainant 
PW 1 does not appear to be a wholly reliable witness. (Paras 27 and 29) 

The evidence of an expert is a rather weak type of evidence and the courts do 
not generally consider at as offering 'conclusive' proof and therefore safe to rely 
upon the same without seeking independent and reliable corroboration. Moreover 
Section 67 of the Evidence Act, 1872 enjoins that before a document can be looked 
into, it has to be proved. Section 67, of course, does not prescribe any particular 

a 
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h 

mode of proof. Section 47 of the Evidence Act which occurs in the chapter relating 
to "relevancy of facts" provides that the opinion of a person who is acquainted with 
the handwriting of a particular person is a relevant fact. Similarly, opinion of a a 
ha11dwritin~ expert is also a relevant. fact .for id7ntifying ~ny handwriting. The 
ordinary method of proving a document rs by cAllln~ ll9 ll Wllnl!SS th~ periOil WhO 
had executed the document or saw it being executed or signed or is otherwise 
qualified and competent to express his opinion as to the handwriting. There are some 
other modes of proof of documents also as by comparison of the handwriting as 
envisaged under Section 73 of the Evidence Act or through the evidence of a 
handwriting expert under Section 45 of the Act, besides by the admission of the b 
person against whom the document is intended to be used. The receiver of the 
document; on establishing his acquaintance with the handwriting of the person and 
competence to identify the writing with which he is familiar, may also prove a 
document. These modes are legitimate methods of proving documents but before 
they can be accepted they must bear sufficient strength to carry conviction. 

· (Paras 28 and 29) 
Here regarding the other letters alleged to have been written by the accused to V, c 

keeping in view the inconclusive and indefinite nature of the evidence of the 
handwriting expert PW 3 and the lack of competence on the part of PW I to be 
familiar with the handwriting of the appellant, the approach adopted by the courts 
below to arrive at the qonclus1on that the disputed letters were written by the 
appellant to V on the basis of the evidence of PW I and PW 3 was not proper. The 
doubtful evidence of PW 

11 could neither offer any corroboration to the inconclusive 
and indefinite opinion qf the handwriting expert PW 3 nor could it receive any d 
corroboration from the opinion of PW 3. The courts below appear to have taken a 
rather superficial view oif the matter while relying upon the evidence of PW I and 
PW 3 to hold the appellant guilty. (Paras 27 to 29) 

MdgdJt Bihari Lal v. Statg of Punjab, (1977)':~ sec 219: 1977 sec (Cri) 313: AIR 1977 
SC 1091, relied on 

Ram Chandra v. State of U.P., AIR 1957 SC 381: 1957 Cn LJ 559; lshwan Prasad Misra e 
v. Moh{/,. Isa, AIR 1993 ,SC 1728: !963 9LJR 226; Shashi Kumar Banerjee v. Subodh 
Kumar Banerjee, AIR 1964 SC 529; Fakhruddin v. State of M.P. AIR 1967 SC 1326: 
(1967) 2 Andh LT 38, cited 
So it appears that the demand of dowry in connection with and as consideration 

for the marriage of the appellant with V was made by the second accused, the elder 
brother of the appellant and that no such demand is established to have been directly 
made by the appellant. The High Court rightly found the second accused guilty of an 
offence under Section 4 of the Act against which SLP (Criminal) No. 2336 of 1990 
stands dismissed by this Court on 15-2-1991. The evidence on the record does not 
establish beyond a reasonable doubt that any demand of dowry within the meaning 
of Section 2 read with Section 4 of the Act was made by the appellant. May be the 
appellant was in agreement "'.ith his elder brother regarding 'demand' of 'dowry' but 
corlVi~tipng C!Innot bl! based On SUGh ilS~11mpii9ns without the offence bein~ proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt. The courts below appear to have allowed emotions and ~ 
sentiments, rather than legally admissible and trustworthy evidence, to influence 
their judgment. The evidence on the record does not establish the case against the 
appellant beyond a reasonable doubt. He is, therefore. entitled to the benefit of 
doubt. (Para 30) 
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614d-e . 
615a·b 

614g 
614f-g 

614/ 
608b 

c 

b 
607e 

2. ( 1987) I SCC 424, Reserve Bank of India v. Peerless General Finance and 
Investment Co. ltd. 

3. (1983) 4 SCC 231: 1983 SCC(Cri) 813, l. V. Jadhav v. Shankarrao 
Abasaheb Pawar 604g, 608g 

4. (1977) 2 SCC 210: 1977 SCC (Cri) 313: AIR 1977 SC 1091, Magan Bihari 
Lal v. State.of Punjab 

5. AIR 1967 SC 1326:{1Q67) 2 Andh LT 38, Fakhruddin v. State of M.P. 
61 AIR 19~4 ~<; ~6-91 Sh~hi Kumar Baner1ee v. Subodh Kumar Banerjee 
7. AIR 1963 SC 1728: 1963 BLJR 226, Ishwari Prasad Misra v, Mohd. Isa 
8. AIR l957SC38l: l957CriLJ559,RamChandrav.StateojU.P. 
9. (1949) 2 All ER 155 (CA), Seaford Court Estates ltd. v, Asher 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
PR A.S. ANAND, J.- The appellant along with his brother was tried for 

offepces under Section 420 IPC read with Section 4 Dowry Prohibition Act, 
d 1961. The trial court c!o~victed them both and sentenced them to undergo 9 

months' RI and to a fi~e of Rs 500 each and in default to undergo SI for four 
~bnths for the offence under Section 420 IPC and to RI for 6 months and a 
fine of Rs 1000 each and in default SI for six months for the offence under 
Section 4 Dowry Prohibition Act, 1961 (hereinafter the Act). In an appeal 
against their sentence and conviction, the Additional Metropolitan Sessions 

e Judge held that no offence under Section 420 IPC was made out and set 
aside their conviction and 5Qnttin~e for the ~~i9 offence while confirrnin~ 
their conviction and sentence for the offence under Section 4 of the Act. 
Both the convicts unsuccessfully invoked the revisional jurisdiction of the 
High Court. 

2. This appeal by special leave filed by the· appellant is directed against 
the order of the High Court of Andhra Pradesh dated 16-10-1990 dismissing 
the criminal revision petition filed by the convicts. The brother of the 
appellant filed SLF (Crl.) No. 2336 of 1990 against the revisional order of 
the High Court but that SLP was dismissed by this Court on 15-2-199 l. 

3.1 The prosecution case is as follows. 
g 4 .. The appellant (hereinafter the first accused) is the younger brother of 

the petitioner (hereinafter the second accused) in SLP (Cr1.) No. 2336 of 
1990, which as already noticed was dismissed ol\ 15-2-1991 by this Court . 

. The first accused had been selected for Indian Police Service and was 
un~erfoing training in t.he year 1985 and on completion of the tra. ining was 
poste~ as an Assistant Superintendent of Police in Jammu and Kashmir 

h Police Force. His brother, the second accused, was at the relevant time 
working with the Osmania University at Hyderabad. PW 1, Shri G. Natayana 

Advocates who appeared in this case: 
P.P. Rao, Senior Advocate (A. Sudarshan Reddy, B. Rajeshwar Rao, Ramkrishna 

Reddy and Vlmal Dave, Advocates, with him) for the Appellant; 
Guntur Prabhakar, Advocate, for the Respondent. 

Chronological list of cases cited on page(s) 
1. (1991) 2 sec 495: 1991 sec (Cri) 328: 1991 sec (L&S) 656, N.K. Jam v. 

C.K. Shah 608a 

a 
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602 SUPREME COURT CASES ( 1996) 4 sec . 
Reddy, the complainant, was practising as a lawyer at Hyderabad. PW 1 has 
four daughters. Ms Vani is the eldest among the four daughters. She was 
working af a cashier with the State Bank of India at Hyderabad. PW 1 was a 
looking for marriage alliance for his daughter Ms Vani. A proposal to get Ms 
Vani married to the first accused was made by PW 2, Shri Lakshmana 
Reddy, a common friend of the appellant and PW 1. Later on PW 2 
introduced the second accused to PW 1, who later on also met Ms Vani and 
approved, of the match. After some time, the first accused also met Ms Vani 
at the Institute of Public Enterprises and both of them approved each other b 
for marriage. It is alleged that on 6-5-1985, the second accused accompanied 
by PW 2 and some others went to the house of PW 1 to pursue the talks 
regar1ing marriage. There were some talks regarding giving ofdowry and 
the ter,ns were finally agreed between them on 7-5-1985 at the house of the 
second accused, The first accused was not present either on 6-5-1985 or on 
7-5-1985'.. It is alleged that as per the terms settled between the parties, PW 1 c 
agreed to give to his daughter (1) house at Hyderabad (2) jewels, cash. and 
clothes worth about rupees one lakh and (3) a sum of Rs 50,000 in cash (or 
purchase of a car. The date of marriage, however. was to be fixed after 
consulting the first accused. PW 1, however, later on insisted on having an 
engagement ceremony and contacted the first accused but the first accused 
persuaded PW 1 not to rush through the same as it was not possible for him d 
to intimate the date to his friends at a short notice. The first accused came to 
Hyderabad from Dehradun, where he was undergoing training, on 6-8-1985 
and stayed at Hyderabad till 15-8-1985. The first accused attended the 
birthday party of the youngest sister of Ms Vani on 15-8-1985 and later on 
sent a bank draft of Rs 100 as the birthday gift for her to Ms Vani. In the 
letter Ex. P-1 which accompanied the bank draft, some reference was e 
allegedly made regarding the settlement of dowry. It is alleged that the first 
accused later on wrote several letters including Exhibits P-6, P- 7, P-9 and 
P-10 'o MB YanL It ia thu proaccution Cil5u that thu 5ucond accued, on being 
approached by PW 1 for fixing the date of marriage, demanded Rs 1 lakh 
instead of Rs 50,000 for the purchase of car. The second accused also 
insisted that the said amount should be paid before marriage. The 'dowry' 
talks between the second accused and PW l, however, remained· 
inconclusive. Later on the date of marriage was fixed as 2-11-1985. On I-- 
I 0-1985, the first accused allegedly wrote a letter, Exhibit P-6, to Ms Vani 
asking her to cancel the date of marriage or to fulfil the demands made by 
his elders. The first accused came to Hyderabad on 20-10-1985 when PW 1 
told him about the demand of additional payment of Rs 50,000 made by the g 
second accused for the purchase of car. The first accused to]d PW 1 that he 
would consult his brother and inform him about it and Jeft for his native 
place. It is a1leged that on bis return from the village, the first accused asked 
PW 1 to give Rs 75,000 instead of Rs 50,000 as agreed upon earlier instead 
of Rs I lnkh ns demnnded by the seeond accused. According to the 
prosecution case this talk took place in the presence of Shri Narasinga Rao h 
(not examined). The first accused suggested that PW 1 should give 
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Rs 50,000 immediately towards the purchase of the car and the balance of 
Rs 25,000 should be paid within one year after the marriage but PW 1 did 

a not accept the suggestion. According to the prosecution case •varapuja' was 
performed by PW I and his other relatives at the house of the second 
accused on 30-10-1985. At that time PW I allegedly handed over to the first 
accused, a document Exhibit P-13 dated 12-I0-1985, purporting to settle a 
house in the name of his daughter Ms Vani along with a bank pass-book, 
Exhibit P-12 showing a cash balance of Rs 50,881 in the name of Ms Vani. 

b The first accused ls reported lo hav~. after examining tho do"um~nt ~?Chibit 
P-13,' flared up saying that the settlement was for a double-storeyed house 
and the document Exhibit P-13 purporting to settle the house in the name of 
Ms Vani was only a single-storey building. He threatened to get the marriage 
cancelled if PW l failed to comply with the settlement as arrived at on the 

·earlier occasions. The efforts of PW I to persuade the first accused not to 
c cancel the marriage did not yield any results and ultimately the marriage did 

not take place. The first accused then returned all the articles that had been 
given to him at the time of 'Varapuja'. Aggrieved, by the failure of the 
marriage negotiations, PW I on 22-1-1986 sent a complaint to the Director 
of National Polic~ Academy where the first accused was undergoing 
training. Subsequently, PW 1 also went to the Academy to meet the Director 

d when he learnt from the personal assistant to the Director of the Academy 
that the first accused was getting married to another girl on 30-J-1986 at 
Bolaram and showed to him the wedding invitation card. PW I, thereupon, 
gave another complaint to the Director on 26-3-1986, who, however, advised 
him to approach the police concerned for necessary action. PW l filed a 
report Ex. P-20 at Chikkadapalli Police Station on 28-3-1986. The Inspector 

e of Police, PW 7, registered the complaint as Crime Case No. 109 of 1986 
and took up the iinvestigation. During the investigation, various letters 
purported to have been written by the first accused to Ms Vani were sent to 
the handwriting expert PW 3, who gave his opinion regarding the existence or similariti.e~ between the ~pecimen writing~ of the first accused and the 
disputed wntmgs. Both the first .accused and his brother, the second accused, 
were thereafter charge-sheeted. and tried for offences punishable under 
Section 420 IPC read with an offence puni~hal5le under Section ~ of the 11~' 
apd convicted and sentenced as noticed above .. 

5. Mr P.P. Rao, the learned Senior Counsel appearing for the appellant, 
submitted that the courts below had committed an error in not correctly 
interpreting the ambit and scope of Section 4 of the Dowry Prohibition Act, 

g 1961 read with the definition of 'dowry' under Section 2 of the said Act. 
According to the learned counsel, for 'demand' of dowry to become an 
offence under Section 41of the Act, it must be made at the time of marriage 
and not during the negotiations for marriage. Reliance in this behalf is 
placed on the use of the 'expressions 'bride' and 'bridegroom' in Section 4 to 
emphasise that at the stage of pre-marriage negotiations, the boy and the girl 

h are not 'bridegroom' and 'bride' and therefore the 'demand' made at that 
stage cannot be construed as a 'demand' of dowry punishable under Section 
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1 (1983) 4 sec 231: 1983 sec ccr1) 813 

h 

4 of the Act. On merits, counsel argued that reliance placed by the trial court 
as· well as the appellate and the revisional court on various letters purporting 
to have been written by the first accused was erroneous since the appellant a 
had denied their authorship and there was no satisfactory evidence on the 
record to connect the appellant with those letters except the 'inconclusive' 
and uncorroborated evidence of the handwriting expert. Mr Rao further 
argued that in the present case there was no unimpeachable evidence 
available on the record to bring home the guilt of the appellant and the 
failure pf the prosecution to examine Ms Vani and Shri Narasinga Rao was a b 
serious lacuna in the prosecution case. Argued Mr Rao that the evidence of 
PW I, the complainant had not received any corroboration at all and since 
the evidence of PW 1 WM not wholly reliable, conviction of the eppellam 
without any corroboration of the evidence of PW 1 was not justified. Mr Rao 
urged that the complainant had exaggerated the case and roped in the 
appellant, whose elder brother alone had made the demand for dowry, out of c 
anger and frustration and that let alone "demanding dowry", the first accused 
was not even a privy to the demand of dowry as made by the second 
accused, his elder brother. 

1 

'6 . Learned counsel for the respondent State, however, supported the 
judgment of the trial court and the High Court and argued that the case 
against the appellant hadi been established beyond a reasonable doubt and d 
that 

1tpis rourt nee? n?t interfere .in ex.ercise ·o~ its jurisdi~tion ~nder Article 
136 'of the Constitution of India with findings of fact arrived at after 
appreciation of evidence by the couns below. According to Mr Prabhakar,· 
the interpretation sought to be placed by Mr Rao on Section 4 of the Act 
would defeat the very object of the Act, which was enacted to curb the 
practice of 'demand' or acceptance and receipt of 'dowry' and that the e 
definition of 'dowry' as contained in Section 2 of the Act included the 
demand of dowry "at or before or after the marriage". 

7. The curse of dowry has been raising its ugly head every now and then 
but the evll has been flourishing beyond imaginable ·proportions. It was to 
curb this evil, that lep Parliament to enact the Dowry Prohibition Act in 
1961. The Act is int~nded to prohibit the giving or taking of dowry and 
makes its 'demand' by itself also an offence under Section 4 of the Act. Even 
the abetment of giving, taking or demanding dowry has been made an 
offence. Further, the Act provides that any agreement for giving or taking of 
dowry shall be void and the offences under the Act have also been made 
non-compoundable vide Section 8 of the Act. Keeping in view the object 
whiGh j5 50Ught tQ b~ ayhiyye9 9y the Act and the evil it attempts to stamp g 
out, a three-Judge Bench of this Court in L. V. Jadhav v, Shankarrao 
Abas.qheb Pawarl opined that the expression 'Dowry' wherever used in the 
Act must be liberally construed. 

8. B1fore proceeding further, we consider it desirable to notice some of 
the relevant provisions of the Dowry Prohibition Act, 1961. . . 
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e 

4. Penalty for demanding dowry.- If any person demands, directly . 
or indirectly, from the parents or other relatives or guardian of a bride or 
bridegroom, as the case may be, any dowry, he .shall be punishable with 
imprisonment for a term which shall not be less than six months, but 
which may extend to two years and with fine which may extend to ten 
thousand rupees: 

Provided that the Court may, for adequate and special reasons to be 
mentioned in the judgment, impose a sentence of imprisonment for a 
term of less than six months." · 
9. The definition of the term 'dowry' under Section 2 of the Act shows 

that any property or valuable security given or "agreed to be given" either 
directly or indirectly by one party to the marriage to the other party to the 
marriage "at or before or after the marriage" as a "consideration for the 
marriage of the said parties" would become 'dowry' punishable under the 
Act. Property or valuable security so as to constitute 'dowry' within the 

. meaning of the Act must therefore b~ ~ivM 'or demruided "as comidcreiion 
g for the marriage". 

10. Section 4 of the Act aims at discouraging the very 'demand' of 
'dowry' as a "consideration for the marriage" between the parties thereto and 

·lays down that if any person after the commencement of the Act, 'demands', 
directly or indirectly, from the parents or guardians of a 'bride' or 
'bridegroom', as the case may be, any 'dowry', he shall be punishable with 
imprisonment which Illay extend to six months or with fine which may 

* * * 
d 

3. Penalty for giving or taking dowry.- If any person, after the 
commencement of this Act, gives or takes or abets the giving or taking 
of dowry, he shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which 
s~all not be less than five years, and with fine which shall not be less 
than fifteen thousand rupees or the amount of the value of such dowry, 
whichever is more: 

Provided that the Court may, for adequate and special reasons to be 
recorded in the judgment, impose a sentence of imprisonment for a term 
of less than five years (substituted for tile words 'six months' w.e.f. 19th 
November, 1986). 

c 

* *' * 

(b) by the parents of either party to a marriage or by any other 
person, to either party to the marriage or to any other person, 

1 at or before or after the marriage as consideration for the marriage of 
the said parties, but does not include dower or mahr in the case of 
persons to whom the Muslim Personal Law (Shariat) applies. b 

or 

"2. In this Act, 'dowry' means any property or valuable security 
given or agreed to be given either directly or indirectly- 

a (a) by one party to a marriage lo lh~ other party to th@ msmagc; 
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extend tq Rs 5000 or with both. Thus, it would b~ seen that Section 4 makes 
punishable the very demand of property or valuable security as a 

· consideration for marriage, which demand, if satisfied, would constitute the a 
graver offence under Section 3 of the Act punishable with imprisonment for 
a term which shall not be less than five years and with fine which shall not 
be less than fifteen thousand rupees or the amount of the value of such 
dowry whichever is more. 

11. The definition of the expression 'dowry' contained in Section 2 of 
the Act cannot be confined merely to the 'demand' of money, property qr b 
valuable security "made at or after the performance of marriage" as is urged 
by Mr Rao. The legislature has in its wisdom while providing for the · 

·definition of 'dowry' emphasised that any money, property or valuable 
security given, as a consideration for marriage, "before, at or after" the 
marriage would be covered by the expression 'dowry' and this definition as 
contained in Section 2 has to be read wherever the expression 'dowry' 0 
occurs in the Act. Meaning of the expression 'dowry' as commonly used and 
understood is different than the peculiar definition thereof under the Act. 
Under Section 4 of th~ Act, mere demand of 'dowry' is sufficient to bring 
home the offence to an· accused. Thus, any 'demand' of money, property or 
valuable security made from the bride or her parents ,or other relatives by the 
bridegroom or his parents or other relatives or vice versa would fall within d 
the mischief of 'dowry' under the Act.where such demand is not properly. 
referable to any legally recognised claim and is relatable only to the 
consideration of marriage. Marriage in this context would include a 
pr~posed marriage al1o more particularly where the non-fulfilment of the 
"demand of dowry" leads to the ugly consequence of the marriage not taking 
place at all. The expression 'dowry' under the Act must be interpreted in the e 
sense which the statute wishes to attribute to it. Mr P.P. Rao, learned Senior 
Counsel referred to various dictionaries for the meaning of 'dowry', 'bride' 
and 'bridegroom' and on the basis of those meanings submitted that 'dowry' 
must be construed only as such property, goods or valuable security which is 
given to a husband by and on behalf of the wife at marriage and any demand 
made prior to marriage would not amount to dowry. We cannot agree. Where 
definition has been given in a statute itself, it is neither proper nor desirable 
to look to the dictionaries etc. to find out the meaning of the expression. The 
definition given in the statute is the determinative factor. The Act is a piece 
of social legislation which aims to check the growing menace of the social 
evil of dowry and it makes punishable not only the actual receiving of dowry 
but also the very demand ~f dowry made before or at the time or after the g 
marriage where such demand is referable to the consideration of marriage. 
Dowry as a quid pro quo for marriage is prohibited and not the giving of 
traditional prts~ttH M th~ bride or the bridegroom by friends and relativt;B, 
Thus, voluntary presents given at or before or after the marriage to the bride 
or the bridegroom, as the case may be, of a traditional nature, which are 
given not as a consideration for marriage but out of love, affecti~n or regard, h 
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g 

would not . fall within the mischief of the expression 'dowry' made 
punishable under the Act. 

a 12. It is a well-known rule of interpretation of statutes that the text and 
the context of the entire Act must be looked into while interpreting any of 
the expressions used in a statute. The courts must look to the object which 
the statute seeks to achieve while interpreting any of the provisions of the 
Act. A purposive approach for interpreting the Act is necessary. We are 
unable to persuade ourselves to agree with Mr Rao that it is only the 

b property or valuable security given at the time of marriage which would 
bring the same within the definition of 'dowry' punishable under the Act, as 
such an interpretation would be defeating the very object for which the Act 
was enacted. Keeping itj view the object of the Act, "demand of dowry" as a 
consideration for a proposed marriage would also come within the meaning 
of the expression dowry under the Act. If we were to agree with Mr Rao that 

c it is only the 'demand' made at or after marriage which is punishable under 
Section 4 of the Act, some serious consequences, which the legislature 
wanted to avoid, are bound to follow. Take- for example a case where the 
bridegroom or his parents or other relatives make a 'demand' of dowry 
during marriage negotiations and later on after bringing the bridal party to 
the bride's house find lthat the bride or her parents or relatives have not met 

d the earlier 'demand' ~nd call off the marriage and leave the bride's house, 
should they escape the punishment under the Act.-The answer has to be an 
emphatic 'no'. It would be adding insult to injury if we were to countenance 
that their action would I not attract the provisions of Section 4 of the Act. 
Such an interpretation would. frustrate the very object of the Act and would. 
also run contrary to the accepted principles relating to the interpretation of 

e statutes. 
13. In Reserve Bank of India v. Peerless General Finance and 

Investment Co. Ltd.2 while dealing with the question of interpretation of a 
5tiltlllt11 thi5 C1Jurl g~~emg; (~CC P: 45Q, para 33) 

"Interpretation must depend on the text and the context. They are the 
bases of inte~retation. One may well say if the text is the texture, 
context is wh~t gives the colour. Neither can be ignored. Both are 
important. That interpretation is best which makes the textual 
interpretation match the contextual. A statute is best interpreted when we 
know why it was enacted. With this knowledge, the statute must be read, 
first as a whole and then section by section, clause by clause, phrase by 
phrase and word by word. If a statute is looked at, in the context of its 
enactment, with the glasses of the statute-maker, provided by such 
context, its scheme, the sections, clauses, phrases and words may take 
colour and appear different than when the statute is looked at without the 
glasses provided by the context. With these glasses we must look at the 
Act as a whole and discover what each section, each clause, each phrase ""Q each word is meant and desi0ned to say as to fit into the scheme of 
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the entire Act. No part of a statute and no word of a statute can be 
constt11ed in isolation. Statutes have to be construed so that every word 
has aplace and everything is in its place." . a 
14. Again, in N.K. Jain v. C.K. Shah3 it was observed that in gathering 

the meaning of a word used in the statute, the context in which that word has 
been used has significance and. the legislative purpose must be noted by 
reading the statute as a whole and bearing in mind the context in which the 
word has been used in the statute. - 

15. In Seaford Court Estates Ltd v. Asher", Lord Penning advised a b 
purposive approach to the interpretation of a word used in a ~tll!Ut~ and 
obseryed: 

I "The English language is not an ·instrument of mathematical 
piecif ion. Our literature would be much the poorer if it were. This is 
wherr the draftsmen of Acts of Parliament have often been unfairly 
criticised. A Judge, believing himself to be fettered by the supposed rule o 
that he must look to the language and nothing else, laments that the 
draftsmen have not provided for this or that, or have been guilty of some 
or other ambiguity. It would certainly save the Judges trouble if Acts of 
Parliament were drafted with divine prescience and perfect clarity. In the 
absence of it, when a defect appears a Judge cannot simply fold his 
hands and blame the draftsman. He must set to work on the constructive d 
task of finding the intention of Parliament, and he must do this not only 
from the language of the statute, but also from a consideration of the 
social conditions which gave rise to it and of the mischief which it was 
passed to remedy, and then he must supplement the written word so as to 
give 'force and llfe' to the intention of tht l!~islarure .... A Judge should 
ask himself the question how, if the makers of the Act had themselves e 
come across this ruck in the texture of it, they would have straightened it 
out? He must then do as they would have done. A Judge must not alter 
the material of which the Act is woven, but he can and should iron out 
the creases." (emphasis supplied) 
16. An argument, similar to the one as raised by Mr Rao regarding the 

Lise of the expressions 'bride' and 'bridegroom' occurring in Section 4 of the 
Act to urge that 'demand' of property or valuable security would not be 
'dowry' if it is made during the negotiations for marriage until the boy and 
the girl acquire the status of 'bridegroom' and 'bride', at or immediately 
after the marriage, was raised and repelled by this Court in L. V. Jadhav 
case 1. · g 

17. In L. V. Jadhav easel while interpreting the meaning of 'dowry' under 
Section 2 of the Act and correlating it to the requirements of Section 4 of the 
Act, the Bench observed: (SCC pp. 239~40, para 10) · 

" ... Section 4 which lays down that 'if any person after the 
commencement of this Act, demands, directly or indirectly from the 

3 ( 1991) 2 sec 495: 1991 sec (Cn) 328: 1991 sec (L&S) 656 
4 ( !949) 2 All ER 155 (CA~ 
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parents or guardian of a bride or bridegroom, as the case may be, any 
dowry, he shall be punishable with imprisonment which may extend to 

a six months or with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees or 
with both'. According to Webster~ New World Dictionary, 1962 Edn. 
bride means a woman. who has just been married or is about to be 
married, and bridegroom means a man who has just been married or is 
apout to be married. If we give this strict meaning of a bride or a 
bridegroom to the word bride or bridegroom used in Section 4 of the 

b P{ct, property or' valuable security demanded and consented to be given 
prior to the time when the woman had become a bride or the man had 
become a bridegroom, may not be 'dowry' within the meaning of the 
Act. We are of the opinion that having regard to the object of the Act a 
liberal construction has to be given to the word 'dowry' used in Section 
4 of the Act to mean that any property or valuable security which if 

c consented to be given on the demand being made would become dowry 
within the meaning of Section 2 of the Act. We are also of the opinion 
that the object qf Section 4 of the Act is to discourage the very demand 
for property or valuable security as consideration for a marriage 
between the parties thereto. Section 4 prohibits the demand for 'giving' 
property or valuable security which demand, if satisfied, would 

d constitute an offence under Section 3 read with Section 2 of the Act. 
There is no warrant for taking the view that tlle initial demand for giving 
of property or valuable security would not constitute an offence .... " 
18. Therefore, interpreting the expression 'dowry' and 'demand' in the 

context of the scheme of the Act, we are of the opinion thai any 1demal\d' of 
'dowry' made before. at or after the marriage, where such demand is made 

e ~s a consideration {or marriage would attract the provisions of Section 4 of 
the Act. · 

19. The alarming increase in cases relating to harassment, torture, 
abetted suicides and dowry deaths of young innocent brides has always sent 
shock waves to the civilized society but unfortunately the evil has continued 
unabated. Awakening of the collective consciousness is the need of the day. 
Change of heart and attitude is needed. A wider social movement not only of 
e?ucating women of their rights but also of the menfolk to respect and 
recognise the basic human values is essentially needed to bury this 
pernicious social evil. The role of the courts, under the circumstances, 
assumes a great importance. The courts are expected to deal with such cases 
in a realistic manner so as co further the object of the legislation. However, 

g the courts must not lose sight of the fact that the Act, though a piece of 
social legislation. b ~ ptmal ~''*'"''' On~ 9f the cardinal rules of 
interpretation in such cases is that a penal statute must be strictly construed. 
The courts have, thus, to be watchful to see that emotions or sentiments are 
not allowed to influence their judgment, one way or the other and that they 
do not ignore the golden thread passing through criminal jurisprudence that 

h an accused is presumed to be innocent till proved guilty and that the guilt of 
an accused must be established beyond a reasonable doubt. They must 
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carefully assess the evidence and not allow either. suspicion. or surmise or 
conjectures to take the place of proof in their zeal to stamp out the evil from 
the society while at the same time not adopting the easy course of letting a 
rcchni"illiti~~ 9r minor discrepancies in the evidence result in acquitting an 
accused. They must critically analyse the evidence and decide the ca~c in a 
realistic manner, 

2q. It is in the light of the scheme of the Act and the above principles· 
that w~ shall now consider the merits of the present case. This Court, 
generally speaking, does not interfere with the findings recorded on b 
appreciation of evidence by the courts below except where there appears to 
have occurred gross miscarriage of justice or there exist sufficient reasons 
which justify the examination of some of the relevant evidence by this Court 
itself. 

21. There is no dispute that the marriage of the appellant was settled 
wi~h Ms Vani, dau~hter of PW 1 and ultimately it did not take place and c 
broke, down, According to PW l, the reason fof the breakdown· of the 
marriage was his refusal and inability to comply with the 'demand' for 
enhancing the 'dowry' as made by the appellant and his brother, the second 
accused. The High Court considered the evidence on the record and 

"observed: 
"From the evidence of PW 1 it is clear that it is only the 2nd cJ 

petitioner that initially demanded the dowry in connection with the 
marriage of his youn~er brother, the first petitioner. He alone was 
present when PW 1 agreed to give a cash of Rs 50,000 for purchase of 
car, a house, jewels, clothing and cash valued at rupees one lakh. This 
took place in the month of June 1985 when PW I approached the second 
petitioner for 'fixation of date for marriage some time in the month of e 
September 1985. According to PW 1, the second petitioner demanded 
rupees one lakh for purchase of car. But, however, PW 1 persuaded the 
second petitioner to fix the date leaving that matter open to be decided in 
consultation with the first petitioner. When the first petitioner came to 
Hyderabad in October 1985 PW 1 complained to him about the demand 
for additional do~ry and that the first petitioner would appear to have 
told PW J that he would discuss with his brother and inform him. Then 
the first petitioner went to his native place and returned to Hyderabad 
and asked PW J to give Rs 75,000 for purchase of car." 

(emphasis supplied) 
The High Court further observed: g 

, 11Thus the d~mmul for dowry either ini(iQ/ly or at a later stage 
emanated only from the second petitioner. the elder brother of the first 
pbtitioner. From th~ evidence it would appear-that the petitioners come 
from a lower middle class family and fortunately the first petitioner was 
selected for IPS and from the tone of letters written by the first petit(on,er 
to Kum. Vani particularly from Ex. P-6 letter it would appear that he h 
was more interested in acting according to the wishes of his elder 
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brqther who h~ probably felt was responsible for his coming up in life. 
The recitals in Ex. P-6 would show that he did not like to hurt the 

a feelings of the I second petitioner and probably for that reason he could 
not say anything when his elder brother demanded for more dowry. We 
cannot say how the first petitioner would have acted if only ·he had 
freedom to act according to his wishes. But the first petitioner was 
obliged to act according to the wishes of his elder brother in Mking for 
more dowry. However, I feel that this cannot be a circumstance to 

b exonerate him from his liability from demand of dowry under Section 4 
of the Dowry Prohibition Act." (emphasis supplied) 
22. From the a?ove-noted observations, it appears that the High Court 

felt t?at the appellant was perhaps acting as "His Master's Voice" of his 
elder brother, The High Court accepted the evidence of PW 1 to hold that the 
appellant had demanded enhanced dowry of Rs 75,000 for purchase cf.car 

c on his return from the native village and had repeated his demand at the time 
of 'Varapuja' and later on did not marry Ms Vani as PW I was unable to 
meet the demands as projected by the appellant and his elder brother. The 
High Court appears to have too readily accepted the version of PW I without 
properly analysing and appreciating the same. 

23. Since, PW 1 is the sole witness, we have considered it proper to 
d ·examine his evidence with caution. 

24. From our critical analysis of the evidence of PW 1, it emerges that at 
the time of initial demand of dowry as a consideration for marriage of the 
appellant it was only the brother of the appellant, the second accused, who 
was present and it was the second accused alone with whom the negotiations 
took place in the presence of PW 2. According to PW 1, the brother of the 

e appellant later on demanded rupees one lakh for the purchase of car as 
against the initial agreement of rupees fifty thousand for the said purpose. 
Admittedly, the first accused was not present at either of the two occasions. 
According to PW 1 when the appellant came to Hyderabad in October 1985 
he (PW 1) complained to him about the demand for additional dowry made 
by his brother and the appellant told him that he would discuss the matter 
with his brother and inform him. It was, thereafter, according to PW 1 that 
when! the appellant returned to Hyderabad from his native place that he 
asked, the complainant (PW 1) to give Rs 75,000 for purchase of the car. Shri 
Narasinga Rao is stated to have been present at that time, but he has not been 
examined at the trial. The above statement of PW 1 has, however, surfaced 
for the. first time at the trial only. There is no mentiori of it in the first 

g information report, Ex. P-20 or even in the two complaints which had been 
sent by PW l to the Director, National Police Academy prior to the lodging 

'of Ex. P·20. PW 1 admitted in his evidence "/ have not stated in Ex. P-20 
and in my 161 statement-that A-1 on return from his native place demanded 
rupees seventy-five thousand instead of rupees one lakh for purchase of car 

h and that I said that what was agreed for purchase of car was only Rs 50,QOO 
and not Rs 75,000.]' This story, therefore, appears to be an afterthought, 
made with a view !to implicate the appellant with the commission of an 
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offence under Section 4 of the Act. Had this been the state of affairs, we see 
no reason as to why the fact would not have found mention at least in the 
complaints made to "the Director of the Academy" where the appellant was a 
undergoing training. PW I, being a lawyer, must be presumed to be aware of 
the importance and relevance 'of the statement attributed to the appellant to 
incorporate it in the complaints and the FIR. We find this part of the 
evidenc~ of PW 1 rather difficult to accept without any independent 
corroboration. There is no corroboration available on the record as even Shri 
Narasin~a Rao has not been examined. 

25. According to PW 1, the demand of dowry WllS repeated by the 
appellant at the time of 'Varapuja' which was performed.on 3H0-1985 at 
tbe house of the second accused also. PW l stated that he handed over the 
documents pertaining to the house, rupees fifty thousand in cash and pass­ 
book showing the deposit of about rupees fifty thousand in the bank in the 
name of Ms Vani to the appellant along with other articles of 'Varapuja' and c 
on seeing the documents the appellant flared up and said that since the 
settlement was for a tYv'o-storeyed house and not a single-storey house, as 
reflected in Ex. P-13, tje would cancel the marriage unless the 'demands' as 
made earlier were fulfilled. The story of 'Varapuja' which has been too 
readily accepted by the courts below, again appears to us to be of a doubtful 
nature and does not inspire confidence. The following admission of PW· 1 in d 
his evidence, in the context of 'Varapuja' allegedly held on 31-10-1985 has 
significance: 

"It is true that Varapuja is puja of bridegroom according to my 
understanding. I dfd not take any purohit for Varapuja. I did not take any 
photograph on that occasion. I did not get any Lagna Patrika prepared 
for the marriage. It ~s not true that I am deposing falsely that there was e 
Varapuja and that I offered money on that occasion. 

I started marriage preparation probably in the month of September, 
or October, I cannot say on what date I booked hall for the marriage. Ex. 
P-8 is only csncellanon. r~~ip~ 9f the marriage hall. I have not got 
invitation cards printed. I did not write any letter to anybody informing 
them of the marriage or inviting them to the marriage as I received letter 
from A-1 to cancel the marriage in the month , of October itself, 
cancellation of the date of marriage was prior to Varapuja." 

(emphasis ours) 
26. The above admission creates a lot of doubt about the performance of 

'Varapuja'. According to PY{ l , he had received a letter from the appellant to g 
cancel the marriage in th~ month of October itself "prior to Varapuja". 
Therefore, if the marriage ~ad been cancelled prior to 'varapuja', it does not 
stand to reason as to why 'Varapuja' should have taken place at all. The 
holding of 'Varapuja' appears to be highly improbable. No corroboration of 
any nature to support this part of the evidence of PW 1 is forthcoming on the 
record. 
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27. That the marriage between the parties did not take place is not in 
dispute but there is no satisfactory evidence on the record to show that the 

a appellant cancelled the marriage on account of non-fulfilment of dowry 
demand allegedly made by him. The letter which PW 1 claims to have 
himself received from the appellant regarding cancellation of marriage prior 
tq 'Varapuja' ceremony has not been produced. Reliance instead has been 
placed by the prosecution on letter Ex. P-6 allegedly written by the appellant 
tq 'Ms Vani cancelling the date of marriage. We shall refer to the 

b documentary evidence in the latter part of the judgment. The failure of PW 1 
to produce the letter allegedly received by him from the first accused invites 
an adverse presumption against him that had he produced the letter, the same 
WOUid hiJYti b'Jied hi~ ~vi~ence. The evidence of PW l, who is the sole 
witness, suffers from serious inconsistencies and exaggerations. He 
admittedly is the most interested person to establish his case. He is the 

c complainant in the case. It was he who had made two complaints to the 
Director of National Police Academy against the appellant before lodging 
the1 FIR, Ex. P-20. He is a lawyer by profession. He would be presumed. to 

, kn9w the importance of the 'demand' made by the appellant on the two 
' occasions. He, howe1er, has offered no explanation as to why those facts are 

conspicuous by. their 
1absence from the FIR and the two complaints made to 

d ~he Director of the Academy. PW l, does not appear to us to be a wholly 
reliable witness. He has made conscious improvements at the trial to 
implicate the appellant by indulging in exaggerations and that detracts 
materially from his reliability. Prudence, therefore, requires that the Court 
should look for corroboration of his evidence in material particulars before 
accepting the same. Neither Ms Vani nor Shri Narasinga Rao in whose 

e presence the appellant is said to have demanded dowry have been examined 
as witnesses. The failure to examine them is a serious lacuna in the 
prosecution case. It was Ms Vani who could have deposed about the 
circumstances which led to the breakdown of the matrimonial negotiations, 
before its maturity. Various letters which PW 1 produced at the trial were 
allegedly written [by the appellant to Ms Vani. None of them had been 
addressed to PW ~, yet he came forward to prove those letters and the courts 
allowed him to do so. Since, the appellant has denied the authorship of those . 
letters and claimed that the sazn! have been fabricated, it was desirable for 
the prosecution to examine Ms Vani in connection with those letters. The 
appellant is· alleged to be the author of the letters more particularly letters 
Bxs, P-1, P-6, P-7 and ·P-9. From the opinion of PW 3, the handwriting 

g expert, prosecution has sought to corroborate the evidence of PW 1 
· regarding the authorship of those letters. The opinion of PW 3, the Assistant 
Director in the State Forensic and Science Laboratory, Hyderabad, in our · 
view! cannot be said to be of a clinching type to attribute the authorship of 
thosd letters to the appellant. PW 3 during his statement deposed: 

"In my opinion (1) there are similarities indicating common 
h authorship between the red enclosed writings marked as S-12 to S-23 

and the red enclosed writings marked as Q-4 to Q· 7. But no definite . 
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7 AIR 1963 SC 1728: 1963 BU~ 226 
8 AIR 1964 SC 529 

opinion can be given on the basis of the present standards -: (2) No 
opinion can be given on the authorship of the red enclosed signatures 
and writings marked as Q-1 to Q~3 and Q-8 to Q-15 on the basis of a 
present standards)' · (emphasis supplied) 

The expert further opined: 
"When all the writing characteristics are considered collectively, 

they led to the conclusion that there are similarities indicating common 
authorship between the standard writings marked S-12 to S-25 and the 
questioned writings marked Q-4 to Q-7. But no defoiite opinion can be b 
given on the basis of the present standards. Extensive admitted writings 

. are n.-e.quiredfor offi.ering definite opinion." (emphasis supplied) 
Duriqg his eress-eramination PW J adrnin~d: 

'tQ. From the ~vailable standards you cannot say·that the signatures 
of fas. P-7 and P-9 is the same person who wrote Exs. P-7 and P-9. 0 

Ans: We can compare truly like live (sic), signatures with signatures 
and writings with writings and not a signature with a writing." 
28. Thus, the evidence of PW 3 is not definite and cannot be said to be 

of a clinching nature to connect the appellant with the disputed letters. The 
evidence of an expert is a rather weak type of evidence and the courts do not 
generally consider it as offering 'conclusive' proof and therefore safe to rely d 
upon the same without seeking independent and reliable corroboration. In 
Magan Bihari Lal v. State of Punjab5, while dealing with the evidence of a· 
handwritinf expert, this Court opined: (SCC pp. 213-14, para 7) 

" ... We think it would be extremely hazardous to condemn the 
appellant merely on the strength of opinion evidence of a hiindwri~ing 
expert. It is now well settled that expert opinion must always be received e 
with great caution and perhaps none so with more caution than the 
opinion of a handwriting expert. There is a profusion of precedential 
authority which holds that it is unsafe to base a 'conviction solely on 
expert opinion without substantial corroboration. This rule has been 
universally acted upon and it has almost become a rule of law. It was 
held by this Court in Ram Chandra v. State of U.P.6 that it is unsafe to 
treat expert handwriting opinion as sufficient basis for conviction. but it 
may be relied upon when supported by other items of internal and 
external evidence. This Court again pointed out in lshwari Prasad Misra 
v. t¥ohd. Isa! that expert evidence of handwriting can never be 
conclusive because it is, after all, opinion evidence, and this view was 
reiterated in Shashi Kumar Banerjee v. Subodh Kumar Banerjee8 where g 
it was pointed out by this Court that expert's evidence as to handwriting 
being opinion evidence can rarely, if ever, take the place of substantive 
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evidence and before acting on such evidence; it would be desirable to 
consider whether it is corroborated either by clear direct evidence or by 

a circumstantial evidence. This Court had again occasion to consider the 
evidentiary value of expert opinion in regard to handwriting in 
Fakhruddin v. State of M.P.9 and it uttered a note of caution pointing out 
t?at it would be risky to found a conviction solely on the evidence of a 
handwriting expert and before acting upon such evidence, the court must 
always try to see whether it is corroborated by other evidence, direct or 

b circumstantial." 
29. We are unable to agree, in the established facts and circumstances of 

this case, with the view expressed by the courts below that PW 1 is a 
competent witness to speak about the handwriting of the appellant and that 

'the opinion of PW 3 has received corroboration from the evidence of PW 1. 
PW 1 admittedly did not receive any of those letters. He had rio occasion to 

c be familiar with the handwriting of the appellant. He is not a handwriting 
expert. The bald rssertion of PW 1 that he was 'familiar' with the 
hand writing. of th~ ~ppbllant and fully ~a~QY~im~~r ~ith tq~ contents of the 
letters, admittedly not addressed to him, without disclosing how he was 
familiar with the handwriting of the appellant, is difficult to accept. Section 
67 of the Evidence Act, 1872 enjoins that before a document can be looked 

d into, it has to be .proved, Section 67, of course, does not prescribe any 
particular mode of proof. Section 47 of the Evidence Act which occurs in the 
chapter relating to "relevancy of facts" provides that the opinion of a person 
who is acquainted with the handwriting of a particular person is a relevant 
fact. Similarly, opinion of a handwriting expert is also a relevant fact for 
identifying any ha~d~riting. The ordinary method of proving a document is 

e by calling as a witness the person who had executed the document or saw it 
being executed or signed or is otherwise qualified and competent to express 
his opinion as fo th! handwriting. There are some other mod~s of proof i;if · 
documents also as by comparison of the handwriting as envisaged under 
Section 73 of the Evidence Act or through the evidence of a handwriting 
expert under Section 45 of the Act, besides by the admission of the person 
against whom the document is intended to be used. The receiver of the 
document, on establishing his acquaintance with the handwriting of the 
person and competence to identify the writing with which he is familiar, may 
also prove a document. These modes are legitimate methods of proving 
documents but before they can be accepted they must bear sufficient strength 
to carry conviction, Keeping in view the inconclusive and indefinite nature 

g of the evidence of the handwriting expert PW 3 and the lack of competence 
on the part of PW 1 to. tje familiar with the handwriting of the appellant, the 
apprna~h iiOQpted ~y th1e courts below to arrive at the conclusion that the 
disputed letters were written by the appellant to Ms Vani on the basls of the 
evidence of PW 1 and PW 3 was not proper. The doubtful evidence of PW 1 
could neither offer any corroboration to the inconclusive and indefinite 
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(1996) 4 Supreme ~urt Case.t 616 

(BEFOREM.M. PUNCHHIANDSUJATAV, MANOHAR, JJ.) 
SECRETARY, TAMIL NADU WAKF BOARD 

AND ANOTIIER Appellants; 
Versus 

SYED FATIMA NACHI Respondent: g 
Criminal Appeal No. 687 of l 996t, decided on July 9, 1996 

A. ~uslim Women (Protection of Rights on Divorce) Act, 1986 - S. 4 - 
State W4kf Board's liabiUty to provide maintenance to a divorced Muslim 
woman \~ho is unable 'to maintain herself and has not remarried - Such 
divorced women not required to initiate proceedings in the first instance against 

h 
t From the Judgment and Order dated 16-3-1994 of the Madras High Court in Crl. O.P. No. 

3557of1993 

616 SUPREME COURT CASES (1996) 4 S CC 
opimon of the· handwriting expert PW 3 nor could it receive any 
corroboration from the opinion of PW 3. We are not satisfied, in the 
established facts and circumstances of this case, that the prosecution has a 
established either the genuineness or the. authorship of the disputed letters 
alle~edly written by the appellant from the evidence of PW 1 or PW 3. The 
courts below appear to have taken a rather superficial view of the matter 
while relying upon the evidence of PW 1 Md PW 3 to hold the app'1llam 
guilty. We find it unsafe to base the conviction of the appellant on the basis 
of the evidence of PW l or PW 3 in the absence of substantial independent b 
corroboration, internally or externally, of their evidence, which in the case is 
totally wanting. 

30. T9 us it appears that the demand of dowry in connection with and as 
consideration for the marriage of the appellant with Ms Vani was made by 
the second accused, the elder brother of the appellant and that no such 
demand is established to have been directly made by the appellant. The High c 
Court rightly found the second accused guilty of an offence under Sectiori 4 
of t,he "}ct against which SLP(Criminal) No. 2336of1990, as earlier noticed 
st~nds 

1Clismissed by this Court on 15-2-1991. The evidence on the record 
does not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that any demand of dowry 
within the meaning 6f s~4tion 2 read with Secth~n 4 of the Act was made by 
the *P.Pellant. May be the appellant was in agreement with his elder brother d 
regarding 'demand' of 'dowry' but convictions cannot be based on such 
assumptions without the o~ence being proved beyond a reasonable doubt. 
The courts below appear to have allowed emotions and sentiments, rather 
than legally admissible and trustworthy evidence, to influence their 
judgment. The evidence on the record does not establish the case against the 
appellant beyond ·a. reasonable doubt. He is, therefore, entitled to the benefit e 
of doubt. This appeal, thus, succeeds and is allowed. The conviction and 
sentence of the appellant is hereby set aside. The appellant is on bail. His 
bail bonds shall stand discharged. 

I . 
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REGENCY HOSPITAL LIMITED AND OTIIERS Respondents. 

Civil Appeal No. 5991 of2Q02t, decided on September 11, 2009 
· A. Consumer· Protection - Services - Medical negligence - Denial of 

opportunity of adduction of opinion of expert - Effect - National 
Commission directed its Registry to forward all docwnents of treatment 
furnished by appellant complainant to expert (Neurologist) for his opinion 
- Registry failed to send all the documents to expert - Expert concluding 
that in absence of complete set of documents he was unable to offer opinion 
- National Commission rejecting prayer for forwarding all documents of 
treatment again to expert, dismissing complaint and holding medical 
negligence not proved - Sustainability - Held, complainant should not 
suffer for negligence of Registry of Commission - Principles of natural 
Jusiic~ ,require that fair o_p_pQrtunity should b,e given to complainan~ to prove 
his clajm based on report of expert - Smee op~Ortumty dcmed, bd9, 
impug,ed order of National Commission unsustainable - Registrar of 
Commission directed to forward all records of treatment to expert - 
Commission requested to pass order based on fresh opinion of expert - 
Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Consumer Forums - Practice and 
Procedure - Registry of Consumer Forums - Need for proper functioning 
- Consumer Forums - Pleading and particulars·- Need to afford 
adequate opportunity to parties to adduce relevant material 

(Paras 28 to 33) 

Appellant; 

(2009) 9 Supreme Court Cases 709 
d I (BEFORE G.S. SrNGHVI AND H.L. DATIU, JJ.) 

RAMESH CHANDRA AGRAWAL 

stipulation of minimum guaranteed charges cannot be held to be ultra 
vires on the ground that it is incompatible with the statutory duty. 

a Differences between .this contractual element and the statutory duty have 
to be observed. A supply agreement to a consumer makes. his relation 
with the Board mainly contractual, where the basis of supply is held to be 
statptory rather than contractual. In cases where such agreements are 
made the terms are supposed to have been negotiated between the 
consumer and the Board, and unless specifically assigned, the agreement 

b normally would have affected the consumer with whom it is made, as 
was held ift Northnm Ontario Pow« Co. Ltd. v. La Roche Mines ua 3" 

· 24. In the result, the appeal is allowed and the impugned order is $~( 
asid~. As a corollary, · the demand of minimum charges created by the 
predecessor of Appellant 1 is upheld and the writ petition filed by the 
respondent is dismissed. The appellant shall now be entitled to encash the 

c bank guarantee furnished by the respondent in terms of interim orders dated 
13-9-2002 and 5-12-2003 passed by this Court. 

709 RA.MESH CHANDRA AGRAWAL v. REGENCY HOSPITAL LTD. 

3 (1938) 3 All ER 755 (PC) 
t From the Judgment and Order dated 23-5-2002 of the National Consumer Disputes Redrcssal 

Commission, New Delhi in Original Petition No. 128 of 1996 

h 
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710 SUPREME COURT CASES (2009) 9 sec 
B. Consumer Protection Act, 1986 - Ss, 21 and 22 - Jurisdiction - 

Held, National Commission is the last fact finding authority in the scheme of 
the Act (Para 23) 8 

C. Evidence Act, 1872 -S. 3 - Law of evidence - Nature and scope - 
Law of evidence is designed to ensure that court considers only that 
evidence Which enables it to reach a reliable conclusion (Para 16) 

Alan Merfy and Alexander M«Call Smith: Errors, Medicine and the Law, 2001 Edn., 
Cambridge University Press, referred to 
D. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Expert evidence, when called for - 

Test for - Issues involving medical science - Held, test is whether matter is b 
outside knowled~e and experience Of ij hlyperson - Where a medical issue 
is to. be settled, scientific question involved therein is assumed to b~ not 
within court's knowledge and hence there is a need to hear expert opinion 
- Since medical science is complicated, expert opinion provides deep 
insight - Where diagnosis and the method of treatment suggested to a 
patient vary, held, expert opinion forms an important role in arriving at a q 
conclusion -:- Medical Practice and Practitioners - Medical negligence - 
Expert opinion - Need for - Tort Law - Negligence - Medical 
negligence · (Paras 15 and 16) 

Alan Merry and Alexander McCall Smith: Errors, Medicine and the Law, 2001 Edn., 
Cambridge University Prrss, referred to 
E. Evidence Act, 18V.2 - S. 45 - Expert evidence - Admissibility - 

Requirements - Evidence of expert is admisslble when (i) expert is heard, cJ 
·(ii) he must be within a recognised field of expertise, (iii) his evidence must 
be based on reli~hle principles, and (iv) he must be qualified in. that 
disci~line-t Reiterated! without examining expert as a wltness, M l'elumce 
can ~e placed on his opi,-iidn alone (Paras 16, 21and22) 

F. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Expert opinion - Evidence of witness, 
when can be accepted as that of expert - Held, in order to bring evidence e 
of a witness as that of an expert, it is to be shown that he has made a special 
study of the subject or acquired special experience therein or is skilled and 
has adequate knowledge of the subject (Para 18) 

Alan Merry and Alexander McCall Smith: Errors, Medicine and the Law, 2001 Edn., 
Cambridge University Press; Article "Relevancy of Expert's Opinion". referred to 

State of Maharashtra v. Damu, (2000) 6 SCC 269: 2000 SCC (Cri) 1088, relied on 
State (Delhi Admn.) v. Pali Ram, (1979) 2 SCC 158: 1979 SCC (Cri) 389, referred to 

G. Evidence Act, 1872- S. 45 - Functions and duty of expert - Scope 
and nature of - Expert's role - Exception, when cannot be taken to - 
Held, cases where science involved is highly specialised, expert's role cannot 

.be disputed - Credibility of expert depends on the reasons stated in 
support of his conclusions and data and material furnished which form the 
basis of his conclusions - E*pert has to put before court all materials with g 
necessary scientific criteria for testing accuracy of conclusions together with 
reasons, so that court, although not an expert, may form its own 
independent judgment - Practice and Procedure - Expert opinion 

(Paras 16, 19 and 20) 
Alan Merry and Alexander McCall Smith: Errors, Medicine and the Law, 2001 Edn., 

Cfunbridge University Press, referred to h 
tuu». Alfred Robert Jones, AIR 1934 All 273, approved 
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R~H CHANI)RA AGRAWAL v. ~EGENCY HOSPITAL LTD. ( Dauu, J) 711 

H. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Expert - Nature and function of - 
An expert is not a witness of fact - His evidence is only advisory in 
character- Further, he cannot act as judge or jury (Paras 19 and 20) 

I. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Expert opinion :._ When considered as 
evidence - Scientific opinion evidence, if intelligible, convincing and tested 
becomes an important factor for consideration along with other evidence of 
the case (Para 20) 

Mq.lay Kumar Ganguly v. Dr. Sukumar Mukherjee, (2009) 9 SCC 221; State of H.P. v. Jai 
Lal. (1999) 7 SCC 280: 1999 SCC (Cri) 1184, 'relied on . 

J. Medical Jurisprudence - Potts' disease - Nature and diagnosis - 
Discussed (Paras 10 to 14) 
Appeal allowed N-D/43829/C 
Advocates who appeared in this case : 

Anil Mittal, Vibhuti Sushant and Dr. Kailash Chand, Advocates, for the Appellant; . 
Ms Indu Malhotra, Senior Advocate (Kush Chaturvedi, Vikas Mehta, Ms Sharmila 

Upadhyay, R.K. Tnpathi and John L. Joedl, Advocates) for the Respondents. 

a 

· Chronological list of cases cited 
I. (i009) 9 SCC 221, Malay Kumar Ganguly v. Or: Sukumar Mukherjee 

. 2. (*000) 6 SCC 269 : = sec (Cri) 1088, State of Maharashtra v. Damu 
3. (1999) 1 SCC 280 : I 99p SeC (Cri) 1184, State of H.P. v. Jai Lal . 
4. (1979) 2 SCC 158: 1979 SCC (Cri) 389, State (Delhi Admn.) v. Pali Ram 
5. AIR 1934 All 273, ttai v. Alfred-Robert Jones 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
H.L. BATTU, J.- This appeal i~ directed against the order passed by the 

National Consumer Disputes Redressal Commission, New Del.hi ill Original 
Petition No. 128 of 1996 dated 23-5-2002. By the impugned order the 
National Consumer Disputes Redressal Commission has rejected the petition 
filed by the complainant. 

2. The facts in brief are as under: the appellant complainant was a teacher 
by profession. He was aged about 60 years when he was down with physical 
ailments 'such as backache and difficulty in walking as a result of progressive 
weakness of both his lower limbs. As the problem worsened, on 20-11-1995, 
the appellant approached Regency Hospital Ltd. (Respondent 1), for medical 
check-up. On the same· day, CT scan was done and he was diagnosed as a 
patient of "Dorsal Cord Compression D-4 to D-() Pott's spine" which in 
simple terms means that TB infection had spread till his vertebrae. On the 
same day he wag advised to get 9perated for decompression of spinal cord by 
Laminectomy D-3 to D-6. The operation was performed 'by Dr. Atul SilbilY 
(Respondent 2) on 25-11-1995. 
. ~· It is asserted, that, after the operation, the condition of the appellant 
deteriorated further and it was revealed from the MRI scan that the operation 
was not successful as it was not done at the right level. It is als_o stated that 
the case summary and the MRI reports suggested that the problem was 
aggravated and there was need for another operation. Dr. I.N. Vajpayee 
(Respondent 3) was consulted on 12-12-1995 and he performed the operation 
on the same day. Even after the second operation the infection was not.cured 

e 
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and this forced him to refer his case to Vidya Sagar Institute of Mental Health 
and Neurological Sciences, New Delhi (VIlv1HANS) for further treatment. It is 
further stated, that, the third operation was preformed and it provided the a 
appellant some relief, but left him handicapped due to his legs being rendered 
useless and, loss 6f l!Ontrol OV@f lus bladder IDOY~m~pt. 
Comp/aim before the National Commission 

4. The appellant, being impaired by the treatment, filed a complaint 
before the National Consumer Disputes Redressal Commission (hereinafter b 
referred to as "the National Commission") alleging medical negligence on 
the part of Respondents 1 to 3. The claim of the appellant before the National 
Commission was as under: 

(i) llhat the correct method of operating his infection was the Antero­ 
Lateral Decompression (ALD) and not Laminectomy. 

(ii) That the appellant _complainant contends that he was kept only c 
fat Oil'1 w~yl) on the anti-tubercular drugs before the surgery which is a 
much shorter duration than the accepted medical practice. 

(iii) That there was no requirement of immediate surgery. 
(iv) That Respondent 2, who was a neurosurgeon did not consult the 

orthopaedic surgeon, even though he was not capable to handle the case 
of the appellant complainant without consulting orthopaedic surgeon. d 

Hence, it was claimed that there was gross negligence and carelessness on 
the part of the respondents in treating the appellant complainant, and 
therefore, the respondents be directed to pay a sum of Rs 22,00,000 with 
interest at the rate of 24% per annum to the complainant. 

National Commission judgment · e 
5. After considering the case presented by the appellant and the 

respondents and looking through the affidavits filed by the parties, the 
National Commission has come to the conclusion that medical negligence is 
not proved against the respondents. The Commission has concluded: 

"Medical negligence is when a doctor did something which he ought 
not to have done or did not do what he ought to have done. The doctors 
were qualified professionals. They did whatever was required to be done 
of neurosurgeons. In fact, we find the complainant's case deficient, who 
neithert appeared for cross-examination nor produced any literature in 
support of this case to be of any assistance to this Commission." 

Feeling aggrieved by the decision, the appellant has filed this appeal under 
Sy~ti<;m 23 of the Consumer Protection Act, 1986. g . 
Contention in. the appeal 

6. It is the contention of the appellant that it was due to non-compliance 
with the order of the National Commission by the Registry of the National 
Commission, the Commission did not have the benefit of the expert opinion 
to arrive at a conclusion, as to whether there was any negligence of the h 
doctors who treated the appellant. 
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RAMESH CHANDRA AGRAWAL v. REGENCY HOSPITAL LTD. (Dattu, J.) 713 

7. H i5 fw"tlwr contended that pursuant to the Order passed by the 
Commission dated. 5-1-2000, the appellant had submitted all the records 

a relating to his treatment on 4-2-2000 and had requested the Registry of the 
Commtssion to forward the same to Dr. A.K. Singh, Neurologist, who had 
been rrquested to offer his opinion on the surgery done on the appellant. 
However, the Registry had not sent the documents furnished by the appellant 
to the expert and therefore, the expert could not off er his opinion and thereby, 
the appellant was denied the benefit of having an opinion which would have 

b proved his case before the Commission. · 
. 8. The respondents in their counter-affidavit filed before this Court, have 

denied the assertions and allegations made by the appellant and further 
justified the judgment of the National Coinmission. 

9. We have heard the learned counsel for the parties to the lis. 

Pott's disease and protocol of treatment 
(i) The Disease 

10. Pott's dise~~e results from an infection of the bone by the 
mycobacterium tuberculosis bacteria via a combination of haernatogenous 
root and lymphatic drainage. The organism may stay dormant in the skeletal 
system for an extended period of time before the disease can be detected. In 
Pott's disease, the spinal cord may become involved in a compression by 
bony elements and/or expanding abscess or by direct involvement of cord and 
Ieptomeninges by granulation tissue. Through experimentations it is found 
t~at the golden standard of the diagnosis in patients is CT guided needle 
aspiration biopsy. (Assistance taken from the website.) · 
(ii) Diaguosis 

11. At present, the treatment of Pott's disease remains conlrovergigl. 
Some advocate conservative treatment with late spinal fusion and others early 
spinal fusion followed by conservative treatment. Surgical treatment should 
include anti-TB medication, abscess decompression. The anterior surgical 
approach is chosen for cervical and lumbar regions. Anterior spinal fusions is 
currently thought to be the best surgical adjunct to after at least 18 months of 
anti-TB chemotherapy. 

12. The differential diagnosis of lower back pain is complicated by the 
numbbr of possible causes and the patient's reaction to the discomfort. In 
many cases the patient's perception of back pain is influenced by poor quality 
sleep or emotional issues related to occupation or family matters. A primary 
care doctor will begin by taking a careful medical and occupational history, 
asking about the onset of the pain as well as its location and other 
characteristics, 

13. Back pain associated with the lumbar spine very often affects the 
patient's ability to move, and the muscles overlying the affected vertebrae 
may feel sore or tight Pain resulting from heavy lifting usually begins within 
24 hours of the overexertion. Most patients who do not have a history of. 
chronic pain in the lower back feel better after 48 hours of bed rest with pain 

d 
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Expert opinion 
16. The law of evidence is designed to ensure that the court considers 

only that evidence which will enable it to reach a reliable conclusion, The 
first and foremost requirement for an expert evidence to be admissible is that 
it is necessary to hear the expert evidence: The test is that the matter is 
outside the knowledge and experience of the layperson. Thus, there is a need e 
to hear an 9xpert opinion where there is a medical issue to be settled, The 
scientific 8}:1~stion involved is assumed to be not within the court's 
lrnowl~dge. ThUB '1ii~lt~ fJhere the science involved, is highly six:cialised and 
perhaps even esoteric, the central role of an expert canttOt be d1~puted. Th(J 
other requirements for the admissibility of expert evidence are: 

. (i) that the expert must be within a recognised field of expertise, 
(ii)1 that the evidence must be based on reliable principles, and 
(iii) that the expert must be qualified in that discipline. 

(See Errors, Medicine and the Law, Alan Merry and Alexander McCall 
Smith, 2001 Edn., Cambridge University Press, p. 178.) 

·17. Section 45 of the Evidence Act, 1872 speaks of expert evidence. It 
reads as under: g 

• I 

"45. Opinions of experts.-When the Court has to form an opinion upon 
a point'of foreign law, or of science, or art, or as to identity of handwriting 
or finger impressions, the opinions upon that point of persons specially 
!;killed in B\l~b f9rei5n law, science or art, or in questions as to identity of 
handwriting or finger impressions are relevant fR~rn. 

d 

medication and either a heating pad or ice pack to relax muscle spasms. ff the 
patient's pain Is not helped by rest and other conservative treatments, he or 
she will be referred to an orthopaedic surgeon for a more detailed evaluation. a 
An orthopaedic evaluation includes a physical examination, neurological 
workup; and ~mag!ng studi~g. 
(iii) Conservative treatments 

14. Surgery for lower back pain is considered a treatment of the last 
resort, with the exception of pauda equina syndrome. Patients should always 
try one or more conservative approaches before consulting a surgeon about a 0 
laminectomy. [http://www.surgeryencyclopedia.com/Fi-La/Laminectomy. 
html] 

Cleavage of opinion 
15. Since medical science is complicated, expert opinion provides deep. 

insig.p it, (~ee Malay Kumar Ganguly v. Dr. Sukumar Mukherjee!.) .It is clear o. 
that tliag*osis and the methodof treatment suggested to a patient of Port's 
disease vary. The nature of !disease is such that there exist differences in the 
identification of thlJ ~yrnptoms and also the protocol of treatment to cure the 
disease: Tllerefore, the expert opinion forms an Important role in mrtving ar ii 
conclusion. 

(2009) 9 sec SUPREME COURT CASES 714 
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RAMESH CHAN\)RA AGRAWAL v. REGENCY HOSP[TAL LTD. (Dattu, J.) 715 
Such persons are called experts. 

Illustrations 
;(a) The question is, whether the death of A was caused by poison. 
The opinions of. experts as to the symptoms produced by the poison by 

which A is supposed to have died, are relevant. . 
(b) The question is, whether A, at the time of doing a certain act, was, by 

feason of unsoundness of mind, incapable of knowing the nature of the act, 
pr that he was doing what was either wrong or contrary to law. . 
: The OJ)ini9n~ of experts ur:in the question ~hether the symptoms 
exhibited by A commonly show unsoundness of mind, !!'id Wh@ther .such 
unsoundness of mind usually· renders persons incapable of knowing the 
nature of the acts which they do, or of knowing that what" they do is either 
wrong or contrary to law, are relevant. 

(c) The· question is, whether a certain document was written py A. 
Another document is produced which is proved or admitted to have been 
written by A. · 

1 

The opinions of experts on the question whether the two documents 
were written by the same person or by different persons, are relevant." 
18. The importance of the provision has been explained in State of H.P. v. 

Jai Lal2• It is held, that, Section 45 of the Evidence Act which makes opinion 
of experts admissible lays down, that, when the court has to form an opinion 
upon a point of foreign l~w. or of science, or iift, Qr ~ to identity of 
handwriting or finger impressions, the opinions upon that point of persons 
specially skilled in such foreign law, science or art, or in questions as to 
identity of handwriting, or finger impressions are relevant facts. Therefore, in 
order to bring the evidence of a witness as that of anexpert it has to be shown 
that he has made a special study of the subject or acquired a special 
experience therein or in other words that he is skilled and has adequate 
knowledge of the subject. 

19. It is not the province of the expert to act as Judge or Jury. It is stated 
in Titli v. Alfred Robert Jones3 that the real function of the expert is to put 
before the court all the materials, together with reasons which induce him to 
come to the conclusion, so that the court, although not an expert, may form 
its ownjudgment by its own observation ofthose materials. 

20.' An expert is not a witness of fact and his evidence is really of an 
advisory character. The duty of an expert witness is to furnish the Judge with 
the necessary scientific criteria for testing the accuracy of the conclusions so 
as to enable the Judge to form his independent judgmentby the application of 
these criteria to the facts proved by the evidence of the case. The scientific 
opinion evidence, if intelligible, convincing and tested becomes a factor and 
often an important factor for consideration along with other evidence of the 
case. The credibility: of. such a witness depends on the reasons stated in 
support of his conclfions and the data and material furnished which form 

a 

2 (1999) 7 sec aso 19~9 sec (Cri) 11s4 
3 AIR 1934 AU 273 
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the basis of his conclusions. (See Malay Kumar Ganguly v. Dr. Sukumar 
Mukherjee'; SCC p. 249, para 34.) 

21. In State of Maharashtra v. Damu4, it has been laid down that without a 
examining; the expert as a witness in court, no reliance can be placed on an 
opinion alone. In this regard, it has been observed in. State (Delhi Admn.) v. 
Pali Rami that "no expert would claim today that he could be absolutely sure 
that his opinion was correct, expert depends to a great extent upon the 
materials put before him and the nature of question put to him". 

22. In the article "Relevancy of Expert's Opinion" it has been opined that /;) 
tlle value of expert opinion rests on the facts on which it is based and his 
competency for forming a reliable opinion. The evidentiary value of the 
opinion of an expert depends on the facts u~on which i~ is based and. also the 
validity of the process b)I which' the conclusion is reached. Thus the id~R that 
is proposed in its crux means that the importance of an opinion is decided on 
the basis of the credibility of ~he expert and the relevant facts supporting the C 
opinion so that its accuracy can be crosschecked. Therefore, the emphasis has 
been on the data on the basis of which opinion is formed. The same is clear 
from the following inference: • 

"Mere assertion without mentioning the data or basis is not evidence; 
even if it comes from an expert. Where the experts give no real data in 
support of their opinion, the evidence even though admissible, may be d 
erctuded from consideration as affording no assistance in arriving at the 
cOf'f@Ct val \l~·" . . · 
23. Though we have adverted to (he natwe of disease and the relevancy 

of the expert opinion. we do not think it necessary to go lnto rhe meri(5 Qf the 
case iq view of the course we propose to adopt, and in view of the fact that e 
the Commission is the last fact finding authority in the scheme of the Act. 

24. The Commission by its order dated 6-3-2000 had requested Dr, A.K. 
Singh; Neurologist, to give his opinion on the surgery done in this case. It 
was also ordered that all the records of the surgery will be submitted by the 
complainant to the Registrar of the Commission to enable him to forward it 
to Dr. 4.K. Singh, along with the complaint and also the affidavits filed on 
behalf of the respondents. Dr. A. K. Singh will make himself familiar with the 
complaint and the records and then give his opinion. The Assistant Registrar 
by his letter dated 12-6-200q, forwarded the original records of the present 
case to Dr. A.K. Singh. On IQ-8-2000, Dr. A.K. Singh submitted his report to 
the Assistant Registrar with ttje findings that: 

"After careful scrutiny of the documents now made available to me, I g 
find that the current situation as regards these vital and missing 
documeritary evidences is as follows: 

' (a) No original x-ri!Y film51 of various radiological examinations 
were enclosed either in original form or in the fo~ of copie~. 

c2009) 9 sec si:Jl'REME COURT CASES 716 
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RAMESH CHANDRA AGRAWAL v. REGENCY HOSPITAL LTD. ( Dattu, J.) 717 

(b) No details of findings at surgery are provided. 
(c) No details of operative findings have b@@n provided, Qnly the 

surgical procedure carried out has been mentioned. 
(d) No details of any subsequent neurological/neuroradiological 

assessment have been provided. 
In view of the foregoing, I feel that not much additional information, 

over and above what had originally been provided to me by Dr. Atul 
Sahai, has been made available now for me to substantially revise my 
opinion earlier. I, therefore, stand by my earlier opinion referred to 
above." 
25. The appellant on 17-9-2001, again filed an application before the 

Commission for referring the matter to an eminent doctor for his opinion. It· 
was s~ated that the expeft had at many places stated that he would have been 
in a better position to examine the matter if he was made available the x-rays 
an1 M~I reports, etc. 

, 26. Inquiries from the office of the Commission revealed that the office 
of the Commission, by in;istake, forgot to forward the original record to Dr. 
A.K. Singh and as a result thereof, Dr. A.K. Singh was deprived of the 
opportunity of perusing the same before submitting his opinion in the matter. 
In this way, the case of the appellant was severely prejudiced as without these 
records it was not possible for an expert to give definite and correct opinion 
in the matter. 

27. The Commission by its order dated 22-11-2001 rejected the 
applicatipn of the appellant stating that Dr. A.K. Singh had submitted his 
report as: far back as on 19-8-2000 and it is not understandable as to why this 
application should h~ve been filed at such a later stage. The Corrunission in 

. the course of its judgment has observed: 
"That in spite of opportunity being given, the complainant and his I 

wife did not off er themselves for the cross-examination and they have 1 

failed to supply material to Dr. A.K. Singh as mentioned in his report 
dated 19-8-2000, Which could have enabled him to give a more complete 
report. Also no evidence of any expert was led by the appellant. For that 
Fatter none of the parties filed any literature on the subject to support 
thelr contentions in spire of giving them an opportunity." . . 
ZS. In the present case. the appellant had filed all the records of th~ 

treatment before the Commission. The Assistant Registrar, due to oversight. 
did not' send the original records and x-ray films to the expert. Thus, it was 
the Assistant Registrar of the Commission who had failed to perform the duty 
diligently. . 

29. Due to the non-availability of vital and important information, the I 
expert ~as h~n~capped in giving his op.inion on the basis of which the order 
of the Commission was to be passed. It is Nery much clear from the report of I 

a 
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718 SUPREME COURT CASES (2009) 9 sec 
Dr. A.K. Singh dated 19-8-2000, that he would havebeen in a better position 
if certain documents would have been made available to him. 

JO. The appellant had also filed an appliGation ~f •m the <;9m1ni~~~<;;m a 
dated 17-9-2001, bringing to the notice of the Commission the lack of care 
shown by the Assistant Registrar, who had failed to forward the records of 
the · treatment to the expert, and had requested to send the records for 
reconsider:f ion, This application was rejected by the Commission holding 
that the re~lnsiderati~n ~f the e~pert opini~n at .this .stage is not neces~ary. I) 

· 31. The Commission while rendering its judgment has failed. t9 
appreciate that in such cases an expert would not be in a position to form a 
true opinion if all the documents pertaining to the matter, on which the 
opinion is desired, are not made available to him. The Commission on the 
application made by the appellant should have again directed for the expert 
9pini<;m after making all the records of the treatment available to the expert. 9 
The appellant should not suffer for the negligence of the Assistant Registrar 
and also when the Commission has itself stated in its judgment that supply of 
material to Dr. A.K. Singh could have enabled him to give a more complete 
report. 

32. It is important to note that the appellant had brought to the notice of 
the National Commission, the lack of care shown by the Assistant Registrar, d 
who had failed to forward the records of the treatment to the expert, by filing 
an application before the Commission dated 17-9-2001. This application was 
rejected by the Conunission holding that the reconsideration of the expert 
opinion at this stage is not· necessary. In our view, the principles of natural 
justice require thata fair opportunity should be given to the complainant to 
prove his claim based on the report of the expert. Since that opportunity is e 
denied to the appellant, the impugned order passed by the National 
Commission cannot be sustained. · · 

33.·ln view of the above discussion, the appeal requires to be allowed and 
accordingly, it is allowed. The impugned order is set aside. The Registrar of 
the Commission is directed to forward all the records of the treatment filed 
by the appellant before the Commission to Dr. A.K. Singh, Neurologist, who 
is now working at Fortis Hospital, Noida, for his expert opinion within one 
month from the date of receipt of this order, with a request to give his expert 
opinion on the basis of the records of the treatment and affidavits filed by 
both· the parties within . two months from the date the records are made 
available to him. After receipt of the expert opinion, the Commission is {) 
requested to pass fresh order in accordance with law. No order as to costs. 
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STATE OF UITARANCHAL Respondent. 
Criminal Appeal No. 529 of 2010t, decided on August 3, 2012 . 

A. Public Accountability, Vigilance and Prevention of' Corruption - 
Corruption in Criminal Justice System - Investigating officer (SI) and 
government doctor deliberately favouring accused and acting in conscious 
and deliberate violation of their duty - Disciplinary proceedings, even af'ter 
retirement of. o. tlici4ls concerned - Initiation of - Power of trial court to 
direct - Punishment f'or contempt by High Court or Supreme Court for 
disobedience of such orders of trial court - Contempt of Courts Act, 1971 
- S. 10 - Natur4fi and Scope - Power of superior court to punish for 
contempt of inferior/subordinate court 

B. Criminal Trial·- Defective or illegal investigation - Investigation 
and doctor's report coloured with motivation - Dereliction of duty and 
misconduct by investigating officer and expert witness (doctor) or other 
material witnesses - Power of trial court to issue directions for disciplinary 
and ot~er action atainst them, even after retirement of officials concerned 

d - Such direction issued by trial court,. affirmed and contempt notices 
issued to Higher 0 icials for not initiating disciplinary proceedings directed 
by t~ial court - Court's approach in appreciation of evidence in such cases 

__.._ Court should ascertain on examination of prosecution case in its 
entirety whether there have been acts of omission and commission by 
investigating agency and other material witnesses which resulted in 
detective investigation and whether same were intentional and deliberate 

. and adversely affected prosecution case - If investigation is found to be 
motivated, court should exercise higher degree of caution and care so as to 
en5ure thtilt de~pite iiltt~mpt to misdirect trial, criminal justice system is not 
subverted :--- Court must record specific finding and reasons as to deliberate 
der~liction of' duty, designedly defective investigation, intentional acts of' 
omission and commission prejudicial to prosecution case, in breach of 
professional standards and investigative requirements of law, during course 
of investigation by investigating agency, expert witnesses and even PWs - 
Further, trial court would be justified in directing disciplinary authorities to 
take disciplinary or other action, whether such officer, expert or employee 
witness, is in service or has since retired 

- Directions issued by Supreme Court against investigating officer 
(SI, PW 6) who conducted investigation and doctor (PW 3) who conducted 
post-mortem, . both in a manner so as to defeat prosecution case, and other 
pfficials - Directors General, Health Services of U.P./Uttarakhand issued 
contempt notices as to why appropriate action be not initiated against them 
for not complying with directions contained in judgment of tri~l court for 
initiation of <)isciplin4rY. proceedings against PW 3 - Abovesaid officials 

t FrJm the Judgment and Order dated 17-3-2008 of the High Courtof Judicature of Uttarakhand 
at Nainital in Crl. A. No. 2050 of 2001 (Old No. 1324 of 1990) 

qo12) 8 Supreme Court Cases 263 
(BEFORE SWAT~TER KUMAR AND F.M. IBRAHIM KALIFULLA, JJ.) 

DAYAL SINGH AND OTHERS Appellants; 
Versus 

a 

263 DAYAL SINGH v. STATE OF UTIARANCHAL 
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directed to take disciplinary action against Medical Officer, PW 3, whether 
he was in service or had since retired, for deliberate dereliction of duty, 
preparing a medical report which ex facie was incorrect and was in conflict a 
with iiicluest report and statement of IO, PW 6 - Bar of limitatlon, if any, 
under' the Rules not to come into play because they were directed by the 
order of the trial court to do so - Action even for stoppage/reduction in 
pension can appropriately be taken by the said authorities against PW 3 - 
Directors General of Police U.PJ{Jttarakhand directed to initiate, and 
expeditiously complete disdplinary proceedings against PW 6 SI, whether 
he was in service or had since retired, for acts of omission and commission b 
and deliberate dereliction of duty - Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 - 
Ss. 156 to 161, 353 and 354 .- Constitution of India - Arts. 136 and 129 - 
Service Law - Departmental enquiry - Initiation of, even after retirement 
of qtlicials concerned - Directions by court - Contempt of Courts Act, 
1971 - S. 10 - Nature and Scope -'- Power of superior court to punish for 
contempt of inferior/suboydinate court (Paras 39 to 48) c 

C. Criminal Trial - ~air and speedy trial - Object - Social justice - 
Rights of society and victim - To do justice not only to accused but also to 
society represented by prosecution by giving. it a chance to prove its case - 
Aim is to ensure not only t~at no innocent person is punished but also that 
guilty persons do not escape 1- Constitution of India, Art. 21 (Paras 30 to 34) 

Q. Criminal Trial - Defective or illegal investigation - IDY~~tigathm d 
coloured with motivation -Acts of omission and commission committed by 
investigating agency and other material witnesses - Whether deliberate 
and adversely affected prosecution case - Medical evidence in conflict with 
eyewitness version 

- According to eyewitness version, accused persons inflicted 
lathi-blows on deceased which resulted in his death on the spot - Presence e 
of eyewitnesses at the .~cene of occurrence not in doubt and their testimony 
found to be natural and trustworthy - Investigating officer (SI, PW 6)' also 
found, in presence of panchas, injuries on the person of deceased and 
prepared inquest report recording his opinion that deceased died on account 
of those injuries - But doctor (PW 3), who conducted post-mortem, 
reported 'no external or internal injury and could not ascertain cause of 
death - No reason mentioned by IO also for non-disclosure of cause of 
death by doctor - Deceased's viscera handed over to police but either not 
sent to FSL 'or if sent; report thereof neither called for nor proved before 
court 1 Held, post-mortem report was prepared in a perfunctory manner 
delibetately, to misdirect prosecution and IO also acted in a negligent and 
desigQed 

1mnnner with, a view to shield accused which advmely affected 
prosecutipn case - But merely because of- investigation being defective and g 
motivated, it should not enure to the benefit of accused to the extent of his 
acquittal - Hence, in present case concurrent conviction of accused •by 
courts below under Ss. 302/323/34 IPC, confirmed - Criminal Procedure 
Code, 1973 - Ss. 156 to '161 - Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Penal Code, 
1860, Ss. 302/34 and 323/34 . (Paras 18 to 26 and 40) 

E. Criminal Trial - Defective or illegal investigation - Investigation h 
coloured 1 with motivation - Acts of default/omission and commission by 
investigating officer and expert witness - If found to be so flagrant that 

SUPREME COURT CASES c2012) s sec 264 
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intentional and irresponsible attitude become apparent, investigation must 
be re~arded as coloured by motivation and an attempt to save the accused 

(Paras 21 and 40) 
P. Criminal Trial - Defective or illegal investigation - Intentional acts 

of default/omission and commission by investigating officer (IO) and 
medical officer (MO) of government hospital - Dereliction of duty and 
miscond uct - What would amount to - To be determined in the context of 
service to which such officers belong - Police officers and doctors are 
required to maintain duty decorum of high standards - Hence, whether 
their acts constituted. dereliction of duty and misconduct should be 
determined on basis. of such standards - Disciplinary proceedings. to be 
initiated on directions of trial court in such cases, even after retirement of 
officials concerned - Service Law - Misconduct (Paras 18 to 40 and 47) 

G. Evidence Act, 1872 - Ss. 45, 59 and 60 -·Medical evidence - 
Expep: report <rost-mortem report) in conflict with eyewitness version - 
Which one should be given precedence - Manner in which court should 
appreclate evidence - If expert report found to be perfunctory, incorrect 
and outcome of deliberate attempt to misdirect prosecution case, whereas 
eyewitness version found to be trustworthy and credible and establishes 
prosecution case beyond reasonable doubt, eyewitness version should be 
preferred over expert report (post-mortem report) - Hence, in present case 

d concurrent conviction of. accused by courts below under Ss, 302/323134 IPC, 
confirmed - Penal Code, 1860, Ss, 302/34 and 323/34 (Paras 35 to 40) 

H. Evidence Act, 1872 - S. 45 - Expert report - Should be well 
authored and convincing - Report, duly proved, has evidentiary value - 
But it is not binding on court - Court should analyse report, read it in 
conjunction with other evidence and then decide whether it is reliable or not 

(Paras 35 to 40) 
I. Criminal. Trial - Witnesses - Related witness - Testimony of, if 

found to be natural and truthful, cannot b@ dtscarded merely because of hi~ 
relationship with deceased/victim and being interested witness 

· (Paras 13, 14, 4S and 46) 
J ! Penal Code,, 186() - Ss. 302/34 or S. 304 Pt. II r/w S. 34 and Ss. 323/34 

- Common intention to cause death - Accused persons armed with lathis 
came' with premeditated mind and started assaulting deceased without any 
provocation, till his death on the spot, and when PWs came to deceased's 
rescue, accused inflicted injuries on them also - Held, conviction under 
Ss, 302/34 for causing death of deceased and under Ss. 323/34 for causing 

. injuries to PWs justified (Paras 13, 14, 45 and 46) 
The trial court found the accused persons guilty of offences under Section 

302 read with Section 34 IPC for murder as well as under Section 323 read with 
Section 34 JPC for causing voluntary hurt to PWs 2 and 4. The court also 
commented adversely upon the professional capabilities and/or misconduct of 
the medical officer FW 3. It observed that since the doctor "had conducted in a 
manner not befitting !the medical profession and prepared the post-mortem report 
against facts for reasons best known .to him and was negligent in his duty in 
ascertaining the injuries ori the body of the deceased, hence it is just and proper 

-that the Director General, Medical Health, U.P. ~ informed in this regard for 

465 DAYAL SINGH v. STATE OF UTTARANCHAL 
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taking necessary action and for eradicating such practices in future". The High 
Court dismissed the appeal against the judgment of the trial court and affirmed 
the conviction and sentence recorded by the trial court. a 

Dismissing the appeal filed by the accused both on merits and on quantum of 
sentence, the Supreme Court 
Held: 

Court's approach in cases of motivated investigation and bought over expert 
witnesses 

· In a criminal case, the fate. of proceedings cannot always be left entirely in b 
the hands of the parties. Crime is a public wrong, in breach and violation of 
public rights and duties, which affects the community as a whole and is harmful 
to the society in general. Where our criminal justice system provides safeguards 
of fair trial and innocent till proven guilty to an accused, there it also 
contemplates that a crirqinal trial is meant for doing justice to all, the accused, 
the society and a fair chance to prove to the prosecution .. Then alone can law and 
order be maintained. Th~ courts do not merely discharge the function to ensure c 
that no innocent man is punished, but also that a guilty man does not escape. Both 
are public duties of the Judg~. During the course of the trial, the Presiding Judge is 
expected to work objectively and in a correct perspective. Where the prosecution 
attempts to misdirect the trial on the basis of. a perfunctory or designedly defective 
investigation, there the Court is to be deeply cautious and ensure that despite such 
an attempt, the determinative process is not subverted. For truly attaining this 
object of a "fair trial", t?e Court should leave no stone unturned to do justice and d 
pro~ect the interest of the society as well. · (Paras 30 and 34) 

S~thi Prasad v. State of'UP., (1972) 3·SCC 613 : 1972 SCC (Cri) 659; Dhanaj Singh v. 
State of Punjab, (2004) 3 SCC 654: 2004 SCC (Cri) 851; Paras Yadav v. State of Bihar, 
(i999) 2 sec 126 : 1999 sec (Cri) 104; Zahira Habibullah Sheikh (5) v. State of 
Gujarat, (2006) 3 SCC 374 : (2006) 2 SCC (Cri) 8; NHRC v. State of Gujarat, (2009) 6 
SCC 767: (2009) 3 SCC (Cri) 44; State of Kamataka v. K. Yarappa Reddy, (1999) 8 SCC 
715: 2000 SCC (Cri) 61; Ram Bali v. State of UP., (2004) 10 SCC 598: 2004 SCC (Cri) e 
2045; Kamel Singh v. State of M.P., (1995) 5 SCC.518: 1995 SCC (Cri) 977, relied on 
fa tbi~ ~i\~~, th~ trii:il \QW"t hi:i~ · ri~tly ignm~9 th~ 4~1iDlfnM hip~~~ 9f ~If 

investigating officer SI PW 6 as well as the post-mortem report prepared by 
PW 3 the medical officer. The consistent statement of the eyewitnesses which 
were fully supported and corroborated by other witnesses; and the investigation 
of the cnime, including recovery of lathis, inquest report, recovery of the pagri of 
one of the accused from the place of occurrence, immediate lodging of FIR and 
the deceased succumbing to his injuries within a very short time, establish the 
case of the prosecution beyond reasonable doubt. These lapses on the part of 
PW 3 and PW 6 are a deliberate attempt on their part to prepare reports and 
documents in a designedly defective manner which would have prejudiced the 
case of the prosecution and resulted in the acquittal of the accused, but for the 
correct approach of the trial court to do justice and ensure that the guilty did not g 
go scot-free. The evidence of the eyewitness which was reliable and worthy of 
credence has justifiably been relied upon by the court. (Para 41) 

It is declared and directed that it shall be appropriate exercise of jurisdiction 
as well as ensuring just and fair investigation and trial that courts return a 
specific finding in such cases, upon recording of reasons as to deliberate 
derelictibn of duty, desi~edly defective investigation, intentional acts of. h 
omission and commission wejudicial to the case of the prosecution, in breach of 
professio~al standards and investigative requirements of law, ~iuring the course of 
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. the investigation by the investigating agency, expert witnesses and even the 
witnesses cited by the prosecution. Further, the courts would be fully justified in 
direyting the disciplinary authorities to take appropriate disciplinary or oilier 
action in accordance with law, whether such officer, expert or employee witness, 
is in service or has since retired. (Para·47.5) 

Directions 
The Directors General, Health Services of U.P./Uttarakhand are hereby 

issued notice under the provisions of the Contempt of Courts Act, 1971 as to why 
spproprine action be not initiated 11gL1imt them for nm complying with the 
directions contained in the judgment of the trial court. The abovesaid officials are· 
hereby directed to take disciplinary action against the Medical Officer, PW 3, 
whether he is in service or has since retired, for deliberate dereliction of duty, 
preparing a report which ex facie was incorrect and was in conflict with the inquest 
report and statement of PW 6. The bar on limitation, if any, under the Rules will 
not come into play because they were directed by the order of the trial court to do 

c 'so. The action even for stoppagereducrion in pension can appropriately be taken ?~ the said authorities' against PW 3. The Directors General of Police U.P./ 
y~tara~and are hereby directed to initiate, and expeditiously complete, 
disciplinary proceedings against PW 6 SI, whether he is· in service or has since 
retired, for the acts of omission and commission, deliberate dereliction of duty in. 
not mentioning reasons for non-disclosure of cause of death as explained by the 
doctor. not sending the viscera to the PSL and for conducting th~ investigii,iQn of 

d this case in a most callous and irresponsible manner. The question cf limitation, 
if any, under the Rules, would not apply as it is by the direction of the Court that 
such enquiry shall be conducted. (Pam 47.2 to.47.4) 

Dharnidhar v, State of U.P., (2010) 7 SCC 759 : (2010) 3 SCC (Cri) 491; Mano Dutt 
v. State of UP., (2012) 4 SCC 79: (2012) 2 SCC (Cri) 226; Satbir Singh v. State of U.P., 

. (20()9) 13 sec 790: (2010) 1 sec (Cri) 1250,Jollowed 
Jayabalan v. UT of Pondicherry, (2010) 1 SCC 199 : (2010) 2 sec (Cri) 966; Ram 

Bhdrosey v. State pf U.P., AIR 1954 SC 704: 1954 Cri W 1755; Har Prasad v. State of 
M.P., (1971). 3 sq:: 455: 1971 SCC (Cri) 703; Gudar Dusadh v. Stare of Bihar, (1972) _3 
sec 118 : 1972 SfC (Cri) 438, cited 

Acts of omission and commission on part of investigating officer and 
medical officer · 

Dereliction of duty or carelessness is an abuse of discretion under a definite 
law and misconduct is a violation of indefinite law. Misconduct is a forbidden act 
whereas dereliction of duty is the forbidden quality of an act and is necessarily 
indefinite. One is a transgression of some established and definite rule of action, 
with least element of discretion, while the other is primarily an abuse of 
di~cretion. The ambit of these expressions had to be construed with reference to 
thct subject-matter and the context where the term occurs, regard being given to 
the scope of the statute and the public purpose it seeks to serve. The police 
service is a disciplined service and it requires maintenance of strict discipline. 
An investigating officer is completely responsible and answerable for the manner 
and methodology adopted in completing his investigation. The consequences of 
these defaults should normally be attributable to negligence. Police officers and 
doctors, by their profession, are required to maintain duty decorum of high 
standards. The standards of investigation and the prestige of the profession are 
dependent upon the action of such specialised persons. (Paras 26 and 21) 

State of Punjab v. Ram Singh, (1992) 4 SCC 54: 1992 SCC (L&S) 793: (1992) 21ATC435; 
C. Muniappan v. State o/T.N .• (2010) 9 SCC 567 : (2010} 3 SCC (Cri) 1402, relied on 
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e 

Awadh Bihari Yadav. v. State of Bihar, (1995) 6 SCC 31, relied on 
Expert opinion vis-a-vis eyewitness version 

The skill and experience of an expert is the ethos of his opinion, which itself 
should be reasoned and convincing. Not to say that no other view would be 
possible, but if the view of the expert has to find due weightage in the mind of 
the court, it has to be well authored and convincing. (Para 39) 

The purpose of expert testimony is to provide the trier of fact with useful, d 
relevant information and to assist the court in arriving at a final conclusion. Such 
report is not binding upon the court. An expert report, duly proved, has its 
evidentiary value but such appreciation has to be within th! limitations 
prescribed and with careful examination by the court. The court is expected to 
analyse the report, read it in conjunction with the other evidence on record and 
then form its final opinion as to whether such report is worthy of reliance or not. 

(Paras 38 and 40) 
Where contradictions and variations between medical and ocular evidence 

are of a serious nature, which apparently or impliedly are destructive of the 
substantive case sought to be proved by the prosecution, they may provide an 
advantage; to the accused. There can be reports which are, ex facie, incorrect or 
deliberately so distorted so as to render the entire prosecution case unbelievable .. 
In this case PW 3 the medical officer was expected to prepare the post-mortem 
report with appropriate reasoning and not leave everything to the imagination of 
the court. 'He created a serious doubt as to the very cause of death of the 
deceased. His report apparently shows an absence of skill and experience and 
was, in fact, a deliberate attempt to disguise the investigation. The courts, 
normally, look at expert evidence with a greater sense of acceptability, but it is 
equally true that the courts are not absolutely guided by the report of the experts, g 
especially if such reports are perfunctory, unsustainable and are the result of a 
deliberate attempt to m,i~dir~t the prosecution. Where the eyewitness account is 
found credible and trustworthy, medical opinion pointing to alternative 
possibilities may not be 4ccepted as conclusive. (Paras 35, 40, 39 and 36) 

. Madan Gopal Kakkad v. Naval Dubey, (1992) 3 sec 204: 1992 sec (Cri) 598,followed 
Kamaljit Singh v. State of Punjab, (2003) 12 SCC 155 : 2004 SCC (Cri) Supp 343, relied on h 
B.R. Sharma: Forensic Science in Criminal Investigation & Trial (4th Edn.); The New 

Wigmore: A Treatise oh Evidence-Expert Evidence (2004 Edn.), relied on 

The investigating officer, as well as the doctor who are dealing with the 
investigation of a criminal case, are obliged to act in accordance with the police 
manual and the known capons of medical practice, respectively. They are both a 
obliged to be diligent, truthful and fair in their approach and investigation. The 
Police Manual and even the provisions of CrPC require the investigation to be 
conducted in a particular maimer and method which, stands clearly violated in 
the present case. PW 3 the medical officer concerned not only breached the 
requiremept of adherence to professional standards but also became instrumental 
in preparing a document which, ex facie, was incorrect andstood falsified by the 
unimpeachable evidence of the eyewitnesses placed by the prosecution on /;) 
record. This results in shifting of avoidable burden and exercise of higher degree 
of caution and 'care on the courts. If primacy is given to such designed 6t. . 
negligent investigation, to the omission or lapses by perfunctory investigation or 
omissions, the faith and confidence of the people would be shaken not only in 
the law enforcement agency but also in the administration of justice. 

' (Paras 21 and 26) c 
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The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
~WATANTER KUMAR, J.- Settled canons of criminal jurisprudence 

.when applied in their correct perspective, give rise to the following questions 
for consideration of the Court in the present appeal: 

(a) Where acts of omission and commission, deliberate or otherwise, 
are committed by the investigating agency or other significant witnesses 
instrumental in proving the offence, what approach, in appreciation of 
evidence, should be adopted? 

(b) Depending upon the answer to the above, what directions should 
be issued by the courts of competent jurisdiction? 

(c) Whenever there is some conflict in the eyewitness version of 

~

. vents and the medical evidence, what effect Will it have 011 th.,·· e case of 
he prosecution and what would be the manner in which the Court should 
ppreciate such evtdence? · · 

2. The facts giving rise to the questions in the present appeal are that the 
fields of Gurumukh Singh and Dayal Singh were adjoining in Village Salwati 

c 

on pagets) 
275f 
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within the limits of Police Station 'Sittarganj, District Udham Singh Nagar, 
These fields were separated by a mend (boundary mound). On 8-12-1985, 
Gurumukh Singh, the complainant, who was examined as PW 2, along with a 
his father Pyara Sin~h, had gone to their fields. At about 12 noon, Smt 
Bal want Kaur, PW 4, wife of Pyara Singh came to the flelds to give meals to 
Pyara Singh and their son Gurumukh Singh. At about 12.45 p.m., the accused 
persons, namely, Dayal Singh, Budh Singh and Resham Singh (both sons of 
Dayal Singh) and Pahalwan Singh came to the fields wielding lathis and 
started hurling abuses. They asked Pyara Singh. and Gurumukh Singh as to b 
why they were placing earth on their mend, upon which they answered that 
mend was a joint property belonging to both the parties. Without any 
provocation, all the accused persons started attacking Pyara Singh with Iathis. 
Gur~ml,\kh Singh, PW 2, at that time, was at a little distance from his father 
and Smf Balwant Kaur, PW 4, was nearby. On seeing the occurrence, they 
raised ¥1 alarm and wen1t to rescue Pyara Singh. the accused, however, 
inflicted lathi injuries on bpth PW 2 and PW 4. c 

j· In the meanwhile, Satnam Singh, who was ploughing his fields, which 
were quite close to the fieldo of thli paniell and Vtt~m .Singh (PW 5) who was 
coming to his village from another village, saw the occurrence, These two 
persons even challenged the accused persons upon which the accused persons 
ran away from the place of occurrence. Pyara Singh, who had been attacked 
by all the accused persons with lathis fell down and succumbed to his injuries d 
on the spot. Few villagers also came to the spot. According to the 
prosecution, pagri (Ext. 1) of one of the accused, Budh Singh, had fallen on 
the spot which was subsequently taken into custody by the police. Gurumukh 
Singh, PW 2, left the dead body of his deceased father in the custody of the 
villagers apd went to the police station where he got the report, Ext. Ka-3, 
scribed by Kashmir ~ingh in relation to the occurrence. The report was e 
lodged at about 2.15 p.m, on 8-12-1985 by PW 2 in presence of SI Kartar 
Singh, PW 6. FIR (Ext. Ka-4A) was . registered . and the investigating 
machinery was put into motion. 

4. Thy two injured witnesses, namely, PW 2 and PW 4 were examined by 
Dr P.C. Pande, PW 1, the medical officer at the Public Health Centre, 
Sittarganj on the date of occurrence. At 4.00 p.m., the doctor examined PW 2 
and noticed the following injuries on the person of the injured witness vide 
Injury Report, Ext. Ka-1. · 
Injury Report of PW 2 

"(l) Lacerated wound of 5 cm x 1 cm and 1 cm in depth. Margins 
were 'lacerated. Red fresh blood was present over wound. Wound was 
caused by a hard and blunt object. Wound was at the junction of left g 
parietal and occipital. bone 7 cm from upper part of left ear caused 'by 
blunt object. Advised x-ray, Skull A.P. and lateral and the injury was kept 
under observation. 

(2) Contusion of 6 cm x 2.5 cm on left side of body 3 cm above the 
left iliac crest. Simple in nature caused by a hard and blunt object." 

According to the doctor, the injuries were caused by a hard and blunt object ti 
and they were fresh in duration. 
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s.1 On 8-l:f.-1985 at 7.30 p.m. Dr P.C. Pande (PW 1) examined the 
injuries of Smt Balwant Kaur, PW 4 and found the following injuries on her 
person vide Injury Report, Ext. Ka-2: 
Injury Report of PW 4 

"(1) Contusion 6 cm x 3 cm on left shoulder caused by a hard and 
blunt object, 

(2) Contusion of 5 cm x 2 cm on lateral side of middle of left upper 
arm. Bluish red in colour caused by a hard and blunt object. 

(J) Contusion of 4 cm x 2 cm on leH parietal bM~ 6 ~m. from left ew 
caused by a hard and blunt object." 

According to Dr Pande, these injuries were caused by a hard and blunt object 
and the duration was within 12 hours and the nature of the injuries was 

· simplf.. According t~ Dr Pande the injuries of both these. injured persons 
couldlhave been received on 8-12-1985 at 12.45 p.m. by lathi. 

6. As noted above, according to Dr Pande, the injuries were caused by a 
hard and blunt object and duration was within 12 hours. Thereafter, SI Kartar 
Singh, PW 6, proceeded to theplace of occurrence in Village Salwati. He 
found the dead body of Pyara Singh lying in the fields. In' the presence of 
pr,nchas, including Balwant Singh, PW 8, he noticed that there were three 

d it1juries on the persqn of the deceased Prara Sin~h and prepared inquest 
report vide Ext Ka-6 recording his opinion that the deceased died on account 
of the injuries found on his body. After preparing the site plan, Ext. Ka-10, he 
also wrote a letter to the Superintendent, Civil Hospital, Haldwani for post­ 
mortem, being Ext. Ka-9. The dead body was taken to the said hospital by 
Constable Chandrapal Singh, PW 7. · 

7. Dr C.N. Tewari, PW 3, medical officer in Civil Hospital, Haldwani, 
performed the post-mortem upon the body of the deceased and did not find 
any ante-mortem or post-mortem injuries on the dead body. On internal 
examfnation, he did not find any injuries and could not ascertain the cause of 
death] Further, he preserved the viscera and gave the post-mortem report, 
Ext. Ka~4. After noticing that there was no injury or abnormality found upon 
exten~al and internal examination of the dead body, the doctor in his report . 
recorded as under: 

"Viscera in sealed jars handed over to the accompanying constables. 
Jar 1.: Sample preservative saline water. 
Jar 2: Pieces of stomach. 
Jar 3: Pieces of liver, spleen and kidney. 
Death occurred about one day back. 
Cause of death could not be ascertained. Hence, viscera 

preserved." 
8. It appears from the record. that the deceased's viscera, which allegedly 

was handed over b,y the doctor to the police, was either never sent to the 
forensic science laboratory (for short "the FSL") for chemical examination, 
or if sent, the report thereof was neither called for nor proved before the 
court. In fact, this has been left to th~ imagination of the court. 
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1 0~11) j sec 455: 1971 sec (Cri) 703: 1971Criu1135 

h 

9. The accused persons, at about 5.45. p.m. on the same day, lodged a 
written 1~eport at the same police statiori, which was received by Head 
Constable Inder Singh, who prepared the check report, Ext. C-1 and made a 
appropriate entry. The case was registered under Section 307 of the Penal 
Code, 1860 (IPC) against PW 2 Gurumukh Singh. Dayal Singh was arrested 
in furtherance of the FIR, Ext. Ka-4A. He was also sent for medical 
examination and was examined by Dr K.P.S. Chauhan, CW 2. After 
examining the said accused at about 7.45 p.m., the doctor found two injuries 
on his person and prepared the report (Ext. C-4). According to Dr Chauhan, b 
the injuries on the person of the accused could have been received by a 
firearm object and injuries were fresh within six hours. 

10. The investigating officer completed the investigation and filed 
chargo-shcot (Bilt. K~-11) i\~lMW the accused persons on 15-1-1986. ft may 
be noticed that in furtherance to Ext. C-2, neither any case was registered nor 
was any charge-sheet presented before the court of competent jurisdiction. c 
The accused also took; no steps to prove that report in court. They also did not 
file any private complatnt. 

11. Considering the ocular and· other evidence produced by the 
prosecution, the learned trial court vide 'its judgment of conviction and order 
of sentence, both dated 29-6-1990, found the accused persons guilty of 
offences under Sectio~ .302 read with Section 34 IPC as well as under d 
Section 323 read with ~ectiort 34 IPC. The trial court, while dealing with the 
arguments of the accused for application of Section 34, as well as the 
submission that the witnesses had not attributed specific role to the respective 
accused persons, held as under: 

"The attack was premeditated and the accused had come fully 
prepared to do the overt act. The injury was caused on the head of the e 
deceased which is a vital part of the body at which it was aimed by 
employing lathi, it was clear that the accused persons had intended to 
cause death by giving blow on vital part of the body of the deceased. 
After receiving the injuries, the deceased fell down and even thereafter 
h~ was attacked by the accused persons and he died on the spot 
immediately. This all goes to show that the accused persons who all were 
armed with lathis and had attacked in furtherance of their common 
intention by surrounding Shri Pyara Singh. At that juncture when the 
occurrence took t'lace suddenly and the wimenes were at some diMiU1~' 
it was quite natural fot· the witnesses not to have noted as to whose 
lathi-blow caused the injuries on Shri Pyara Singh and also on the injured 
persons. It was thus quite natural in such circumstances for the witnesses 
not to have noted the minute details of the incident. g 

The Hon'ble Supreme Court has held in Har Prasad v. State of M.P.1 
that in view of the large number of accused involved in the occurrence it 
is quite natural for the prosecution witnesses to get a bit confused. In 
fact1 n? cross-examin~tion was made on this aspect of the case w~ich has 
been discussed by me above. 
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The fact that the accused persons had gone to the place of occurrence 

fully armed with l~this and immediately on the basis of 'mend' started 
attacking the deceased Shri Pyara Singh, indicates that they had gone 
there with premeditation and prior concert. All the four accused were 
physically present at the time of the commission of offence. The criminal 
act was done by the accused persons and they all had shared the common 
intention by engaging in that criminal enterprise for which they had come 
fully prepared. The prosecution has succeeded in showing the existence 
of common purpose or design: All the accused persons were confederates 
in the commission of the offence and they had· participated in that 
common intention. Each of the accused person is liable for the act done 
in pursuance of that common purpose or design. 

The acts done by the accused persons are similar as they all had 
come prepared armed with lathis and lathi-blows were struck on the 
deceased Shri Pyara .Singh by the accused persons in furtherance of their 
common intention. Each of them is liable for the blows struck with lathi 
on the deceased and also on the injured persons. It is proved beyond all 
reasonable doubt that lathi-blow was struck on the head of Shri Pyara 
Singh which was at vital part and he died on the spot due to injuries. 
Whoever may have struck that lathi-blow, each of the accused person is 
liable for the lathi-blows struck on the vital part of the deceased. Since 
the lathi-blow was struck on the head of the deceased which is a vital 
part, the offence amounts to murder (see Gudar Dusadlt v. State of 
Bihar-). The death of Shri Pyara Singh was caused in the occurrence and 
it is proved to the hilt and beyond all reasonable doubt that he died on the 
spot on account of lathi-blows inflicted on him.. It is nobody's case that he ·died natural death. The accused persons have committed offence 
punishable undbr Sections 302/34 IPC and committed offence punishable 
under Sections 323/34 IPC for causing voluntary hurt to Shri Gurumukh 
Singh and Smt Balwant Kaur," · 
1+. The above judgment of the trial court was assailed by the accused 

persons in appeal before the High Court. The High Court, vide its judgment 
dated 17-3-2008, dismissed the appeal and affirmed the judgment of 
conviction and order of sentence passed by the learned trial court giving rise 
to the present appeal. · 

13. From the narration of the above facts, brought on record by the 
prosecution and proved in accordance with law, it is clear that there are three 
eyewitnesses to the occurrence. Out of them, two are injured witnesses, 
namely, PW 2 and PW 4. PW 2 is the son of the deceased and PW 4, is the 
wife. Presence of these two witnesses at the place of occurrence is 'normal 
and natural. According to PW 4, she had gone to the place of occurrence to 
give food to her husband and son around 12 noon, which is the normal hour 
for lunch in the villages. The son of the deceased had come to the field with 
his father to work. They were putting earth on the mend which was objected 
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to by the accused persons who had come there with lathis and with a 
premeditated mind of causing ha.rm to the deceased. Upon enquiry, the 
deceased informed the accused persons that the mend was a joint property of a 
the patties: Without provocation, the accused persons thereupon started 
hu.rlinf abuses upon Pyara Singh and his son, and assaulted the deceased 
with Iathis, PW 2 and fW 4 intervened to protect their father and husband 
respectivety, but to no consequence and in the process, they suffered injuries. 
Jn the meanwhile, when the accused persons were challenged by PW 5 arid 
Satnam Singh, who were. close to the place of occurrence, they ran away. The b 
presence of PW 2, PW 4 and PW 5 cannot be doubted. The statement made 
by them in the court is natural, reliable and does not suffer from any serious 
contradictions. Once the presence of eyewitnesses cannot be doubted and it 
has been established that their statement is reliable, there is no reason for the 
court to ~10t rely upon the. statement of such eyewitnesses in accepting the 
case of the prosecution. The accused persons had come with premeditated c 
mind, together with common intention, to ass~ult th~ d~"~a~~~ Md a!J of 
them kept on assaulting the deceased till the time he fell on the ground and 
became breathless. 

14. This Court has repeatedly held that an eyewitness version cannot be 
discarded by the court merely on the ground that such eyewitness happened 
to be a relation or friend of the deceased. The concept of interested witness o 
essentially must carry with it the clement of unfairness and undue intention 
to falsely implicate the accused. It is only when these elements are present, 
and statement of the witness is unworthy of credence that the court would 
examine the possibility of discarding such statements. But where the 
presence of the eyewitnesses is proved to be natural and their statements are 
nothing but truthful disclosure of actual facts leading to the occurrence and e 
the occurrence it~elf, it will not be pmnis&ible for UT~ ~QYJt t9 discard the 
statements of such related or friendly witness. 

15. The Court in Dharnidhar v. State of U.P.3 took the following view: 
(SCC pp. 768-69, paras 12-13) · 

"12. There is no hard-and-fast rule that family members can never be 
true witnesses to the occurrence and that they will always depose falsely 
before the court. It will always depend upon the.facts and circumstances 
of a given case. In Jayabalan v. UT of Pondicherryt, this Court had 

·occasion to consider whether the evidence of interested witnesses can be 
relied upon. The Court took the view that a pedantic approach cannot be 
applied while dealing with the evidence of an interested witness. Such 
evidence cannot be .ignored or thrown out solely because it comes from a g 
person closely related to the victim. The Court held as under: (SCC 
p. 213, pAl'M 23-241 . · . 

'23. Wear~ of the considered view that in cases where the court 
is called upon· to deal with the evidence of the interested witnesses, 

(2012) s sec SUPREME COURT CASES 274 

SCC Online Wet) Edition, Copyright© 2019 
Page 12 Monday, September 23, 2019 
Printed For: Meenakshi Arora I~ 
SCC Online Web Edition: http://www.scconli~e.com · 

~<U_"".':_':_~'-"'': __ ~"'.".'-"'~-"'-~"._:"~------------------------------------------------------ .9 
-~rD~® 
[L,~N L I N E if.:. 

· True Print 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



5 AIR 1954 SC 704 : 1954 Cri LJ 1755 
6 c20'12) 4 sec 79: c2012) 2 sec ccri) 226 
7 (2009) u sec 790: c2010) 1 sec (Cri) 1250 

h 

g 

e 

d 

c 

b 

DAYAL SINGH v. STATE OF UTTARANCHAL (Swatanter Kumar, ].) 275 
the approach of the court, while appreciating the evidence of such 
witnesses must not be pedantic. The court must be cautious in 
appreciating and accepting the evidence given by the interested 
witnesses but the court must not be suspicious of such evidence. The 
primary endeavour of the court must be to look for consistency. The 
evidence of a witness cannot be ignored or thrown out solely because 
lt comes from the mouth· of a person wh6 i~ ~IM~ly r~la.Wi to the 
victim. · 

24. From a perusal of the record, we find that the evidence of 
PWs 1 to 4 is clear and categorical in reference to the frequent 
quarrels between the deceased and the appellant. They have clearly 
and consistently supported the prosecution version with regard to the 
beating and the ill-treatment meted out to the deceased by the 
appellant di1 several occasions which compelled the deceased to 
leave the appellant's house and take shelter in her parental house 
with an i~tention to live there permanently. PWs 1 to 4 have 
unequivocally stated that the deceased feared weal to her life from 
the appellant. The aforesaid version narrated by the prosecution 
witnesses viz. PW s 1 to 4 also finds corroboration from the facts 
stated in thr complaint.' 
13. Similar view was taken by this Court in Ram Bharosey v. State of 

U.P. ~, wh@r@ th@ Coult mred the dictum of law that a clo8o relative of th; 
deceased does not, per se, become an interested witness. An interested 
witness is one who is interested in securing the conviction of a person out 
of vengeance or enmity or due to disputes and deposes before the court 
only with that intention and not to further the cause of justice. The Law 
relating to appreciation of evidence of an interested witness is well 
settled, according to which, the version of an interested witness cannot be 
thrown overboard, but has to be examined carefully before accepting the 
same." 

A similar view was taken by this Court in Mano Dutt v. State of U.P.6 and 
Satbir Singh v. State of U.P.7 

16. With some vehemence, it has then been contended on behalf of the 
appellant that the post-mortem report and the statement of PW 3 Dr C.N. 
Tewari, specifically state that no external or internal injuries were found on 
the body of the deceased. In other words, no injury was either inflicted by the 
accused or suffered by the deceased. Jn the face of this expert medical 
evidence, the statement of the eyewitnesses cannot be believed. The expert 
evidence should be given precedence and the accused persons are entitled to 
acquittal, This argument is liable to be rejected at the very outset despite the 
fact that it sounds attractive at first blush. 
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17. No doubt the post-mortem report (Ext. Ka-4) and the statement of 
PW 3 Qr C.N. Tewari, does show/reflect that he had not noticed any injuries 
upon the person of the deceased externally or even after opening him up a 
internally. But the fact of. the matter is that Pyara Singh died. How he 
suffered death is explained by three witnesses, PW 2, PW 4 and PW 5, 
respectively. Besides this, the statement of the investigating officer, PW 6. 
also clearly shows that the' body of the deceased contained three apparent 
injuries. He recorded in his investigative proceedings that the accused had 
died of these injuries and was found lying dead at the place of occurrence, It b 
is not only the statement of PW 6, but also the panchas in whose presence the 
body was recovered, who have endorsed this fact. The course of events as 
recorded in the investigation points more towards the correctness of the case 
of fue prosecution than otherwise. Strangely, Dayal Singh and other accused 
persons not only took the: stand of complete denial in their statement under 
Section 313 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (CrPC) but even went c 
to the extent of stating that they had no knowledge (pata' nahin) when they 
were asked whether Pyara S~ngh had died as a result of injuries. 

18. We have already discussed above that the presence of PW 2, PW 4 
and PW 5 at the place of occurrence was in the normal course of business 
and cannot be doubted. Their statements are reliable, cogent and consistent 
with the story of the prosecution. Merely because PW 3 and PW 6 have failed d 
to perform their duties in accordance with the requirements of law, and there 
has been some defect in the investigation, it will not be to the benefit of the 
accused persons to the extent that they would be entitled to an order of 

· acquittal o~ this ground. Reference in this regard can usefully be made to 
C. Muniappan v. State pf TN. 8 

19. Now, we wi~ deal with the question of defective or improper e 
investigation resulting from the acts of omission and/or commission, 
deliberate . or otherwise, of the investigating officer or other material 
witnesses, who are obliged to perform certain duties in discharge of their 
functions and then to examine its effects. In order to examine this aspect in 
conformity with the rule of law and keeping in mind the basic principles of 
criminal jurisprudence, and the questions framed by us at the very outset of 
th~s jup gment, the following points need consideration: 

\i) Whether thefe have been acts of omission and commission which 
have resulted in improper or defective investigation. 

(ii) Whether such default and/or acts of omission and commission 
have adversely affected the case of the prosecution. 

(iii) Whether such default and acts were deliberate, unintentional or g 
resulted from unavoidable circumstances of a given case, · 

(iv) If the dereliction of duty and omission to· perform was deliberate, 
then is it obligatory upon the court to pass appropriate directions 
including directions in regard to taking of penal or other civil action 
against such officer/witness. h 

s (2010) 9 sec 567: c2010) 3 sec (Cri) 1402: AIR 2010 sc 3718 
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20. In order to answer these determinative parameters, the courts would 
have to examine the prosecution evidence in its entirety, especially when a 
specific reference to the defective or irresponsible investigation is noticed in 
the light of the facts ·and circumstances of a given case. 

21. The investigating officer, as well as the doctor who are dealing with 
the investigation of fl criminal case, are obliged to act in accordance with the 
Police Manual and the known canons of medical practice, respectively. They 
are both obliged to be diligent, truthful and fair in their approach and 

b investigation. A default or breach of duty, intentionally or otherwise, can 
sometimes prove fatal to the case of the prosecution. An investigating officer 
is completely responsible and answerable for the manner and methodology 
adopted in completing his investigation. Where the d~fAUlt And Omission is SO 
flagrant that it speaks volumes of a deliberate act or such irresponsible 
attitude of investigation, no court can afford to overlook it, whether it did or 
did not cause prejudice to the case of the prosecution: It is possible that 
despite such default/omission, the prosecution may still prove its case beyond 
reasonable doubt and the court can so return its finding. But, at the same 
time, the default and omission would have a reasonable chance of defeating 
the case of the prosecution in some events and the guilty could go scot-free. 
We may illustrate such kind of investigation with an example where a huge 

d recovery of opium or poppy husk is made from a vehicle and the 
investigating officer does not even.investigate or make an attempt to find QU~ 
as to who is the registered owner of the vehicle and whether such owner was 
involved in the commission of the crime or not. Instead, he merely 
apprehends a cleaner and projects him as the pi~l.H~i1'AJ. ~ffander Without even 
reference to the registered owner. Apparently, it would prima facie be 
difficult to believe that a cleaner of a truck would have the capacity to buy 
and be the owner, in possession of such a huge quantity Le. hundreds of bags 
of por,py husk. The investigation projects the poor cleaner as the principal . 
offender in the case without even reference to the registered owner. 

I 
· 2;2. Even the present case is a glaring example of irresponsible 
investigation. It, in fact, smacks of intentional mischief to misdirect the 
investigation as well as to withhold material evidence from. the court. It 
cannot . be considered a case of bona fide or unintentional omission or 
commission. It is not a case of faulty investigation· simpliciter but is an 

"investigation coloured with motivation or an attempt to ensure. that the 
suspect can go scot-free. This can safely be gathered from the following: 

22.1. The entire investigation, including the statement of the investigating 
g officer, does not show as to what happened to the viscera which was, as per 

the statement of PW 3, handed over to the constable PW 7, who, in tum, 
stated that the viscera had been deposited in the police station rnalkhana, In 
the entire statement of the investigating officer, · there is no reference to 
viscera, its collection from the hospital, its deposit in the malkhana and 
whether it was sent to the FSL at all or not. If sent, what was the result and, if 
not, why? 
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22.2.; Conduct of the investigating officer is more than doubtful in the 
present case. In his statement, he had stated that he noticed three injuries on 
the body of the deceased. He also admitted that in the post-mortem report, no a 
internal or external injuries were shown on the body of the deceased. 
According to him, he had asked PW 3 · in that regard but the reply of the 
doctor was received late and the explanation rendered was satisfactory. 
Firstly, this reply or explanation does not find place on record. There is no 
document to that effect and secondly, even in his oral evidence, he does not 
say as to what the explanation was. b 

I 
22.3. In his statement, PW 3 Dr C.N. Tewari, stated that he did not find 

any external or internal jnjuries even after performing the post-mortem on the 
body of the deceased. This remark on the post-mortem report apparently is 
falsified both by the ey~witnesses as well as the investigating officer. It will 
be beyond apprehension as to how a healthy personcould die, if there were c 
no injuries on his body and when, admittedly, it was not a case of cardiac 
arrest or death by poison, etc., more so, when he was alleged to have been 
assaulted with dandas (lathis) by four persons simultaneously. In any case, 
the doctor gave no cause for death of the deceased and prepared a 
post-mortem report Ih(ch ex facie was incorrect and tantamounts to 
abrogation ofduty. The trial court while giving the judgment of conviction, d 
noticed that medico-legal post-mortem examination is a very important part · 
of the prosecution evidence and, therefore, it is necessary that it be conducted 
by a doctor fully competent and experienced. · 

22.4. The court also commented adversely upon the professional 
capabilities and/or misconduct of Dr C.N. Tewari, as follows: e 

"Whatever may have been the reasons but it is quite evident that Dr 
C.N. Tewari failed in his professional duty and he did not perform the 
post-mortem examination properly after considering tlie inquest report 
and the police papers sent to him. If his finding deferred from the 
finding of the panchas he should have informed his superior officers in 
that regard so that another opinion could have been obtained before the 
disposal of the dead body. The evidence leaves no room for doubt that 
Shri Pyara Singh was attacked with lathis as alleged by the prosecution 
and he received three injuries already referred to above which were 
mentioned in the inquest report (Ext. Ka-6) .... 

The case of the prosecution cannot be thrown on account of the 
gross negligence and apathy of the Medical Officer Dr C.N. Tewari who 
had performed autopsy on the dead body of Shri Pyara Singh. Since the g 
Medical Officer Dr C.N.Tewari had conducted in a manner not befitting 
the medical profession and prepared the post-mortem report against 
facts for reasons best known to him and was negligent in his duty in 
Cl5Gurtaining th; inj~ri~~ on t0¥ t>Qdy of the deceased, hence it is just and 
proper that the Director General, MedicalHealtn V.P. be informed in 
this regard for taking necessary action and for eradicating such h 
practices in future." (emphasis supplied) 
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23. From the record, it is evident that the learned counsel appearing for 
the State was also not aware if any action had been taken against Dr C.N. 
Tewari. On the contrary, Mr Ratnakar Dash, learned Senior Counsel 
appearing for Dr C.N. (Tewari, informed us that no action was called for 
against Dr C.N. Tewari as he had authored the post-mortem report and given 
his evidence truthfully and without any dereliction of duty. He also informed us 
that since Dr C.N. Tewari is now retired and is not well, this Court need not 
pass any further directions. We are not impressed with this contention at all. 

24. We have already noticed that PW 3 Dr C.N. Tewari, certainly did not 
act y;ith the requisite professionalism. He even failed to truthfully recordthe 
postrmortem report, Ext. Ka-4. At the cost of repetition, we may notice that 
his report is contradictory to the evidence of the three eyewitnesses who 
stood the test of doss-examination and gave the eye-version of the 
o~cur1·ence. It is also in conflict with the statement of PW 6 as well as the 
inquest .report (Ext. Ka-1?_) prepared by him where he had noticed th. at there 
were three injuries on 1-.ue body of the deceased. It is clear that the post- 
mortem report is silent a!nd PW 3 did not even notice the cause of death. If he 
was not able to record a finding with regard to the cause of death, he was 
expected to record some reason in support thereof, particularly when it is 
conceded before us by the learned counsel for the parties, including the counsel 

d for Dr C.N. Tewari that it was not a case of death by administering poison. 
25. Similarly, the investigating officer has also failed in performing his 

duty in accordance with law. Firstly, for not.recording the reasons given by 
Dr C.N. Tewari for non-mentioning of injuries on the post-mortem report, 
Ext. Ka-4, which had appeared satisfactory to him. Secondly, for not sending 
to the FSL the viscera and other samples collected from the body of the 
deceased by Dr C.N. Tewari, who allegedly handed over the same to the 
police, and their disappearance. There is · clear callousness and 
ill'espbnsibility on their part and deliberate attempt to misdirect the 
investigation to favour the accused. 

26. This results in shifting of avoidable burden and exercise of higher 
degree of caution and care on the courts. Dereliction of duty or carelessness 
is a11 abuse of discretion under a definite law and misconduct is a violation of . 
indefinite law. Misconduct is a forbidden act whereas dereliction of duty is 
the f?rbidden quality of an act and is necessarily .indefinite. One is a 
transgression of some established and definite rule of action, with least 
element of discretion, while the other is primarily an abuse of discretion. This 
Court in State of Punjab v. Ram Singh9 stated that the ambit of these 

g expressions had to be construed with reference to the subject-matter and the 
context where the term occurs, regard being given to the scope of the statute 
and tre public purpose it seeks to serve. The police service is a disciplined 
service and it requires maintenance of strict discipline. The consequences of 
these defaults should normally be attributable to negligence. Police officers 
and doctors, by their profession, arc required to maintain duty decorum of 
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high standards. The standards of investigation and the prestige of the 
profession are dependent upon the action of such specialised persons. The 
Police Manual and even the provisions of CrPC require the investigation to a 
be conducted. in a particular manner and method which, in our opinion, 
standa clearly violated in the present case. Dr C.N. Tewari, not only breached 
the requirement of adherence to professional standards but also became . 
instrumental in preparing a document which, ex facie, was incorrect and 
stood falsified by the unimpeachable evidence of the eyewitnesses placed by 
the prosecution on record. Also, in the same case, thu Court, while refenin! t; 
to the decision in Awadh Bihari Yadav v. State of BiharlO noticed that if 
primacy is given to such designed or negligent investigation, to the omission 
or lapses by perfunctory investigation or omissions, the faith and confidence 
of the people would be shaken not only in the law enforcement agency but 
also in the administration of justice. 

27. Now, we may advert to the duty of the court in such cases. In Sathi c 
Prasad v. State of U.P.11 this Court stated that it is well settled that if the 
police records become suspect and investigation perfunctory, it becomes the 
duty of the court to see if the evidence given in· court should be relied upon 
and such lapses ignored. Noticing the possibility of investigation being 
designedly defective, this Court in Dhanaj Singh v. State of Pun.jab12, held: 
(SCC p. 657, para 5) . d 

"5. In the case of a defective investigation the court has to be 
circumspect in evaluating the evidence. But it would not be right in 
acquitting an accused person solely on account of the defect; to do so 
would tantamount to playing into.the hands of the investigating officer if 
the investigation is designedly defective." 
28. Dealing with the cases of omission and commission, the Court in e 

Paras Yadav v. State of Bihar13 enunciated the principle, in conformity with 
the prevtous judgments, that if the lapse or omission is committed by the 

· investiga1ting agency, negligently or otherwise, the prosecution evidence is 
required lto be examined dehors such omissions to find out whether the said· 
evidence is reliable or not. The contaminated conduct of officials should not 
~t"llQ in the way of evaluatini the evidence by the courts, otherwise the 
designed mischief would be perpetuated and justice would be denied to the 
complainant party. 

· 29. In Zahira Habibullah Sheikh (5) v. State of Gujaratr", the Court 
noticed the importance of the role of witnesses in a criminal trial. The 
importance and primacy of the quality of trial process can be observed from g 
the words of Bentham, who states that witnesses are the eyes and ears of 
justice. The Court issued ~ caution that in such situations, there is a greater 
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respot1sibility of the court on the one hand and on the other the courts must 
seriously deal with persons who are involved in creating designed 
investigation. The Court held that: (SCC p. 398, para 42) 

"42. Legislative measures to emphasise prohibition against 
tampering with witness, victim or informant have .become the imminent 
and inevitable need of the day. Conducts which illegitimately affect the 
presentation of evidence in proceedings before the courts have to be 
seriously and sternly dealt with. There should not be any undue anxiety 
to only protect the interest of the accused. That would be unfair, as noted 
above, to the n~ed~ of the society. On the contrary, efforts should be to 
ensure a fair trial where the accused and the prosecution both get a fair 
deal. Public interest in proper administration of justice must be given as 
much importanfe, if not more, as the interest of the individual accused. 
In this courts have a vital role to play." (emphasis supplied) 
30. With the passage of time, the law also developed and the dictum of 

the Court emphasised that in a criminal case, the fate of proceedings cannot 
always be left entirely in the hands of the parties. Crime is a public wrong, in 
breach and violation of public rights and duties, which affects the community 
as a whole and is hf rpful to the society in general. 

31. Reiterating the above principle, this Court in NHRC v. State of 
Gujarati> held as under: (SCC pp. 777-78, para 6) 

"6 .... '35 .... The concept of fair trial entails familiar triangulation 
of interests of the accused, the victim and the society . and it is the 
community that acts through the State and prosecuting agencies. Interest 
of society is not to be treated completely with disdain and as persona non 
gi·"+ta. The courts have always been considered to have an overriding duty 
to maintain public confidence in the administration of justice=-often 
referred to as the duty to vindicate and uphold the 'majesty of the law'. 
Due administration. of justice has always been viewed as a continuous 
process, not confined to determination of the p. articular case, p .. rote. cting 
its ability to function as a court of law in the future as in the case before 
it. If a criminal court is to be an effective instrument in dispensing 
justice, the Presiding Judge must cease to be a spectator and a mere 
recording machine 'by becoming a participant in the trial evincing 
intelligence, active interest and elicit all relevant materials necessary for 
reaching the correct conclusion, to find out the truth, and administer 
justice with fairness and impartiality both to the partie~ 'lmi tQ th; 
community it serves. The courts administering criminal justice cannot 
turn a blind eye to vexatious or oppressive conduct that has occurred in 
relation to proceedings, even if a fair trial is still possible, except at the 
risk of undermining the fair name and standing of the Judges as impartial 
and independent ~dj~dicators.' (Zahira Habibullah case14, SCC p. 395, 
para 35)" ! • 
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32. In State of Karnataka v. K. Yarappa Reddyl6 this Court occasioned to 

consider the similar question of defective investigation as to whether any 
manipulation in me Bt~tiQn hOU5~ ~i{ij'Y ~y th~ investigating officer could be ~ 
put against the prosecution case. This Court, in para 19, held as follows: 
(SCC p. 720) 

"19. But can the above finding (that the station house diary is not 
genuine) have any inevitable bearing on the other evidence in this case? 
If the other evidence, on scrutiny, is found credible and acceptable, 
should the court be influenced by the machinations demonstrated by the b 
investigating officer in conducting investigation or in preparing the 
rec9rds so unscrupulously? It can be a guiding principle that as 
investigation is not tl:je solitary area for judicial scrutiny in a criminal 
trial, 

1the conclusion of the court in the case cannot be allowed to depend 
solely on the probity of investigation. It is well-nigh settled that even if 
the investigation is illegal or even suspicious the rest of the evidence c 
must be scrutinised in~ependently of thw imp~1;t Qf it. Oth~rwi~~ the 
criminal trial will plummet to the level of the investigating officers ruling 
the roost. The court must have predominance and pre-eminence in 
criminal trials over the action taken by the investigating officers. 
Criminal justice should not be made a casualty for the wrongs committed 
by the investigating officers in the case. In other words, if the court is d 

.convinced that the testimony of a witness to the occurrence is true the 
court if free to act on it albeit the investigating officer's suspicious role in 
the case," · · 
33. In Ram Bali v.: State of U.P.17 the judgment in Kamel Singh v. State 

of M.P.18 was reiterated and this Court had observed that: (Ram Bali case'", 
sec p. 604, para 12) e 

"/2. . .. In case of defective investigation the court has to be 
circumspect [while] evaluating the evidence. But it would not be right in 
acquitting an· accused person solely on account of the defect; to do so 
would tantamount to playing into the.hands of the investigation officer if 
the investigation is designedly defective." 34. Where our criminal justice system provides safeguards of fair trial 

and innocent till prove~ guilty to an accused, there it also contemplates that a 
criminal ral is meant for doing justice to all, the accused, the society and a 
fair chance to prove to the prosecution. Then alone can law and order be 
maintained. The courts do not merely discharge the function to ensure that'no 
innocent man is punished, but also that a guilty man .does not escape. Both 
are public duties of the Judge. During the course of tho niill1 thti ltmrn~d 9 

Presiding Judge is expected to work objectively and in a correct perspective. 
Where the prosecution attempts to misdirect the trial on the basis of a 
perfunctory or designedly defective investigation, there the Court is to be 

.................... -----,-- ~ .. 
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deeply cautious and ensure that despite such an attempt, the determinative 
process is not subverted. For truly attaining this object of a "fair trial", the 
Court should leave no stone unturned to do justice and protect the interest·of 
th~ society as well. 

· 3~: This bri~gs us _to an ancillary issue a~ .t? how the Co~rt. wou~d 
apprepate the evidence m such cases. The possibility of some vanations. m 
the exhibits, medical and ocular evidence cannot be ruled out. But it is not 
that every minor variation or inconsistency would tilt the balance of justice in 
favour of the accused. Of course, where contradictions and variations are of a 
serious nature, which apparently or impliedly are destructive of the 
substantive case sought to be proved by the prosecution, they may provide an 
advantage to the accused. The courts, normally, look at expert evidence with 
a greater sense of acceptability, but it is equally true that the courts are not 
absolutely guided by the report of the experts, especially if such reports are 
perfunctory, unsustainable and are the result of a deliberate attempt to 
misdirect the prosecution. In Kamaljit Singh v. State of Punjabi", the Court, 
whiledealing with the discrepa~eieg tetwsenocular and m¢ical evidence, 

.held: (SCC p. 159, para 8) 
"8. It is trite law that minor variations between medical evidence and 

ocular evidence do not take away the primacy of the latter. Unless 
medical evidence in its term goes so far as to completely rule out au 
possibilities whatsoever of injuries taking place in the manner stated by 
the eyewitnesses, the testimony of the eyewitnesses cannot be thrown 
out." 
36. Where the eyewitness account is found credible and trustworthy, 

medical opinion pointing to alternative possibilities may not be accepted as 
conclusive. 

i "34 .... The expert witness is expected to put before the court all 
materials inclusive of the data which induced him to come to the 
conclusion and enlighten the court on. the t~~h1~icul aspect of the case ~y 
[examining] the terms of science so that the court although, not an expert 
may form its own judgment on those materials after giving due regard to 
the expert's opinion, because once the expert's opinion is accepted, it is 
not the opinion of the medical officer but [that] of the court" 

(See Madan Gopal Kakkad v. Naval Dubey20, SCC pp. 221-22, para 34.) 
37. Profitably, reference to the value of an expert in the eye of the law 

can be assimilated as follows: 
"The essent,ial principle governing expert evidence is that the expert 

is not only to provide reasons to support his opinion but the result should 
be directly demonstrable. The court is not to surrender its own judgment 
to that of the e~pert or delegate its authority to a third party, but should 

. assess his evidence like any other evidence. 
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If the report of an expert is slipshod, inadequate or cryptic and the 
information of similarities or dissimilarities is nor available in his report 
and his evidence in the case, then his opinion is of no use. It is required a 

. of an expert whether a government expert or private; if he expects, his 
opinion to be accepted to put before the court the material which induces 
him to come to his conclusion so that the court though not an expert, may 
form its own judgment on that material. If the expert in his evidence as a 
witness does not place the whole lot of similarities or dissimilarities, etc., 
wlli~h infiyi;nc;1r Ii~~! MPd to lead him to a particular conclusion which he b 
states in the court then he fails in his duty to 'take the .court into 
confidence. The court is not to believe the ipse dixit of an expert 

Indeed the value of the expert evidence consists mainly on the ability 
of the witness by reason of his special training ,and experience to point 
out the court such important facts as it otherwise might fail to observe 
and in so doing the court is enabled. to exercise its own view. or judgment c 
respecting the cogency of reasons and the consequent value of the 
conclusions formed thereon. The opinion is required to be presented in a 
convenient manner and the reasons for a conclusion based on certain 
visible evidence, properly placed before the Court. In other words the 
value of expert evidence depends largely on the cogency of reasons on 
which it is based." [See Forensic Science in Criminal Investigation & c/ 
'{rial (4th Edn.), by B.R. Sharma.] . 
38. The purpose of expert testimony is to provide the trier of fact with 

useful, relevant information. The overwhelming majority rule in the United 
States, is that an expert need not be a member of a learned profession. Rather, 
experts in' the United States have a wide range of credentials and testify 
regaiding a tremendous variety of subjects based on their skills, training, 
education or experience. The role of the expert is to apply or supply e 
specialised, valuable knowledge that lay jurors would not be expected to 
possess] An expert may present the information in a manner that would be 
unacceptable with an ordinary witness. The common law tried to strike a 
balance between the benefits and dangers of expert testimony by allowing 
expert testimony to be admitted only if the testimony were particularly 
important to aiding the trier of fact. Even in the United States, if the 
helpfulness of expert testimony is substantially outweighed by the risk of 
unfair prejudice, confusion or waste of time, then the testimony should be 
excluded under the relevant Rules, and State equally balanced. Expert 
testimony on any issue of fact and significance of its application has been 
doubted by the scholars in the United States. Even under the law prevalent in 
tha] country, the opinion of an expert has to be scientific, specific and .g 
experience based. Conflif.t in expert opinions is a well-prevalent practice 
there. While referring to ~uch incidence David H. Kaye and other authors in 
The N,ew Wigmore: A Treatise on Evidence-Expert Evidence (2004 Edn.) 
opined as under: · 

· "The District Courf opinion reveals that one pharmacologist asserted 
'that Danocrine more probably than not caused plaintiff's death from h 
pulmonary hypertension,' but it describes the reasoning behind this 
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opinion in the vaguest of terms, referring only to 'extensive education 
and training in pharmacology' and an unspecified 'scientific technique' 
that 'relied upon epidemiological, clinical and animal studies, as well as 
plaintiff's medical records and medical history .. .'. The nature of these 
studies and their relationship to the patient's records is left unstated, The 
District Court incanted the same mantra to justify admitting the 
remaining testimony. It asserted that the other experts 'similarly base 
their. testimony upon a careful review of medical literature concerning 
Danocrine and pulmonary hypertension, and plaintiff's medical records . 
and medical history'. 

The court of appeals-! elaborated on the testimony· of two of the 
experts. The physician 'was confident to a reAM!.H.lhle medical certainty 
that the Danocrine caused Mrs Zuchowicz's PPH' because of 'the 
temporal relationship between the overdose and the start of the disease 
and the differential etiology method of excluding other possible causes'. 
Yet the 'differentia] etiology' here was barely more than a differential 
diagnosis of PPH. The causes of PPH are generally unknown and it 
appears that the only other putative alternative causes considered were 
drugs other than Danocrine. It is not at all clear that such a 'differential 
etiology' is adequate to support a conclusion of causation to any kind of a 
'medical certainty'. The pharmacologist, not being a medical doctor, 
tes~ified 'to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty ... [that] the 
ovir:rdose of Danocrine, more likely than not, caused PPH .. .'. He 
posrulatGd ~ iji~whanism by which this might have occurred: '(I) a 
decrease in estrogen; (2) hyperinsulinernia, in which abnormally nigh 
levels of insJiin circulate in the body; and (3) increase in free 
testosterone and progesterone ... that ... taken together, likely caused a 
dysfunction of the endothelium leading to PPH'. 

In sum, plaintiff's experts did not know what else might have caused 
the hypertension, and they offered a conjecture as to a causal chain 
leading from the drug to the hypertension. This logic would be more than 
enough to justify certain clinical recommendations-the· advice to Mrs 
Zuchowicz to discontinue. the medication, for example. But is it enough 
t9 allow an expert not merely to testify to a reasonable diagnosis of PPH, 
o,· 'unexplained pulmonary hypertension', as the condition also is known, 
but also be able to propound a novel explanation that has yet, to be 
verified, even in an animal model?" 

. 39. The Indian law on expert evidence does not proceed on any 
g ~ign.ificanlly di;ffarwm fo9ting. The skill and experience of an expert is- the 

ethos, of his opinion, which itself should be reasoned and convinth\~. Not to 
say that no other view would be possible, but if the view of the expert has to 
find due weightage in the mind of the court, it has to be well authored and 
convincing. Dr C.N. Tewari was expected to prepare the post-mortem report 
with appropriate reasoning and not leave everything to the imagination of the 
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Court. He created a serious· doubt as to the very cause of death of the 
deceased. His report apparently shows an absence of skill and experience and 
was, i~1 fact, a deliberate attempt to disguise the investigation. a 

40. W(e really need not reiterate various judgments which have taken the 
view that the purpose of an expert opinion is primarily to assist the court in 
arriving at a final conclusion. Such report is not binding upon· the court. The 
court is expected to analyse the report, read it in conjunction with the other 
evidence on record and then form its final opinion as to whether such report 
is worthy of reliance or not. Just to illustrate this point of view, in a given b 
case, the~·e may be two diametricall.y contradictory opinions of handwriting 
experts apd both the opinions may be well reasoned. In such case, the court 
has to critically examine the basis, reasoning, approach and experience of the 
expert to come to a conclusion as to which of the two reports can be safely 
relied upon by the court. The assistance and value of expert opinion is 
indisputable, but there can be reports which are, ex facie, incorrect or c 
deliberately so distorted as to render the entire prosecution case unbelievable. 
But if such eyewitnesses and other prosecution evidence are trustworthy, 
have credence and are consistent with the eye-version given by the. 
eyewitnesses, the court will be well -within its jurisdiction to discard the 
expert. opinion. An expert report, duly proved, has its evidentiary value but 
such appreciation has to be within the limitations prescribed and with careful d 
examination by the court. A complete contradiction or inconsistency between 
the medical evidence and the ocular evidence on the one hand and the 
statement of the prosecution witnesses between themselves on the other, may 
,.,~\llt ill ~'riQ\J&~y c;i~nt~1g the case of the prc;>secution in its entirety but not 
otherwise. 

41. Reverting to the case in hand, the trial court has rightly ignored the e 
deliberaty lapses of the investigating officer as well as the post-mortem report 
prepared I by Or C.N. Tewari. The consistent statement of the eyewitnesses 
which were fully supported and corroborated by other witnesses, and. the 
investigation of the crime, including recovery of lathis, inquest report, 
recovery of the pagri of' one. of the accused from the place of occurrence, 
immediate lodging of FIR and the deceased succumbing to his injuries within 
a very short time, establish the case of the prosecution beyond reasonable 
doubt. These lapses on the part of PW 3 and PW 6 are a deliberate attempt on 
their part to prepare reports and documents in a designedly· defective manner 
which would have prejudiced the case of the prosecution and resulted in the 
acquittal of the accused, but for the correct approach of the trial court to do 
justice and ensure that I the guilty did not go scot-free. The evidence of the g 
eyewitness which was reliable and worthy of credence has justifiably been 
relied upon by the court. 

42. Despite clear observations of the trial court, no action has been taken 
by the Di.rector General, Medical Health, Uttar Pradesh. We do, not see any 
justification for these lapses on the part of the higher authority. Thus, it is a h 
fit case where this Court should issue notice to show cause why action in 
accordance with the provisions of the Contempt of Courts Act, 1971 be not 

-·-·- ·----~--·-----~~--··- ~·---------- 
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initiated against him and he be not directed to conduct an enquiry personally 
and pass appropriate orders involving Dr C.N. Tewari and if found guilty, to 
impose punishment upon him including deduction of pension. Admittedly, 
'this direction was passed when Dr C.N. Tewari was in service. His 
retirement, therefore, will be inconsequential to the imposing of punishment 
and the lirnitation o/ period indicated i~ the service rcgulsriom would not 
apply in face of the prdrr of this Court. 

43. Sirnilarly, tre Director General of Police U.P./Uttarakhand also be 
issued notice to takf appropriate action in accordance with the service rules 
against PW 6 SI Kartar Singh, irrespective of the fact whether he is in service 
or bas since retired, If retired, then authorities should take action for 
withdrawal or partial deduction in the pension, and in accordance with law. 

44. Lastly, the learned counsel for. the appellant had, of course, with 
some vehemence, argued that the offence even if committed by the appellant, 
would not attract the' provisions of Section 302 IPC and would squarely fall 
within the ambit of Part II of Section 304 IPC. In other words, he prays for 
alteratibn of the offence to an offence punishable under Part II of Section 304 
TPC. 1 

45. We are concerned with a case where four persons armed with lathis 
had gone to the fields of the deceased. They first hurled abuses at him and 

d without any provocation started assaulting him with the dang (lathi) that they 
were carrying, Despite efforts to stop them by the wife and son of the 
deceased, PW 4 and PW 2, they did not stop assaulting him and assaulted 
Hoth these witnesses also. Thereupon, they kept on assaulting the deceased 
until he fell down dead on the ground. Three injuries were noticed by the 
police on the body of the deceased including a protuberant injury on the 

e head, which the court is only left to presume has resulted in his death. 
46. In the ahsence of an authentic and correct post-mortem report (Ext. 

Ka-4), the truthfulness of the prosecution eyewitnesses cannot be doubted. In 
addition thereto, the stand taken by the accused that they had suffered injuries 
was a false defence. Firstly, according to the doctor, CW 2, it was injuries of 
a firearm, while even according to the defence, the deceased or his son were . 
not carrying any gun at the time of occurrence. Secondly, they did not choose 
to pursue their report with the police at the time of investigation or even 
when the trial was on before the trial court, The accused persons had gone 
together armed with lathis with a common intention to kill the deceased and 
they brought their intention· into effect by simultaneously assaulting the 

g tlec1ased·. They had no provocation. Thus, the intention to kill is apparent. ff 
: is not a case which V(OUld squarely fall under Part II of Sectiop 304 IPC. 
Thus, the cumulative effect of appreciation of evidence, as aforediscussed, is 
tb~t ~e find no merit ib the present appeal. 

47. Having ~n'1ly~~ct and discussed in some elaboration various aspects 
of this case, we pass thejfollowing orders: 

h 47.1. The appeal is dismissed both on merits. and on quantum of 
sentence. 

............................................ - ~ .. 
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47.2. 1he Directors General, Health Services of U.P./Uttarakhand are 
hereby issued notice under] the provisions of the Contempt of Courts Act, 
1971 as to why appropriate action he not initiated against them for not a 
complying with the directions contained in the judgment of the trial court 
dated 29-6-1990. 

47.3, The abovesaid officials are hereby directed to take disciplinary 
action against Dt C.N. Ttwruii, PW 3, whether he is in service or has sine@ 
retired, for deliberate dereliction of duty, preparing a report which ex facie 
wa$ incorrect and was in conflict with the inquest report (Exts, Ka~6 and· b 
Ka- 7) abd statement of PW 6. The bar on limitation, if any, under the Rules 
will not come into play because they were directed by the order dated 29..:6- 
1990 pf the Court to do so. The action even for stoppage/reduction in pension 
can appropriately be taken by the said authorities against Dr ON. Tewari. 

47.4. The Directors qeneral of Police U.P./Uttarakhand are hereby 
directed to initiate, and expeditiously complete, disciplinary proceedings c 
against PW 6 SI Kartar Singh, whether he is in service or has since retired, 
for the acts of omission and commission, deliberate dereliction of duty in not 
mentioning reasons for non-disclosure of cause of death as explained by the 
doctor, not sending the viscera to the FSL and for conducting the 
investigRtion of this cas@ in a most callous and irresponsible manner. ThtJ 
question of limitation, if any, under the Rules, would not apply as it is by the d 
direction or the Court that such enquiry shall be conducted. · . 

47.5. We hold, declare and direct that it shall be appropriate exercise of 
jurisdiction as well as ensuring just and fair investigation and trial that courts 
return a specific finding in such cases, upon recording of reasons as to 
deliberate dereliction of duty, designedly defective investigation, intentional 
acts of omission and commission prejudicial to the case of the prosecution, in e 
breach of professional standards and investigative requirements of law, 
during the· course of the investigation by the investigating agency, expert 
witnesses and even the witnesses cited by the prosecution. Further, the courts 
would. be fully justified in directing the disciplinary authorities to take 
appropriate disciplinary or other action in accordance with law, whether such 
officer, expert or employee witness, is in service or has since retired. 

48. The appeal is accordingly dismissed. 
~UPPLEMENTARY ORDER 

49. Today, by a separate judgment, we have directed that action be taken 
against PW 3 Dr C.N. Tewari and PW 6 SI Kartar Singh. The Director 
General of Police and Director General, Health of State of Uttar Pradesh g 
and/or U~tarakhand whoever is the appropriate authority, to take action within 
three months from today and report the matter to this Court. List for limited 
purpose on 15-10-2012. · 
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, tApfil l)y Special ~vc from the Judgment and Order, dated February 18, 1975 of 
the 1felhi. ig Court i.n Crifinal Revision 46of1973. 

(1979) 2 Aupreme Couti (]uy U8 
(~EFORE R. s. 81'.RXARJA AND 0. CHINNAPPA Rxoov,JJ.) 

THE STATE (DELHI ADMINISTRATION) Appellant; 
Vwsus 

PALI RAM Respondent. 
Criminal Appeal No. 336 .of l 976t, decided on September 26, 1978 

:Evidence Act, 1872 - Sections 73 & 45 - Scope or powers of 
court under Section 73 - Held, Magistrate in aeiain or the case ia 
competent to direct the accused t9 give hi• apecimen signature and 
to get it compU'ed. by handwriting e:spert - In absence of any 
e:spert, court can call for an e:spert - But the court should reach 
it• concluaion on the baaia or it• own findings and not that of die 
e:spert 1 Function of the e:spert indicated - Evidence Act, 1872, 
Section 165 - Criminal ]i>rocednre Code, 1898, Section ~O - Criminal 
Procedute Code, 1973, Section 311 . 

The 'question that came up for determination by the Supreme Court 
was whether the Magistrate in the course of an enquiry or trial on being 
moved by the prosecution, is competent under Section 73, to direct the 
accused person to give his specimen handwriting so that ·the same may be 

. sent aJong with the disputed writing to the Government Expert of Questioned 
Documents for Examination, with a view to have the necessary comparison. 
Held: 

Comparison within the meaning of the first paragraph of Section 73, 
may be mads by a ham;lrrri,~ng tµtpcrt (Section 45) or by one familiar with 
the handwriting of thei person concerned (Section 41~ or by the court 
The two paragraphs of the section are not mutually exclusive, but comple­ 
mentary to each other. Section 73 is therefore, to be read as a whole, in 
the light of Section 45. (Paras 25 and 26) 
· Thus read, it is clc~r that a court holding an inquiry under the Code 
of Criminal Procedure in respect of an offence triable by itself or by the 
Court of Session, docs not exceed its powers under Section 73 if, in the 
interest of justice, it directs an accused person 'appearing before it, to give 

Koya~utty did not satisfy the criterion of seniority-cum-fitness prescribed ~y 
Rule ~S(b)(ii). The position taken by the appellant, throughout, was that 
this rule spould be deemed to have been "supplemented" by the Impugned 
government notification. It is not correct that the impugned notification 
merely "sl.applcments11 or fills up a gap in the statutory rules.. It tends to 
supersede or superimpose by an Executive fiat on the statutory rules some­ 
thing inconsistent with the same. Since the existence of both the criteria 
viz., smiority and fitness for promotion to the Upper Division prescribed, by 
the statutory Rule 28(b)(ii), in the case of Koyakutty was not disputed. the 
High Court was justified in issuing the direction it did. _ 

31. For the foregoing reasons the appeal faili and is dismissed with 
costs. 

llUPRmG OOlJllT OASES (1979) 2 sec 138 
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his sample writing to enabling the same to be compared by a handwriting 
expert chosen or approved by the Court, irrespective of whether his name 
was suggested by the prosecution or the defence, because even in adopting 
thii course, the purpose is to enable the Court before which he is ultimately 
put up for trial, to compare the disputed writing with his (accused's) 
admitted writing, and to reach its own conclusion with the assistance of 
the expert. Such a direction in the ultimate analysis, "is for the purpose 
of enabling the Court[ to compare" the writing so written with the writing 
alleged to have been written by such person, within the contemplation of 
Section 73. That is ~o say, the words "for the purpose of enabling the 
Court to compare" do qot exclude the use of such iadmitted' or sample 
writing for comparison with the alleged writing of the accused, by a hand- · 

. writing expert cited as ~ ~tness by any of the parties. Even where no 
such cxpen wi'1J@H ~ ci~i;d or examined by either party, the Court may, .if 
it thinks necessary for the ends of justice, on its own motion, call an expert 
witness, allow bim to compare the sample writing with the alleged writing 
and thus give his expert assistance to enable the Court to compare the two 
writings and arrive at a proper conclusion. (Paras 26 and 33) 

Once a Magistrate in seisin of a case, duly fonns all opinion that the 
assistance of an expert is essential to enable the Court to arrive at a just 
determination of the iss1.1e of the identity of the disputed writing, the fact 
that this may result in the "fiJJing of loopholes" in the prosecution case is 
purely a subsidiary factor, which must give way to the paramount considera­ 
tion of doing justice. Moreover, it could not be predicated at this stage 
whether the opinion of the Government Expert of Questioned Dpcurnents 
would go in favour of the prosecution or the defence. (Para 26) 

Further, it is not advisable that a Judge should take upon himself the 
taik ~f 11oi;np1uing ~n~ "9mitt~d writin5 with the disputed 'one to find out 
whether the two agree with each other; and the prudent course is to obtain 
the opinion and assistance of an expert. (Para 30) 

Th~ real function of the expere is to put before the Court all the materials, 
together with reasons which induce him to come to the conclusion, so that 

"the Court, although not an expert may form its judgment by its own obser­ 
vation of those materials. ; Ordinarily, it is not proper for the Court to 
ask the expert to give his finding upon any of the issues, whether of law or 
fact, because stri&tlJ speaking, such issues arc for. the Court or jury to 
determine. The handwriting expert's function i.s to opine after a scientific 
comparison of the disputed Writing with tbe proved or admitted writing 
with regard to the points of similarity and dissimilarity in the two sets of 
writin~s. The Court should then compare the handwritings with its own. 
eyes for n proper assessment of the value of the total evidence. (Para 31) 

_ 
1 

Iu ~ddition to Section 73, there are two other provisions resting on the 
same 11.rinciplc, namely, Section 165, Evidence Act and Sectiory 540, 
Cr. F. C., IB~B. which bet~ecn them invG6t the Cowrt wi\h 1 wigi; 9~¢retion 
to call and examine any bn·c as a witness, if it is bona fide of the opinion that 
his E'*~mi~ation is necessary for a just decision of the case. . (Para 29) 

Jn view of all the foregoing reasons, the Magistrate in the present case' 
was within his powers under[Section 73 of the Act in allowing the application 
made by the prosecution. · 

P'aJ:la.truJdi11 v, Stol1 of M. P., AIR 1967 SC 1326: Titli v. Jon11, ILR 56 All 428: AIR 
1934 All 237, reli.tJ on 

159 STATE (DELHI ADM:JNIITRATION) D. PALI MM 
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2. Pali Ram, respondent along with Har Narain and 8 others was 
challaned by the police in respect of offences under Sections I 20-B/420/ 
477-A/467/!471, Penal Code before the Additional Chief Judicial Magistrate, 
Delhi.. Tqe case be-91:g exclusively triable by the Court of Session, the 
Magistrate started inqWry proceedings under Section 207-A, Chapter XVIII 
of the Code of Crun~l Procedu~, .1898. . After most of the yrosecution 
evidence had been recorded, an application dated. December 11, 1970, was 
submitted on behalf of the prosecution. It was stated in the application 
that one of the basic documents (Ex. PW 21/F) tendered in evidence was, 
according1 to the prosecution, in the handwriting of Pali Rani; but it could 
not be got compared by a handwriting expert with any specimen writing of 
Pali Ram because the latter was absconding and had avoided to give any speci- 
men wrltlng. It was further stattXI lhAt this d&eunumt ma vsry vitlll link to 
establish the case against the accused, and in the interest of justice, the Court 
should direct Pali Ram, accused to give his. specimen writings, and forward 
the same along with the original documents, marked P. 21/F, to the 
Government Expert of Questioned Documents "with a view to have the 
necessary ! comparison". This application was strenuously opposed on 
behalf of the accused. After hearing arguments, the Magistrate on May, 29, 
1972, allowed that application. Since the construction of that order bas a 
bearing on the problem before us, it will be appropriate to extract its 
material portion tn extenso, as under: 

It was argued on behalf of Pali Ram accused that the power 
. of thP, Court is limited to . the extent only where the Court itself is of 
the view that it is necessary for its own purpose to take such. writing 
in order to compare the words or figures so written with any word or 
figure alleged to have been written by such person and that this power 
does not extend to permitting one or the other party before the Court 
tB tnko such writing for the purpo~u gf illi evidlfn~e 9f ~t~ 9wn use. 
Harilal Shamalji Parekh v, Jain Co-operative Rousing Socul.f was cited in 
this connection. It was further argued that Section 73, Indian Evidence · 
.Act did not entitle .the Court to assist a party to the proceedings. It enlilltd 

l. AIR 1957 Bom 207 

SW. oJ Btnnlidy v • .Kat!ii .K~/J 01"4rJ, (1962) 3SCR lO:AIR 1961SC1808;RudTqouJa 
Vnl=izoud4 v, Biu411gouJa, AI:Jt 1938 Bom 257; Gu/J::M .K"4n v. Stal8, AIR 1962 Pat 255 • 
B. RCD11i Ruldy ... Stau of A. P;, 1971 Cri LJ 1591; Hira lAJ Aga"11Gia v, Stau, ILR (1957) 
2 Cal 928: AfR 1958 Cal 1i3; Stau v. Poanam Ch(Jad G1'pta, ILR 1958 Bom 2~: AIR 
1958 Bom 207: 1958 Cri LJ 619 and T. S11hbiah v. S • .K. D. /Wnaswaml Nodtu, AIR 1970 Mad 8a i mo ~ri 1,,J m, refmti tf 

Cobb.ft v • .Ki/ininisllr, 1865 4 F & F 490; Datd DtuiTU v. Wilson, (1855) 10 Moor PC 502, 
530: I 10 RR 83, riJuf • .· 

Appeal allowed RGB/4-027/CR 
A.ibo&au1 w"4 opp.awl in thi.s &as1/; . . 

H. ~· M~ and R. N. S111:Jifluy, Advocate3, for the Appellant; 
D. fi Vo1f1a, Advocate, for the Rapoadc:nt. 

The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
Sark.aria, J.-This appeal by special leave, directed against a judgment 

dated February 18, 1975, of the High Court of Delhi, involves a question with 
regard to the scope of the powers of court under Section 73, Evidence Act 
to direct an accused person to give his specimen writings. It arises out of 
these circumstance's : 

( 1979) 2 sec SUPUWE COUR.T CAAU 160 
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llTATE (DELHI ADMIND'l'kATlON) v. PAI.I RAK (Sarkaria, J.) 161 

th~ Court onl,y to assist itself for a projm con&lusion in the intnest of justi'ce. I 
have applied this test Ip IM present case before me. It is true that here it is the 
prosj<:ution which has made this request. Bu. t the observation contain.ed 
in tqis ruling cannot be stretched to the extent, the defence wants me 
to do it. Ex. PW 2i/F was stated. by Tekchand to be in PaJiram!s 
handwriting when he made statement. before the police. In Ms state­ 
ment during committal proceedings he resiled from it. This document 
iJ undoubttidly a viW.1 Uinkr It ~i AA ~porta~t f?iraring on the case 
all Pali Ram himself happens to be an accused. In this peculiar situation 
it b~omes necessary to take recourse to the CQurt's power under 
Section 73 in the interest of justice and to ask Pali Ram to give 
specimen h~dwriting (to MVe it 4Namined by /randwriliflg lNjwrl) and Uun 
lo decide about it. Under these circumstances, I think it fit to allow the 
request of the prosecution in this regard. (emphasis supplied) 

3. Feeling aggrieved by this Order, Pali Ram preferred a revision 
to the Court of Session. The revision was dismissed by the learned 
Additional Sessions Judg-r on December 7, 1972. Against this dismissal, 
Pali Ram preferred a revision petition (O. R. 46 of 1973) in the High Court. 
The revision petition first came up for hearing before R. N. Agarwal, J . ., 
who felt that the case involved an important question of law which was 
not free from difficulty. He therefore referred it to a larger Bench, although 
he d~d not formulate any specific question. , 

4. The matter then came up for consideration before a Division Bench 
consisting of Jagjit Singh and R. N. Agarwal, .IJ. The Division Bench 
gathered from the referring order "that the matter requiring consideration is, 
whether the second paragraph of Section 73 of the Indian Evidence Act 
empowers a court to direct an accused to write Ui words or figures by way of 
specirnen] writings for enabling the prosecution to send the specimen writi.ng 
to a handwriting expert for purposes of comparison with the writing of a 
disputed ~ocwnent alleged to be in the handwriting of that accused person". 

5. After referring to certain decisions, Jagjit Singh, J., who delivered 
the judgment of the Bench, answered the question posed, thus: 

· There is no ambiguity or confusion in the phraseology med in the 
. second paragraph of the section. Therefore, the only purpose for 

which a court may direct any person present in the coure (including an 
accused person) to write words of figures is to enable the court to 
compare the words and figures so written with any words or figures 
alleged to have been written by such person. Where the purpose of 
directing a person! present in court to write any words or figures is not 
to enable the court to compare the words or figures with any words or 
figures alleged to have been written by such person but is to enable any 
of the parties to have the words or figures so written comrared from a 
handwriting expert 1 of that party, the second paragraph o Section 73 
would have no appllcation. • 

Jn the result, the High pourt held that "the order of the learned Additional 
Chief Judicial Magistrate dated May ,20, 1972, in so far as it related to 
disposal of the application filed on December 11, 1970., was not legal and was 
beyond the scope of Section 73 of the Evidence Act. To that extent, the 
sald. order ~nd the 6t'd~i' ~f th~ Addition!ll SQtYion1 Judg@ datsd Dscember 71 

197~, by which the ~evision ·was dismissed, are set aside and the revlsion 
filed by Pali Ram is accepted". . 
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6. Hence, tb.ia appeal by the State (Delhi Administration). 

1. We have heard. Shri Marwah, appearing for the appellant-State. 
None has appeared on behalf of the respondent, despite notice. . 

8. In the course o1f hi/I elaborate argument3, Shri Marwah has tried to 
make out these point,'S: (i) the expl'eWon "any person" in Section 73 
includes a person accus~ of an offence. (ii) The word "courr" in Section 73 
includes the Court of1 the Magistrate competent to try the .offence.or hold 
an enquiry in respect t~ereof against such accused person under the Code of 
Criminal Procedure. i(iii) Section 73 does not offend Article 20(3) of the 
Constitution, became by glving a direction to an accused person to give his 
specimen handwriting] the Court does not compel' that accused "U> be a 
witness against himself". Slau of Bombay v. KaJhi Kalu OgluuJI has been 
relied tipl>l:i. (i~) Thm. is nMltl.n~ ill Seetion 73 whieh prohibits thll Court 
from sending the specimen writing obtained by it from the accused to a 
handwriting expert for opinion after comparison of the same by h.im with the 
d~uted 'Writing, even µ' that expert happens to be the Government Expert 
of JQuestioned Docum;ents. A court is fully competent under Section 73, to 
make an order directing, the accused to write down words or figures if the 
ultimate purpose of obtaining such specimen writing is to enable the court 
tryin~ the case, or inquiring into it, to compare that specimen writing with 
the clisputed one to reach its own conclusion, notwithstanding the fact that, 
in the first instance, the court thinks it necessary in the interest of justice to 
send that specimen writing together with the disputed one, to an expert to 
hav1 the advant~e of his opinion and assistance. (o) The specimen 
writipga taken from an accused person by the l'.'!ourt under the second para­ 
grapp of Section 73 are to all intents and purposes, "admitted writings" 
within the purview of the first paragraph of the section which read with 
illmtr~tion M of Section . 45, Evidence Act, clearly indicates that such 
specb:r,len writings can legally be used for comparison with the disputed 
writin~ by a handwriting expert, also, irrespective of whether such expert is 
examined as a witness by any of the parties, or as a court witness by the 
court acting suo motu or on .being 1X10ved by the prosecution or the defence. 
(rli) The Govemment Expert of Qµestioned Documents is supposed to be a 
high officer of integrity who is not under the influence of the investigating 
officer and he is expected to give his opinion truthfully about the identity or 
otherwise of tQe two sets of writings on objective, scientific data. The mere 
fact, therefore, that in the instant case, he has been summoned as a prosecu­ 
tion witness will not prejudice the accused, particularly when the Q>urt, 
in the cricumstances of the case, thinks it necessary to take the asslstance of 
the ~xpert for reaching its own conclusion on this point. (Dia") The order of 
the! M~trate, construed as a whole, shows that, in substance, the ultimate 
purpo~ I ~f directing the accused to give his specimen writings is that the 
Magistrate wants to comp .. e the specimen thus obtalned, wlth the cll~puted 
writing, to form a just opinion about its identity, after availing himself of the 
advai;i.tag~ of the expert's opinion. (uiii) This course was adopted by the 
Magistrate in the interests of justice taking into account the conduct of the 
accused who had been absconding for a long time and was declared a 
proclaimed offender, and tJ¥is avoided to give his admitted or specimen 
writings at the investigation stage, and later, (it is contended) tampered with 
the prosecution witness (Tek Chand) who was expected to prove the disputed 
writing and who, in consequence of the tampering by the accused, resiled 

2. (1962) 3 SOR 10: AIR 1961 SC 1808 

(1979) 2 sec IUPll,BMB COURT QAIBI 162 
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7. ILR (1957) 2 Cal 928: AIR 1958 
Cal 123 

8. ILR ·1958 Born 299: AIR i9SB 
Bom 207: 1958Cri1J 619 

3. AIR 1938 Bom 257 
4. AIR 1967 SC 1326 
5. AIR 1962 Pat 255 FB 
6. 1971 Cri IJ 1S91 

13. The dictum in Hiralal Agarwalla' s case was followed by a 
learned Single Judge of the Bombay High Court in State v. Poonamahand 

9. Points (~}"and {iit) AM w~ll~~~ttl@d 11nd beyond controversy. 
10. For points (iv) to (i-¥), Shri Marwah relies on Gulur Khan v, 

State& and B. Romi &dtfy v. State of Andhra Pradesh'. Shri Marwah further 
maintains that the view taken by a learned Judge of the Calcutta High Court 
in Hiral.~l! Agarwal.la's case7 followed in the impugned judgment by the 
Delhi High Court, an~ alsp by the Bombay High Court in State v. Paonam­ 
chand Gupta& inasmuch aii it is held therein, that the second clause of 
Section 73 limits the; power of the Court to obtain the specimen writing .of 
the accused, exclusively for its own purpose viz., for comparison with the 
disputed writing by the Court itself, is too narrow and incorrect. 

· 11. The question that falls to be determined in this case is: 
Whether a Magistrate in the course of an enquiry or trial on being 

moved by the prosecution, is competent under Section 73, Evidence Act, 
to direct the accused person to give his specimen handwriting so that the 
same may be sent along with the disputed writing to the Government 
]lypert of Qu8tion~d Dccumenn for examination, "wiih a vfow to havfi 
the riecessary comparison"? · 

12. There appears to be some divergence of judicial opimon on this 
point. In Hiralal Agarwalla v. State (supra) a learned Single Judge 'of 
Calcutta High Court took the view that Section 73 does not entitle the Court 

·to assist a party to the proceedings. "It entitles the Court to assist itself to a · 
proper conclusion in the interests of justice. It is not open to the Magistrate 
to send the specimen writing obtained from the accused for examination to an 
expert who is a prosecution witness," It was, however, conceded that "it is 
perfectly· optili 'g ~h~ Q9"r~ ~9 call its own photof'apher, take the enlar~e­ 
ments under its 'own supervision, study them, and if necessary call its own 
expert as a court witness in order that it might be 'assisted to a proper 
conclusion". 

from his police statement ·during the proceedings in court. In such a 
aituation1 ~Yen Qn lh~ principle 1i1nderlyin5 Section 5401 Cr.P.C. of 1898, 
which governs these proceedings, and is analogous to the principle underlying 
Section 73, para (2), the Magistrate was competent to use the specimen 
writing thus obtained, for securing the opinion and evidence of the Govern­ 
ment E~pert, with a view to assist himself (Magistrate) in forming his own 

· opinion' with regard to the identity of the disputed writing, Ex. ew:· 21/F. 
(ix) Th~ action of the Ma~istrate inasmuch as it sought the specimen yriting 
of the accused to be sent, n the first instance, to the Government Expert for 
his o1?inion and evidence, ar from. being prohibited, was consistent with the 
prin~iple /enunciated by the Bombay High Court in Rundragouda Venkangouda 
v. Basangouda8, which received the impri(llatur of this Court in Fakhruddin 
v. State of Madhya Pradesh' J This principle is to the effect, that comparison 
of the handwriting by the Cpi1rt with the other documents not challenged as 
fabricated, upon its own initiative and without the guidance of an expert is 
hazardous and inconclusive. 

STATE (DELHI IJ)~JBTRATION) o. l'ALI RAM (SarkQTia, J.) 163 
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15. ~ against the above view, a full Bench of Patna High Court in 
Gul;:,izr K1um v, State (supra), held that a Magistrate has the power under 
Section 731 Evidence Act to direct, even before he has taken cognizance of 
the offence, an accused person to give signatures, specimen writings, 
fingerprints or footprints to be used for comparison with some other 
signatures, handwritings, fingerprints or footprints which the police may 
require in the court of investigation. It was remarked that in Section 73, 
the wor1 'court' must be equated with the court of the Magistrate in a case 
triable by him or before it is committed to Sessions in a case triable by the 
Court o~ Session. As a matter of fact, in every case where the accused is 
arrested and required to give his specimen handwriting or signature, or 
thumb-impression etc., he is arrested under a warrant which roust be issued 
by a Magistrate, or when the police arrest without a warrant in a. cognizable 
offence under Section 60 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, he must be 
produced before a Magistrate without unreasonable delay and the procedure 
under Sections 60 to 63 of the Code as also under Article 22 of the Constitu- 
tion has to ·be followed and that attracts the provlslons of ~ecdon '~ of the 
Evidence Act. 

16. In taking this view, the Patna High Court sought support from the 
decision of this Court in State of Bombay v, Kathi Kalu ·oghad (supra), 
wherein the police had obtained from the accused three specimen hand· 
writings to show whether a chit, Exh. 5, was in the handwriting of the 
accused, in the course qf police investigation of the case, and it was held to 
be inadmissible b; the Bon:i-bay High Court, for a different reason viz., on 
the ground that it was hit ~y Article 20(3) of the Constitution. This Court 
had held that those spefimen writings were admissible: 

17. In B. Rami &dt;/y v. Stall of Anlihra Pradesh (supra), the High Court 
of Andhra Pradesh look a siinaar view. Following lhe ralio 6f Gul~df Kiwi 
v, Stall of Blhar (supra), it was held that the court does not exceed its powers 
un9er the section in directing an accused to give his thumb-impression to 

I 

9. AIR \970 Mad 85 : 1970 Cri IJ 254 

Gupta (supra), wherein it was held that the second clause of Section 7~ limits 
the pow~r of the court to direct ~ pers~n presen~ in,cour~ t? write any wor~s 
or figure~ only where the court itself is. of the view that 1t is necessary for 11j 
own purposes to take such writing in order to compare the words or figures 110 
written by such person. The power doeS nol eRl~nd lo l'~PmittinA' Oft! OP the 
other party before the court to ask the court to take such writing for 
the purpose of its evidence on its own case. 

H. 
1 
In T. Subbiabv. S. K. D. Ramaswamy Nadar8, K.rishnaswami Reddy, 

J, of ~dras High Court adopted a similar approach in coming to the 
conclusion that Section 73, Evidence Act gives no power to a Magistrate at 
the pre-cognizance stage or in the course of police investigation, to direct an 
accused person to give his specimen handwriting. K. Reddy, J., was 
careful enough to add that "the court for the purpose of comparison can take 
extraneous aid by using magnifying glass, by obtaining enlargement of photo· 
graph! or 'by eum ,ailing an e.¥pert-all these to enable the court to determine 
by comparison, There is no basis· for the view that the court cannot seek 
extraneous aid for its com~arison; but on the other hand, there is indication in 
Seetion 73 of tlw Eoidm&e Act itself that such aid might be necessa~". (Emph.asis 
lldded) 

sOPUIA OOOBT OAIU (1979) 2 sec 164 
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enable the police to make investigation of an offence as even in such a case 
the purpose is to enable the court before which he is ultimately put up for 
trial to compare the alleged impressions of the accused with the admitted 
thumb-impression. 

18. At the outset) we may make it clear that the instant case is not one 
where the Magistrate had made the impugned order in the coune of police 
investigation. Here, t~e Magistrate has taken cognizance of these two 
companion cases. Th~ evidence of most of the prosecution witnesses has . 

. b@@n recorded. The problem before U3 ia, ihtm;forn, nm-wwwr 'hin ih~ 9n~ 
which was before the, Patna and .Andhra Pradesh High Courts in the 
aforesaid cases. All t,hat we have to consider is, whether the High Court 
was right in holding that the order dated May 20, 1972 of the Magistrate 
calling upon the accused before it, to give his specimen handwriting, was 
"beyond the scope of Section 73, Evidence Act". · 

I I 
j 19. Before consi~eliing the scope of Section 73, it will be appropriate 

ro have a look at the legislative background of this provision. Section 73 
like many other provisions of the Indian Evidence Act, a modelled after 
the English Law of Evidence as it existed immediately before the enactment 
of the Indian Evidence Act in 1972. · 

20. The English Law on the subject, as amended by the English Acts 
of the years 1854 and 1865, was substantially the same as incorporated in 
Section 73 of Indian Evidence Act. Section 48 of the English Act II of 
1855 was as follows : 

On aB in~uiry wfiether ll gignatur@, writing or t@!l iJ genulne, illlY 
undisputed signature, writing or seal of the party whose signature, 
wr#ing or seal iJ under dispute niay be compared with the disputed one, 
thbUgh such signature, writing or seal be on an instrument which b 
not evidence in the cause. 

Section 48 was repealed and the Criminal Procedure Act, 1865 was passed by 
British Parliament. Section 8 of that Act, which still holds the field, 
provides : · ' 

Comparison of di.rputed writing with writing prov6d to be genuine.­ 
Comparison of a disputed writing with any writing proved to the satisfac- · 
di;in of 'b; jygg; ~9 be genuine shall be permitted to be made by 
witnesses ; and such writings, and the evidence ·of witness respecting 

. the same may be submitted to the court and jury as evidence of the 
genuineness or otherwise of the writing in dispute. 

This Section applies in botl~ civil and criminal Courts by virtue of Section 1 
of the Act. ' · · 

i1. Apart from this Section, it was well settled that the Court in the 
case of a disputed writing, was competent to obtain an exemplar or specimen 
writing, In any case, . the j Court was competen.t to compare the disputed 
writing with the standard or: admitted writing of jhe person in question. 
The position, as it obtained after the passing of the Criminal Procedure 
Act 28 and 29 Viet. C. 18, has been summed up by Taylor as follows: 

Under th'e Statutory Law, it seems clear .... that the comparison 
1Hy be miide @ither by the witnmeH acquainte'1 witib tibe b111Qwri\ini1 
or by witnesses skilled in deciphering handwriting, or, without the 

s;rAn (nzuo ADMDIDTRATION) u. PALI Jt,AM (Sarkaria, J.) 165 
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page 1155) 
11. ~g~. 10 Moor PC 502, 530: 110 

10. (1865) 4 F & F 490-(S11 Taylor on 
Evidence by Johnson & lMdgman, 
Vol. 2, paragrapba 1870 and 1871, 

intervention of any wltne.saes at all, by the jury t4eil'llelves (Cobbllt v. 
KiJnUni,t11rU), or in the event of there being no jury, by the Cou,rt •••• 
It further appears that any person whose handwriting is in dispute, · 
and who is present in court, may be required by the Judge to write 
in hjs. presence, and that such writing may be compared with the 
document in question .. DD4d DniM v. WilsonU; Cobb1U v. Kilminisllr 
(supra). 

22. Let us now compare it with Section 73 of the Indian E~del:lce 
Act, which runs as under : 

I 
1 

fn order to ascertain whether a signatur.e, writing or seal is that of 
the person by whom it purports to have been written or made, any 
signature, writiftg or !~ Admitt~d OP f'Pf)VOO to thg gntkfaction of th@ 
court to have been l\jl'itten or made by that person may be compared 
with the one which is to be proved, although that signature, writing or 
seal has not been produced or proved for any other purpose. 

The court may direct any person present in court to write any 
words or figures for the purpose of enabling the court to compare the 
words or figures so written with any words or figures alleged to have 
been written by such person. . . . 

23. I~ will be seen that the first paragraph of Section 73 is, in substance, 
a combined version of Section 48 of the English Act II of 1855 and Section 8 
of the English Crimin~ Procedure Act, 1865 .. The second paragraph of 
Section 73 is substanti311y the same as the English Law condensed by Taylor 
in the above-quoted portion of paragraph 1871. 

2~. Just as in English Law, the Indian Evidence Act recognises two 
direct methods of proving the handwriting of a person: · 

(l) By an admisaion of the person who wrote it. 
(2) By the evidence of some witness who saw it written. 

These are the best methods of proof. These apart, there are three other 
modes of proof by opinion, They are: 

1(i) By the evidence of a handwriting expert. (Section 45) 
(ii) By the evidence of a witness acquainted with the handwriting 

of the person who is said to· have· written the writing in question. 
(Secdon 47) 

\iii) opinion formed by the court on comparison made by itself. 
(Section 73) 

All these three cognate modes of proof involve a process of comparison. In 
mode (i), the comparison is made by the expert of the disputed writing with 
the admitted or proved wr~ting of the person who is aai.d to have written 
the questioned document. In (ii), the comparison takes the form of a 
belief which the witness entertains upon comparing the writing in questlon, 
with an exemplar formed in hjs mind from some previous knowledge or 
repetitive observance of the handwriting of the person concerned, In the 
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26. Section 73 is therefore to be read . as a whole, in the light of 
Section 45. Thus read, it is clear that a court holding an inquiry under 
the Code of Criminal Procedure in respect of. an offence triable by itself 
or by the Court of Session, does not exceed its powers under Section 73 i,f, 
in the interests of justice; it directs an accused person appearing before It, 
to give his sample writing to enabling the same to be compared by a band· 
writing expert chosen or approved by the court, irrespective of whether his 
name was suggested by the prosecution or the defence, because even in 
adopting thls course, the purpose is to enable the court before which be is­ 
ultimately put up for trial,. to compare the disputed writing with h,is 
(accused's) admitted writing, and to reach its own conclusion with the 
a.ssistanc~ of the expert. 

27. ' In the instant case, the Magistrate, as the extract from his order 
dated May 20, 1972, shews 1fteP cemidllring tho p(!(!ulfar cireuJDJ1to,nees 
of the case,' and recalling the observation of the Calcutta High Court in 
Hir.alal Agrialla v, Stall (supra) to the effect, that Section 73 entitled 
"the court to assist itself for a proper conclusion in the interest of justice", 
expressly "applied this test to the present case". The peculiar circwnstances 
which weighed with the Magistrate in directing the accused to execute 
sample writing to be compared, in · the first instance, by the Government 
Expert of Questioned Documents, included the contumacious conduct of the 
accused and the resiling: of the material witness, Tek Chand, which, accord· 
ing to Mr. Marwah, wj· s possibly due to his having been suborned or won 
over by the accused. It was apparent from the record that the accused 
was playing hide and s~ek with the process of law and was avoiding to 
appear and give his sample writing to th.e police. The Magistrate therefore, 
had good reason to ho19 that the assistance of the Government Expert of 
Q..\lieni9ni;g Documents was essential in the interest of. Justice to enable the 
Magistrate to compare the sample and the questioned writings with the 
expert assistance so obtained and then to reach a just and correct conclusion 
about their identity. Although the order of the Magistrate ia somewhat 
inartistically worded, its substance was clear that although initially, the 
specimen writing sou~.1 h~ from the accused was to be used for comparison 
by ~he Go..:.emment Ex.pert, the ultimate purpose was to enable the court 
to compare that specimen writing with the disputed one, Ex. PW 21-F, 
to reach a just decision. · 

75. A sample writing taken by the Gouri und;r the nc,ond pM1g~1ph 
of Section 73, is, in substance and reality, the same thing as '.'admitted 
writip.gn within the purview of the first paragraph of Section 73, also. 
The first paragraph of the section; as already seen, provides for cm;nparison 
of signature, writing, etc. purporting to have been written by a person 
with .others admitted or proved to the satisfaction ·of the court to have been 
written lpy the same person; But it does not specifical.ly s~ by. whom such 
comparison may be made. Construed in the light of the English Law on 
the subject, which ls · the legislative source of this provision, it ia clear that 
such comparison may be made by a handwriting expert (Section 4~) or by 
one familiar with the handwriting of the person concerned (Section 47) or 
by the court, The two paragraphs of the Section are not mutually 
exclusive. They are complementary to each other. 

case ~{ (iii), the comparison is made by the court with the sample writi,ng 
or exempfar obtained by it from the person concerned. 
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32. In this connection, the observations made by Hidayatullah, J. (as he 
then was) in Fakharuddin v.l State of Madhya Pratksn (supra) are apposite and 
may be extracted : 

Both under Sections 45 and 47 the evidence is an opinion, in the 
former by a scientific comparison and in the latter on the basis of 
familiarity resulting from frequent observations and experience. In 

12. ILR 56 All 4-28 : AIR 1934- All 273 

. 28. In the revision petition filed by the accused before the High Court . 
a grievance is sought to be made out that the Magistrate's order will work 
prejudice to the defence and enable the prosecution to fill gaps and loopholes 
in Its case. This contention was devoid of force. Once a Magistrate in 
seisin of a case, duly ; f or;w an opinion that the assistance of an expert 
is essential to enable the court to arrive at a just determination of the 
issue of the identity .or the disputed writing, the fact that this may result in 
the "filling of loopholes" in the prosecution case is purely a subsidiary 
factor which. must giveJvay to the paramount consideration of doing justice. 
Mcreover. it could not be predicated at this stage whether the opinion of 

· the Government Expert of Qµestioned i>oouments would go in favour of 
the prosecution or t~e defence. The, arriment raised before the High 

1 Court was jhus purely speculative. . · 

29. In addition to Section 73, there are two other provisions resting 
on the same principle, namely, Section 1.65, Evidence Act and Section 540, 
Cr.1 P. C., 1898, whic~ between them invest the court with a wide discretion 
to call and examine any one as a witness,· if it is bona fide of the opinion 
that his examination is necessary for a just decision of the case. In passing 
the order which he did, the Magistrate was acting well within the bounds of 
this principle. 

I 

30. The matter can be viewed from another angle, also. Although 
there is no legal bar to the Judge wing his own eyes to compare the disputed 
writµtg with the admitted writing, sven without the aid of the .evidence 
of any handwriting expert, the Judge should, as a matter of prudence and 
caution, hesitate to base· his finding with regard to the identity of a 
handwriting which forms the sheet-anchor of the prosecution case against a 
persori accused of an offence, solely on comparison made by himself. It is 
theref9r,e, not advisable that a Judge should take upon himself the task of 
comparing the admitted writing with the disputed one to find out whether 
the two agree with .each other; and the prudent course is to obtain the 
opinion and assistance of an expert. 

31. · It is not the province of the expert to act as Judge or Jury. As rightly 
pointed out in Jilli v. JonuU, the real function of the 1xpert is to put before 
the court all the materials, together with reasons which induce rum to come 
to the conclusion, so that the court, although not an expert, may form its own 
judgm~nt ~Y its own observation of those materials. Ordinarily, it is not proper 
for the court to ask the expert to give his finding upon any of the issues, 
whether of law or fact, because, slriet{v speaking, such issues are for the court 
or jury1 to· determine. The handwriting expert's function is to opine after a 
sci~tifif comparison of the disputed writing with the proved or admitted 
writing 'with regard to ~he points of similarity and dissimilarity in the two 
sets o( writings. The count should then compare the handwritings with its 
own ~yes for a proper assessment ofthe value of the total evidence. 

1 

BUPREMK COUllT CIAl&I (1979) 2 soc 168 

SCC Online W~b Edition, Copyright© 2019 
Page 11 Monday, September 23, 2019 
Printed For: Meenakshi Arora 
SCC Online Web Edition: http://www.scconline.com t') ~ I~ 
TruePrint'"1 source: Supreme Court Cases ~ ~ 
........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 

www.vadaprativada.in

www.vadaprativada.in



35. Accordingly, we allow this appeal, set aside the judgment of the 
. High Court, and restore the order dated May 20, 1972, of the Magistrate 
who may now repeat his direction to the accused to write down the sample 
writing. If the accused refuses to comply with the direction, it will be 
open to the Court concerned to draw under Section 114, Evidence Act, 
such adverse presumption as may he appropriate in the circumstances. If 
the accused complies with the direction, the Court will in accordance with 
its order dated May 20, I 972, send the writing so obtained, to a senior 
Government Expert of Questioned Documents, named by it, for comparison 
with the disputed writing and then examine him as a court witness. 

either case, the court must sati:ify itself by such means as are open that 
the opinion may be acted upon. One such means open to the court is 
to apply its own observation to the admitted or proved writi.n~ and. to 
compare them with the disputed one, not to become a handwriting expert 
but to verify the premises of the expert in one case and to appraise the 
value of the opinion in the other case. The comparison depends. on an 
an~lysis of the characteristics in the admitted or proved writings and the 
finding of the same chrracteristics in a large measure in the disputed 
writing. In this way, -the opinion of the deponent whether expert or 
qµier; Ui subjected to scrutiny and although relevant to start with 
becoines probative. Where an expert's opinion is ·given, the court 
must see for itself am( with the a.ssistan.ee of the expert come to its own 
conclusion whether it cap safely be held that the two writings are by the 
same person. This is not to say that the court must play the role of an 
expert but to say that the court may accept the fact proved only when 
it has satisfied itself on its own observation that it is safe to accept the 
opinion whether of the expert or other witness. 

33. Since even where proof of handwriting which is in nature comparison, 
exists, a duty is cast on the court to use its own eyes and mind to compare 
the admitted writing with the disputed one to verify and reach its own 
conclusion, it will no~ be wrong to say that when a court sei.red of a case, 
directs an· accused persqn present before it to write down a sample writing, 
such direction in the i ultimate analysis, ''is for· the purpose of enabling the 
court to compare" the ~riting so written with the writing alleged to have 
been written by such person, within the contemplation of Section 73. That is 
to say, the words "for the purpose of enabling the 'court to compare" do 
not exclude the use of such "admittedn or sample writing for comparison with 
t~e alJflHed writin3 of the accused, by a handwritin~ expert cited as a witness 
by any of the parties. Even where no such expert witness is cited or examined 
by either party, the court may, if it thinks necessary for the ends of 
justice, on its own motion, call an expert witness, allow him to compare the 
sample writing with the alleged writing and thus give his expert assistance to 
enable, the court to compare the two writings and arrive at a proper 
conclusion, 

I 
34. For all the foregoing reasons, we are of opinion that in pa.<;Sing 

the 'orders dated May ?0, 1972 relating to the disposal of the application 
dated December 11, 1970, the learned Additional District . Magistrate did 
not exceed his powers under Section 73, Evidence Act. The learned J udges 
of the High Court were not right in holding that in directing the accused 
by his sa.id order dated May 20, 1972, the Magistrate acted beyond the 
scope of Section 73 or in a manner which was not legal. 
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'.· Hlndq Maniage .,\.q, · 19!! - Sedlon •1(1) - ~ntiAI CtHllftniY 
of ~ata marriage prev~ent in Telli community . · 

tAppeal by Special Leave fr~m the Judgment and Order dated July 16, 1973 of the · 
Rajastban High Court in S. B. Criminal Revenue 309 of 1973. 

Kamua! Ram v, Himaahal Pradai: Administration, (1966) 1 SCR 539: AIR 1966 SC 614: 
1966 Cri IJ 4 72; Pri.Ya Bala Ghosh v, Suruh Chandra Ghosh, ( 1971) 1 SCC 864 : 1971 SCC 
(Cri) 362: (1971) 3 SCR 961, r1lied on 

Bhaurao Shan/car Li/chanJe v. Stau of Maharashtra, (1965) 2 SCR 837: AIR 1965 SC 1564: 
(1965) 2 Cri lJ 544,jollowed . 

· Section 17 of the Hindu Marriage Act requires that the marriage must 
be properly solemnised in the sense that the necessary ceremonies required 
by law or by custom must be duly perf ormed. Once these ceremonies 
are proved to have been perfonned the marriage becomes properly solemnized 
and if contracted wbil~ thp first marriage is still subsisting the provisions 
of Section 494 will apply automatically. Tbe voidness of the marriage 
under Section 17 of thtj Hindu Marriage Act is in fact one of tbe essential 
ingredients of Section . 494 because the second marriage will become void 
only because of. the prbvisions Qf Section 17 of the Hindu Marriage Act. 
Hence one cannot say that the second marriage being void, Section 494 

·will have no application. 

(1979) 2 ~upreme Court Cases 170 
(Bzvou. S. MuaTAZA FAZAL Au AIU> A. D. KosHAI., JJ:) 

GOP AL LAL Appellut ; 
Versus 

STAIB OF RAJASTHAN Respondent. 
Criminal Appeal, No. 255 of 1973t, decided on January 30, 1979 

Penal · Code, 18<i0 - Section 494 - Bigamy - Charge ot held, 
not ~fteded by the voidness of the second marriage under Section. 17 of 
the B.indu Maniage A~ 1955 - Sentence reduced 

Held: 
Tbe essential ingredients of the offence under Section 494, IPC are : 
(1) that the accused spouse must have contracted the first marriage, 
(2) that while the first marriage was subsisting the spouse concerned 

must have contracted a second marriage, and 
(3) that both the marriages must be valid in the sense that the necessary 

ceremonies· required by the personal law governing the parties had 
been duly performed. 

The combined effect of Se,ction 17 of Hindu Marriage Act and Section 494 
is that when a person contracts a second marriage after the coDJ.ing into 
force of lthe said Act, while the first marriage is. subsisting. he commits 

· the offence of bigamy. 

36, iSince the case is very old, further proceedings in the case shall 
be taken with utmost expedition. 

(1979) 2 sec llUPlUUm COURT CAJES 170 
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t From the Judgment and Order dated 9-1-2012 of the High Court of Judicature of Rajasthan at 
Jodhpur in ~B Criminal Revision Petition No. 458 of 1998 

! 

h 

(2012) 12 Supreme Court Cases 406 
(BEFORE DR B.S. CHAUHAN AND EM. IBRAH~ KALIFULLA, JJ.) 

AJAY KUMAR PARMAR Appellant; d 
Versus 

STATE OF RAJASTHAN Respondent. 
Criminal Appeal No. 1496 of 2012t, decided on September 27, 2012 

A. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 - Ss. 209, 190, 207, 208, 227, 228, 
2M, ~M, 140, ~4a and .34~ ~ OPPencc exclusively triable by Session§ Couiit 8 
- Powers and duties of Magistrate in committal proceedings - Cognizance 
- Circumstances for consideration of defence evidence - Refusal of 
Magistrate to take cognizance and consequent discharge/acquittal of 
accused relying upon evidence led by accused without even committing case 
to Sessions Court - Sustainability - Held, scheme of CrPC, 1973, and 
particularly a conjoint reading of Ss, 207 to 209 CrPC makes it crystal clear 
that fomTittal of a case exclusively triable by Court of Session, in a case 
institutedjhY police is mandatory -Scheme of Cr PC, 1973 simply pr~vides 
that Magistrate can deter~in~ whether facts stated in report (prima facie) 
make 9ut orrence triable exclusively by Court of Session - Once Magistrate 
reaches conclusion that facts alleged in report make out offence triable 
exclusively by Court of Session, Magistrate must commit case to Sessions g 
Court - Criminal Procedure Code7 18987 S. 207-A (Para 18) 

B. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 - Ss. 209, 207, 208, 164(1), 190(1), 
173(2) and 169 - Offence exclusively triable by Sessions Court - 
Magistrate refusing.to take cognizance of offence and acquitting accused by 
relying on statement of prosecutrix incorrectly recorded under S. 164 - 

c 

"18 .... the exercise of power must be for seeming the ends of justice 
and only in cases where refusal to exercise that power may result in the 
abUse of the pl'6cm ~f lAw.n l1 

. 13. Io the light o~ the principles mentioned above, inasmuch as 
Respondent 2 complaina9t has filed an affidavit highlighting the stand taken 
by the appellant (Accused 3) during the peodency of the appeal before this 
Court and the terms of settlement as stated in the said affidavit, by applying 
the same analogy and ·in prder to do complete justice under Article 142 of the 
Constitution, we accept the terms of settlement insofar as the appellant herein b 
(Accused 3) is concerned. ' 

14. In view of the same, we quash and set aside the impugned FIR No. 
45 of 2011 ~egistered with Sanand Police Station, Ahmedabad for offences 
punishable under Sections 467, 468, 471, 420 and 120-B IPC insofar as the 
appellant (Accused 3) is concerned, 

B. The appeal is allowed to the extent mentioned above. 

c2012) 12 sec SUPREME COURT CASES 406 . 
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h 

g 

When an offence is exclusively triable by the Sessions Court, the Magistrate 
cannot ~robe into the matter. The Magistrate has no such jurisdiction to look into 
the matter and evaluate evidence related thereto.· Once the offence is triable by 
the Sessions Court, the Magistrate bas to commit the matter to the Sessions 
Court and he cannot do anything in such cases. Such committal is mandatory, If 
the accused is discharged by the Magistrate then such discharge would be nullity 

e for being without jurisdiction. Once a prima facie case is made out against the 
.accused then courts cannot acquit him by refusing to take cognizance. While 
framing charges the only material that has to be considered by the court are 
documents submitted by the investigating agency. Any document relied on by the 
accused cannot be appreciated as evidence at this stage. Consideration of such 
evidence would lead to a mini-trial during the stage of framing of charge' thus 
def eating the object 6f Ct PC. 111 the mr@&t of rare cues, mnterial producud by th; 
accused can be considered only if it convincingly establishes that the case of the 
prosecution was absurd, preposterous or concocted. 'It is the duty of courts to 
safeguard the rights· of 'the victim who never participates in discharge 
proceedings. On the other hand, if the material produced by the prosecution does 
not' disclose the offence then the Magistrate can refuse to take cognizance. He 
must be satisfied that the complaint, case diary, statements under Sections 161 
and 164 CrPC does not disclose the alleged offence. But while taking cognizance 
the Magistrate cannot appreciate evidence and determine balance of probability. 
The Magistrate cannot apply his mind to materials produced by the investigating 
agency as there is no provision under CrPC, 1973 which is analogous to Section 
201-A CrPC, 1898. (Paras 14 to 19) 

The scheme of CrPC, 1973, and particularly a conjoint reading of Sections 
207 to 209 CrPC, 1973 makes it crystal clear that the committal of A CllSe 
exclusively triable by the Court of Session, in a case instituted by the police is 
mandatory. The scheme of CrPC, 1973 simply provides that the Magistrate can 

d 

c 

b 

Reversal of such discharge/acquittal by Sessions Court and High Court, and 
restoration of' proceedings, upheld - Sessions Court to which case had been 
committed directed to proceed expeditiously in accordance with law - 
Penal.Code, 1860, Ss. 376 and 342 . . 

The prosecutrix lodged a complaint against t,he appellant-accused for the 
offences punishable uml~r ~~ctj.9ns 376 and 342 IPC. She ~ave her 'statement 
before the Chief Judicial Magistrate (CJM) alleging that the police was not 
Invesrigatiag the case despite her complaint. Considering her statement, the CJM 
directed the jurisdictional Judicial Magistrate First Class (JMFC) to record the 
statement of the prosecuttjx under Section 164 CrPC and to proceed with the 
case. The prosecutrix appeared before the JMFC and the matter was taken up the 
next day as the case diary was not produced on the same day. The next day, the 
statement of the prosecutrix was recorded under Section 164 CrPC. Io the 
meantime, a charge-sheet against the appellant-accused was filed. The JMFC 
after considering the statements of the prosecutrix, refused to take cognizance of 
offence and acquitted the appellant-accused relying oo the statement of the 
prosecutrix wherein she had indicated-that false case had been lodged against the 
appellant-accused. This order was set aside by the Sessions Court and the High 
Court. Renee this appFal. 

Dismissing the appeal, the SuprMi~ Court 
Held: ! . 

a 
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determine, fhether the facts stated in the report make out an offence triable 
exclusively, by the Court of Session. Once the Magistrate reaches the conclusion 
that the facts alleged in the report, make out an offence triable exclusively by the a 
Court of Session, the Magistrate must commit the case to the Sessions Court. 

· (Para 18) 
Sanjay Gandhi v. Union of India, (1978) 2 SCC 39 : 1978 SCC (Cri) 172, applied 
State of Orissa v. Debendra Nath Padhi, (2003) 2 sec 711 : 2003 SCC (Cri) 688; State of 

Orissa V.. Debendra Nath Padhi, (2005) 1 SCC 568 : 200.5 SCC (Cri) 415; S.M.S. 
Pharmaceuticals Ltd. v. Neeta Bhalla, (2005) 8 SCC 89: 2005 SCC (Cri) 1975; Bharat 
Parikh v. CBI, (2008) 10 SCC 109 : (2008) 3 SCC (Cri) 609; Rukmini Narvekar v. Vijaya b 
Satardekar, (2008) 14 SCC 1 : (2009) 1 SCC (Cri) 721; P. Vijayan v. State of Kerala, 
(2010) 2 sec 398 : (2010) 1 sec (Cri) 1488; R.S. Mishra V, State of Orissa, (2011) 2 
SCC 689: (2011) 1 sec (Cri) 785, relied on 
The CJM recorded the statement of the prosecutrix without the identification 

of the prosecutrix, The JMFC erred in considering the defence evidence at: the 
stage of framing of charges. Further, no notice was given to the prosecutrix 
before dropping the prosecution of the appellant-accused and thus the JFMC c 
violated the mandatory requirements. The JMFC had no jurisdiction to discharge 
the accused when the offence was exclusively triable by the Sessions Court. 

(Paras 16, 20, 29 and 30) 
Ajay Kumar Parmar v. State of Rajasthan, Criminal Revision Petition No. 458 of 1998, 

order dated 9-1-2012 (Raj), affirmed 
C. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 - Ss. 190(1), 203, 204 and 173(2)­ 

Rcfmml to take ~ogoiUlO{;e illd uroppini Qf p1VmdiQi§ ~if4iAMt ,.c~~~e4 - d 
Prerequisites to be complied with - Held, when Magistrate decides to not 
to take cognizance of case ,and to drop proceedings against accused, it is 
mandatory: to hear complainant or informant by issuing him notice 

(Para 20) 
Minu Kumari v. State of Bihar, (2006) 4 SCC 359 : (2006) 2 SCC (Cri) 310; Bhagwant 

Singh, V, Cotnmr: of Police, (1985) 2 sec 537: 1985 sec (Cri) 267, reiterated e 
D. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973-S.164- Recording of statements 

by Magistrates - Recording of statements without satisfactory 
identification of witness/complainant - Impermissibllity of - Held, 
Magistrate cannot record statements under S. 164 without satisfactory 
identification of such person - When statements are recorded without 
proper identification then such statements lose their sanctity 

· (Paras 11to13 and 21) 
Jogendra Nahak v. State of qrissq,, (2000) 1 sec 272 : 2000 sec (9i) 210, applied 
Mahabir Singh v. Stare of Haryana, (2001)'7 SCC 148: 2001 SCC (Cri) 1262, referred to 

· E. Criminal Procedure Code, 1973 - S. 227 - Phrase "hearing the 
submissions of the accused" - Meaning of - Held, it means that hearing 
the accused on record of case as filed by prosecution and- on documents 
submitted therewith and nothing more • (Para 16) g 

F. Evidence Act, 1872 - Ss. 47,, 73 and 45 - Comparison of 
handwriting aod signatures - Power of, and approach to be followed by 
courts - Held, court can compare writing sample given in its presence or 
admitted or. proved to be writing of the person concerned and there is no 
legal bar on court for comparing handwriting or signature using its own 
eyes ·and it can make ·1 its own observations thereto - If' situation so h 
demands, court can take upon itself the task of comparison of signatures 
without sending for expert's report _,.. Though expert's report could be 
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The Judgment of the Court was delivered by 
DR B.Si CHAUHA!"1, · J.- This appeal has been pref erred against the 

impugned judgment and order dated 9-1-2012 passed by the High Court of 
Judicature of Rajasthan at Jodhpur in Ajay Kumar Parmar v. State of 
Rajasthan), by way of which, the High Court has upheld the judgment and d 
order dated125-7-1998, passed by the Sessions Judge in Revision Petition No. 
5 of 1998. By way of the said revisional order, the court had reversed the 
order of discharge of the appellant for the offences under Sections 376 and 
342 of the Penal Code, 1860 (hereinafter referred to as "IPC") dated 
25-3-19~8, passed by the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj. e 

·2. ~he facts and circumstances giving rise to this appeal are as follows: 
an FIR lva~ lodged by one Pushpa on 22-~-1 ~~' against the appellant stating 
that the appellant had raped her on 10-3-1997. In view thereof, an 
investigation ensued and the appellant was medically examined. Jhp 
prosecutrix's clothes were then also recovered and were sent for the 
preparation of FSL report. The prosecutrix was medically examined on 22-3- 
1997, wherein it was opined. by the doctor that she was habitual to sexual 
intercourse, however, a final opinion regarding fresh intercourse would be 
given only after receipt of report from the chemical examiner. 

3. The statement of the prosecutrix was recorded under Section 161 of 
the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (hereinafter referred to as "CrPC"), by 

·the DSP, wherein she narrated the incident as mentioned in the FIR, stating g 
that she had peen employed as a servant at the residence of one sister Durgi 
foi1 rh~ imr ~i~ yM.rQ. Cloge to the rngidence of &i&ter Durgl, Dr D.R. Pmmrr 
and his son Ajay Parmar were also residing. On the day of the said incident, 
Ajay Parmar called Pushpa, the prosecutrix, home on the pretext that there 
was a telephone call for her. When she reached the residence of Ajay Parmar, 
she was raped by him and was restrained from going out for a longperiod of h 
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6. After the conclusion of the investigation, charge-sheet WM fil!d 
against the appellant. On 25-3-1998, the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, 
taking note of the s~atement given by the prosecutrix under Section 164 
CrPC, passed an or?,er of not taking cognizance of the offences under 
Sections 376 and 3~2 IPC and not only acquitted the appellant but also 

· passed strictures against the investigating agency. Aggrieved, the Public 
Prosecutor filed a revision before the learned Sessions Judge, Sirohi, wherein 
the aforesaid order dated 25-3-1998 was reversed by the order dated 

g 25-7-1998 on two grounds, firstly, that a case under Sections 37() and 342 
JPC was triable by the Sessions Court and the Magistrate, therefore, had no 
jurisdiction to discharge/acquit the appellant on any ground whatsoever, as he 
\\fas bound to commit the case to the Sessions Court, which was the only 
competent court to deal with the issue. Secondly, the alleged statement of the 

h prosecutrix under Section 164 CrPC was not worth reliance as she had not 
bern produced before the Magistrate by the police. 

e 

c 

time and kept indoors without provision of any food or water. However, the 
next evening, she was pushed out surreptitiously from the back exit of the 

a said house. She then tried to commit suicide but was saved by Prakash Sen 
and Vikram Sen and then, eventually, after a lapse of about 10 days, the 
complaint in question was handed over to the SP, Sirohi. Subsequently, she 
hm~lf al'l'~nted before the Chief Judicial Magi~tnte, Sirohi on 9·4·1997, 
and moved an application before him stating that, although she had lodged an 
FIR under Sections 376/342 JPC, the police was not investigating the case in 

b a correct manner and, therefore, she wished to make her statement under 
Section 164 CrPC. 

4. The Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi, entertained the said application 
and disposed of it on the same day i.e. 9-4-1997 by directing the Judicial 
Magistrate, Sheoganj, to-record her statement under Section 164CrPC. 

S. In pursuance thereof, the prosecutrix appeared before the Judicial 
Magistrate, Sheoganj, which is at a far distance from Sirohi, on 9-4-1997 
itself and handed over all the requisite papers to the Magistrate. After 
examining the order passed by the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi, the 
Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, directed the Public Prosecutor to produce the 
cMe dtAi'Y M th! tM~ at 4.00 p.m. on the srune drry. A~ th~ Public Prosecuor 

d could not produce the case diary at 4.00 p.m., the Judicial Magistrate, 
SheogT1j, directed the Public Prosecutor to produc. e the case. diary on 
10-4-1197 at 10.00 a.m. The case diary was then produced before the said 
court pn 10-4-1997 by the Public Prosecutor. The statement of the 
prosecutrix under Section 164 CrPC, was recorded after being identified by 
the lawyer, to the effect that the said FIR lodged by her was false; in addition 
to which, the statement made .by her under Section 161 CrPC, before the 
Deputy Superintendent of Police was also false; and finally that no offence 
whatsoever was ever committed by the appellant, so far as the prosecutrix 
was concerned. 
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l Ajay Kumar Parmar v: State of Rajasthan, Criminal Revision Petition No. 458 of 1998, order 
dated 9-1"2012 (Raj) 

"' Ed.: Para 11 corrected vide Official Corrigendum No. F.3/Ed.B.J/66/2012 dated 26-ll-2012. 11 
2 (2000) I sec 272: 2000 sec (Cri) 210: AIR 1999 SC 2565 
3 (2001) 1 sec 148 : 2001 sec ccn) 1262: AIR 2001 sc zsos 

7. Being aggrieved by the aforesaid order of the Sessions Court dated 
25-7-1998, the appellantmoved the High Court and the High Court vide its 
impugned judgment arid jord~r1, affirmed the order of the Sessions Court on a 
both counts. Hence, this appeal. 

8. 'Ms Aishwarya Bpati, learned counsel appearing on behalf of the 
appellant, has submitted 'that in view of the statement of the prosecutrix as 
recorded under Section 164 CrPC, the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, has 

. rightly refused to take cognizance of the offence and has acquitted the 
appellant stating that no fault can be found with the said order, and therefore b 
it is stated that both, the l{evls1onal ~ourt, as well as the High C6Url 
committed a serious error in reversing the same. 

9,. On the contrary, Shri Ajay Veer Singh Jain, Iearned counsel appearing 
for the State, has opposed the appeal, contending that the Magistrate ought 

. not to have refused to take cognizance of the said offences and has 
committed a grave error in acquitting the appellant, after taking note of the c 
statement of the prosecutrix which was recorded under Section 164 CrPC 
The said statement was recorded in great haste. It is further submitted that, as 
the prosecutrix had appeared before the Magistrate independently, without 
any assistance of the police, her statement recorded under Section 164 CrPC 
is not worth acceptance. Thus, no interference is called for. The appeal is 
liable to be dismissed. · · d 

10. We have considered the rival submissions made by the learned 
counsel for the parties and perused the records. 

11.;.. A three-Judge Bench of this Court in Jogendra Nahak v. State of 
Orissa2, held that sub-section, (5) of Section 164, deals with the statement of 
a person, other than the statement of an accused i.e. a confession. Such· a e 
statement can be recorded, only· and only when, the person making Sl..JCh 
statement is produced before the Magistrate by the police. This Court held 
that, in case such a course of action, wherein such person is allowed to 
appear before the Magistrate of his own volition, is made permissible, and 
the doors of court are opened to them to come as they please, and if the 
Magistrate starts recording all their statements, then too many persons 
sponsored by culprits might throng before the portals of the Magistrate's 
Courts, fqr the purpose ofcreating record in advance to aid the said culprits, 
Such statements would b, very helpful to the accused to get bail and 
disch~~e 9rders. · 

12. The said judgment in Jogendra Nahak case2 was "distinguished by 
this Court in Mahabir Singh: v. State of Haryanas, on facts, but the Court g 
expressed its anguish at the fact that the statement of a person in the said case 
was recorded under Section 164 CrPC by the Magistrate, without knowing 
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2 Jogendra Nahak V. State of Orissa, (2000) 1sec272: 2000 sec (Cri) 210 
4 (1978) 2 sec J9: 1978 sec (Cri) 112: AIR 1978 sc 514 

h 

e 

d 

c 

b 

a 

him personally or without any attempt of identification of the said person, by 
. any 'other person. 

, 1~. In view of the above, it is evident that this case is squarely covered by· 
the aforesaid judgment of the three-Judge Bench in Jogendra Naha('2• which 
held that a person shou~d be prodUttd b~f ore R MRgistr9.t@, by the police for 
re9ordipg his statement under Section 164 CrPC. The Chief Judicial 
Ma~istfate, Sirohi, who entertained the application and further directed the 
Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, to record the statement of the prosecutrix, was 
not known to the prosecutrix in the case and the latter also recorded her 
statement, without any attempt at identification, by any court officer/lawyer/ 
police or anybody else. 

14. In Sanjay Gandhi v. Union of lndia4 this Court while dealing with the 
competence of the Magistrate to discharge an accused, in a case like the 
instant one at hand, held: (SCC pp. 40-41, para 3) 

','3 .... it is not' open to the committal court to launch on a process of 
satisfying itself that .a prima facie case has been made out on the merits. 
The jurisdiction once vested in him under the earlier Code but has been 
eliminated now ~nder the present Code.' Therefore, to hold that he can go 
into the merits even for a prima facie 'satisfaction is to frustrate 
Parliament's purpose in remoulding Section 207-A (old Code) into its 
present non-discretionary shape. Expedition was intended by this change 
and this will be defeated successfully if interpretatively we hold that a 
dress rehearsal of a trial before the Magistrate is in order, In our view, the 
narrow inspection hole through which the· committing Magistrate has to 

. look at the case limits him merely to ascertain whether the case, as 
disclosed by the police report, appears to the Magistrate to show an 
QffTn<;:e triable sqlely by the Court of Session. Assuming the facts to be 
coirect as stated· in the police report, . . . the Magistrate has slmpl» to 
commit for trial before the Court of Session. If, by error, a wrong section 
of the Penal Code is quoted, he may look into that aspect. ... If made-up 
facts unsupported by any· material are reported by the police and a 
sessions offence is made to appear, it is perfectly open to the Sessions 
Court under Section 227 CrPC to discharge the accused. This provision 
takes care of the alleged grievance of the accused." (emphasis added) 

Thus, it is evident from the aforesaid judgment that when an offence is 
cognizable by the Sessions Court, the Magistrate cannot probe into the matter 
and discharge the accused. It is not permissible for him to do so, even after 

q considering the evidence on record, as he has no jurisdiction to probe or look 
into the mauer at all. His CODGunl should be t\> ~~-~ what provisions of the 
penal statute have been mentioned and in case· an offence triable by the 
Sessions Court has been mentioned, he must commit the case to the Sessions 
Court and do nothing else. 
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g 
* Edi.: Para 1~ corrected vide p~cial Corrigendum No. F.3/Ed.B.J/66/2012 dated 26-11-2012. 
5 (2qo3) 2sec111: 2003 sec (Cri) 688: AIR 2003 sc 1512 
6 (2005) 1 sec 568 : 2005 sec (Cri) 415 : AIR 2005 sc 359 
1 (2005) s sec 89 : 2005 sec (Cri) 1975 : AIR 2005 sc 3512 
8 (2008) 10 sec 109 : (2008) 3 sec (Cri) 609 
9 (2008) 14 sec 1 : (2009) 1 sec (Cri) 121 : AIR 2009 sc 1013 h 

10 (2010) 2 sec 398: (2010) 1 sec (Cri) 1488: AIR 2010 sc 663 
11 (2011) 2 sec 689: (201.J) 1 sec (Oi) 785 : AIR 2011 sc 1103 

15. Thus, we are of the considered opinion that the Magistrate had no 
business to discharge the appellant. In fact, Section 207-A in the old CrPC, 
empowered the Magistrate to exercise such a power. However, in CrPC, a 
1973, there is no provision analogous to the said Section 207-A. He was 
bound undbr law, to commit the case to the Sessions Court, where such 
application for discharge would be considered. The order of discharge is 
therefore, a nullity, being without jurisdiction. · 

16*. More so, it was not permissible for the Judicial Magistrate, 
Sheoganj, to take into consideration the evidence in defence produced by the b 
appellant as it has consistently been held by this Court that at the time of 
framing the charge, the only documents which are required to be considered 
are the documents submitted by the investigating agency along with the 
charge-sheet. Any document which the accused wants to rely upon cannot be 
read as evidence. If such evidence is to be considered, there would be a mini­ 
trial at the stase of framin~ of charge. That would defeat the object of the c 
Code. The provision about hearing the submissions of the accused as 
postulated by Section 227 means hearing the submissions of the accused on 
the record of the case as filed by the prosecution and documents submitted 
therewith and nothing more. Even if, in a rare case it is permissible to 
consider the defence evidence, if such material convincingly establishes that 
the whole prosecution version is totally absurd, preposterous or concocted, d 
the instant: case does not fall in that category. (Vide State of Orissa v. 
Debendra Nath Padhi5, State of Orissa v. Debendra Nath Padhit, S.M.S. 
Pharmaceuticals Ltd. v. Neeta Bhalla', Bharat Parikh v. CBI8 and Rukmini 
Narvekar v. Vijaya Satardekarr.) 

17. The court should not pass an order 6f Mquittal by l'Bgorting to a 
course of not taking cognizance, where prima facie case is made out by the e 
investigating agency. More so, it is the duty of the court to safeguard the 
rights and interests of the victim, who does not participate in the discharge 
proceedings. At the stage: of application of Section 227, the court has to sift 
the evidence in order to find out whether or not there is sufficient ground for 
proceeding against the accused, Thus, appreciation of evidence at this stage, 
is not permissible. (Vide P. Vijayan v. State of Kerala10 and R.S. Mishra v. 
State of Orissa 11.) · 

18. The scheme of the Code, particularly, the provisions of Sections 207 
to 209 CrPC, mandate the Magistrate to commit the case to the Court of 
Session, when the charge-sheet is filed. A conjoint reading of these 
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12 (2006).1sec359: (2006) 2 sec (Cri) 310: AIR 2006 sc 1937 
13 (1985) 2 sec 537 : 1985 sec (Cri) 267 : AIR 1985 sc 1285 

h 

20. We find no force in the submission advanced by the learned counsel 
for the appellant that the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, has proceeded 

d strictly in accordance with law laid down by this Court in various judgments 
wherein it has categorically been held that a Magistrate has a power to drop 
the proceedings even in the cases exclusively triable by the Sessions Court 
when the charge-sheet is filed by the police. She has placed very heavy 
reliance upon the judgment of this Court in Minu Kumari v. State of Bihar12 
wherein this Court placed reliance upon its earlier judgment in Bhagwant 

e Singh v. Commr: of Policel3 and held that where the Magistrate decides not to 
take cognizance and to drop the proceeding or takes a view that there is no 
s~fficient ground f Oi' f'fOCttding again~t some of the persons mentioned in 
the Ff R, notice to the informant and grant of being heard in the mAtt~r .. 
becomes mandatory. In the case at hand, admittedly, the Magistrate has not 
given any notice to theJ complainant before dropping the proceedings and, 
thus, acted in violation df the mandatory requirement of law. 

l ~ 

21. The application filed before the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi, has 
been signed by the prosecutrix, as well as by her counsel. However, there has 
been no identification ofthe prosecutrix, either by the said advocate or by 
anyone else. The Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi, proceeded to deal with the 

g application without identification of the prosecutrix and has nowhere 
mentioned that he knew the prosecutrix personally. The Judicial Magistrate, 
Sheoganj, recorded ful! g(ll[ement of (he p~;osecutrix after she was identified . 
by 'the lawyer. There is nothing on record to show that she had appM.i'l!d 
before the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi or before the Judicial Magistrate, I . 

AJAY KUMAR ~A&YfAR v. STATE OF RAJASTIIAN (Dr Chauhan, J.) 415 
I . 

provisions makes it crystal clear that the committal of a case exclusively 
triable by the Court of Session, in a case instituted by the police is 

a mandatory. The schefu~ of (he Code simply provides that the Magistrate can 
determine, whether the facts stated in the report make out an offence triable 
exclusively, by the Court of Session. Once he readies the conclusion that the 
facts alleged in the report, make out an offence triable exclusively by the 
Court of Session, he must commit the case to the Sessions Court. 

19. The Magistrate, in exercise of its power under Section 190 Cr PC, can 
b refuse to· take cognizance if the material· on record warrants so. The 

Magistrate must, in such a case, be satisfied that the complaint, case diary, 
statements of the witnesses recorded under Sections 161 and 164 CrPC, if 
any, do not make out any offence. At this stage, the Magistrate performs a 
judicial function. However, he cannot appreciate the evidence on record and 
reach ~ conclusion as to which evidence is acceptable, or can be relied upon. 

c Thus, at this stage appreciation of evidertM is impermissible, The Magistrate 
is not competent to weigh the evidence and the balance of probability in the 
case. 

I 
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14 AIR 1957 SC 381 : 1957 Cri LJ 559 
15 AIR 1963 SC 1728 
16 AIR 1964 SC 529 
17 AlR ~~~7 SC 1326: 1967 Cri LJ 1197 

18 (1992) 3 sec 100: 1992 sec (Cri) 105: A!ll 1992 ~C 2100 
19 (1979) 3 sec 612 : 1979 sec (Cri) 662: AIR 1981 sc 363 

Sheo~anj1 along with. her parents or any other person related to her. In such 
circumstances, the statement so recorded, loses its significance and: legal 
sanctity. a 

22. The record of the f.ase reveals that the Chief Judicial Magistrate, 
Sirohi,i passed· an order on 9-4-1994. The prosecutrix appeared before the 
Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, at a place far away from Sirohi, on the same 
date with papers/order, etc. jand the said Judicial Magistrate directed the 
Public Prosccuior to prnQ\l~e the case diary on the same date at 4.00 p.m. The 
case diary could not be produced on the said day. Thus, di~~ttion wa~ issued b 
to produce the same in the morning of the next day. The statement was 
recorded on · 10-4-1997. The fact situation reveals that the court proceeded 
with utmost haste and any action taken so hurriedly, can be labelled as 
arbitrary. 

23. The 1original record reveals that the prosecutrix had lodged the FIR c 
herself and the same bqars her signature. She was medically examined the 
next day, and the medical report .also bears her signature. We have compared 
the aforementioned signatures with the signatures appearing upon the 
application filed before the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi, for recording 
her statement undar Section 164 ,,pc;:1 as also with, the signature on the 
statement alleged to have been made by her under Section 164 CrPC. and d 
after examining the same, prima facie we are of the view that they have not 
been made by the same person, as the two sets of signatures do not tally, 
rather there is an apparent dissimilarity between them. · 

·24. Evidence of identity of handwriting has been dealt with by three 
sections ofthe Evidence Act, 1872 (hereinafter referred to as "the Evidence 
Act") i.~. *ctions 45, 47 and 7~. Secti~~ 73 of the s~d ~ct. provides for a e 
comparison made by the court with a wnnng sample given m its presence, or 
admitted, or proved to be the writing of the person concerned. (Vide Ra,;.,, 
Chandra v. State of U.P.14, Ishwari Prasad Misra v. Mohd. lsa15, Shashi 
Kumar Banerjee v. Subodb Kumar Banerjee's, .. Fakhruddin v. State of M.P.17. 
and State of Maharashtra v. Sukhdev Singh18.) 

25. In ~urari Lal V. State of M.P.19, this Cou~f, while deMing with th~ 
said issue, held that, in case there is no expert opinion to assist the court in 
respect of handwriting available, the court should seek guidance from some 
authoritative textbook and the court's own experience and knowledge, 
however even in the absence of the same, it should discharge its duty with or 
without expert, with or without any other ev~dence. g 
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2p 1994 Supp (2) sec 61p 
21 (1979) 2 sec 158 : 19179 sec (Cri) 389: AIR 1979 sc 14 
22 (1980) 1sec492: 1980 S(:C (Cri) 260: AIR 1980 SC 1523 
23 (199(D 2 sec 704: AIR 1996 SC 1,140 
24 (2003) 3 sec 583 : 2003 sec (L&S) 353 : AIR 2003 sc 1795 
25 (2006) 11 sec 1 
26 (1008) 4 ~<;~ 530 : AIR 2008 SC 1541 
27 (2009) 14 sec 677 : (2009) 5 sec (Clv~ 4?5 : (2010) 1.'iCC (~ri) 213 

g 

AJAY KUMAR PA,RMAR v. STATE OF R,AJASTHAN.(Dr Chauhan, J.) '417 
26. In A. Neelalohithadasan Nadar v .. George Mascrenee', this Court 

considered a case involving an election dispute regarding whether certain 
a voters had voted more than once. The comparison of their signatures on the . 

counterfoil of the electoral rolls with their admitted signatures was in issue. 
This Court held that in .election matters When there is a need of expeditious 
disposal of the case, the court takes upon itself the task of comparing the 
signatures, and thus it may not be necessary to send the said signatures for 
comparison to a handwriting expert. While taking such a decision, reliance 

b was placed hy the Court, on its earlier judgments in State (Delhi Admn.) v. 
PaU Ram2l and Ram Pyaralal Shrivastava v. State of Bihar22. 

27. In 6. Bharathan v. K. Sudhakaran23, this Court considered a similar 
issue and held that the facts of a case will be relevant to decide where the 
court will exercise its power for comparing the .signatures and where it will 
refer 'the matter to an expert. The observations of the Court are as follows: 

c (SCC p, 713, para 18) 
"18. The learned Judge in our view was not right ... taking upon 

himself the hazardous task of adjudicating upon the genuineness and 
authenticity of the signatures in question even without the assistance of a 
skilled and trained person whose set'Vices C.OUld have b\;:en easily availed 
of. Annulling the verdict of popular will is as much a serious matter of 

d grave concern to the society as enforcement of laws pertaining to . 
criminal offences, if not more. Though it is the province of the expert to· 
act as Judge or jury after a scientific comparison of the disputed 
signatures with admitted signatures, the caution administered by this 
Court is to the course to be adopted in such situations could not have 
been ignored unmindful of the serious repercussions arising out of the 

e decision to be ultimately rendered." 
(See also Lalit Popli v. Canara Bank24, Jagjit Singh v. State of Haryana->, 
Thiruvengadam Pillai v. Navaneethammal= and G. Someshwar Rao v. 
Samineni Nageshwar Rao27.) 

2S. The opiniQn ~fa handwriting expert is fallible/liable to error like that 
of any other witness, and yet, it cannot be brugbed aside Cl5 U~lfless. There is 
no legal bar to prevent the court from comparing signatures or handwriting, 
by using its own eyes to compare the disputed writing with the admitted 
writing and then from applying its own observation to prove the· said 
handwritings to be the same or different, as the case may be, but in doing so, 
the court cannot itself become an expert in this regard and must refrain from 
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418 : SUPREME COURT CASES (2012) 12 sec 
playing the role of an e~pert, for the simple reason that the opinion of the 
court may also not be coryclusive. Therefore, when the cou1t takes such a task 
upon itself, and findings are recorded solely on the basis of comparison of a 
signatures or handw1itin~s, the court must keep ill mind the risk involved, as 
the opinion formed by UJe court may not be conclusive and is susceptible to. 
en-or, especially when the exercise is conducted by one, not conversant with 
the subject. The court, therefore, as a matter of prudence and caution should 
hesitate or be slow to base its findings solely upon the comparison made by · 
it. However] where thet·e is an opinion whether of an expert, or of any b 
witness, the court may then apply its own observation by comparing the 
ngnamres, or hllndwriting~ for providing a deGinivu Wtiight or influen~e to it~ 
decision. 

29,. The aforesaid discussion leads to the following inferences: 
29.1. In respect of an incident of rape, an FIR was lodged. The DSP 

recorded the statement of the prosecutrix, wherein she narrated the facts c 
alleging rape against the appellant. 

29.2. The prosecutrix, appeared before the Chief Judicial Magistrate, 
Sirohi, on 9-4-1997 and lodged a complaint, stating that the police was not 
investigating the case properly. She filed an application that her statement be 
recorded under Section 164 CrPC. 

d 29.3. The prosecutrix had signed the said application. It was also signed 
by her lawyer. However, she was not identified by anyone. 

29.4. There is nothing or! record to show with whom she had appeared 
before the court. 

29.5. From the signatures on the FIR and the medical report, it appears 
that she is not an educated person and can hardly form her own signatures. e 

29.6. Thus, it leads to suspicion regarding how an 18 year old, who is an 
illiterate rustic villager, reached the court and how she knew that her 
statement could be recorded by the Magistrate. , 

29.7. More so, she appeared before the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi, 
and not before the Area Ma~s.trate at Sheoganj. 
· 29r~· The Chief Judicikl Magistrate on the same day disposed of the 
application, directing the . Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, to record her 
statement. j 

29.9. The prosecutrix appeared before the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, 
at a far distance from Sirohi, where she originally went, on ~-4-1 ~~1 itself, 
and her statement under Section 164 CrPC was recorded on 10-4-1997, as on {/ 
9-4-1997 the PublicProsecutor could not produce the case diary. 

29.10. The signatures of the prosecutrix on the papers before the Chief 
Judicial Magistrate, Sirohi and the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, do not tally 
with the signatures on the FIR and the medical report. There is apparent 
dissimilarity between th~ same, which creates suspicion. 

29.11. After completing the investigation, charge-sheet was filed before h 
the Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, on 20-3-1998 . 
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t From the Judgment and Order dated 27-8-2001 of the High Court of Judicature of Andhra 
Pradesh at Hyderabad in WA No. 1202 of 1992 

h 

(2012) 12 Supreme Court Cases 419 
(BEFORE G.S. SINGHVI AND S.J. MUKHOPADHAYA, JJ .) 

USHA MEHTA Appellant; 
Versus 

GOVERNMENT OF ANDHRA PRADESH 
AND OTHERS Respondents. 

Civil Appeal No. 3501 of2Q03t, decided on October 16, 2012 
A. Constitution of India -Arts. 14 and 299 - Claim to equaJ treatment 

on basis of forged document - Non-tenability - Lease deed of public land 
purportedly executed by ~~t.flte Officer found to be a forged document - 

9 Government denied regularisation of said lease deed on ground that grant of 
lease in favour of appellant was unauthorised and entire transaction was a 
result of fraud and collusion and that any claim based on forged document 
cannot be acted upon - Similar lease deeds executed by same Estate Officer 
however, were regularised on payment of market value - Whether 
discriminatory - Division Bench of High Court upholding finding of. Single 

e 

1 2~.12. The Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, vide order dated 25-3-1998, · 
rJ!use:Cl to take cognizanfe of the offences on the basis of the statemy. nt of the· 

a prosecutrix, recorded under Section 164 CrPC. The said court erred in not 
takfng fOgnizance on this count as the said statement could not be relied · 
upon. · 

29.13. The Revisionaf Court as well as the High Court have rightly held 
that the statement under Section 164 CrPC had not been recorded correctly. 
The said courts have rightly set aside the order of the Judicial Magistrate, 

b Sheoganj, dated 25-3-1998, not taking the cognizance of the offence. · 
29.14. There-is no provision analogous to Section 207-A of the old Cr PC. 

The Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, should have committed the case to the 
Sessions Court as the said application could· be entertained only by the 
Sessions, Court. More so, it was not permissible for the court to examine the 
weight of defence evidence at that stage. Thus, the order is insignificant and 

c inconsequential bein~ without jurisdiction. 
· 30. In view of the above, we do not find any force in the appeal. It is, 

accordingly, dismissed. The judgment and order of the Revisional Court, as 
well as of the High Court is upheld. The original record reveals that in 
pursuance of the High Court's order, the case has been committed by the 
Judicial Magistrate, Sheoganj, to the Court of Session on 23-4-2012. The 

d Sessions Court is requested to proceed strictly in accordance with law, 
expeditiously and take the case to its logical conclusion without any further 
delay. We make it clear that none of the observations made herein will 
adversely affect either of the parties, as the same have been made only to 
decitle the present case, 

419 USHA MEHTA v. GOVT. OF A.P. 
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